
@ Tribunal P6nal International pour le Rwanda
International Criminal'fribunal for Rwanda

IN THE APPEALS CHAMBBR

Judge Mehmet Gi.iney, Presiding
Judge William H. Sekule
Judge Arlette Ramaroson
Judge Khalida Rachid Khan
Judge Koffi Kumelio A. Afande

Mr. Bongani Majola

29 September 2014

CALLIXTE NZABONIMANA

Y.

THB PROSECUTOR

Case No.lCTR-98-44D-A

2238/H

T
tGTR-98-44D-A
29th Sept. 2014

l2238tH - 2051lHl
Before:

Registrar:

Judgement:

JUDGEMENT

Counsel for Callixte Nzabonimana
Mr. Vincent Courcelle-Labrousse
Mr. Philippe Larochelle

Office of the Prosecutor
Mr. Hassan Bubacar Jallow
Mr. James J. Arguin
Mr. Steffen Wirth
Ms. Alison McFarlane
Ms. Mary Diana Karanja

ICTR Appeals Chaq[er

t.s sEP zor{ w
Detc: A4A^A K.
Action: (/2*.LrG
Copicd ro,dil-trI*) t,

I n t c l ' r r . : r l i n r u r l  (  r ' i r t ; i r i : r i  
' l  

i ' i l r r r r t : , r l  ! i ; r  l { r r : t t x t a
' l i ' i l l rr  

n a I  1lc/t t l l  i  i t l  r  l  t t  : i l  l rr t  : t l  potn' l t '  l l  r lattr ta



2237/H

III. APPEAL OF NZABONIMANA

A. ALLEGED EnnOnS RrlarrNc ro NzaeoNIMANA'S Rrcur ro a Fan Trual (Gnowo l) ...............5
B. Auecpn Ennons Rllarnqc ro TseAssESSMENT oF THE Altnt (Gnoln tD 2, ru eanr) ...............,.7
C. Auecpo Ennons RrLarnic ro rHE Cyayr CsNrRs RNo TUsNYABIKENKE Couuuut OFntce
(Gnonro 2, rN pART, auo GnouND 3)... . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . .9

1 .  No t i ce . . . .  . . . . . . . . . ' . . . . . 10
2.  Assessment  of  Ev idence. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .13
3. Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .41
4. Instigation of Genocide and Extermination as a Crime Against Humanity...........................48
5.  Conc1usion. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . .56

D. ALLEGED Ennons R-sr-arrxc ro rHE Buranp TRaorNc CsurRe (Gnouvo 4 aNo Gnouuo 5, tN

1 .  No t i ce . . . .  . . . . . . . ' . . . . . . . 57
2. Assessment of Evidence ... . . . . . . . . . . .  . . ' . . . . . . . . . . .60
3. Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide... '.............'.'.....79
4.  Conclus ion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . ' . . . . . . . . . .83

E. Allpcro Ennons RrlartNc ro MuRAMBI (GRoLTND 5, rN rnnr) ....."....84
1.  Not ice. . . . .  " . . . . . . . . . ' . .84
2.  Assessment  of  Ev idence. . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . ' . . . . . . . . . .94
3. Direct and Fublic Incitement to Commit Genocide... ....................I29
4. Conspiracy to Commit Genocide. .. . . . . . . ." ' I32
5.  Conc1usion. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . - . . - . . . . '142

F. Ar,lpcpn ERRoRs Rllartltc ro NvaNaaeuvn (Gr.ouND 6) ............ '.....143
G. Aurcso Ennons RElarrNc ro TAMBwE (GnouNo 7) ............... ......... 145

1 .  No t i ce . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . I 45
2. Conspiracy to Commit Genocide. .. . . . . ' . . . . . I49
3 .  Conc1us ion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . 153

H. Au-Ecpo Ennons RrlarrNc ro SeNrrllclNc (GRouND 8) ............ .'.". 154
1. Prel iminary Matters .. ' . . . . . . . . . . '  155
2. Alleged Double-Counting Between Aggravating Circumstances and Elements of the

Cr ime . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . 156

tV. APPEAL OF THE PROSECUTION........

A. AT-ITcpn Ennon RTLRTTNc To NZABONIMANA'S CONVTCTTON FOR INSTIGATING GENOCIDE

aNo ExrprurrNArloN rN NyABIKENKE CoMMwE OEEtcE (Gnolwo 1)............... .........158

1.  Commi t t ing . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . ' . .159

2. Ordering . . . . . . . ' . . . . .162

3.  Conc1us ion . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . .  163

B. Aupcgo ERn.ons RrIarruc To THE RII.EA.SE OF PzuSONERS IN RUTOBWE COMMUNE
(GnouNo 2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . .164

V.IMPACT OF THE APPEALS CHAMBER'S FINDINGS ON NZABONIMANA'S
SENTENCE............... ...............168

158

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014 ("34



VII. SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGE KOFFI KUMELIO A. AFANEE............................171

VIII. ANNEX A _ PROCEDURAL HISTORY .................173

A.  Norrcns oF AppEaL eNn BRrsps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .173
1,  Nzabonimana's  Appea1. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . .L73
2 .  P rosecu t i on ' s  Appea l . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 174
3 .  O the r  i ssues . . . . . . . , .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . I 74

B.  AssrcNHaENr oF Juocns . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .175
C.  Appsa l  HsanrNc . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 175

IX. ANNEX B - CITED MATERIALS AND DEFINED TERMS .....176

A.  JunrspnuDENCE . . . . . . . . .176
] .  Tr ibunal .  . . . . . . . . . . . . .176
2. International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia (ICTY)....... ......... 181
3.  Other  Judgements and Documents, . , . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .182

B. DsrrNeo TpnH,rs AND ABBREVIATIoNS....  . . . . . . . . .  183

Case No.; ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014

r-'-\\ . }



2235/H

1. The Appeals Chamber of the Intemational Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons

Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law

Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens Responsible for Genocide and Other

Such Violations Committed in the Territory of Neighbouring States between 1 January 1994 and

31 December 1994 ("Appeals Chamber" and "Tribunal", respectively) is seised of appeals by

Callixte Nzabonimana ("Nzabonimana") and the Prosecution against the Judgement and Sentence

pronounced by Trial Chamber III of the Tribunal ("Trial Chamber") on 31 May 2012 in the case of

The P ro s e c uto r v. C allixte N zab o nimana ("T ial Judgement"). 1

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Background

2. Nzabonimana was bom in 1953 in Kavumu secteltr, Nyabikenke commune, Gitarama

prdfecture.2 From 8 April 1994 to mid-July 1994, he was the Rwandan Minister of Youth and

Associative Movements and served as the Chairman of the Mouvement rdpublicain national pour la

ddmocratie et le ddveloppement ("MRND") party in Gitarama prdfecture duingthe events.3

3. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana pursuant to Article 6(1) of the Statute of the

Tribunal ("Statute") for instigating genocide (Count 1) and extermination as a crime against

humanity (Count 4) at the Cyayi cenre on 14 April 1994 resulting in the killings of Tutsis at the

Nyabikenke commune office on 15 April lgg4.4 The Trial Chamber convicted him for conspiracy to

commit genocide (Count 2) based on two agreements to commit genocide in Gitarama prdfecture.s

Further, the Trial Chamber convicted him for direct and public incitement to commit genocide

(Count 3), based on his speeches at the Butare trading centre on12 April 1994, at the Cyayi centre

on 14 April 1994, and. at the Murambi training centre on 18 April l994I The charge of murder as a

crime against humanity (Count 5) was dismissed.T Nzabonimana was sentenced to a single term of

life imprisonment.s

' The Prosecutor v. Callbcte Nzabonimana. Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Judgement and Sentence, pronounced on
3 1 May 2012, filed on 25 June 2012. For ease of reference, two annexes are appended: Annex A - Procedural History;
Annex B - Cited Materials and Defined Terms.
2 Trial Judgement, para. 4.
'Trial Judgement, para. 5. See also ibid., para.89.
o Trial Judgement, paras. 17 18, l'7 37, 17 86, 17 87,
s Trial Judgement, paras. l'7 47, l'7 48, 1'7 49, 1800.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 1762, 1768, 17'73, 1775,
'Trial Judgement, paras. 1796, 1800.
" Trial Judgement, paras. 1821,1822.
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B. The Appeals 2234/H

4. Nzabonimana presents eight grounds of appeal challenging his convictions and sentence."

He requests the Appeals chamber to overturn the Trial Judgement, enter acquittals on all counts oI

the Indictment, and order his immediate release."'In the alternative, Nzabonimana requests the

Appeals Chamber to reduce his sentence." The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's appeal

should be dismissed.r2

5. The Prosecution advances two grounds of appeal, It challenges the Trial Chamber's finding

that Nzabonimana instigated a massacre at the Nyabikenke commune office on 15 April 1994,

arguing that his conviction fbr this crime should be based on his committing or, in the alternative,

ordering the massacre.'t The Prosecution also challenges the Trial Chamber's decision to not

convict Nzabonimana of aiding and abetting genocide stemming frorn the killings of Tutsis in

Rutobwe ,o**urr.'o Nzabonimana responds that the Prosecution's appeal should be dismissed.l5

6. The Appeals Chamber heard oral arguments regarding these appeals on 29 April2014.

e Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pp. 7-60; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 2l-395.
'0 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, p. 61; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para' 396.
rr Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, p. 61.
rr Prosecution Response Brief, paras.5, 315.
r3 prosecution Notice of Appeai. para.2: Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 2-4,23-5'7,69.
ra Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 3; Prosecution Appeal Brief' paras. 5, 58-69.
rs Nzabonimana Response Brief, piua. 12, p.32.
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II. STANDARDS OF APPELLATE REVIEW

7. The Appeals Chamber recalls the applicable standards of appellate review pursuant to

Article 24 of the Statute. The Appeals Chamber reviews only errors of law which have the potential

to invalidate the decision of the trial chamber and errors of fact which have occasioned a

miscarriage of justice. l6

8. Regarding errors of law, the Appeals Chamber has stated:

Where a party alleges that there is an error of law, that party must advance arguments in support of
the submission and explain how the error invalidates the decision. However, if the appellant's
a-rguments do not support the contention, that party does not automatically lose its point since the
Appeals Chamber may step in and, for other reasons, find in favour of the contention that there is
an error of law.-

9. Where the Appeals Chamber finds an error of law in the trial judgement arising from the

application of an incorrect legal standard, it will articulate the correct legal standard and review the

relevant factual findings of the trial chamber accordingly.tt In so doing, the Appeals Chamber not

only corrects the legal effor, but, when necessary, also applies the correct legal standard to the

evidence contained in the trial record and determines whether it is itself convinced beyond

reasonable doubt as to the factual finding challenged by the appellant before that finding may be

confirmed on appeal.le

10. Regarding errors of fact, it is well-established that the Appeals Chamber will not lightly

overturn findines of fact made bv a trial chamber:

Where the Defence alleges an erroneous finding of fact, the Appeals Chamber must give deference

to the Trial Chamber that received the evidence at trial, and it will only interfere in those findings

where no reasonable trier of fact could have reached the same finding or where the finding is

wholly erroneous. Furthermore, the-,enoneous finding will be revoked or revised only if the enor

occasioned a miscarriage of iustice.20

The same standard of reasonableness and the same deference to factual findings of the trial chamber

apply when the Prosecution appeals against an acquittal." The Appeals Chamber will only hold that

an error of fact was committed when it determines that no reasonable trier of fact could have made

t6 See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 8; Ndahimana
Appeal Judgement, pan. 7 . See also Dordevii Appeal Judgement, para. 13.
11 Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, para. 11 (internal reference omitted). See also, e.g., Bizimungll Appeal Judgement,
para.9; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 9; Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para. 8.
1' Bloikii Appeal Judgement, para. 15. See also, e.g., BiTimunp Appeal Judgement, para. l0; Ndindiliyimana et al.
Appea.l Judgement, para. 10.
'n- iltoiktC Appeal Judgement, para. 15. See also, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. l0; Ndindiliyimana et al.
Appeal Judgement, para. 10.
zo Krstii Appeal Judgement, para. 40 (internal references omitted). See also, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement,
para. I 1; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. I 1; Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para. 10.
2' Srr, r.g.. Bifimungu Appeal Judgement, para. 11; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 11; N&thirutna
Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See also Dordevii Appeal Judgement, para. i8.

a..*^\-r J v
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the impugned linding.2' However, considering that it is the Prosecution that bears theburdenSfil$hfl/H

of proving the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable doubt, the significance of an error of fact

occasioning a miscariage of justice is somewhat different fbr a Prosecution appeal against acquittal

than for a Defence appeal against conviction.23 A convicted person must show that the trial

chamber's factual errors create a reasonable doubt as to his guilt.2a The Prosecution must show that,

when account is taken of the errors of fact committed by the trial chamber, all reasonable doubt of

the accused's guilt has been eliminated.2s

I 1. A party cannot merely repeat on appeal arguments that did not succeed at trial, unless it can

demonstrate that the trial chamber's rejection of those arguments constituted an error warranting the

intervention of the Appeals Chamber.26 Arguments which do not have the potential to cause the

impugned decision to be reversed or revised may be immediately dismissed by the Appeals

Chamber and need not be considerecl on the merits.27

12. In order for the Appeals Chamber to assess arguments on appeal, the appealing party must

provide precise references to relevant transcript pages or paragraphs in the decision or judgement to

which the challenge is made.2* Moreouer, the Appeals Chamber cannot be expected to consider a

party's submissions in detail if they are obscure, contradictory, vague, or suffer from other formal

and obvious insufficiencies.ze Finally, the Appeals Chamber has inherent discretion in selecting

which submissions merit a detailed reasoned opinion in writing, and it will dismiss arguments

which are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.3t'

tt Srr, r.g., Biz,imungu Appeal Judgement, para. l1; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. l1; Ndahimana

Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See also Dordevi( Appeal Judgement, para. I 8'
t' St", e.g., Biz,imungu Appeal Judgement, para. I I ; Ndindiliyimana et ctl. Appeal Judgement, para. 1l; Ndahimana

Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See also Dordevi i  Appeal Judgement, para. 18'
'o,S"e. e.g.. Biz. imunl;u Appeal Judgement, para. l l ;  Ndindi l iyimana et al.  Appeal Judgement, para. l l i  Ndahimana

Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See alsct Dordevi( Appeal Judgement, para. 1 8'
t t ,S" r .e .g . ,  B iz imungu Appea lJudgement ,para .  l l ;  Nd ind i l i y imanaeta l .  Appea l  Judgement ,para .  l l iNdah imana

Appeal Judgement, para. 10. See ulso Dordevi( Appeal Judgement, para. 18.
26 Kupreikit et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 27. See also, e.g., Biz.imungu Appeal Judgement, para. 12',

Ndindiliyimuna et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12.
t' See, e.g., Bizimunl4u Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Ndindiliyimctna et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 12; Ndahimana

Appeal Judgement, para. I l. See also Dordevi( Appeal Judgement, para. 20.
rE Practice Direction on Formal Requirements for Appeals tiom Judgement, 15 June 2007, para. 4(b). See also, e.9,.,

Biz.imungu Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ndindiliyimuna et ul. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ndahirutna Appeal

Judgement, para. 12.
2e Kunuruc et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 43. See also, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, para. | 3;

Ndindiliyimuna et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ntlahimanu Appeal Judgement, para' 12.
30 Krnt4jekLc Appeal Judgement, para. 16. See also, e.g., Biz.imunga Appeal Judgement, para. 13; Ndindiliyimuna et al.

Appeal Judgement, para. l3; Ntlcthimanu Appeal Judgement, para. 12.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014
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III. APPEAL OF NZABONIMANA

A. Allesed Errors Relatins to Nzabonimana's Risht to a Fair Trial (Ground 1)

13. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in its assessment of

his right to a fair trial, in light of the Prosecution's conduct during its investigations and the trial

proceedings.3l In particular, Nzabonimana argues that the Prosecution violated its disclosure

obligations concerning material disclosed: (i) in relation to Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC;3z (ii) from various other trials before the Tribunat;33 (ili) in relation to Prosecution

Witness CNAL;3a and (iv) in relation to Prosecution Rebuttal Witness CNR1.35 Nzabonimana also

lists other issues related to the Prosecution's conduct that the Trial Chamber allegedly failed to take

into account.36 He requests that all findings of the Trial Chamber delivered after a manifestly unfair

trial be reversed, or that his sentence be significantly reduced as a result of repeated violations of

his basic rights.37

14. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's submissions should be summarily

dismissed.3s

15. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has inherent discretion to determine which of the

parties' submissions merit a reasoned opinion in writing and that it may dismiss arguments which

are evidently unfounded without providing detailed reasoning.3e In particular, the Appeals Chamber

may summarily dismiss submissions that are either: (i) a mere repetition of arguments that were

unsuccessful at trial without any demonstration that their rejection by the Trial Chamber constituted

an error warranting the intervention of the Appeals Chamber; or (ii) mere assertions unsupported by

any evidence, undeveloped assertions, or assertions that fail to articulate any error.oo

16. With respect to the alleged disclosure violations, the Appeals Chamber considers that

Nzabonimana merely raises issues on appeal that the Trial Chamber already addressed and ruled

upon without attempting to demonstrate an error in the Trial Chamber's reasoning in the relevant

3r Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. I . 1 ; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 21-28.
32 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 25.
" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 26.
3a Nzabonimana Appeal Bief ,paru.27.
'" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 28.
36NzabonimanaNoticeof Appeal,para. 1.1(1)-(10); NzabonimanaAppealBrief,puas.2l-24.
37 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 29.
38 Prosecution Response Bief . pans. 12-24.
" Jee supra, pila. t l.
oo Srr, i.g., Eordevii Appeal Judgement, pua. 201 Sainovii et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 27; Stugar Appeal
Judgement, pan. 16.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014



l lndinssal or decisions.a2At no point does Nzabonimana substantiate any prejudice he cotp&EQ/H

incurred as a result of an alleged violation of his right to a fair trial. Consequently, his submissions

related to the alleged violations of disclosure obligations are summarily dismissed. The Appeals

Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's remaining submissions related to his right to a fair lrial as

he fails to provide any argument in support.a3

n. For the fbregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's First Ground of

Appeal.

a' See Trial Judgement, paras. 45-48, 58-60, fn. 94.
o2 The Appeals Chamber notes the following Trial Chamber's decisions for: (i) the documents from the Ngirabutware

trial, in-ih, Protrrrtor v. Cullixte Nz.abonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion for

Appropriate Relief in Light of Exculpatory Material Disclosed by the Prosecution on l5 November 201 1,

3(i April 2012, p. l4; (ii) the statement of Witness CNAL, in The Prosecutor v. Cullixte Nzabonimana,

Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion to Recall  Witness CNAL, 17 December 2009; and ( i i i )  the

22February 2012 statements, in the The Prosecutrtr v. Callixte Nzsbonimona, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on

Deience Motion for Appropriate Relief in Light of Exculpatory Material Disclosed by the Prosecution on

23 February 2012 Relat ing to Witness T'77,30 Apri l  2012, paras.40, 49,52in which the Trial Chamber concluded that

the Prosecution was not in violation of its Rule 68 of the Rules obligations. As to the disclosed documents on

18 July 2012, the Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana refers to a motion that was already adjudicated by the

Appeals Chamber. See Decision on Call ixte Nzabonimana's New Motion for Remedies, 16 October 2013; Call ixte

Nzibonimana's New Motion fbr Appropriate Remedies on Account of Further Violations of Rules 66(A)(ii) and 68 of

rhe Rules of Procedure and Evidence, l2 July 20t3 (original French version f i led on 25 June 2013) (publ ic with

confidential and public annexes).
ot The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana merely enumerates issues related to the conduct of the Prosecution

with reference in footnotes to paragraphs of the Trial Judgement or decisions from the Trial Chamber. See

Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 21-24, fns.34-40. The Appeals Chamber observes, however, that Nzabonimana's

contentions regarding the Trial Chamber's erroneous assessment of evidence are considered in this Judgement where

Nzabon imanaprov ides therequ i redspec i f i ca t ions .  See i4 l ' ru ,paras .69 ,70 , '74-78 ,  197,203,285,287.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014
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B. Alleged Errors Relating to the Assessment of the Alibi (Ground 2. in part)

18. Nzabonimana presented an alibi according to which he was in Kigali from 6 to

12 April 1994, and therefore could not have participated in meetings and distributed weapons in

Nyabikenke commLtne, Gitarama prdfecture, between 8 and 12 April 1994, as alleged in paragraphs

16, 17,35,37, and 52 of the Indicrment.ao The Trial Chamber did not reject the alibi in its entirety,

but concluded that it was "not sufficiently credible to raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution's

case [and] not reasonably possibly true in relation to the relevant paragraphs of the Indictment".4s

19. Nzabonimana submits that, although he was not convicted of any crime within the period

covered by the alibi, the Trial Chamber applied the wrong standard of proof in assessing each alibi

witness and the Prosecution evidence.a6 Nzabonimana argues that this shifting in the burden of

proof and the failure to assess the Defence evidence in its entirety were prejudicial to him as it

affected his right to a fair trial and impacted the Defence evidence as a whole.aT

20. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's submissions should be summarily dismissed,

as he was not convicted for any crime falling within the alibi period.as

2L The Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to sufficiently elaborate his

submissions, as he merely refers to paragraphs of the Trial Judgement. Furthermore, his submission

related to his right to a fair trial is broad and does not refer to any finding or decision.ae

Consequently, his challenges are summarily dismissed. In any event, the Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber correctly recalled the applicable law on the assessment of alibi

evidence.50 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber considered the alibi evidence

in conjunction with the Prosecution evidence when assessing paragraphs 16, 17 , 35 , 37 , and 5 2 of

the Indictment,sl and recalled its finding that the alibi was not reasonably possibly true in relation to

each paragraph examined.52 The Trial Chamber held that "[d]espite this finding that Nzabonimana's

alibi cannot be reasonably possibly true, [...] the burden of proof remains on the Prosecution to

establish the events alleged in the Indictment beyond reasonable doubt".53 The Trial Chamber

acquitted Nzabonimana of the charges in question as it concluded that the Prosecution failed to

* Trial Judgement, paras.293,294.
ot Trial Judgement, para. 458.
o6 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.2.1; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief' para. 30.
a7 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 31.
a8 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 25.
ae See Nzabonimana Appeal Briei para.31.
50 See Trial Judgement, paras. 386-389, 392.
t ' Trial Judgement, paras. 296, 462,509,553, 578, 639, andfns. 591' 645' 692,726,804.
t' Trial Judgement, pww. 462,509, 553, 518,639, and fns' 591, 645,692,126,804.
"' Trial Judgement, para.459.

Case No.: ICTR-98-.14D-A 29 September 2014



prove beyond reasonable doubt the relevant allegations of the Indictment.so The Appeals CffiffiU

is therefbre not persuaded that the Trial Chamber shifted the burden of proof or applied the wrong

standard of proof to assess Nzabonimana's alibi evidence.

22. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses in part Nzabonimana's Second

Ground of Appeal.ss

to Trial Judgement, paras. 506, 550, 575, 635, 636, 662. See Indictment, pnras. 1 6, \1 , 35, 3'7 , 52.
ss Nzabonimana's ailegations related to the Trial Chamber's assessment of his influence (see Nzabonimana Notice of

Appeal, para.2.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, section 2.2) are examined below. See infra, paras. 136, 13'7, 141-144.
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(Ground 2. in Part. and Ground 3)

23. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of direct and public incitement to commit

genocide by, inter alia, encotraging, on 14 April 1994, a crowd of persons at the Cyayi centre near

the Nyabikerke commune office to kill Tutsis (Count 3;.56 Additionally, it convicted Nzabonimana

of genocide (Count 1) and extermination as a crime against humanity (Count 4) for instigating, by

his speech at the Cyayi centre, the killings of Tutsis at the Nyabikenke commune offlce on

15 April Igg4.s1 In particular, the Trial Chamber determined that Nzabonimana held a meeting in

the afternoon of 14 April 1994 at the Cyayi centre, located approximately 250 to 300 metres away

from the Nyabikenke commune office.58 It found that approximately 30 people were present at the

centre and that Nzabonimana said to those gathered: "I know that Hutus do not heed instructions.

Do not continue to eat the cows of Tutsi who have sought refugee at the communal office. What"

really matters is not the cows; it is rather, the owners of the cows that matter".tn Th" Trial Chamber

also found that Nzabonimana threatened a Tutsi, Evariste Munyagatare, who was among those

seeking refuge at the Nyabikenke commune office.60 The Trial Chamber further determined that,

following Nzabonimana's address on 14 April 1994 at the Cyayi centre, the first successful attack

against the Nyabikenke commune offrce occurred between 3.00 and 4.00 a.m. and resumed during

the day on 15 April 1994.ut The Trial Chamber found that during these attacks on the commune

office, between 15 and 60 Tutsi refugees were killed, including Munyagatare.62

24. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in convicting him in

connection with the events at the Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office.63 In this

section, the Appeals Chamber considers Nzabonimana's atguments in relation to: (i) notice; (ii) the

assessment of evidence; (iii) direct and public incitement to commit genocide; and (iv) instigation

of genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity.

tu Triul Judgement, paras. 1763, 1768, 1775, 1800.
tt Triat Judgementj paras. 1718, 173'7,1786, l'18'7,l'190, 1800. Based on its findings related to the Nyabikenke

commune office attacks, the Trial Chamber also found Nzabonimana responsible for murder as a crime against

humanity. However, recalling the law on cumulative convictions and the fact that Nzabonimana was convicted of

extermination as a crime agiinst humanity, the Trial Chamber dismissed the charge of murder as a crime against

humanity. SeeTialJudgement, paras. 1795, 1799' 1800.
tt Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938. See also ibid-, para. 1710'
te Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938. See also ibid.' para. 1710.
uo T.ial Judgement, paras. 887, 938. See also ibid., para. 1710.
ut Trial Judgement, paras. 913, 936,939. See also ibi.d.'pua. 1117.
6'Trial Judgement, paras. 936, 939. See also ibid.,pan. 1711.
63 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 3.1-3.5; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 33-116.
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25. Nzabonimana submits that he did not receive clear and sufficient notice in paragraphs 19

and 20 of the Indictment of allegations that he threatened Munyagatare and of Munyagatare's

death.6a He argues that while the Trial Chamber acknowledged that Munyagatare's death was not

pleaded in the Indictment or in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, it failed to determine whether he

was put on notice.6s Although the Trial Chamber decided not to convict him on the basis of

Munyagatare's death, Nzabonimana claims that it considered the death as evidence of the

contextual background and a material element of his conviction tbr genocide, extermination, and

direct and public incitement to commit genocide.66 Nzabonimana further avers that he was not

notilled of the alleged threat he made against Munyagatare, which was a material element for his

convictions of genocide and direct and public incitement to commit genocide.6T Nzabonimana

argues that he suffered prejudice because he was unable to prepare for his cross-examination of

Prosecution Witnesses CNAI or CNAX, did not research Gacaca judicial documents related to

Munyagatare's death, and did not request to call eye-witnesses with respect to this event.68

26. The Prosecution responds that Munyagatare's death and Nzabonimana's threat against him

did not have to be pleaded because they are part of the evidence and, for the death, contextual

background to the allegations in the Indictment.6e Furthermore, the Prosecution argues that only

Witness CNAX testified to Munyagatare's cleath and that Nzabonimana received, a year befbre his

testimony, his prior statement cletailing the death and the threat.7o Regarding both Witnesses CNAI

and CNAX, the Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana did not object to their testimonies because

of lack of notice.Tl

Paragraph 19 of the Indictment reads:

On or abour l4 April 1994, Callixte NZABONIMANA held a meeting at Cyayi cellule, Kiyumba

secteur, Nyabikeike commune, Gituramu prefecture. He asked the population to prioritize the

massacre of Tutsi before taking their properties. As a result of this meeting, Tutsi were killed at

the Nyabikenke communal otfice by Interahamwe, Hutu civilians and communal policemen.

Paragraph 20 of the Indictment reads:

6aNzabon imanaNot iceo f  Appea l ,  para .3 .4 ;Nzabon imanaAppea l  Br ie f ,paras .  l l3 -115
6s Nzabonimana Appeal Brief.  pzua. I  13.
nt 'Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 113'
( '7 

Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 115.
68 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. l 14, re.fbning to, inter alia, Callixte Nzabonimana's Motion to Present Additional

Evidence on Rppeat, 24 July 2dl3 (confidential) (original French version filed on 5 June 2013) ("Rule I l5 Motion").
6e Prosecution Response Brief, pzras. 101' 103.
70 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 101' 103.
7r Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 101' 102'
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On or about 15 April 1994, following the orders of Callixte NZABOMMANA, Tutsi refugees at
Nyabikenke communal office were attacked by Interahamwe, Hutu civilians, soldiers and
communal policemen. Many Tutsi were killed including Speciose KARUHONGO, Jeanne
UJENEZA and Gabriel KAMMBA. On or about 15 April 1994, after the attack at the Nyabikenke
communal office, Callixte NZABONIMANA served beer to the attackers at his home in Kavumu
secteur, Ny abike nke commune.

29. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Prosecution is required to state the charges and the

material facts underpinning those charges in the indictment with sufficient precision, but not the

evidence by which such facts are to be proven.72 In reaching its judgement, a trial chamber can only

convict the accused of crimes that are charged in the indictment.T3 An indictment which fails to set

forth material facts in sufficient detail is defective;74 however, the defect may be cured if the

Prosecution provides the accused with timely, clear, and consistent information detailing the factual

basis underpinning the charges.T5

30. Objections based on lack of notics should be specific and timely.Tu When an appellant raises

a defect in the indictment for the first time on appeal, he or she bears the burden of showing that his

or her ability to prepare his or her defence was materially impaired.tt Wh"n, however, an accused

has previously raised the issue of lack of notice before the Trial Chamber, the burden rests on the

Prosecution to prove on appeal that the ability of the accused to prepare his or her defence was not

materially impaired.Ts

31. With respect to Munyagatare's death, the Appeals Chamber notes that neither paragraphs 19

or 20 of the Indictment identify Munyagatare as a victim of the commune office attacks on

15 April 1994. Contrary to Nzabonimana's subrnission,tt the Triul Chamber determined that he ttid

not receive sufficient notice of Munyagatare's death.*o Cons"quently, the Trial Chamber stated that

it would not consider his killing as a basis for conviction but could take "this evidence into account

as contextual background to further corroborate properly pled allegations in the Indictment".8l

72 Sainovii et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 213; Kanyarukiga Appeal Judgement, part' 73; Kupreikii et al.
Aooeal Judeement. para. 88.
"'Srr, ,.g1, Biri*ungn Appeal Judgement, para. 363i Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, pua. ll1;
Ntawukulilyayo Appeal Judgement, para. 189.
7a See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, pwa. 46; Kanyarukiga Appeal Judgement, pua 73; Kupreikii et al.
Appeal Judgement, para. I14.
" See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, pua. 46; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 176; Mugenzi and
Mugiranela Appeal Judgement, para. 117.
'u Srr, t.g., Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, pan. 122; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 56; Muvunyi I
Appeal Judgement, para. 123.
77 See Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, pan. 176; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 56; Ntagerura et al.
Appeal Judsement. para. 3 l.
'8''See natiailiyimina et al. Appeal Judgement, pua. 116; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 56; Ntagerura et al.

Apped Judgement, para. 31.
'' See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 113.

ll tlq Judgement, para. 935.
"' Trial Judgement, pan. 935.
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32. According to paragraph 20 of the Indictment: "Many Tutsis were killed including Sffiel/E

KARUHONGO, Jeanne UJENEZA and Gabriel KANIMBA". The Appeals Chamber observes that

although the paragraph lists specific victims, this is only by way of example as shown through the

use of the word "including". The material fact for Nzabonimana's conviction of instigation is that

Tutsis were killed following his course of conduct.*' The Appeals Chamber considers that the

names listed after "including" only serve as examples oI the material lact that Tutsis were killed at

the Nyabikenke commune office during the 15 April 1994 attacks. Indeed, the Trial Chamber found

that "during these attacks on the commune office, between 15 and 60 Tutsi refugees were killed,

includin g Evariste Munyagatare".s3

33. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not convict Nzabonimana for

Munyagatare's killing but referred to his death in finding that Tutsi refugees were killed at the

commune office during the 15 April 1994 attacks.Ea The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that

Munyagatare's killing is not a material fact that should have been pleaded in the Indictment.

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's argument.

34. Turning to the threat, the Appeals Chamber notes that neither paragraph 19 nor 20 of the

Indictment specifies that Nzabonimana threatened Munyagatare on 14 April 1994. The Trial

Chamber found that Nzabonimana prompted others to act and to continue the genocidal attack upon

the Nyabikenke commune office, and that he intended to do so "by threatening aTutsi and saying

that Tutsis should be massacred at Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994".85 Accordingly, in the Trial

Chamber's view, Nzabonimana's criminal conduct consisted of his threat against Munyagatare and

his statement at the Cyayi centre.86 His threat thus amounted to a material fact, which along with his

statement, underpinned Nzabonimana's conviction for instigation. The Appeals Chamber recalls

that when the accused is charged with instigation, the Prosecution is required to identify the

"particular acts" or the "particular course of conduct" on the part of the accused which forms the

basis for the charge in question.tt On this basis, the Appeals Chamber finds that the threat should

have been pleaded in the Indictment. In this respect, the Indictment was defective.

Rr With respect to direct and public incitement to commit genocide, the Appeals Chamber notes the inchoate nature of

this offence. As the material fact for this conviction cannot be based on the killings at the commune oftice but only on

Nzabonimana's conduct at the Cyayi centre on l4 April 1994, the Appeals Chamber therefore limits its analysis to his

convictions for genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity.
tt Trial Judgement, para.939 (emphasis added).
Ea See Trial Judgement, paras.935, l '7 11,fn.2167.
*'Trial Judgement, para. 1717. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not ref'er to Nzabonimana's

threat against Munyagatare in i ts f indings on direct and public incitement. See Trial Judgement, paras. 1763-1768.
no Trial Judgement, para. 171,1 .
t 'Srrr.g.,Ntl indi l iy imanaetal. ,para. 172;Ntuwukuli lyayoAppeal Judgement,para. 188; Renz,uho Appeal Judgement,

o a r a . 5 3 .

l 1
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35. Having reviewed the trial record, the Appeals Chamber observes that at no point did

Nzabonimana object to allegations of threatening Munyagatare prior to or during the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.*S The Nzabonimana Pre-Defence Brief makes no reference to

Munyagatare and does not argue lack of notice with respect to paragraphs 19 and 20 of the

Indictment.se Furthermore, the Trial Chamber noted that "the Defence did not file any motion prior

to its Closing Brief that alleged defects in the Indictment".eo The Appeals Chamber therefore

considers that Nzabonimana raises the alleged lack of notice on his threat against Munyagatare for

the first time on appeal. Accordingly, Nzabonimana bears the burden of showing that his ability to

preparc his defence was materially impaired.

36. Nzabonimana has failed to moet this burden. The Appeals Chamber finds that,

Nzabonimana was able to challenge the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.el Furthermore,

the Appeals Chamber notes that the Defence cross-examined Witnesses CNAI and CNAX on the

threat,e2 and presented Defence witnesses to contradict the testimonies of Witnesses CNAI and

CNAX on this issue.e3 In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has

not shown that the failure to plead the threat against Munyagatare materially impaired his defence

and therefore dismisses his arsument

37. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to notice under his Third Ground of Appeal.

2. Assessment of Evidence

38. On the basis of Prosecution and Defence evidence, the Trial Chamber determined that on

13 April 1994 there was an attempted attack on the Nyabikenke commune office which was repelled

by Defence Witness T24 and commune policemen and during which Tutsi refugees were not

tt Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 pp.61-65; Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 pp. 22,28-33,3'l (closed
session); Witness CNAX, T.23 November2009 pp.60,61;Witness CNAX, T.24 November 2009 pp.32-31 (closed
session). See also Closing Arguments; T. 20 October 2O11, T. 21 October 20lI; The Prosecutor v. Ceillixte
Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Nzabonimana's Abridged Final Brief, l3July 2011 (confidential)
("Nzabonimana Closing Brief '), pans. 201 -237, 25 1 -28'7, 425, 426, 43 1, 555.
8e See The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana. Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Revised and Amended Pre-Defence Briei

-8^April 2010 (original French version filed on 12 March 2010) ("Nzabonimana Pre-Defence Brief'), paras.31-41.
'u Trial Judgement, para. 36.
"' See Tial Judgement, paras. 873, 8'76, 8'77.
et Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 pp. 28-32 (closed session); Witness CNAX, T. 24 November 2009 p. 33
(closed session).
e3 See Witness T24, T .28 April 20 10 p. M, where the witness testified that he knew Munyagatare and never heard of an
incident where Munyagatare challenged Nzabonimana (see also Tfral Judgement, para. 784); see Witness T193,
T. 9 March 20i I pp. 15, 22 (closed session), where the witness, who also knew Munyagatare, denied being present with
Kamali, Witness CNAI, and Munyagatare during Nzabonimana's remarks at the Cyayi centre (see also Tial
Judgement, para. 816).

1 3
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harmed.ea Based on the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses CNAI and CNAX, the Trial CIffie/H

found that, on the afternoon of 14 April 1994, Nzabonimana held a meeting at the Cyayi centre,

located approximately 250 to 300 metres tiom the commune offlce, where approximately 30 people

were present, including Isaac Kamali, Munyagatare, Witnesses CNAI, CNAX, and Defence

Witness T193.es According to the Trial Chamber, Nzabonimana said to those gathered: "I know that

Hutus do not heed instructions. Do not continue to eat the cows of Tutsi who have sought refuge at

the communal offi.ce. What really matters is not the cows; it is, rather, the owners of the cows that

matter".e6 It also cletermined that after Nzabonimana spoke, Munyagatare, who was among those

seeking refuge at the commune office, challenged him and that Nzabonimana then threatened

Munyagatare.eT

39. Relying primarily on the evidence of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX, the Trial Chamber

determined that on the night of 14 to 15 April 1994, between 3.00 and 4.00 a.m. ("Night Attack"),

Hutu civilians and commune policemen, armed with firearms, grenades, and traditional weapons,

attackecl the commune office.e8 It further held that, starting at approximately 10.00 a.m. on

l5 April 1994 ("Day Attack") and lasting until the afternoon, commune policemen, the

Interahamwe, and civilians armed with traditional weapons, firearms, and grenades attacked the

commune office.ee The Trial Chamber concluded that during the attacks, approximately 15 to 60

Tutsi refugees, including Munyagatare, were killed.l00

40. In its findings relating to the Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office, the Trial

Chamber considerecl Defence evidence "in conjunction with the Defence claims that the

Prosecution witnesses fabricated their evidence", and concluded that the Defence did not raise a

reasonablc doubt in the Prosecution's case.l0l

41. The Appeals Chamber will first consider Nzabonimana's submissions on the assessment of

Prosecution evidence,l02 and then turn to the assessment of Defence evidence.l03 It does so bearing

" T.ial Judgement, paras. 866, 938. The Trial Chamber made these findings on the basis of evidence from
Witnesses CNAX, T24,T28, T193, and Ndayisaba.

" Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938.
'o Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938.

" Trial Judgement, paras. 887,938.
e8 Trial Judgement, paras.910-913,939. See also ibid., paras. 888-898.

" 
'fr ial Judgement, paras. 927 ,936,939.

"n'Trial Judgement, paras. 936, 939.

"" Trial Judgement, para. 940. See also ibid., para.256.
r02 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras.3.1.1,3.1.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras.33-60.
'03 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.3.1.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras.6l-79.
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in mind that it will only

have made the impugned

2221/H

find an error of fact if it determines that no reasonable trier of fact could

l 0 4
I rndrnss. ' -

(a) Alleged Errors in Assessing Prosecution Evidence

42. The Trial Chamber relied on Witnesses CNAI and CNAX with respect to the events at the

Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994 and it relied primarily on these witnesses in making its findings

related to the Night and the Day Attacks at the Nyabikenke commune office.los Furthermore, the

Trial Chamber's finding that Munyagatare was killed during the commune office attacks was based

solely on Witness CNAX's testimony.106

43. Nzabonimana submits ttrat the Trial Chamber erred in assessing Witnesses CNAI's and

CNAX's credibility and should not have relied upon them to make findings about the events at the

Cvavi centre and the Nvabikenke commune office.107

44. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly relied on the corroborating

evidence of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.108

45. The Appeals Chamber recalls that trial chambers are best placed to assess the evidence,

including the demeanour of witnesses.109 Therefore, trial chambers have full discretionary power in

assessing the credibility of a witness and in determining the weight to be accorded to his or her

testimony.llo This assessment is based on a number of factors, including the witness's demeanour in

court, his or her role in the events in question, the plausibility and clarity of the witness's testimony,

whether there are contradictions or inconsistencies in his or her successive statements or between

his or her testimony and other evidence, any prior examples of false testimony, any motivation to

lie, and the witness's responses during cross-exarnination.lll ln addition, the Appeals Chamber has

previously stated that it is within a trial chamber's discretion to accept or reject a witness's

'* sr, trpro, para. 10.
tot Triul Judgement, paras. 867-878, 887-890, 892-895, 900-902,910-913, 915,923, 925-929,936, 938-940. The

Appeals ClailUer will use the singular form of the word "attack" in relation to 15 April 1994, noting that the Trial

CiramUer uses the plural (see Trial Judgement, paras. 914, 921,, and 924) and the singular (see Trial Judgement,
pwas.924-92'l).
1* T.iul Judgement, puas. 932, 935, 939.
107 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 3.1.1, 3.1.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Bief ,pan.42.
108 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 38.
,os Srr, e.g., Karyirukiga Appeal Judgement, pua. l2l; Simba Appeal Judgement, para.9; Ntagerura et al. Appeal

Judgement, paras. 12, 213.
tto iee, e.g.,- Ndinditiyimnna et ai. Appeal Judgement, para. 331; Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, pwa. 431 Kanyarukiga

Aopeal Judgement, para. 121.
ttl'trr, r.g-., Koryirrkiga Appeal Judgement, pua. l2l', Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. ll4; Nchamihigo Appeal

Judgement, pwa. 47.
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testimony, after seeing the witness, hearing the testimony, and observing

examinat ion. l l2

him or her wder2f,frlo/H

(i) Witness CNAI's Credibility

46. Nzabonimana submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have rejected some parts of

Witness CNAI's testimony, while accepting other parts with respect to the same event.ll3

Nzabonimana claims that the Trial Chamber's rejection of Witness CNAI's testimony in relation to

Kamali's knowledge of his ethnicity as a Tutsi,rra and on Witness Tl93's participation in the

attacks, undermined Witness's CNAI credibility as a whole.ttt As to Kamali's knowledge of

Witness CNAI's ethnicity, Nzabonimana argues that, by finding one crucial aspect of his testimony

implausible, the Trial Chamber considerecl that the witness could lie under oath.r16 On

Witness Tl93's participation in the attacks, Nzabonimana contends that Witness CNAI's

explanations of contradictions, going as far as questioning the authenticity of a Gitarama coutt

judgement, adversely impacted his credibili,y.ttt Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber

could not rely on Witness CNAI's old age to explain contradictions because: (i) the witness gave a

different explanation for discrepancies between his testimony at trial and previous statements; and

(ii) the Trial Chamber treated age clifferently between Witness CNAI and Defence Witness Straton

Sibomana.rrB Nzabonimana further claims that the Trial Chamber failed to assess the implausible

fact that Witness CNAI, after hearing Nzabonimana's speech in the Cyayi centre, returned to buy

cigarettes from Germain Karangwa, the leader olthe Interahamwe.tte

4j. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana merely repeats unsuccessful trial arguments

without showing how the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness CNAI's credibility was

unreasonable.l20

48. The Trial Chamber considered one aspect of Witness CNAI's testimony implausible - that

Kamali did not know that he was a Tutsi.r2r It recalled that the witness testified to being related to

,t See, e.g., Kanyurukiga Appeal Judgement, para. 121; Nchamihig,o Appeal Judgement, para.210; Serombu Appeal

Judgement, para. 1 16.
i , ,  frrubonirnana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.2(8); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 51. See also AT.29 Apri, l  2014

pp. 6-8.
I[  Nzabonirnuna Appeal Brief,  para. 51, re.fbrr ing to Trial Judgement, paras. 875,904-908. See also ibid.,paras.52'53,

57. Nzabonimana further nrguei that the Trial Chamber's successive rejections of Witness CNAI's testimony can only

undermine his credibi l i ty. See ibid.,  para. 55.
I rs Nzabonimana Appeai Brief, para. 54, re.ferring, ro Trial Judgement, paras. 903-908. See also ihid., para- 51 .
r16  Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie f ,  paras .5 l ,53 .
rr7 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 54.
rr8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 56-58, re.f'erring ro Trial Judgement, para. 1290.
rre Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 59, reJbffing rr.r Trial Judgement, paras.757-759.
l2{)Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 46.
' t '  Trial Judgement, para. 875.
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Kamali and that they knew each other well.r22 The Trial Chamber did not believe Witness CNAI on

this aspect, but considered that this did not undermine the witness's credibility as a whole because:

[t]he Chamber recalls that the evidence established the presence of other Tutsis at Cyayi, including
Evariste Munyagatare and Witness CNAX. Even if Kamali knew Witness CNAI was a Tutsi, this
does not lead to the conclusion that Witness CNAI was not present at Cyayi to witness
Nzabonimana's speech and its aftermath.l23

49. The Appeals Chamber considers that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to accept

Witness CNAI's testimony of his presence, as well as of Nzabonimana's speech and its aftermath.

The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Witness CNAI, along with Witness

CNAX, provided internally credible and consistent accounts of the "Cyayi meeting".r2a Recalling

that the Trial Chamber has the discretion to accept some but reject other parts of a witness's

testimony,l2s the Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's argument that by finding one aspect of

Witness CNAI's testimony implausible and not credible, the Trial Chamber would necessarily have

considered the witness to lie under oath. Accordingly, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of Witness CNAI's credibility.

50. In its deliberations on the perpetrators of the Night Attack, the Triai Chamber held that:

Given the contradictions in Witness CNAI's accounts as to the participation of Witness T193 in

the attack, and the difficult conditions for identification, the Chamber does not find that the

evidence proves that Witness T193 carried a machete and participated in the attack.126

51. After recalling that Witness CNAI questioned the authenticity of the Gitarama court

judgement and denied stating that Witness T193 threw grenades,r2T the Trial Chamber did not find

Witness CNAI's explanation for the discrepancy sufficient and also noted that conditions at the

time of the attack made identification of assailants difficult.r28 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber

notes that the Trial Chamber did not accept Witness CNAI's explanation. The Appeals Chamber is

not convinced that the rejection of his explanalion prevented the Trial Chamber from reasonably

relying on the witness's evidence.

52. With respect to Nzabonimana's argument on Witness CNAI's age, the Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber relied on his age, the minor nature of the discrepancies, and the

passage of time between the 1994 events and the witness's testimony, to find that the discrepancies

iiill.t Judgement, para. 875.
'" Trial Judgement, para. 875.
r24 Trial Judgement, pan.872.

"t Sre Ndahirnana Appeal Judgement, para. 183; Kanyarukiga Appeal Judgement, para. 187; Bagosora and
N s e ng iy umv a Appeal Judgement, pan. 243.
''o Trial Judgement, para. 908.
ttt Trial Judgement, para. 906.
"t TnalJudgement, paras. 906, 907 .

L I
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between Witness CNAI's testimony and previous statements did not underrnine his credib:@.WH

The Appeals Chamber finds no error in this approach. The fact that Witness CNAI justified the

discrepancies as mistakes made by people who recorded his statemonts did not prevent the Trial

Chamber from taking into account the witncss's age among other factors.''t'The Appeals Chamber

is also not persuaded that the Trial Chamber erred in treating the ages of Witness CNAI and

Witness Sibomana differently since circumstances of the two witnesses are distinguishable. After

noting that Witness Sibomana was serving a prison sentence for his involvement in the genocide

and was 82 years of age and in failing health,r3r the Trial Chamber explicitly stated that it treated

Witness Sibomana's testimony with appropriate caution.'t 'In comparison, Witness CNAI was not

convicted for participating in the genocide, and he provided eyewitness account of events at the

Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office.rtt In view of the foregoing, Nzabonimana fails

to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber could not rely on Witness CNAI's age, among other factors,

to find that the discrepancies did not undermine his credibility.

53. Finally, in summarising Witness CNAI's testimony, the Trial Chamber noted

Witness CNAI's evidence that he returned to Karangwa's bar at around 8.00 p.m. and asked

Karangwa if he sold cigarettes.l3o The Trial Chamber was therefbre aware of this aspect of the

testimony. Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in not expressly

addressing this aspect of the evidence in assessing Witness CNAI's credibility. Nzabonimana also

fails to explain how this aspect of the evidence was implausible. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber

dismisses Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber failed to assess this "implausible" fact.

54. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in the

assessment of Witness CNAI's credibility.

(ii) Witness CNAX's Credibility

55. Nzabonimana submits that Witness CNAX lacked credibility because: (i) he was convicted

and imprisoned for embezzlement;t3s (ii) having witnessed events involving Nzabonimanain 1994,

the witness knew crucial inlormation that could have saved Tutsis but refrained from warning them

or any authority;r3o lii l; tre testified that he waited until 2008 to reveal his knowledge of events,

r2e See Trial Judgement, para.874.
r30 See Trial Judgement, paras. 873, 874.
't' Trial Judgement, para. 1290.
r3t Trial Judgement, para. 1290, reJ'erring toTrial Judgement, paras. 80-82.
r33 See Trial Judgement, paras.151-156,'160,761 ,'764.
' 'o Trial Judgement, pa'a.759.
r3t Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, pzra. 43; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 22. See also AT.29 April 2014 p. 50.
116 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 43,46 Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para.22. See also AT.29 April 2014 pp.55,
56.

l 8
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while his declaration to Rwandan police made in 1996, which does not mention Nzabonimana or

Munyagatare, shows the contrary;t" and (iv) the Trial Chamber should have treated his silence as it

did with Prosecution Witness CNBA.138 Nzabonimana adds that the Trial Chamber erred in

assessing Witness CNAX's credibility since his alibi and the Prosecution evidence for the

Kabimbura centre on 11 April 1994 should have cast doubt on his credibiliry.l3e

56. Nzabonimana submits that no reasonable trier of fact could have accepted Witness CNAX's

testimony that Munyagatare died during the attacks because: (i) Witness CNAX's testimony, that he

was in charge of identifying the victims in the middle of the attack, is implausible; and (ii) the Trial

Chamber erroneously rejected Witness T193's testimony as hearsay, did not take Defence

WitnessT28's evidence into account, despite citing it, and disregarded Witness CNAI's testimony

who had doubts about the death.rao

51. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's submissions fail to provide arguments,rat

ignore evidence accepted by the Trial Chamber,l4z and rely on evidence not on the record.lot It adds

that the Trial Chamber rejected Nzabonimana's alibi for 11 April 1994, and acquitted him in

relation to the Kabimbura meeting.la The Prosecution also responds that the Trial Chamber

reasonably found that Munyagatare was killed at the commune offrce,tas and that Nzabonimana's

altemative account of Munyagatare's death is based on material not on the record.la6

58. The Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's argument relating to Witness CNAX's

imprisonment for embezzlement as he merely raises the issue without elaboration.'ot With respect

to Witness CNAX's failure to warn refugees, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber

explicitly considered this issue and accepted the witness's explanation, of not wanting to cause

r37 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. M, referring /o Rule I 15 Motion.
r38 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 45, referring toT1ral Judgement, para. 1038. According to Nzabonimana, the Trial
Chamber should have found that Witness CNAX's credibility was undermined by his silence, as it did for two
witnesses. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para.22, where Nzabonimana specifies that it is Witness CNBA.
r3e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 47-50; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 23. Nzabonimana also argues that the
Trial Chamber erred in finding that he breached Rule 67(A)(ii) of the Rules on notice of alibi and in excluding alibi
witnesses. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.2(5). Noting that this argument is not developed further in
Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, the Appeals Chamber considers that it has been withdrawn. Nzabonimana further submits
that, in light of his alibi and Prosecution Witness CNRl's testimony, he was not at the Kabimbura centre. ,See
Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 91. See also AT.29 April 2014 pp.8,9.
140 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 78.
lal Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 40, 42.
'02 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 39.
'" 'Prosecution Response Brief, para. 41.
r4 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 44, 45 . See also AT .29 April 2014 pp. 34, 35.
ra5 Prosecution Response Bief , pata. 7 2.
ra6 Prosecution Response Bief , paru.14.
r47 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber noted Witness CNAX's imprisonment when assessing the
witness's credibility on allegations to which he testified. See Trial Judgement, paras. 286, 653,877. The Trial Chamber
noted that the crime was unrelated to the genocide and that a criminal conviction unrelated to the facts of the present
case did not per se indicate that the witness lacked credibility. See idem.
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further insecurity among frightened refugees.la8 Nzabonimana makes no attempt to demoBffi6/H

how the Trial Chamber erred in finding Witness CNAX's explanation plausible. As for

Witness CNAX's failure to warn authorities at the time of the events,l4e Nzabonimana provides no

references in support of his argument and fails to explain the alleged impact on the witness's

credibility. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's argument on Witness CNAX's

testimony that he waited until 2008 to reveal his knowledge of events, as he relies on a document

which is not part of the record in this case. r50

59. Further, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Nzabonimana's contention that the Trial

Chamber ered in treating the silences of Witnesses CNAX and CNBA clifferently.r5r Nzabonimana

fails to explain how the situations of these witnesses warrant similar treatment. The Trial Chamber

fbund that Witness CNBA's silence undermined his credibility because he was a local official, had

a role in the ongoing investigations into the genocide, and given his official position would have

provided relevant information during Gacaca sessions.l52 This is distinguishable from

circumstanccs surrounding Witness CNAX, who had no role in genocide investigations.

60. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Nzabonimana's challenge against Witness CNAX's

credibility based on events on 11 April 1994 at the Kabimbura centre.rs3 As context, the Appeals

Chamber notes that, according to Witness CNAX, Nzabonimana was seen attending a meeting at

the Kabimbura centre in Nyabikenke commune on l1 April 1994, around 5.00 p.-.t'o However, the

Trial Chamber noted Witness CNRI's evidence that around 3.00p.m. the witness left Gitarama

prdfecture with Nzabonimana to return to Kigali.rss The Trial Chamber examined this contradiction

in relation to events at the Kabimbura centre and concluded that the allegations against

Nzabonimana in this respect were not established as Witne ss CNAX's evidence was

uncorroborated, hearsay, and contradicted by Prosecution evidence.''o Th" Appeals Chamber

observes, however, that the Trial Chamber accepted Witness CNAX's testimony that he went to the

'o 'Trial Judgement, para. 878.
rae .See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 46.
rso See Decision on Callixte Nzabonimana's Motion for Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal Pursuant to Rule

l l5 of the Rules, 22 Apri l  2014 ("Rule 115 Decision"), p. 5. The Appeals Chamber recal ls that i t  did not admit as

addit ional evidence Witness CNAX's statement made in 1996, based, inter al ia, on the fact i t  could not have been a

decisive factor in reaching the decision at trial as Witness CNAX's testimony was found to be corroborated by Witness

CNAI's test imony. See ibid.,  p. 4.
r5r See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 45, re.f'erring tr.r Trial Judgement, para. 1038; Nzabonimana Reply Brief,
para.22.
1" Trial Judgement, para. 1038.
rs3 Nzabonimana points to test imonies of Prosecution Rebuttal Witness CNRl as well  as al ibi  Defence Witnesses Tl I

and Mechtilde Mugiraneza to demonshate that Witness CNAX's testimony on Nzabonimana's presence at the

Kabimbura centre on I I April 1994 was contradicted. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 47-50.
' t '  Witnes. CNAX, T. 23 November 2009 pp. 57-59. See also Trial Judgement, para. 642.
' t '  Trial Judgement, para.453.
' 'o Trial Judgement, para.662.
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Kabimbura centre on 11 April 1994 for food.1s7 The Trial Chamber did not find that

Witness CNR1's evidence rendered the whole of Witness CNAX's evidence not credible. The Trial

Chamber considered that the evidence of Witnesses Mugiraneza and T11 only covered parts of

11 April lgg4,r58 and did not raise a reasonable doubt in the Prosecution evidence placing him at

the scene of the alleged crime on 11 April lgg{.lse The Appeals Chamber does not detect any error

in the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness CNAX's credibility in light of Nzabonimana's alibi

and Witness CNRl's evidence.160

6L The Appeals Chamber further finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably accepted Witness

CNAX's testimony on Munyagatare's death at the commune offrce.l6l Despite being the only

witness who testified that Munyagatare was killed during the attacks, the Trial Chamber considered

that Witness CNAX provided credible and reliable testimony on the death.162 Nzabonimana appears

to suggest that Witness CNAX was in charge of identifying Tutsis killed at the commune office and

argues that this was implausible during an attack.163 The Appeals Chamber observes that, in cross-

examination, the Defence suggested the same to Witness CNAX, who answered:

When I was getting ready to run away, I passed near dead bodies. I even had to jump ovet some of
- one of them. So under those conditions, it was when I was fleeing that I was able to identify

Munyagatare's body. Those people had been killed by grenade shrapnels. They could be identified.

And since I was one of those in charge of refugees, I felt compelled to know the identity of some
164oI tne vlctrms.'

62. The Appeals Chamber finds that it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to accept

Witness CNAX's testimony on Munyagatare's death, "given his position in charge of the refugees",

and given that Witness CNAX felt a responsibility to identify Munyagatare's body.165

63. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded that the Trial Chamber's assessment of other

evidence on Munyagatare's death undermines Witness CNAX's overall credibility. Specifically,

beyond disagreeing with the Trial Chamber's assessment of Defence Witnesses T28's and T193's

testimonies, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred. Indeed, the Trial

ttt Trial Judgement, para.662.
l58,See Trial Judgement, paras. 455, 456.
15e ,See Trial Judgement, para.457.
t60 The Appeals Chamber is equally not persuaded by Nzabonimana's claim that, on the basis of his alibi evidence, and
Witness CNR|'s testimony, Nzabonimana was not present at the Kabimbura centre on 11 April 1994. See Nzabonimana

Appeal Brief, para. 91. Indeed, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not find that Nzabonimana

wai absent at the Kabimbura centre on l1 April 1994. The Appeals Chamber finds no error since Witnesses CNAX and
CNR] placed Nzabonimana in Gitarama at some point in the afternoon of 1l April 1994. See, e.g.,Trial Judgement,
paras.450, 453,659.
1ut Trial Judgement, paras. 935, 936.
tut Trial Judgement, pwas. 932, 935.
163 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 78.
le Witness CNAX, T. 24 November 2009 p.36 (closed session)'
t6t Trial Judgement, pan.932. The Trial Chamber also considered that Witness CNAX knew Munyagatare as he saw
him the previous day at the Cyayi centte and therefore would have been able to reliably identify hrim' See idem.
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Chamber had the discretion to reject Witness Tl93's hearsay evidence, which it 29M/H

implausible.'06 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered Witness T28's

testimony that Munyagatare died in the home of his parents-in-law, but provided no reason for not

accepting this explanation.r6T Having reviewed the transcripts, the Appeals Chamber observes that

Witness T28 did not explain how he knew that Munyagatare died at the home of his parents-in-

law.r68 As to Witness CNAI, the Trial Chamber explicitly considered his testimony and at no point

did Witness CNAI doubt Munyagatare's death.t6e It considered Witness CNAI's statement from

2002, indicating that Munyagatare and his family were killed during the genocide and thrown into

the Nyabarongo River.rTn Howeuer, the Trial Chamber noted that fhe 2002 statement is unclear as to

where Munyagatare was killed and that Witness CNAI was not present at the scene to confirm

whether Munyagatare was thrown into the river.tTl

64. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in the

assessment of Witness CNAX's credibility.

(ii i) Witnesses CNAI's and CNAX's Credibility in Relation to Fabrication of Evidence

65. On 8 December 2010, the Trial Chamber granted Nzabonimana's motion in part requesting

the appointment of an amicus curiae to investigate allegations that Witness CNAI, or a member of

the Prosecution team, disclosed protected witness inforrnation in violation of Rule 77(AXii) and/or

(iv) of the Rules.rT'The Amirzs Report concluded that "Witness CNAI did not at all disclose any

protected infbrmation pertaining to Defence Witness T36" and "did not threaten and/or bribe and/or

intimidate Witness T36 or at all".r73 It lurther recommended that "there are no grounds or basis or

at all fbr instigating proceedings for contempt of the Tribunal against Prosecution

WitnessCNAI".lTl The Amicu.s Report reached the same conclusions regarding members of the

Prosecution's office.'tt The report did recommend that "the Chamber consider ordering further

investigations on the need for supplementary protective measures for def'ence witnesses especially

"" 'Trial Judgement, para. 934.
' t"  Trial Judgement, para.934.
'ot Witness T28, T. 2 June 2010 p. 44 (closed session).
r6e See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 78.
rt ' )  Trial Judgement, para. 933.
't' Trial Judgement, para. 933. As for Nzabonimana's reliance on a 1996 statement from Witness CNAX and a

declaration tiom Munyagatare's wit'e (.see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 79), the Appeals Chamber notes that these

materials are not part of the record in this case. See Rule 115 Decision, p.5.
112 See The Prosecuktr v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Nzabonimana's Renewed and

Confidential Motion fbr Appointment of Amicus Curiae to Investigate Allegations of Contempt of the Tribunal Against

Prosecurion Witness CNAI, 8 December 2010. See also Tnal Judgement, para. 1902. The Appeals Chamber notes that

on 1 April 201 I , the "Report of the Amicus Curiee on Allegations of Contempt of Tribunal by Witness CNAI and/or a

Member [of] the Prosecution Office Pertaining to Def-ence Witness T36" ("Amicu.r Report") was filed confidentially.

"'' Amicus Report, para.77.

"_o- A*icus Report, para. 78.
'  ' t  Amicns Report,  para.79.
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where their status as defence witnesses is known in the community in the interest of justice and fair

trial".176

66. On2I October 2011, the Trial Chamber accepted the Amicus Report and declined to initiate

contempt proceedings against any persons in the matter, including Witness CNALlTT It noted that

the Defence "generally agreed with the conclusions of the amicu.r, particularly in regard to the need

for the Tribunal to strengthen protective measures for Defence witnesses".l'r OnZl October 2011,

the Trial Chamber also issued a decision admitting a statement by Witness CNAI dated

8March2011 ("Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 201I"), which was annexed to the Amicus

Report.rTe In the same decision, the Trial Chamber rejected the admission of other documents

annexed to the Amiczs Report, including a statement by Prosecution Investigator Djibo Moumouni

dated 8 March 2011 ("Prosecution Investigator Moumouni Statement"), and three statements by

Defence Witness T37 ("Defence Witness T37 Statements").180

67. In assessing Defence allegations that Prosecution witnesses fabricated evidence, the Trial

Chamber considered whether Rwandan authorities and Witness CNAI recruited Prosecution

witnesses.181 Specifically, the Trial Chamber examined if Witness CNAI recruited witnesses,

including Witness CNAX, to testify falsely for the Prosecution.rs2 In doing so, the Trial Chamber

considered Defence arguments pointing to the Amicrzs Report.18' It also assessed whether Rwandan

authorities and Prosecution witnesses obstructed Defence investigations and whether Defence

witnesses were harassed.l8a The Trial Chamber determined that the Defence claim of alleged

fabrication was based on mere speculation and that the Defence team, despite encountering

"logistical problems, it was able to adequately defend the interest of Nzabonimana".185

Furthermore, in making its factual findings on events at the Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke

commune office, the Trial Chamber explicitly recalled its findings on fabrication of evidence.ls6

"6 Amicus Report, para. 80.
"' The Prosecutor v. CaLlixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision Following Amicus Curiae Report

Pertaining to Allegations of Co[n]tempt of the Tribunal by Prosecution Witness CNAI and/or a Member of the
Prosecution Office, 21 October 2011 (*21 October 2011 Decision Accepting Arzlcas Report"), p. 11.
r78 21 October 2011 Decision Accepting Amicus Report, paras. 12,25. After noting that the "Defence did not disagree
with the amicus curiae conclusions that Defence Witness T36 was not intimidated, threatened or bribed by Prosecution
witness CNAI" and that the "Defence accepted the amicus curiae conclusions that neither Witness CNAI nor any
Prosecution official divulged protected information pertaining to Witness T36", the Trial Chamber considered that the
Defence did not challenge or object to the conclusions of the Amicus Report. See ibid, para. 25.

"n Th, Prose"utor v. Callbte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion for Admission of
Documents, 21 October 20ll (*21 October 201 1 Decision on Admission of Documents"), pam. 24, p.9.
180 2 1 October 201 I Decision on Admission of Documents, paras. 25'21, p. 9.
181 Trial Judgement, paras. 94-156; 240-255.
r8t Trial Judgement, paras. 149-156.
tt'Triul Judgement, paras. 152, 155.
t* Trial Judgement, puas. 240-255,
ttt Trial Judgement, para.255. See also ibid., paula. 156.
186 TdaI Judgement, paras.743, 856, 940.
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68. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing Prosecution WiflE#e/H

CNAI's and CNAX's testimonies because it examined collusion and intimidation globally without

specitically considering these issues in relation to Witnesses CNAI and CNAX, who were lying.r87

69. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber ignored the impact of the Amicus Report and

Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011 on the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.r88

With respect to Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011, Nzabonimana notes that Witness CNAI

explained that he assisted the Prosecution in finding witnesses and that he provided the names of

Prosecution Witnesses CNAQ, CNBH, CNAK, CNAX, and CNAY.rse According to Nzabonimana,

this is contrary to the Trial Chamber's findings that Witness CNAI denied assisting the Prosecution

to lind witnesses and was solely the contact person because he was the only one with a phone.re0 He

argues that, because Witness CNAI testified to the contrary, the witness lied befbre the Trial

Chamber.rer Furthermore, in light of Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011, Nzabonimana

argues that the Trial Chamber ignored Witness CNAX's lies when finding that the witness denied

that Witness CNAI proposed him as a witness to the Prosecution.le2 Nzabonimana also contends

that, unlike Prosecution Witnesses CNAQ, CNAY, and CNBU, Witness CNAX denied that Witness

CNAI accompanied him on 4 October 2008 to meet with Prosecution investigators in Nyamabuye

commLtne, Gitarama prdfecture.te3 Nzabonimana also argues that the Amicus Report established that

Witness CNAI approached Witness T36 to testify lor the Prosecution.rea

70. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in refusing to admit Prosecution

Investigator Moumouni Statement and Defence Witness T37 Statements, all annexed to the Amicus

Report, because they also impact Witness CNAI's credibility.res Nzabonimana points to the fact

that the declaration of the investigator described Witness CNAI's supervisory role over Prosecution

witnesses and that the investigator gave the witness names of individuals in Nyabikenke commune

for background verification.re6 Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in refusing

to recall Prosecution investigators and witnesses involved, including Witness CNAI, after

I87 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.3. l . l ;Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  ptra.33.
rEE Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.1(2); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 36; Nzabonimana Reply Brief,

p ina .  2 I  .  See u lso  AT.29 Apr i l  20 I4  pp .4-6 .50 .
'n'  Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 38; Nzabonimana Reply Brief,  para. 21.
re" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 38,re.ferring to Trial Judgement, paras. 149, 151, 153.
rer Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 38.
re2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 39, re.fbrring toTiral Judgement, para. 114.
rer Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, pzra. 39,re,ferrin14 toTrial Judgement, fn.220: Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para.2l.
rea Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 38.
res Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.1(3); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 37.
'e6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 40.
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discovering that 245,000 Rwandan Francs were paid to Rwandan authorities for the "treatment of

witnesses in Gitarama".197

7I. Finally, Nzabonimana submits that the Defence did not simply encounter "logistical"

problems but that Defence witnesses were intimidated in relation to the Nyabikenke events'le8 In

this regard, Nzabonimana relies on the testimony of Defence Investigator Fernand Batard, the

declaration of Defence Witness T160, and the Amicus Report.lee

72. The Prosecution responds that: (i) Nzabonimana's argument on global assessment should be

summarily dismissed;2oo (ii) the Amicus Report found Nzabonimana's allegations of intimidation to

be unfounded, that Nzabonimana accepted this conclusion, and that he fails to demonstrate why

Witness CNAX's evidence is false;2or (iii) Nzabonimana fails to substantiate how the Trial

Chamber erred in refusing to admit documents attached to the Amicas Report or how the documents

affected Witness CNAI's credibility;2o'(iu) money transferred to Rwandan authorities was not for

bribes but to cover witnesses' 
"xp"nr"r;'o' 

and (v) despite "logistical ptoblems", Defence

Witness Batard was able to collect large volumes of evidence and Nzabonimana fails to explain the

prejudice, if any, he suffered.2oa

In its findings on the alleged fabrication of evidence, the Trial Chamber concluded that:

Taking into account the Chamber's assessment of the credibility of the relevant Defence and
Prosecution witnesses and the evidence as a whole, the Chamber finds that the evidence led by the
Defence relating to the alleged fabrication of evidence does not undermine the credibility of the

Prosecution witnesses' testiiony.205

The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber did not initiate contempt proceedings against

Witness CNAI and dismissed allegations of fabrication against Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.'ou Th"

re? Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 41. See also ibid.,pua.2l. See also AT.29 April 2014 p. 50.
1e8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 34, 35; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 19, 20. See also AT.29 April 2014 pp.

5,  6.
ree Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 34; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 20. See also AT.29 Apfl 2014 pp- 5' 6. The

Appeals Chamber notes that in his Notice of Appeal, Nzabonimana advances arguments relating to witness intimidation
under the section on Defence witnesses, but fails to develop these arguments in his Appeal Brief. See Nzabonimana
Notice of Appeal, para.3.1.3(5)(6). The Appeals Chamber also finds unsubstantiated his argument that the Trial

Chamber exclud"d all Defence evidence without justification and failed to consider difficulties encountered throughout

trial, except where evidence is corroborated by Prosecution evidence. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal,
para.3.1.3(4) .
2m Prosecution Response Brief, para. 28.
201 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 31. See also AT.29 Api|2014 pp.32-34.
2@ Prosecution Response Brief, para. 32.
203 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 36,31, referrinS to Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 77, 78.
2e Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 29, 30. See also AT .29 April 2014 p. 31.
tot Trial Judsement, para.256.
t* T.ial Judlgement, paras. 136-156,253-256. See also 21 October 2011 Decision Accepting Amicus Report. With

respect to Witness CNAX specifically, the Trial Chamber considered and rejected Defence assertions that this witness,

along with Witnesses CNAI, CNAQ, CNAY, CNAF, CNAP, and CNBU all fabricated their testimony. See Trial

Judgement, paras. 154, 156.
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Trial Chamber explicitly recalled its findings on fabrication in its assessment of events at theEHlO/H

centre and the Nyabikenke commune office.2O7 Thus, contrary to Nzabonimana's arguments, the

Trial Chamber did not merely consider collusion and intimidation in a global manner, but also

explicitly in assessing the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.208

74. The Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial

Chamber ignored the impact of the Amicus Report and Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 201I

on rhe creclibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial

Chamber explicitly considered the Amicus Report when it examined the Defence allegation that

Witness CNAI recruited witnesses to testify falsely for the Prosecution.'oe In particular, the Trial

Chamber noted the Defence submission, madc in Nzabonimana Closing Brief, which pointed to the

Amicus Report as evidence of Witness CNAI's recruitment and intimidation of witnesses.2l0 The

Trial Chamber recalled that it accepted conclusions contained in the Amicus Report and that the

parties <lid not appeal this ruling.2rr Specifically, the Trial Chamber recalled the Amicus Report's

conclusions that Witness T36's allegations of being threatened, intimidated, and bribed by Witness

CNAI were unfoun ded.ztz

15. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber referenced sections of the Amicus

Report that cited Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011, thus showing that the Trial Chamber

did take the statement into account.2r3 Also, in its 2l October 2011 Decision on Admission of

Documents, the Trial Chamber admitted the statement "for the sole purpose of challenging and

assessing the credibility of Prosecution Witness CNAI".2r4 In Witness CNAI Statement of

8 March2Oll, Witness CNAI stated that he "sometimes assisted the Prosecution to look for

witnesses when they requested".2tt The Trial Chamber noted that Witness CNAI denied recruiting

Prosecution witnesses.Zro Witness CNAI testifled that Prosecution investigators contacted the

witness to, in turn, contact other witnesses because he had a phone.2l7 When asked by Counsel: "[i]f

I were to put it to you that a witness said you were the one who went to find them to come and

testifv here. would vou deny that?", Witness CNAI answered: "I would contest that because I do

t" t  Trial Judgement, paras. 743, 856, 940.
t"t  Trial Judgement, para. 856.
t" 'Trial Judgement, paras. 152, 155.
t" 'Trial Judgement, para. 152.
2" Trial Judgement, para. 152. See also 21 October 2011 Decision Accepting Amicus Report,  p. 11.
t'2 Trial Judgement, para. 152.
2r3 See Trial Judgement, fn. 227 , re.f'erring to Amicus Report, paras. 42-46-
?'t  21 October 201 1 Decision on Admission of Documents, para.24.
tt t  A*irus Report.  Annex A.
:16 See Trial Judgement, para. 151, ref?rr ing to Witness CNAI, T.27 November 2009 pp. 18,20 (closed session)'  The

Appeals Chamber notes that in cross-examination Witness CNAI explicitly denied knowing any witness that he went to

f ind. See Witness CNAI, T.27 November 2009 p.20 (closed session).
rr7  ̂ See Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 p. l8 (closed session).

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A

26

29 September 2014

ir-?



2209/H

not know any witness that I went to find".218 The question posed by Counsel can be reasonably

understood as referring to a recruiting role and not merely a contact role. The Appeals Chamber

considers that a reasonable trier of fact could have found that Witness CNAI was consistent in his

statement and his testimony on his role as contact person. The Appeals Chamber finds

Nzabonimana's contention that Witness CNAI lied before the Trial Chamber unfounded. In any

event, even if Witness CNAI did recruit Prosecution witnesses, there is no evidence that he

recruited them "to testify falsely". The Trial Chamber considered that the mere fact that witnesses

had contact, travelled together to interviews, or temporarily stayed together "does not lead to the

conclusion that they colluded to fabricate their eviden ce".2|e The Trial Chamber then found the

Defence claim of fabrication to be "based upon mere speculation" and that the "evidence does not

support the conclusion that Witness CNAI recruited witnesses to testify falsely against

Nzabonimana".220 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment

of Witness CNAI's credibility in iight of the Amicus Report and Witness CNAI Statement of

8 March 2011.

76. Turning to the impact of the Amicus Report and Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011

on Witness CNAX's credibility, the Appeals Chamber first notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly

considered differences between Witness CNAX's evidence and the testimonies of Witnesses

CNAY, CNAQ, CNBU, and CNAI on the presence of Witness CNAI when travelling to meet

Prosecution investigators on 4 October 2008.221 Second, the Appeals Chamber considers that

Witness CNAX's testimony is not contradicted by Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011. At

trial, Witness CNAX testified that he knew Witness CNAI and denied that the latter put him in

touch with Prosecution investigatorr."' A""o.ding to Witness CNAX, "[i]t is simply because

fWitness CNAI] had a telephone and the people who could contact me would call him and give the

information for him to relay to me".223 Consistent with this, the Appeals Chamber observes that

Witness CNAI Statement of 8 March 2011 merely states that Wilness CNAI knew Witness CNAX

adduced evidence for the Prosecution and that they came from the same atea."a Furthermore, there

is no evidence that Witness CNAX was recruited by Witness CNAI to testify falsely against

Nzabonimana.225 Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds no basis for Nzabonimana's

218 See Witness CNAI, T. 27 Novemb er 2009 p. 20 (closed session)'
t t o _ .  . ,  .

"'Trial Judgement, para. 153.

"o Tial Judgement, para. 156 (emphasis added).
t" Trial Judgement, para. 150, fn.220.
222 Witness CNAX, T. 24 Novemb er 2009 p. 39 (closed session). See also Trial Judgement, para. I 14.
223 Witness CNAX, T. 24 November 2009 p. 39 (closed session).
224 See Amicu.s Report. Annex A.
22s See Amicus Report, Annex A. See also Trial Judgement, para. 156.

2't
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argument that the Trial Chamber ignored the impact of the Amicus Report

Statement of 8 March 201 I on the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.

or Witness?"j&SlS/H

77. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber

erred in refusing to admit Prosecution Investigator Moumouni Statement and Defence Witness T37

Statements, both of which have an allegecl impact on Witness CNAI's credibility.2to The Appeals

Chamber llnds that Nzabonimana did not demonstrate how Prosecution Investigator Moumouni

Statement and Def'ence Witness T37 Statements undermine the credibility of Witness CNAL On

2l October20ll, the Trial Chamber denied Nzabonimana's motion to admit Prosecution

Investigator Moumouni Statement and Defence Witness T37 Statements on the basis that

Nzabonimana failed to show their relevance and probative value.221 With respect to Defence

Witness T37 Statements, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana is repeating arguments

fiom trial without demonstrating how the Trial Chamber erred in its original assessment.t'* At fot

Prosecution Investigator Moumouni Statement, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber

found that mcre contact does not lead to collusion or fabrication of evidence.22e The Appeals

Chamber finds no error in this. Furthermore, Witness CNAI's alleged recruitment of other

Prosecution witnesses was already considered in relation to Witness CNAI Statement of

8  March  2011.

78. With respect to Nzabonimana's allegation concerning money paid to Rwandan authorities

tbr the treatment of witnesses, the Trial Chamber stated that the concerns on disbursement of

Tribunal funds to Prosecution witnesses had been extensively litigated.z3O It determined, on the

basis of Def-ence Witness Jean-Marie Vianney Mporanzi's testimony and Exhibit D125, that the

money was used to pay for witnesses' travel and related expenses."t The issue was thoroughly

explored at tnal.232 The Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to substantiate his

226 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 37.
121 See 2l October 201 I Decision on Admission of Documents, paras. 25-27, p. 9'
:2r3 Compure Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 3'7 with The Prcsecutor v. Callixte Nzahonimuna,

Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Motion for Admission of Documents , 24 May 201 I (confidential), para. 43.
::e .See Trial Judgement, para. t53.
r t o -  . ,  ,- '"  Trial Judgement. para. 62.
tt 'Trial Judgement, paras. 144-146. See Exhibit  Dl25 ("Payments made to Defence Witness Mporanzi").
t t tT r ia lJudgement ,paras .  144-146.Seea lso ib id . ,para .62 , fn .  l03 .TheAppea lsChamber reca l l s tha t i thasuphe ld the

Trial Chamber's determination to not initiate contempt proceedings Against Prosecution investigators on this matter.

See The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nz,ahonimanu, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-AR9l, Decision on Callixte Nzabonimana's

Appeal Against the Trial Chamber's Decision on Motion for Rule 91 Proceedings Against Prosecution Investigators,

2i April 2012, para. 16; The Prosecutrtr v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence

Motion for Proceedings Against OTP Investigators, 25 November 2011, para. 26. ln a decision on 7 Apri l  2011, the

Trial Chamber denied Nzabonimana's request to summon Prosecution investigators in relation to the 245,000 Rwandan

Francs. See The Prttsecutor t,. Callixte Nzubonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on "Callixte Nzabonimana's

Motion for Summon of OTP Investigators Adamou Allagouma and Almahamoud Sidibe, sous-prdJet Ms. Immacul6e

Mukamasabo", 7 Apri l  201 l .
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allegation that the Trial Chamber erred in refusing to summon witnesses to testify on this matter.

His arsument is therefore dismissed.

79. As for Nzabonimana's argument that the Defence did not merely encounter "logistical"

problems but faced intimidation,233 it is unclear to the Appeals Chamber how this affects the Trial

Chamber's determination on the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX. Furthermore,

Nzabonimana merely repeats his arguments from tial.23a The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial

Chamber explicitly considered difficulties encountered by Investigator Batard.2" It determined that,

despite difficulties, Investigator Batard interviewed approximately 300 people, contacted

approximately 500 people, took 2000 photographs of sites in Rwanda, gathered approximately 600

Gacaca documents, and shot videos without hindrance.236 The Trial Chamber concluded that

Nzabonimana's Defence team "was able to adequately defend the interests of Nzabonimana"

through "utilising the fruits of investigator Batard's labour".237 More significantly, the Trial

Chamber considered that Witness Batard "was free to investigate in Rwanda" and that

Nzabonimana's submissions of hindrance amounted to "mere speculation".238 The Appeals

Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's determination.

80. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not err

in its credibility assessment of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX in relation to the allegations of

fabrication of evidence.23e

(iv) Corroboration and Alleged Contradictions between Witnesses CNAI and CNAX

81. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber could not find that Witness CNAI was

corroborated by Witness CNAX, who testified to having heard statements similar to those allegedly

made by Nzabonimana at the Kabimbura cenfte on 11 April 1994.240 Nzabonimana further submits

that the Trial Chamber ignored the Prosecution's withdrawal of paragraphs 18 and 43 of its

Indictment five days before the filing of the Prosecution Final Trial Brief, which smoothed-out

233 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 34, 35; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 19, 20.
234 See Nzabonimana Closing Brief, paras. 36-43;Tial Judgement, pans.240,241,243-253-
2" Trial Judgement, pwas. 243-250, 253-255.
?3u Trial Judgement, para.254.
"' Trial Judgement, para. 255.
238 Trial Judgement, paras. 254, 25 5.
t" Th" Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's undeveloped arguments made in his Notice of Appeal that the

Trial Chamber's errors in relation to assessment of fabrication of evidence amounted to violations of his fair trial rights.
.See Norice of Appeal, paras.3.1.l(3),3.1.1(5),3.1.1(6),3.1.1(8). The Appeals Chamber observes further that these
a-rguments were not developed in the Nzabonimana Appeal Brief.
rao Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 91. See c/so Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.2(3). See also
AT.29 Apf l2014p.9.
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contradictions

credibility.2ar

between testimonies of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX, and \mpacted2fuA$/H

82. The Proseclltion responds that Nzabonimana's argument regarding corroboration is difficult

to understand and he fails to explain why the Trial Chamber would be forced to come to the same

conclusion about two different events at the Kabimbura centre and the Cyayi centre.2a2 The

Prosecution lurther responds that it withdrew paragraphs l8 and 43 of the Indictment in accordance

with the Trial Chamber's request ancl not to conceal alleged contradictions in the evidence of

Witnesses CNAI and CNAX.2a3

83. With respect to Nzabonimana's argument on conoboration of Witnesses CNAI and

CNAX,244 the Appeals Chamber first observes that the Trial Chamber accepted Witness CNAI's

testimony that Nzabonimana told those gathered to stop eating cows of Tutsi refugees and to focus

on the Tutsis instead.2a5 It then fbund that Witness CNAX corroborated this by "stating that

Nzabonimana had told the people that Tutsis were to be killed belore their property was taken".246

Having reviewed the transcripts, the Appeals Chamber notes that Witness CNAX stated:

[Nzabonimana] was in a vehicle and was saying the same thing that he had said at the Kabimbura
centre; namely, that the Tutsis had to be killed first before their property was taken and that
anybody who acted in a contrary manner was mistaken.2a?

84. Despite referencing Kabimbura, Witness CNAX's testimony reveals that he directly heard

what Nzabonimana said at the Cyayi centre, unlike his hearsay testimony concerning Kabimbura

centre.248 Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's use of Witness

CNAX's direct evidence to corroborate Witness CNAI's testimony cln Nzabonimana's statement at

the Cyayi centre.

85. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber specifically ordered the Prosecution

to withdraw paragraphs of the Indictment that were unsubstantiated by evidence.2ae In compliance

with the Trial Chamber's order, on 30 June 2011, the Prosecution withdrew nine paragraphs from

zar Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 60.
to2 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 82.
243 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 52, re.ferring to The Prosecuktr v. CuLlixte N7.abr;nimana,
Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Order fbr Prosecution to Review Indictment and to File Public Version, 8 April 2011
("Order of 8 April 2011").
raa Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 91.
zot Trial Judgement, paras. 870, 887.
too Trial Judgement, para. 870.
tot Witness CNAX, T. 23 November 2009 p. 60 (emphasis added).
tot Witness CNAX, T.23 November 2009 pp 58,59. See also Trial Judgement, pafas. 643,769.
rae See Order of 8 April 2011, p. 2.
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the Indictment, including paragraphs 18 and 43.2s0 Considering that the Prosecution's withdrawal

was done in accordance with a Trial Chamber order, and that Nzabonimana provides no further

justification for his claim, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in this regard.

(v) Conclusion

86. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing the credibility of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX and in

relying on their testimonies in respect of the events at the Cyayi cenfte and the Nyabikenke

commune office on 14 and 15 April 1994.

(b) Alleged Errors in Assessing Defence Evidence

8'1. In relation to the events at the Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office, the Trial

Chamber assessed the testimonies of Defence WitnessesT24,T28,T3l, T150, T193, and Bernard

Ndayisaba as well as the evidence of Defence Witness BCB from the Rukundo tiral.2sl

Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber excluded all the Defence evidence without

justification."' In particular, Nzabonimana challenges the Trial Chamber's assessment of Defence

evidence with respect to: (i) the Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994; (ii) the participation of commune

policemen during the Night and the Day Attacks at the Nyabikenke commLtne office; and

(iii) firearm use during the Night and the Day Attacks at the Nyabikenke commune office.

(i) The Cyayi Centre

88. In relation to the event at the Cyayi centre, the Trial Chamber noted that all Defence

witnesses denied that a meetins occurred.253 The Trial Chamber found the testimonies of Witnesses

2so See The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Prosecutor's Notice to the Defence that He
Will Not Be Requesting for Convictions under Paragraphs 18,22,27,31,32,36,43,53 and 55 of the Indictment,
30 June 2011, para. 7 . See also Prosecution Closing Bief, para. 2.

"' 5"" Trial Judgement, paras. 782-855,879-886, 895-901, 909, 911, 912,914,916-926,928,930, 932, 934,935,
938-940. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber also examined excerpts of Father Lerusse's testimony
from the Rukundo trial that the Defence used to challenge the credibility of Witness CNAX. See ibid., paras. 918-924;
see also infra, paru. ll2.
2t2 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.1.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 61-78. The Appeals Chamber notes
that Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in its assessment of the credibility of Defence
Witnesses T24, T28, T150, and T193 by applying elroneous criteria. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal,
para.3.1.3(2); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 61. As Nzabonimana fails to articulate which criteria was allegedly
applied erroneously, the Appeals Chamber will only examine his factual challenges. Also, while the contention that the
Trial Chamber erroneously excluded evidence of pressure that Defence Witnesses T24 and Mporanzi faced is raised in
his Notice of Appeal, the Appeals Chamber observes that he fails to develop this in his Appeal Brief. See Nzabonimana
Notice of ,tppeal, para. 3.1.3(7). However, under Grounds 4 and 5, Nzabonimana challenges the Trial Chamber's
credibility assessment of Witnesses T24 and Mporanzi. Accordingly, his arguments will be examined below. See inJra,
peras. 196-204,285-291
2tt Trial Judgement, pan.819.
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T24, Ndayisaba, T28, and BCB of little or no probative value.2sa When assessing the testimflWW,/H

Witnesses T193 and T150, the Trial Chamber held that:

The Chamber recal ls that Witness CNAI test i f ied that both Witnesses T150 and Tl93 were present

at Cyayi centre during the meeting on 14 Apri l  1994. Witness Tl93 was convicted by a Rwandan

court fbr his role in the genocide and was sentenced to nine years' imprisonment. The Chamber

considers that given that both witnesses are implicated as being affiliated with Nzabonimana at

Cyayi centre, they may have reason to distance themselves from this allegation.

Witness T150 testified that he neither saw nor heard of a meeting held at Cyayi celLule by

Nzabonimana, and that no one mentioned the Cyayi meeting or Nzabonimana's words during the

Cyayi Gacacu sessions. Witness Tl93 test i t ied that on 14 Apri l  1994, he passed through Cyayi

centre at 2.(X) p.m. but never saw Nzabonimana. Neither witness provided first hand testimony

regarding what occurred at Cyayi centre at approximately 4.00 p.m. on 14 April 1994. The

Chanrber thus considers that the test imony of Witnesses T150 and Tl93 are of l imited probative

value.

89. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in treating Witnesses T193's and T150's

testimonies with caution.2s6 He argues that, since they had no involvement in criminal activities

linked with Nzabonimana's alleged crimes, they had no objective reason to distance themselves.2sT

According to Nzabonimana, by stating that "both witnesses are implicated as being affiliated with

Nzabonimana at Cyayi centre", the Trial Chamber considered their mere presence at the scene to be

criminal ancl used this as the reason to reject their testimonies.2-t* However, he maintains that, as per

Witness CNAI's testimony, Witness Tl93 was at the Cyayi centre and his association was to

protcct Munyagatare.2se Nzabonimana also challenges the Trial Chamber's consideration of

Witness Tl93's conviction as he was acquitted in relation to the attack atthe commune offtce.26o

Furthermore, Witness Tl93's conviction was unrelated to events at the Cyayi centre or to

Nzabonimana as it pertained to later events.26r Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber

contraclicted itself by rejecting the evidence of Witnesses T193 and T150 on the basis that both

witnesses may have hacl reason to distance themselves as they were implicated as being affiliated

with the event at the Cyayi centre, while, at the same time, finding that their testimonies lacked

probative value as they were not present,262 Nzabonimana submits that, had the Trial Chamber

correctly assessed the testimonies of Witnesses T193 and T150, it could only have found that their

t 'o Trial Judgement, paras. 881, 884-886. As to Witness T24,the Trial Chamber recalled its f inding that the witness's
credibility was seriously undermined by his admission of lying to Prosecution investigators. See Trial Judgement,
oara. 880.
2" Trial Judgement, paras. 882, 883 (internal references omitted).
2s6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 62-65. See also AT.29 April 2014 p. 10'
:t7 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 62,63. See also AT.29 April2014 p. 10.
zs8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 62, 64. See also AT . 29 April 20 l4 p. 10'
rse Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 63.
:t" 'Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 65.
:6r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 65.
rt ' : Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 66, re.fbrring toTrial Judgement, para. 883. See ulso AT.29 April 2014 pp. 10, 11.
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testimonies rendered Witness CNAI's evidence implausible and, as a consequence, also underrnined

Witness CNAX's testimonv, as it corroborated Witness CNAI.263

90. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly rejected the claims of

Witnesses T193 and T150 that Nzabonimana was not at the Cyayi centre.26a The Prosecution

submits that the Trial Chamber was entitled to assess the testimonies of Witnesses T193 and T150

against that of Witness CNAI.265 It further argues that Nzabonimana fails to address the Trial

Chamber's reasons for finding their testimonies of limited probative value.'66

91. Nzabonimana replies that the Trial Chamber should not have found Witness CNAI, who

testified to Witnesses T193 and T150 being present at the Cyayi centre, credible because it had

admitted as one alternative that both Witnesses T193 and T150 were not at the Cyayi centre.267 He

also contends that the reasons provided by the Prosecution for the Trial Chamber to disbelieve

Witnesses T150 and T193 are absent from the Trial Judgement.268

gZ. Wirness CNAI testified that around 4.00 p.m. or 5.00 p.m. on 14 April 1994, aftet

Nzabonimana's statement at the Cyayi centre, Witness T193 anived in a car with Witness T150, he

stopped behind Nzabonimana's vehicle, got out, and walked towards Witness CNAI.26e

Witness CNAI further testified that after Munyagatare was threatened, Witnesses CNAI and T193

pushed Munyagatare down a slope away from the road.270 Subsequently, Nzabonimana called

Witness T193 and told him that they must go to the Remera centre "to finish off what they had

started", Witness T193 gave his vehicle to Witness T150, who had been in Witness T193's car, and

Witness T193 left in a car with Kamali.2Tr Since Witness CNAI placed both Witness Ti93 and

Witness T150 at the scene in association with Nzabonimana, the Appeals Chamber finds it

reasonable for the Trial Chamber to note that both Defence witnesses were implicated as being

"affiliated" with Nzabonimana and "may have reason to distance themselves".272 The Appeals

Chamber also notes that at no point did the Trial Chamber consider their mere presence to be

criminal.

263 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 67.
2s Prosecution Response Brief, para. 53. See also AT.29 Apt'rl2014 p.35.
265 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 56.
ztr prosecution Reiponse Brief, para. 58, referring to Prosecution Response Brief, para. 54 where the Prosecution

submits that the Trial Chamber had several reasons to disbelieve Witnesses Tl50 and T193.
26i Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 25.
268 Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 25.
2ue Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 pp.
als o TiaI Judgement, paras. 75 1 -753.

61, 65; Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 p. 28 (closed session). 'See

270 witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 p.65; Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 p.33

Trial Judgement, para. 755.
,7t Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 p.65; Witness CNAI, T. 27 November 2009 p. 31

Trial Judgement, para. 756.

"2 Ti.al Judgement, para.882.

(closed session). See also

(closed session). See also
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93. The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber referred toWitness2EO2/H

conviction "by a Rwandan court for his role in the genocicle" 273 but was aware that the witness was

acquitted of having a role in the commune office attack.21a The Appeals Chamber again recalls that

a trial chamber has full discretion to assess witness credibility,2T5 and notes that a witness's criminal

history may be a factor in assessing credibility.2T6 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial

Chamber erred in noting Witness T193's conviction when it assessed his credibility.

94. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's allegation that the Trial Chamber

contradicted itself. The Trial Chamber's flnding that Witnesses Tl93's and Tl50's testimonies are

of limited probative value is based on the fact that neither of them provided first-hand testimony

regarding what occurred at the Cyayi centre at the relevant time.277 The Appeals Chamber

understands that the Trial Chamber considered that, even if they were fbund credible, it could not

have relied upon them. The Trial Chamber determined that they were unable to account for what

occurred at the Cyayi centre at 4 p.m. when the meeting was fbund to have taken place.278 Indeed,

befbre examining the probative value of their testimonies, the Trial Chamber already applied a

cautious approach when it preferrecl Witness CNAI's testimony.2Te Therefore, the Appeals Chamber

finds no contradiction in the Trial Chamber's assessment. The Appeals Chamber dismisses

Nzabonimana's arguments alleging errors in assessing Defence evidence with respect to events at

the Cvavi cenffe.

(ii) Participation of Conmr.rne Policemen at the Nyabikenke Conmune Office

95. Based on the evidence of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX, the Trial Chamber found that the

perpetrators of the Night Attack were commune policemen and Hutu civilians.280 The Trial

Chamber stated:

Defence Witness T28, also an eyewitness, denied that commune policemen were involved.

However, the Chamber notes that Witnesses T28 and BCB corroborated the Prosecution

witnesses' testimony that commune policemen were present at the scene of the attack. The

Chamber notes that while Witness T28 was not personally implicated in the attack, he was

' ' '  Trial Judgement, para. 882.
ttt Trial Judgement, para. 904, re.t'erring to Exhibit D76B (Judgement of Gitarama Court of First Instance,
20 March 2003), paras. 45-46,103-104.
t" Se" trpra, para.45.

"o Cl'. Bogrtora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement, para. 2641 Kumuhanda Appeal Judgement, para. 142.
tt7 Trial Judgement, para. 883.
27t The Trial Chamber noted that Witness Tl93 testified that he passed through Cyayi centre at 2.00 p.m. but never saw
Nzabonimana and Witness T150 testified that he neither saw nor herud of a meeting held at Cyayi celluLe by
Nzabonimana. See Trial Judgement, para. 883.
:7e Trial Judgement, para. 882.
t*" Trial Judgement, paras. 902, 910, 939.
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indirectly implicated. The Chamber considers^^that, consequently, Witness T28 may have had a

motive to distance himself from the allegation.2sr

96. The Trial Chamber found that porpetmtors of the Day Attack were commune pol\cemen,

Interahamwe, and civilians.282 The Trial Chamber relied on Witness CNAX to find that commune

policemen participated in the Day Attack. The Trial Chamber considered Witness BCB's testimony

that around 2.00 p.m. a policeman threw a grenade into a crowd of refugees, and determined that

this corroborated Witness CNAX's testimony that commurze policemen were involved in the attack

as perpetrators.2s3

97. Concerning the Night Attack, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber rejected

Witness T28's testimony on the basis that he was "indirectly implicated" without further

consideration.28a Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber could not reject Witness T28's

testimony without explaining the meaning of "indirectly implicated" and by hypothetically finding

that the witness could have something to hide, while at the same time, noting that he was not

accused of anything.285 Nzabonimana avers that the lack of corroboration does not render Witness

T28's testimony unreliable about the identity of assailants.286 Nzabonimana contends that the

question of reliability about the identity of the assailants is distinguishable from the participation of

other commune policemen.287 Nzabonimana also asserts that the Trial Chamber failed to consider

Witness BCB's testimony that it was night time and that his colleagues fired into the air to repel the

assailants.28s In light of the Defence evidence, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber should

not have believed Witnesses CNAI and CNAX that commune policemen participated in the Night

Attack.2se

98. With respect to the Day Attack, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber failed to find

that the testimony of Father Lerusse, who saw two policemen aiming their guns to prevent an

attack, corroborated Witness BCB.2eO He further submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider

Witness BCB's testimony that the policemen, save one, tried to protect the refugees from

assailants.2el He claims that Witness BCB's evidence, that Father Rukundo arrived with five

ttt Trial Judgement, para. 900 (internal reference omitted).
282 Trial Judgement, pans. 927, 939.
283 Tdal Judgement, pua. 925.
2e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 68, referring toTial Judgement, para. 900. See also AT. 29 April 2014 p.51.
285 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 68, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 900. See also N|.29 April 2014 p. 51.
286 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 69, referring ro Trial Judgement, para.901. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial

Chamber found that only Witness T28 testified that it was raining during the Night Attack and that his evidence on this
point was thus uncorroborated. ,See idem. See also AT.29 Apil20l4 pp. 51, 52.
287 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 71. Nzabonimana avers that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that

Witness T28, who was present at the scene, ignored the participation of commune policemen. See idem.
288 Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.72.
28e Nzabonimana Appeal Bief ,pua.72.
2e0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 75.
zet Nzaboumana Appeal Bief , pan.75.
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soldiers or gendarme.r, rendered Witness CNAX's testimony, that policemen were aiminQflCil)/H

guns at Father Rukundo's approaching vehicle, not plausible.2e2 Nzabonimana adds that the Trial

Chamber should have questioned the veracity of Witnesses CNAI's and CNAX's allegations

concerning the behaviour of the commune policemen, in light of Witness T28 warning the

communal authority after the attack, and Witnesses T28 and BCB assisting the wounded.2e3

99. As to the Night Attack, the Prosecution responds that Witness T28's evidence was rightly

rejected.2ea It submits that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber should have

believed the Defence evidence and that Witness T28 had strong motives to deny that policemen

were involved.2es With respect to the Day Attack, the Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber

rejected Witness BCB's denial that the commune policemen also perpetrated attacks during the

duy.'no The Prosecution argues that Father Lerusse's testimony did not corroborate Witness BCB's

evidence, and that Witness CNAX's evidence of police aiming fi.rearms at Father Rukundo was not

implansible.t" The Prosecution adds that eviclence from Witnesses BCB, T24, and T28 about

moving injured refugees to a hospital, does not undermine the testimonies of Witnesses CNAX and

CNAI that commuLre policemen participated in the Day Attack.2es

100. Nzabonimana replies that rejection of Witness T28's evidence is even less justifiable since

the Trial Chamber admitted that conditions during the Night Attack rendered identification of

assailants <iifficult.2ee With respect to Witness BCB, Nzabonimana submits that the Prosecution

inappropriately discussed his evidence, whose credibility was never examined by the Trial

Chamber, and whose testimony was communicated after the end of the trial.300

101. Turning first to the Night Attack, the Appeals Chamber considers that, had the Trial

Chamber explained what it meant by personal and indirect implication, it would have revealed

protected information.3t" In these circumstances, it was reasonable for the Trial Chamber to

consider that "Witness T28 may have had a motive to distance himself from the allegation".3O2

2e2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 75.
zer Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 73.
2ea Prosecution Response Brief, para. 60.
2es Prosecution Response Brief,  paras. 61, 63.
2e6 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 65.
rot Prosecution Re.bonse Brief.  para.66.
r"" Prosecution Resoonse Brief.  para.6?.
2ee Nzabonimana Reply Brief. para. 26. re.ferring ro Trial Judgement, para.901 .
r(n Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 21 , re.t'bning /o Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 59-67.
r0r Sea Exhibit D37 (Protected Information Sheet). The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber was clearly

aware of its duty to provide a reasoned opinion and to protect the identity of witnesses. Sea Trial Judgement, paras. 65,

66.
tt" Trial Judgement, para. 9oo.

Case No.; ICTR-98-44D-A

36

29 September 2014

tl\-



2199/H

lO2. As to identifying assailants, the Trial Chamber considered that the conditions at the time of

the attack, even under bright moonlight as testified by Witness CNAI, would have rendered the

identification of individual assailants difficult.3o3 The Trial Chamber noted Witness T28's

testimony that, as a result of the rainy weather, he could not identify assailants during the Night

Attack.30a The Appeals Chamber observes that, by finding identification of particular assailants

difficult at the time, irrespective of weather conditions, the Trial Chamber did not rely on

Witness CNAI's testimony as to the bright moonlight, or on Witness T28's testimony as to the

heavy rain, In the Appeals Chamber's view, any error from the Trial Chamber's rejection of

Witness T28's evidence about the identity of assailants would not affect its reliance on

Witnesses CNAI and CNAX to find that the perpetrators of the Night Attack were comprised of

commune policemen and Hutu civilians.305 Accordingly, Nzabonimana's arguments related to

Witness T28 are dismissed.3o6

103. As for the Trial Chamber's alleged failure to consider the testimony of Witness BCB, that

commune policemen fired into the air to repel the assailants, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the

fact that certain evidence has not been referred to in the Trial Judgement does not mean that the

Trial Chamber did not take it into account in its assessment.30T In any event, the Appeals Chamber

considers that Witness BCB's testimony on this matter is not incompatible with the finding that

commune policemen participated in attacking Tutsi refugees. The Appeals Chamber further notes

that, beyond stating his argument,3o8 Nzabonimana fails to substantiate how the Trial Chamber

ened in this regard. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial

Chamber unreasonably relied on the testimonies of Witnesses CNAI and CNAX to find that

commune policemen were involved in the Night Attack. The Appeals Chamber therefore considers

that Nzabonimana has failed to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on

their testimonies to reach such findins.

30' Trial Judgement, pua.901 .
'* Trial Judgement, para. 901. See also Witness T28,T.2 June 2010 pp.51,52 (closed session).
tot Trial Judgement, paras. 902, 910, 939.
t* The Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's contention that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that
Witness T28 ignored the participation of commune policemen. The Trial Chamber did not make such a finding and the
Appeals Chamber recalls the reasonableness of the Triat Chamber's conclusion that Witness T28, might have had a
motive to distance himself.
301 See Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 195; Simba Appeal Judgement, pan. 152. Without providing references,
Nzabonimana maintains that Witness BCB's testimony was corroborated by Witness T28's testimony. The Appeals
Chamber notes that the transcripts of Witness BCB's testimony were admitted into evidence and considered prima facie
exculpatory. See The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana. Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Consolidated Decision on
Defence Motion for Appropriate Relief in Light of hosecution's Delayed Disclosure to the Accused of Exculpatory
Evidence, Defence Motion in Light of The Trial Chamber's Proprio Motu Order of 15 March 2012, and Defence
Motion Pursuant to the Trial Chamber's Order of 4 Apil2012,30 April 2012 (*30 Apil2012 Decision"), para. 128.
308 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 12.The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana simply refers to paragraph 844
of the Trial Judgement without further support for his argumenl

i--r*,:
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104. Turning to the Day Attack, the Appeals Chamber first recalls that the Trial Chfrrffi8/H

considered Father Lerusse's evidence, Exhibit D62, to be of "very little probative value".30e It noted

that the exhibit was not introduced into evidence under Rule 92bls of the Rules, which would have

afforded the Prosecution the opportunity to cross-examine Father Lerusse.3lt'Howeue., the Trial

Chamber determined that, in the interests of justice, it would consider substantive aspects of Father

Lerusse's testimony as contained in Exhibit D62 and insofar as it impacted the credibility of

Witness CNAX.3I' When assessing the Defence's challenge to the Prosecution evidence that

commune policemen participated in the Day Attack, the Trial Chamber explicitly considered the

substance of Father Lerusse's testimony from the Rukundo case that two commuLze policemen

defended the commune offlce.3r2In comparing the evidence of Witness CNAX and Father Lerusse,

the Trial Chamber noted Father Lerusse's admission that he lost sight of the commune policemen

and considered that he was unable to provide a reliable account of the commune policemen's

activities that clay.3 r3

105. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not explicitly consider that

Witness BCB corroborated Father Lerusse's evidence on the role of commune policemen.3la

However, as recalled above, the fact that certain evidence has not been referred to does not mean

that it was not taken into account in the Trial Chamber's assessment.3rs Furthermore, the Appeals

Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly took into account Witness BCB's testimony that a

policeman threw a grenade at refugees, thus corroborating Witness CNAX's evidence that

commLtne policemen were involved in the Day Attack.3r6 Finally, the Trial Chamber explicitly

consiclered that police officers assisted wounded ref'ugees.3l7 In any event, the Appeals Chamberis

unable to see how evidence of their assisting Tutsis undermines the reasonableness of the Trial

Chamber's finding that commune policemen participated in the attack.

106. On the basis of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments

that the Trial Chamber ened in its assessment of the Defence evidence to find that commune

policemen participated in the Night and Day Attacks,

'u' Trial Judgement, para. 919.
'" 'Trial Judgement, para. 919.
i" Trial Judgement, para. 919.
' ' '  Trial Judgement, para.923.
' ' '  Trial Judgement, para.923.
3ra Sae Trial Judgement, para. 923.
ttt 5", sulrru, para. 103. The Appeals Chamber recalls that there is a presumption that a Trial Chamber has evaluated all

the evidence presented to it, provided that there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any

particular piece of evidence. See, e.g,., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, fn.'766; Ntubakuze Appeal Judgement, fn. 357;

Bugosoru and Nsenl1iltumva Appeal Judgement, fn.625.
t 'o Trial Judgement, para.925.
'" '  Trial Judgement, para.917 .
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(iii) Firearms Use at the Nyabikenke Conrmrne Office

107. The Trial Chamber determined that Hutu civilians and commune policemen were armed

with firearms, grenades, and traditional weapons during the Night Attack.3l8 It also found that the

assailants used traditional weapons, as well as firearms and grenades during the Day Attack.3le

108. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion on the

use of firearms during the Night Attack.32o He argues that after finding that Witnesses BCB and T28

corroborated Witnesses CNAX and CNAI on the use of grenades, the Trial Chamber also made

conclusions on the use of firearms without factual analysis.32l Nzabonimana further submits that the

Trial Chamber distorted the testimony of Witnesses T24 and Ndayisaba when using their evidence

to corroborate the use of firearms in the Day Attack.322 He argues that Witness Ndayisaba testified

to not having seen or heard firearms and Witness T24 to not having been told about firearms.323

According to Nzabonimana, the Trial Chamber did not consider Witness BCB's evidence that

Father Rukundo arrived and confiscated the assailants' traditional *"upons."o

109. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that

Nzabonimana's intervention attacks escalated and attackers used flttearms, as opposed to

traditional weapons."s It submits that Defence witnesses corroborated the use of firearms

grenades.326

110. Turning first to the Night Attack, the Appeals Chamberrejects Nzabonimana's submission

that the Trial Chamber failed to provide a reasoned opinion. Having considered that Witnesses T28

and BCB corroborated the testimony of Prosecution witnesses on the use of grenades, the Trial

Chamber stated: "[t]herefore, the Chamber concludes that the assailants were armed with firearms,

grenades and traditional weapon. [...]"."t It is clear that this sentence was a summary of the Trial

Chamber's findings. Notably, in the preceding paragraph the Trial Chamber found that

Witnesses CNAI and CNAX "both agreed that the assailants were armed with grenades and

fi.rearms".328 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in that regard.

3lt Trial Judgement, paras. 913, 939.
3te Trial Judgement, paras. 927, 939.
320 Nzabonimana Appeal Bnef , pal:a. 7 4.
321 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 74.
322 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 76.
323 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 76. Nzabonimana argues that this is corroborated by Witness T28. See idem.
324 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 71 , referring to Tial Judgement, para. 854.
32s Prosecution Response Brief, para. 68.
326 proseculion Response Brief, paras. 68, 69. At the appeal hearing, the Prosecution submitted that Kamali distributed

at least one grenade. See AT. 29 April 201'4 p- 29.
ttt Trial Judgement, para.9l2.
328 See Tial Judgement, para. 9l 1.
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t I l. With respect to the Day Attack, Witness CNAX testified that the assailants used fireafllflOn

Accorcling to the Trial Chamber, Witnesses T24 and Ndayisaba corroborated Witness CNAX's

testimony that assailants employed "firearms and grenades" during this attack.llt) However, in

coming to this conclusion, the Trial Chamber only noted that Witness Ndayisaba testified that he

heard an explosion and that Witness T24 leamed that Father Lerusse barely escaped a grenade

attack.33l As summarised in the Trial Judgement, Witness Ndayisaba denied that firearms were used

and Witness T24 was not told that firearms were used.332 Consequently, no reasonable trier of fact

could find that the two Defence witnesses corroborated Witness CNAX on the use of firearms

during the Day Attack and the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber erred in this respect.

Il2. However, this error does not occasion a miscariage of justice as it has no impact on the

Trial Chamber's finding that firearms were used during the Day Attack. The Appeals Chamber

recalls that it accepted the Trial Chamber's finding on the participationof commune police during

the Night Attack.333 The Appeals Chamber also recalls evidence that policemen carried firearms

during attacks at night33a and during the day.33s With respect to the Day Attack, the Trial Chamber

explicitly considered Defence submissions that Father Lerusse's evidence refuted Witness CNAX's

testimony that two commune policemen were aiming their guns at Father Rukundo's approaching

vehicle.336 In responding to Defence arguments, the Trial Chamber dicl not consider that Father

Lerusse was able to provide a reliable accollnt of the commune policemen's activities, given his

admission that he lost sight of the commune policemen.337 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how

the Trial Chamber erred in relying on Witness CNAX's evidence to find that firearms were used

during the Day Attack. Based on the above, the Appeals Chamber linds it reasonable for the Trial

Chamber to conclude that firearms were used by assailants, which included commune policemen, in

the Day Attack.338

ll3. Finally, in summarising Witness BCB's testimony, the Trial Chamber noted his evidence

that Father Rukundo arrived and confiscated traditional weapons.tte The Appeals Chamber

therefbre considers that the Trial Chamber did not ignore this aspect of Witness BCB's evidence. In

rt 'Witness CNAX, T. 23 November 2009 pp.59,60. See aLso Trial Judgement, paras. 915,923.
1 1 0 -  , ,  ,"" Trial Judgement, para.924.
tt '  Trial Judgement, para.924.
t t t  Wi tness T24,T.26 Apr i l  2010 p.55 (c losed session) ;  Wi tness Ndayisaba,  T.28 March 20l l  pp.  11,26.  See a lso
Trial Judgement, paras. 790 (Witness T24),829 (Witness Ndayisaba)'
'3t 5"" supra, paras. 102, 103.
334 ,See Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 pp. 68, 69; Trial Judgement, paras. 761,897 .
ttt Witness CNAX, T. 24 November 2009 p. 31 (closed session); Trial Judgement,para.923.
tto Trial Judgement, para. 923.
"' Trial Judgement, para.923.
rrt Trial Judgement, paras. 927, 939.
tt 'Trial Judgement, para. 854.
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any event, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how this evidence impacts the finding that firearms

were used.

1I4. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's atguments in relation to the

use of firearms in the Night Attack atthe commune offtce and finds that the Trial Chamber's error

on the corroboration from Witnesses T24 andNdayisaba on firearms use in the Day Attack does not

occasion a miscarriage of iustice.

(iv) Conclusion

115. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed any error in its assessment of Defence evidence in

relation to the events at the Cyayi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office on

14 and 15 April 1994 that would occasion a miscarriage of justice.3a0

(c) Conclusion

116. The Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in relation to the assessment of

evidence under his Third Ground of Appeal.

3. Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

Il7. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of direct and public incitement to commit

genocide based, in part, on his conduct at the Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994.34r In particular, it

determined that Nzabonimana's speech, which consisted of an explicit call to kill Tutsis, constituted

a direct call to commit genocide.3a2 The Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana's conduct satisfied

the public element of the crime.3a3 The Trial Chamber further found that Nzabonimana had the

requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi ethnic group and to directly incite those

present to commit genocide.3a

118. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact by characterising the

incitement as "public".3as Nzabonimana avers that the Trial Chamber erred in law by failing to take

'oo The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's general claim, raised in the Notice of Appeal but undeveloped
in his Appeal Brief, that the Trial Chamber repeatedly violated his right to a fair trial in its assessment of Defence
evidence. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3. I .3( 1).
'otTrial Judgement, paras. 1768, 1775, 1800.
302 Trial Judgement, pan. 1165.
'o'Trial Judgement, pua. 1166.
'* Trial Judgement, pua. 1767.
3as Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pan.3.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 80-93. 'lee also AT.29 Apil 2014
p. 11. Nzabonimana's argument on the corroboration between Witnesses CNAI and CNAX (see Nzabonimana Appeal
Briel para. 9l) has been examined in the previous section. See supra, paras. 81-84. The Appeals Chamber summarily
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into account and properly apply the jurisprudence.3a6 In particular, he argues that the nun&|9t1/H

persons present, though not to be used strictly, is an essential factor that should be taken into

account when assessing the public character of the incitement and that the Nahimana et al. and

Kalimanzira Appeal Judgements characterised speeches from a vehicle as a "conversation".3aT

Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber circumvented the elements of the crime when relying

on Nzabonimana's intention to be heard by anyone in the area to determine that "he was not heard

by an exclusive and limited group".348 He considers that through this "a contrario" reasoning and

the finding that "[t]he witnesses did not indicate the specific audience to whom the speech was

addressed" the Trial Chamber admitted that the public element and the audience were not

established.3te Nzabonimana asserts that the findings were vitiated from the start when the Trial

Chamber considered it unreasonable to require Witnesses CNAI and CNAX to remember the exact

number of people present and Nzabonimana's exact words.350 Further, Nzabonimana claims that the

Trial Chamber infbrred his intention fiom the fact that he summoned Witness CNAI, while at the

same time not believing this aspect of the witness's evidence.3s:

119. Nzabonimana submits that the f'acts correspond to private, rather than public, incitement as

Witness CNAI described private discussions between Nzabonimana, seated in his car, and specific

persons, including the witness.352 Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber should have found

that only Witness CNAI was the direct recipient of his words, and that his deputy, Kamali,

Witness T193, and Munyagatare were indirect listeners.3s3

120. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber conectly convicted Nzabonimana of direct

and public incitement to commit genocide fbr the event at the Cyayi centre.3s4 The Prosecution

dismisses Nzabonimana's undeveloped submission that the Trial Chamber rejected all testimonies of the witnesses who

were in the area but who testified to not being informed of similar words (see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 88). It

recalls that Nzabonimana's challenges to the assessment of Defence evidence have been examined in the previous

section. See supra, paras. 88-94.
ra6 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.2.1; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras' 80-83.
ra7 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 81, 83.
348 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief', para' 32'
rae Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86 (French version). See ulso Nzabonimana Reply Brief, pnra. 3 | .
3t') Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 85. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber distorted the testimony of

Witness CNAX, who stated there were "less than" 30 people, when it determined that there was a "crowd" of

"approximately" 30 people. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 92, ref'erring to Trial Judgement, paras. 769, 869,

l'763. See also AT.29 April 2014 p. 11. At the appeal hearing, Nzabonimana also argued that Witnesses CNAI and

CNAX did not corroborate each other on Kamali's and Witnesses T193's and T150's presence at the Cyayi centre. 'lee

A T . 2 9  A p r i l  2 0 1 4  p . 5 3 .
r5r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86. See a/so Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 32; AT . 29 April 2014 pp. 11, 12.
352 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.2.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 89, 90, 93. See also

AT.29 Apr i l  2014 p .  I  L
3s3 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, piua. 90. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 32. Nzabonimana argues that no

public has been called, except Witness CNAI allegedly, and from its factual findings there was no "speech" made

during a "meeting". Sce Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para' 89.
rsa Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 76.
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submits that Nzabonimana ignores the law and evidence.'ss It contends that Nzabonimana's

incitement meets the Akayesu definition356 from the International Law Commission, according to

which incitement is public if it is made "to a number of individuals in a public place".357 The

Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana's reliance on the Nahimana et al. and Kalimanzira Appeal

Judgements is misplaced as in both cases the inciting remarks were given to restricted groups of

militia members manning roadblocks."t The Prosecution argues that Nzabonimana inconectly

claims that he summoned Witness CNAI whereas the evidence shows that Kamali called Witness

CNAI to listen to Nzabonimana's address."'The Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana's claim on

the Trial Chamber's finding in relation to the exact number of persons at the Cyayi centre, or on his

exact words should be dismissed as he provides no reason to support it.360

l2l. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a person may be found guilty of direct and public

incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 2(3)(c) of the Statute, if he or she directly and

publicly incited the commission of genocide (actus reus) and had the intent to directly and publicly

incite others to commit genocide (mens rea).361 Such intent in itself presupposes a genocidal

intent.362

I22. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered the Appeals

Chamber's jurisprudence noting that all convictions before the Tribunal for direct and public

incitement to commit genocide involve speeches made to large, fully public assemblies, messages

disseminated by the media, and communications made through a public address system over a

broad publi c ar"a.363 It also recalled the holding in the Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement that the

travaux prdparatoires of the Genocide Convention confirmed that "public" incitement to genocide

oertains to mass communications.36a

355 Prosecution Response Bief , para.77 .
356 Prosecution Response Brief, bara. 78.
3s7 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 77, rejbrring to Draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind
with commentaries, 1996, Report of the International Law Commission on the deliberations of its forty eighth meeting,
5 I U.N. ORGA Supp. (No. l0), reproduced in the Yearbook of International Law Commission, 1996, vol. II (Part Two)
("Draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind"), p.22; Akayesu Trial Judgement, paras. 556, 6'74.
The Prosecution submits that the Akayesu Trial Chamber convicted Akayesu on the basis of this definition and the
Appeals Chamber did not disturb its findings. See idem. The Prosecution also submits that whether Nzabonimana's
words were a remark, not a speech, is irrelevant. See ibid., para. 78.
358 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 83.
35e Prosecution Response Brief, para. 79. According to the Prosecution during the appeal hearing, Nzabonimana used
the plural form in his statement and was "addressing a plurality of persons". See AT. 29 April 2014 p.31.
360 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 8 l.
361 Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 155; Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 135; Nahimnna et al. Appeal
Judgement, pua.671 .
362 Nahimara et at. Appeal Judgement, pan.671 , citing Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 560. See also Mugenzi and
MugiraneTa Appeal Judgement, para. 135; Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 135.
363 SeeTfral Judgement, pala. 1754, refening to Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, paras. 155, 156.
3e SeeTialJudgement, para. 1754. See also Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement" para. 158.
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123. The Trial Chamber further considered that in its assessment of the public elementfrfiA2/H

incitement, it "may consider the surrounding circumstances, such as the place where the incitement

occurred and whether the audience was selective or limited. Incitement is 'public' when conducted

through speeches, shouting or threats uttered in public places or at public gatherings".36s

124. The Appeals Chamber turns to the Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, which Nzabonimana

relies on to argue that the number of persons is an indispensable factor to determine the public

element.366 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Kalimanzira Appeals Chamber did not rule on

the definition of the public element given by the Kalimanzira Trial Chamber, which recalled the

definition from the Akayesu Trial Judgement, and did not specify whether the number of persons

present is an essential factor. On the one hand, the Kalimanzira Appeals Chamber concluded that

the Tribunal's jurisprudence and other sources indicated mass communication to be a factor,

implying that the public element of direct and public incitement coresponds to a large audience.367

On the other hand, the Kalimanzira Appeals Chamber reversed the convictions on the basis that

recipients of the incriminating message were not intended to be the general public.368 It is thus

unclear whether the Kalimanzira Appeals Chamber considered the size of the audience to be a

requirement of public and direct incitement as opposed to whether the audience can also be selected

or limited. In fact, in both the Nahimana et al. and Kalimanzira cases, the Appeals Chamber opined

that the "general public" was not the recipient of the message or considered that the message was

not intended to be for the general public.36'

125. Considering that the jurisprudence of the Appeals Chamber does not specify whether a large

audience is a requirement for direct and public incitement to commit genocide, the Appeals

Chamber will turn to the definition given by trial chambers,370 which recalls the definition from the

Akayesu Trial Judgement. Ref'erring to various sources of international law, the Akayesu Tial

Chamber elaborated on the definition of the public element of the crime of incitement to commit

genocide. It noted a 1996 report of the International Law Commission that defined "public

incitement" as "a call for criminal action to a number of individuals in a public place ot to members

tt" Trial Judgement, para. 1755, re.fbrring to Muvun\ti 11 Appeal Judgement, para. 21 . The Appeals Chamber notes that

the Trial Chamber mistakenly ret-ers to the Appeal Judgement in the Muvunyl case, while the quote comes from the

Trial Judgement in the same case rendered on retrial. See Mw,unyi II Trial Judgement, para.27.
366 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 81 , re.ferring to Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, pzras. 15 I - I 65.
3u1 Kalimanz.ira Appeal Judgement, paras. 156, 160, fn. 410.
so8 Kulimanz.ira Appeal Judgement, peras. l6l-165.
to" Nahimara et ul. Appeal Judgement, para. 862; Kulimanzira Appeal Judgement, paras. 161, 164.
t " 'Muvuny i l lT r ia lJudgement ,  para .27 .  Th isTr ia lJudgementwasrenderedonre t r ia l .TheAppea lsChamber fu r ther
notes that this passage of the Muvunyi Trial Judgement was in turn based on the Kalimunzira Trial Judgement. See

Muvunyi 1/ Trial Judgement, fn. 42, re.ferring to Kalimanz.ira Trial Judgement, para. 515. The Kalimanzira Trial

Judgement is in turn based on Akayesu Trial Judgement. See Kalimanzira Trial Judgement, para. 515, re.fbrring to

Akryesu Trial Judgement, paras.556,559. See also Niyiteg,eka Trial Judgement, para.431.
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of the general public at large by such means as the mass media, for example, radio or television".371

It also considered that the Civil Law systems understood words as being public when "spoken aloud

in a place that were [slc] public by definition".372

126. Contrary to Nzabonimana's submissions, the Appeals Chamber does not consider that the

incitement must necessarily be communicated through mass communication in order to amount to

"public" incitement within the meaning of Article 2(3Xc) of the Statute. The number of individuals

in the audience is not an element of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide.

Though the Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement noted that the Tribunal's jurisprudence includes

convictions involving "speeches made to large, fully public assemblies", in the Appeals Chamber's

view, it does not foreclose convictions based on communications to smaller audiences when the

incriminating message is given in a public space to an unselected audience. The Appeals Chamber

notes that the travaux priparatoires of the Genocide Convention do not contradict, but support this

position by stating that public incitement was understood as "public speeches or in the press,

through the radio, the cinema or other ways of reaching the public", though it expressly excluded

"private" incitement.3t' The International Law Commission confirmed that the indispensable

element of public incitement requires communicating "the call for criminal action to a number of

individuals in a public place or to members of the general public at large. Thus, an individual may

communicate the call for criminal action in person tn a public place or by technical means of mass

communication, such as by radio or television".3Ta

I27. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber detects no error in the Trial Chamber applying the

definition of "public" as stated in the Muvunyi, Niyitegeka, Kajelijeli, and Akayesu Tial

Judgements. Indeed, though most convictions for direct and public incitement involve mass

communication, a smaller audience is also consistent with international law according to which:

[The Trial] Chamber may consider the surrounding circumstances, such as the place where the

incitement occurred and whether the audience was selective [sic] or limited. Incitement is 'public'

31t Akay"suTrial Judgement, para. 556 (emphasis added), citing Draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of

Mankind.
3'2 Aknyesu Triat Judgement, para. 556. The Appeals Chamber also notes that a court in a common law jurisdiction

interpreted "public incitement" as a message "delivered in a public place at a public meeting". See Mugesera v. Canada

(Minister of Citizenship and Immigration) 1200512 SCR 100, para. 94, where the Supreme Court of Canada stated that

Mugesera's "message was delivered in a public place at a public meeting and would have been clearly understood by

the audience".
373 Hirad Abtahi & Philippa Webb, The Genocide Convention: The Travaw Prdparatoires (Leiden-Boston: Martinus

Nijhoff Publishers, 2008), p. 986 (emphasis added). However, this exclusion does not result in the non-criminalisation

of incitement on a smaller scale per se.
3'o See Draft Code of Crimes Against the Peace and Security of Mankind, p. 22, commentary on Article 2(3)(0

(emphasis added). The International Law Commission also specifies that the "public appeal for criminal action

increases the likelihood that at least on individual will respond to the appeal and, moreover, encourages the kind of
'mob violence' in which a number of individuals engage in criminal conduct". See idem.
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when conq_Ucted through speeches shouting or threats uttered in public places or
gatherings"'

at pubric 21QO/H

128. It is clear from the legal findings in relation to the Cyayi centre that the Trial Chamber

considered the place and the audience as factors to assess the public element.376 As stated above, the

number of persons present is not an essential factor in this assessment. As to speeches made from a

vehicle, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement did not qualify them as

conversations.3tt It was the nature of Kalimanzira's presence and exchanges with those at the

roadblocks that were in line with a conversation rather than speaking from a vehicle.378

129. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber relied

on his intention to establish that he was not heard by an exclusive and limited group.37e In assessing

the public element, the Trial Chamber stated: "[t]he fact that Witness CNAI was summoned over,

and that Evariste Munyagatare, a Tutsi, was also present, establishes beyond reasonable doubt that

the words were intended to be heard by anyone in the area, rather than an exclusive and limited

group".3rJ0 Recalling the definition of direct and public incitement to commit genocide, the Appeals

Chamber notes that establishing the public element requires not only that the accused publicly

incited (actus reas), but also that the accused had the intent to incite publicly (mens reaS.381 The

Trial Chamber concluded that Nzabonimana's conduct satisfied the public element of the crime but

failed to explicitly state whether it was making a finding on the oclus reus or mens rea or both.

However, the Appeals Chamber observes that in this specific instance, the facts used by the Trial

Chamber to establish the public element - the public location, a crowd of approximately 30 people,

and audience that was not selected or limited - showed that the incitement was public and that

Nzabonimana intended it to be so. In this context, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial

Chamber made an assessment of both the actus reus and mens rea of the public element based on

the same facts. While the Trial Chamber could have been clearer, the Appeals Chamber does not

consider that the Trial Chamber used the mens rea to prove the actus reus, or that the Trial

Chamber indicated that the oublic character was not established.

130. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded that the Trial Chamber acknowledged that the

audience was not established when stating that the "witnesses did not indicate the specific

t t 'Tr ial Judgement, para. 1755. See also Muvunyi /1 Trial Judgement, para.27; Kujel i jel i  Trial Judgement, para.85 l ;
Nit,itegeka Trial Judgement, para. 431 Rugl4iu Judgement and Sentence, para. 17 Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 556.
' 'o,See Trial Judgement, para. 1766.
'"' Kalimanz.ira Appeal Judgement, para. 159.
118 KaLimanzira Appeal Judgement, para. 1 59. The Appeals Chamber observes that in the Kalimanziru case it concluded
that the Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement was directly applicable to Kalimanzira's convictions as the underlying facts
were similar in both cases.
l7e See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 32.
r*u Trial Judgement. para. 1766.
;n'  See supru, para. l2l ,
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audience".3t'In fitrding that the audience was not limited or exclusive, the Trial Chamber recalled

Witness CNAX's description of a crowd of "approximately 30 people", and the fact that

Witness CNAI was summoned over, in the presence of Munyagatare, a Tutsi.383 Furthermore, the

Trial Chamber was merely noting minor differences between accounts of Witnesses CNAI and

CNAX when it found that "it would be unreasonable to expect the witnesses to provide matching

verbatim accounts of such details as to the number of people present and the exact words spoken by

Nzabonimana and Munyagatare".384 The Appeals Chamber does not detect any elror in the Trial

Chamber's anaiysis.

131. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Nzabonimana's claim that the Trial Chamber inferred

his intention from the fact that Witness CNAI was sufi]moned over by Nzabonimana, while not

believing this aspect of the witness's testimony.3st The Appeals Chamber first observes that at no

point does the Trial Chamber find that Nzabonimana summoned the witness.386 The Trial Chamber

made no explicit factual finding as to who summoned Witness CNAI over to Nzabonimana and

simply stated that "Witness CNAI was summoned over" in its legal findings.387 Based on the above,

Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred.

I32. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber relied on the public location, a crowd

of approximately 30 people,388 and an audience that was not exclusive or limited to find that the

incitement was public.3se Accordingly, whether Witness CNAI testified to Kamali calling him to

listen to Nzabonimana's speech or to hear what Nzabonimana was going to tell him personally

would not convert the public character of the incitement, as reasonably found by the Trial Chamber,

into private discussions between Nzabonimana and specific persons.'no Moreou"r, Witness CNAI

382 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 31. See alsoTt'ral Judgement, pua. 1766'
3t'Trial Judgement, pua. 1166.
t* Trial Judgement, para,.812. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the number of individuals in an audience
is not an essential element of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide. Accordingly, the Appeals
Chamber summarily dismisses Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber distorted Witness CNAX's testimony
that there were "less than" 30 persons compared to the finding that there were "approximately" 30 people as being an
irrelevant consideration incapable of affecting the verdict. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 92.
38s See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 86; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 32.
386 Furthermore, the Trial Chamber assessed the Defence's allegation that Kamali would have known Witness CNAI's
ethnicity as a Tutsi and would not have called him to listen to Nzabonimana's speech. The Trial Chamber stated that it
did not believe Witness CNAI's testimony that Kamali did not know his ethnicity. See Trial Judgement, para. 875.

"t Triul Judgement, para. 1766.
3tt The Appeals Chamber observes that, in its factual findings, the Trial Chamber determined that Nzabonimana "held a
meeting" at the Cyayi centre. ,See Trial Judgement, pa.ras. 887, 938. However, in its legal analysis on direct and public
incitement to commit genocide, apart from titling the section "Cyayi Centre Meeting", the Trial Chamber does not refer
to the incident in terms of a "meeting". SeeTt'lal Judgement, puas. 1763-1768, l7'75.
38e SeeTialJudgement, para. 1766.
3m Nzabonimana points to specific sections of the witness's testimony and submits that the French version of the
transcripts indicate that Nzabonimana addressed the witness "personally". See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 90;
Nzabonimana Reply Brief, pan. 29. The Appeals Chamber notes that in the French transcript Witness CNAI uses
pronouns referring to himself. See Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 p.70 (French) (emphasis added) ("lsaac
Kamati qui me connaissait m'a appeld, je me suis dirigd vers I'endroit oil il se trouvait, il s'entretenait avec le Ministre
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testified that Nzabonimana repeated the same statement in Witness T193's presence u8188/H.

Munyagatare also heard the statement.3et The Appeals Chamber recalls that the words were spoken

in a public space, were heard by several persons, including Tutsis,3e2 and contained a message

directed to anyone in the area rather than selected persons.tot The Appeals Chamber is not

convinced that Witness CNAI's testimony described facts corresponding to private conversations.

Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber erred in characterisins the incitement as public.

133. Based on the foregoing, that the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to his conviction for direct and nublic incitement to commit genocide under his Third

Ground of Appeal.

4. Instigation of Genocide and Extermination as a Crime Against Humanity

134. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of instigating genocide and extermination as a

crime against humanity for the killings of Tutsis at the Nyabikenke commune office on

15 April 1994.3e4 The Trial Chamber considered that, "particularly when viewecl in context,

Nzabonimana's remarks substantially contributed to the successful attack upon the commune

offlce".3e5 The Trial Chamber held that this was the only reasonable inf'erence from the following

circumstantial evidence: (i) Nzabonimana was an influential figure in Gitarama pr,lJbcture and

originated from Nyabikenke ,o*^urr;'06 (ii)prior to Nzabonimana's exhortations at the Cyayi

centre, the attempted attack on the commune office had been unsuccessful, commune policemen and

members of the population helped repel the attacks; following Nzabonimana's address, however,

commune policemen and members of the population successfully attacked the commune office with

the only resistance coming from the refugees themselves;3e7 and (iii) after Nzabonimana's speech,

the attacks escalated in their intensity and character, and assailants used firearms and grenades as

Callixte; et il m'a dit d'tcouter bien ce que Ie Ministre allait me dire. J'ai e./Jbctivement prAft aftention d ce que le

Ministre disait. Callixte m'u clit ce qui suit : [...]').ln comparison, the English transcript does not show the use of these
pronouns. .See Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 p. 61 ("lsaac Kamali knew me and he called for me. I went
towards them to the location where he was having a discussion with Minister Callixte. He then told me to listen
attentively to what the minister was going to say. So I paid attention to what the minister said. This is what Callixte

s a i d [ . . . ] " ) .
3er See Witness CNAI, T. 26 Novemb er 2009 p. 61 . See a/so Witness CNAI, T. 26 November 2009 p. 70 (French).
t" Witnesses CNAI, CNAX, and Munyagatare. See Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938.
rer ,See Trial Judgement, para. 1766.
t 'o Trial Judgement, paras. l7 18, 1731 ,1'786, 1'78'7,1790, 1800.
t" Trial Judgement, paras. l7 12, 11 \5.
tno 

Trial Judgement. para. 11 12.
" '  T r ia l  Judgement .  para .  l713 .
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opposed to only traditional weapons, which were used during the attack at the commune office on

13 April lgg4.3e8

135. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding a causal link between his

statements at the Cyayi centre and the attack at the Nyabikenke commune office, and that even if a

link was established from the circumstantial evidence, this inference was not the only reasonable

conclusion.3ee Nzabonimana further argues that the Trial Chamber erred in its findings on his nens

,ro.ooo The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's findings support Nzabonimana's

conviction for this mode of liabilitv.a0l

(a) SubstantialContribution

136. Nzabonimana submits ttrat the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that he substantially

contributed to the attacks solely on the basis of: (i) his influence in Gitarama prdfecture; (ii) the

success of the Night and Day Attacks, including the behavioural change of the population and

commune policemen; and (iii) the use of firearms.a02

I37. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was influential and

argues that it was required to frnd that he had specific influence in Nyabikenke on the day of the

events.4O3 Nzabonimana also maintains that the Trial Chamber used acts for which he was convicted

under direct and public incitement to commit genocide to assess his influence,4o4 and that no

evidence was adduced on his influence over the Interahamwe in Gitaram a pr,lfecture.aos

138. Further, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber's implicit inference that the attack

was successful because the prior attack was unsuccessful does not explain how his utterances led to

the successful attacks on 15 April 1994.406 As for the population's change of behaviour,

Nzabonimana argues that the population had been targeting Tutsis since 8 April i994 in large scale

attacks throughout the commune, without indication that he played any role therein.aoT He adds that

there is no evidence that members of the population, who protected Tutsis on 13 April 1994, had

1 0 t -  , .  .
"" Trial Judgement, para. 1114.
3ee Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 3.3.1, 3.3.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 94-98, 100-112. See also
AT. 29 April 2014 pp. 1.3,14.
am Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pua.3.3.2.1(7 ), (8); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 99.
aor Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 88-90. See also AT. 29 Aprtl 2014 p.29. According to the Prosecution,
Nzabonimana's remarks go beyond mere instigation. See ibid., pala.88, referring /o Prosecution Appeal Brief,
paras. 49, 50.
ou'Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.3.2.1(5); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 97,100-112.
403 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 101-103, 106. See a/so Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 36, referring to
Karnuhanda Appeal Judgement, paras. 65, 66. See aiso Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, section 2.2.
as Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 105.
405 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 98, referuing to Trial Judgement, fn. 153.
affi Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 107.
407 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 108. See a/so Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 110.
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heard him at the Cyayi centre and then turned around to attack refugees.aOt Nzabonimana aveflftS$/l{

the causal link between the event at the Cyayi centre and the attack on the commune office is not

proven because the Trial Chamber did not find that individuals involved in the attack heard what

was said at the Cyayi centre.aoe

139. Finally, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chambcr's reasoning, that attacks escalated as

a result of firearm and grenade use, seemed to imply his involvement in firearms and grenades

distribution when he was fbund not guilty of such acts from 8 April to 14 April 1gg4.4to

Nzabonimana avers that the Trial Chamber, in doing so, changed the theory of the case against him

without not ice .al l

140. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber made correct findings on Nzabonimana's

influence,ar2 and that there was evidence of his influence over the Interaham*e.0" The Prosecution

further responds that reference to prior attacks does not alter the fact that Tutsis were successfully

protected until Nzabonimana's appearance on 14 April l994.ara The Prosecution further submits

that, in relation to perpetrators of attacks being present at the Cyayi centre, it does not matter who

precisely carried out Nzabonimana's genocidal order or how the order reached the assailants since

evidence established that his order had the desired effect of kill ing Tutsis.ars Finally, the

Prosecution responds that it was after Nzabonimana's intervention that attackers were given access

to grenades and firearms.oto It argues that the Trial Chamber was entitled to determine that

Nzabonimana's intervention affected civilians' ability to obtain weapons, even when he was not

convicted for distribution of weapons.ott

008 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 109.
a'D Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 98, 109; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 36. See also Nzabonimana Notice of

Appeat, para. 3.3.2.1(10). Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber did not establ ish the specif ic audience at the

Cyayi centre and did not find that the Interahumwe, members of the population, or commurzcl policemen were present

during his speech. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 98, 109; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para.34, re.f'erring to
Trial Judgement, para. 1766 where Nzabonimana points to the Trial Chamber's finding that the witnesses "did not

indicate the specific audience to whom the speech was addressed" to argue that there is no information on the persons

who were instigated. Nzabonimana submits that Def'ence Witness T193, who was identified to be at the Cyayi centre,
was exonerated tbr the attack on the commune office. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para.98, fn. 166.
or" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 97, 110, l l1. See aLso AT.29 Apri l  2014 pp. 53,54.
ar1 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 96. See also AT.29 Apri l  2014 pp.53,54. The Appeals Chamber also notes that
Nzabonimana raises in his Notice of Appeal arguments related to the Prosecution's dropping of charges against him but
fai ls to develop these arguments in his Appeal Brief.  Sea Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.3.3.2. 1(1)-(3),(5);

Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 96 (where he generally submits that "[t]he consequence of the Prosecution's dropping

of charges [. . . ]  is that the Chamber rewrote the Prosecution case entirely on [his role] [ . . . ]").  The Appeals Chamber
therefbre considers that Nzabonimana has abandoned these allegations.
arz Prosecution Response Brief, para. 84.
ar3 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 91 , re.ferring to Trial Judgement, paras. I I 60, I 16 I .
ara Prosecution Response Brief.  para. 92.
o 's  Prosecut ion  Resoonse Br ie f .  para .96 .
ar" Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 93. See rt i ,rrr AT.29 Apri l  2014p.29.
ar7 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 95.
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I4L To demonstrate his lack of influence, Nzabonimana points to: (i) public insults and sabotage

against him and his projects in Nyabikenk";ott (ii) the power of the Mouvement ddmocratique

rdpublicain ("MDR") political p*ty;otn and (iii) evidence of planned attacks against his house,

which, he argues, the Trial Chamber failed to consider.a2o The Appeals Chamber observes that the

Trial Chamber found overwhelming Prosecution and Defence evidence that Nzabonimana was an

influential political personality in Gitarama prdfecture during the events from April to July 1994.421

This is based on Nzabonimana's position as a Minister in the Interim Government, his previous

tenure as Minister of Planning, his Chairmanship of the MRND party in Gitarama prdfecture, his

association with and roots in the region, and the settlement of the Interim Government in Gitarama

prdfecture.a" In its assessment, the Trial Chamber considered that he was publicly insulted by his

family and the population and that his development projects were sabotaged with the advent of

multiparty politics.a23 The Trial Chamber also considered party dynamics between the MDR and the

MRND and, specifically, Nzabonimana's arguments on the MDR's power in Gitarama

prdfecture.ato While there is no explicit mention in the Trial Judgement of evidence of planned

attacks against Nzabonimana's house,a2s the Appeals Chamber recalls that the fact that certain

evidence has not been referred to does not mean it was not taken into account in the Trial

Chamber' s assessment.426

t42. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded that the Trial Chamber used Nzabonimana's

convictions of direct and public incitement to commit genocide to assess his influenc e.o" The

Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber referenced its factual, rather than legal, findings in

relation to Nzabonimana's participation and speeches at, inter alia, the Butare trading centre, the

Cyayi centre, and the Murambi meeting.a2s According to the Trial Chambet, these events

al8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 102.
o'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 103.
420 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 106.
"'' Trial Judgement, pua.92.
"" Trial Judgement, pua.92.
o" Tnal Judgement, para. 88.
o'o Tiral Jud-gement,-paras. 87,88, 90. See alsoTiral Judgement, para. 85, referring to Nzabonimana Closing Brief,
paras. 2-5. The Appeals Chamber summarily dismisses Nzabonimana's undeveloped submission that the Indictment
fails to plead the relationship between the MDR and MRND parties (see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 103). It
further notes Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber failed to consider a declaration of Defence
Witness T46 and a report of Rwandan authorities (see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 103, referring ro Exhibits
D134 and D124, p.8). The Appeals Chamber observes that Nzabonimana Closing Brief refers to both exhibits (see
Nzabonimana Closing Brief, paras. 2, 5).
a25,See Witness T24, T. 28 April 2010 pp.49, 50 (closed session); Witness T3 1, T. 3 May 2010 p. 65 (closed session);
Witness T33,22 April 2010 p. 64 (closed session).
426 'Ihe Appeals Chamber recalls that there is a presumption that a Trial Chamber has evaluated all the evidence
presented to it, provided that there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any particular piece
of evidence. See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, fn.766; Ntabakuze Appeal Judgement, fn.357; Bagosora and
Nse ngiyumva Appeal Judgement, fn. 625.
427 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 105.
o" Tial Judgement, para. 91.
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constituted evidence that Nzabonimana had the power to exert his influence in his native reEdSZI/H

Gitarama prdfecture.a2e Nzabonimana does not demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could

have made the same llndine.

143. With respect to Nzabonimana's inf'luence over the Interahamwe, the Trial Chamber

explicitly noted that the Prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that he trained and

armed the Interaha*rr.o"'The Trial Chamber further determined that "Nzabonimana's pulported

role vis-d-vis the Interahamwe" had no impact on the credible and consistent testimony that he was

an influential individual within Gitarama prdfecture.a3l Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate any error
41)

rn thrs l lndrns. ' -

144. In light of the foregoing, Nzabonimana lails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding that he was influential. He also fails to explain why instigation would require a

determination that Nzabonimana had specific influence in Nyabikenke commune on the day of the

events.433 The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber did not solely rely on

Nzabonimana's influence to establish his substantial contribution to the attacks; but rather, his

inf'luence was one of several f'actors that the Trial Chamber took into account.a3a

145. The Appeals Chamber will now examine alleged errors in relation to the other factors which

the Trial Chamber relied Llpon to infer that Nzabonimana substantially contributed to the killings at

the Nyabikenke commune offrce. Regarding the Trial Chamber's reference to the prior unsuccessful

attack,a3s the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber was considering the temporal

proximity between the unsuccessful attack on l3 April 1994, Nzabonimana's speech at the Cyayi

centre on 14 April 1994, andthe subsequent successful attack the night right after his speech,a3o The

Appeals Chamber finds it reasonable for the Trial Chamber to consider this sequence of events,

among other factors, to inf-er Nzabonimana's substantial contribution to the attacks. Nzabonimana

fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in this regard.

a2e Trial Judgement, para. 91.
tt" Trial Judgement, fn. 153, re.f 'err ing to ibid.,  Section 3.3.1.2.
ot '  Trial Judcement. fn. 153.
ott The Appials Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber rel ied a posteriori  on witness

testimonies that it pieced together, and that it cited transcripts from Defence witnesses that do not support findings on

influence (see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 104, re.fbrring to Trial Judgement, fn. 14'7). The Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber did not reference Defence witnesses to support its findings on influence, and further,

that Defence witness testimonies cited in footnote 147 correspond to evidence that the MRND placed importance on

recruit ing members of the populat ion (.see Trial Judgement, para. 87,fn. 147).
ot ' , te" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  piuas. l0l-103, 106. As Nzabonimana has tai led to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber was required to determine that he had specific influence in Nyabikenke commune on the day of the events, his

argument that paragraph 90 of the Trial Judgement is "silent on the ef'fect of these events on [his specific influence]

exercised in Nyabikenke" is accordingly dismissed (see NzabonimanaAppeal Brief,  para. 103).
aro Trial Judgement, para. 17 12. For other factors, see Trial Judgement, paras. 11 13, 17 14.
435 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 107.
436 See Trial Judgement, para. l?13. See aLso Trial Judgement, paras. 1709-l ' / l l .
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146. The Appeals Chamber now turns to Nzabonimana's arguments on the population's

behavioural change after his speech.a3T The Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's

determination that prior to Nzabonimana's exhortations at the Cyayi centre, commune policemen

and members of the population assisted in repelling attacks on the commune office.a3S It then found

that, following Nzabonimana's address at the Cyayi centre, commune police and members of the

population successfully attacked the commune office with the only resistance coming from the

refugees themselves.o3e The Appeals Chamber detects no error in this regard. The Appeals Chamber

is not persuaded how Nzabonimana's submission, that the population had been attacking Tutsis

since 8 April 1994,440 undermines the Trial Chamber's findings on behavioural change before and

after Nzabonimana's address.al The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced that the Trial Chamber

was specifically required to determine that assailants of the Night and Day Attacks heard what he

said at the Cyayi centre. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the octus reus of "instigating" is to

prompt another person to commit an offence.42 It is not necessary to prove that the crime would not

have been perpetrated without the involvement of the accused; it is sufficient to demonstrate that

the instigation was a factor substantially contributing to the conduct of another person committing

the crime.a' Si-il*ly, it is not required that the individuals who were instigated be the same as

those who committed the crimes.aa

147. As for firearm and grenade use, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber

considered, among other factors, that after Nzabonimana's speech attacks escalated in intensity and

character.a5 In reaching this conclusion, the Trial Chamber noted the use of firearms and grenades

compared to prior attacks where assailants only used traditional weapons.*u The Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber did not find how or why assailants obtained firearms; rather, it

considered that after Nzabonimana's statement assailants used modern weapons to successfully

attack the commune office.41 On this basis, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial

437 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras.98, 108, 109.
4 1 R -  , .  ,"'" Trial Judgement, para. 1713.
o'n Trial Judgement, para. 1713.
a0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 108. See atso ibid., para. 110.
aat SeeTialJudgement, para. 1713.
*2 See, e.g., Nchamihlgo Appeal Judgement, para. 188; Karera Appeal Judgement, para.317; Kordii and Cerkez
Appeal Judgement, pan. 2'7.
oot'5r", ,.g1, Korrri Appeal Judgement, para.3l7; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para.480; Kordii and aerkez
Appeal Judgement, pua.21 .
* The Appeals Chamber observes that, while previous cases have examined whether individuals who were instigated
were the same as those who committed the crimes (see Karera Appeal Judgement, para. 3 l8; Nahimana et al. Appeal
Judgemenf para.513; Ndindabahizi AppealJudgement, para. 116. See also Boikoski and Tariulovski Appeal
Judgement, pan.75), the Appeals Chamber has not explicitly made it a requirement under instigation.
45 SeeTial Judgement, para.1714.
u6 SeeTiral Judgement, pua. 1714.
*t T.ial Judgement, paras.939, 1714. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it found no errors in the Trial Chamber's
evidentiary assessment of firearm use. See supra, puas. 107 -1 1 4,
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Chamber implied that Nzabonimana was involved in firearms distribution.ooo The Appeals CnrtrEe/H

also cannot see how the Trial Chamber changed the theory of the case against Nzabonimana in light

of its reasoning on the escalation of intensity and character as well as his acquittals in relation to

distribution of weapons.aae

148. In light of the fbregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

that the Trial Chamber erroneously inferred that he substantially contributed to the killings on the

basis of his influence, the success of attacks the night following his speech, the "mere 250 to 300

metres" between the Cyayi centre and the commune office, and the escalation of intensity and

character of the attacks through the use of firearms and grenades in the Day and Night Attacks.as0

The Appeals Chamber therefbre finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably concluded that the only

reasonable inf'erence from the circumstantial evidence was that Nzabonimana substantially

contributed to the attacks.

149. Based on the foregoing, that the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to the actus reus of instigation.a5l

(b) Mens Rea

150. In its legal findings, the Trial Chamber held that "[t]here is no doubt that, at the time of

Nzabonimana's prompting, he knew of the genocidal intent of his audience, particularly given the

meeting's temporal and physical proximity to the recent attack on the commune office".a-52 The

Chamber also noted "the extensive circumstantial evidence of Nzabonimana's genocidal intent, set

out below".as3

151. Nzabonimana submits that, since the Trial Chamber did not define the specific audience he

addressed at the Cyayi centre, it could not conclude that he knew the genocidal intent of his

auclience.asa He argues that the Trial Chamber was only assuming that he knew of the attack on

13 April Igg4.1ss Nzabonimana adds that the Trial Chamber ered in its determination of his

oot See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 9'7 , | | l.
aae.see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 96. See a/.ro Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.3.2.1(l) .
aso See Trial Judgement, paras. 1709-1715.
o'' The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's general claim, raised in the Notice of Appeal but undeveloped
in his Appeal Brief, that the Trial Chamber violated his right to a fair trial in, inter alia, refusing to postpone the start of

the tr ial  and restr ict ing the number of Defence witnesses. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 3.3.2.1(11)-(13).
os: Trial Judgement, para. 1117.
tsr Trial Judgement, para. 11 17 .
asa Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 99; Nzabonimana
455 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 99.
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genocidal intent by noting circumstantial evidence of events occurring after his statement at the

Cyayi centre.456

152. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's argument is irrelevant because the required

mens rea was sufficiently established.a5T The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber

correctly established the second form of mens rea for instigation - Nzabonimana's awareness that

senocide would be committed.as8

153. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the mens rea for instigating is established where the

perpetrator acts with either direct intent to prompt another to commit a crime, or with awareness of

the substantial likelihood that a crime will be committed in execution of that instigarion.ase

154. The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's determination that, by "threatening a Tutsi

and saying that Tutsis should be massacred at Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994", Nzabonimana

prompted others to act and to continue the genocidal attack upon the commune office, and that he

intended to do so.a60 Since the Trial Chamber explicitly found that Nzabonimana had the direct

intent to prompt others to commit a crime,46l any error in relation to the Trial Chamber's finding on

Nzabonimana's knowledge of the genocidal intent of his audience is inconsequential to

Nzabonimana's mens rea for instigation.a62

155. In the same vein, any error on the part of the Trial Chamber in using subsequent events to

establish Nzabonimana's genocidal intent is inconsequential to its finding on his intent.a63 The

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana indeed possessed the

requisite intent to destroy, in whole or in part, the Tutsi ethnic group on the basis of his

unambisuous words at the Cvayi centre.464

156. Based on the foregoing, Nzabonimana's arguments on the mens rea of instigation are

dismissed.

056 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 99.
457 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 98, 100.
458 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 99.
otn See, e.g., Nchamihlgo Appeal Judgement, para. 61; Nahimnna et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 480; Kordii and
Ce rkez Appeal Judgement, pans. 29, 32.
o- Trial Judgement, pua. l711 .
out Trial Judgement, para. l1l7 .
'ut It is unclear whether the Trial Chamber, in stating that Nzabonimana "knew of the genocidal intent of his audience",
sought to establish the alternate form of mens rea for instigation - an awareness of the substantial likelihood that a
crime will be committed in execution of his instigation. See Trial Judgemenl pua. 1711 .
463 Trial Judgement, pua. 1711 ("The Chamber also notes the extensive circumstantial evidence of Nzabonimana's
genocidal intent, set out below").
r* T.iul Judgement, pata. 1167 . See also ibid., para. 1137 .
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(c) Conclusion 2180/H

157. For the {bregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to instigation of genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity under his Third

Ground of Appeal.

5.  Conclusion

158. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's Second Ground of Appeal, in

part, and Third Ground of Appeal,
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D. Alleeed Errors Relating to the Butare Trading Centre (Ground 4 and Ground 5. in part)

159. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana for committing direct and public incitement to

commit genocide (Count 3), based, in part, on his conduct at the Butare trading centre in Rutobwe

,o**urr!u5 In particular, the Trial Chamber found that, on or about 12 April 1994, in the

afternoon, Nzabonimana addressed a gathering at the Butare trading centre and told those gathered

to kill Tutsis and take their belongings.a66 The Trial Chamber further found that Nzabonimana

asked if there were any Tutsis in the crowd.467 The Trial Chamber also held that Prosecution

Witness CNAZ and another Tutsi fled and that Nzabonimana told gendarmes and the population to

pursue them.a68

160. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in convicting him of

direct and public incitement to commit genocide in connection with the event at the Butare trading

centre and in considering this event as circumstantial evidence of his genocidal intent.a6e In this

section, the Appeals Chamber considers Nzabonimana's arguments in relation to: (i) notice;

(ii) assessment of evidence; and (iii) direct and public incitement.

1. Notice

161. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in finding that he

received proper notice of the allegations relating to the Butare trading centre.47o He argues that the

Trial Chamber failed to consider that evidence adduced at trial did not correspond to pleadings in

paragraph 40 of the Indictment.aTr According to Nzabonimana, the Trial Chamber ought to have

considered the following discrepancies between the Indictment and the evidence relating to the

event: (i) the lndictment indicating "Hutu population", whereas the Trial Chamber mentioned a

"gathering" and concluded that Nzabonimana did not use the term "lnyen7i";472 1ii; ttre Indictment

alleging that Nzabonimana himself indicated there were Tutsis in the ctowd, whereas hosecution

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH testified that Nzabonimana "asked" whether there were any Tutsis

present;473 and (iii) the Indictment indicating "soldiers", whereas Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH

testified to "gendarmes".4l4 On this last point, Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber

ou' Trial Judgement, paras. 11 62, 1775, 1 800.
o* T.iul Judgement, pan. 734. See also ibid., para. 1157 .
ou] tria Judgement, pua.734. See also ibid, para. 1157 .
ooo Trial Judgement, para.734. See also ibid, parc. 1757.
a6e Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pans.4.I-4.4; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. ll7-169.
470 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pwa.4.3.1; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 163-168.
aTrNzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 163,referring to RwamakubaTrial Judgement, paras. 61,64,92,93, 126, 127,
144,153,  166-168.
472 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 165, referring toTial Judgement, paras.134,735.
ot3 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 166.
a7a Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 167.
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acknowledged this discrepancy but erroneously excused it because Witnesses CNAZ and2ilVl&/H

were farmers, while elsewhere in the Trial Judgement the Trial Chamber held the same discrepancy

against Prosecution Witness CNAF,475 Finally, Nzabonimana asserts that the Trial Chamber should

have drawn a negative inference fiom the fact that the nexus pleaded between Nzabonimana's

conduct and the kill ings in Rutobwe commune was not proven and that no evidence was adduced on

his instructions to take Tutsis' iobs.a7"

162. The Prosecution responds that the three differences are insignificant and did not prevent

Nzabonimana from identilying the criminal conduct alleged against him.a11 The Prosecution also

submits that notice provided by an indictment is not rendered defective because some allegations

were not established bevond a reasonable doubt.a78

163. Paragraph 40 of the Indictment reads:

On or about 15 April 1994, at Buture tradins cenffe, Rutongo secteur, Rutobwe commune,
Giturama prefecture, Callixte NZABONIMANA addressed a gathering and told the Hutu
population to kill all Inyenzi and their accomplices, the Tutsi, and take their jobs and belongings.
He stated that even among the gathering, there were Tutsi who must not be spared. CNAZ and
other Tutsi tried to flee and the Accused told soldiers and the population to pursue them. Many
Tutsi were ki l led fol lowing this meeting by persons including Interahumwe, Hutu civi l ians and
soldiers.

164. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, while the Prosecution is required to state the charges and

the material facts underpinning those charges in the indictment,aTe in general, minor differences

between the indictment and the evidence presented at trial are not such as to prevent the Trial

Chamber from considering the indictment in light of the evidence presented at trial.aso

165. The Appeals Chamber tums to the alleged discrepancy that, in the Indictment, Nzabonimana

"told the Hutu population to kill all Lhe Inyenzi and their accomplices, the Tutsis", whersas the Trial

Chamber mentioned a "gathering" and found that he did not use the term "lnyen3i" during his

address.atr The Appeals Chambcr observes that in the same sentence of paragraph 40 of the

a7s Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 167, ret 'brr inS4 toTrial Judgement, ptuas.54l, "734andfn.947.
'" 'Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 168, relbrr ing toTrial Judgement, paras.735,738. Nzabonimana also maintains
that discrepancies between Prosecution evidence and allegations in the Indictment resulted in the dismissal of
allegations in Bizimungu et al. Trial Judgement. See ibid, para. 164, rej?rring to Bi?,imunllu et al. Trial Judgement,
oaras. 1 067- I 08 I .
477 Prosecution Response Brief. paras. l4'7-149.
a7s Prosecution Response Brief, para. I 52. The Prosecution further argues that the trial judgements Nzabonimana cites
are not comparable since the indictment in the Biz.imungu et aL. case failed to plead the relevant event and the
Rwamakubtt Trial Chamber did not reject evidence for not matching the indictment. See ibitl., paras. 151 ,260, re.fbrring
to Rw'amakuba Trial Judgement, para. 84.
^"t Sre, e.g., Biz,imungu Appeal Judgement, para.94; Kanyurukiga Appeal Judgement, para.73; Ntageruru et al. Appeal
Judgement ,  para .2 l .
ot" .tee SemtrnT.a Appeal Judgement, fn. 492 Rutagandu Appeal Judgement, para. 302. See also Muvunyi II
Appeal Judgenrent. para. 29.
onr Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 165, reJbrring toT' ial Judgement, paras.734,735.
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Indictment Nzabonimana is alleged to have addressed a "gathering". Moreover, paragraph 40 of the

Indictment mentions both Inyenzi and Tutsi as the intended targets. Nzabonimana's selective

reference to parts of paragraph 40 of the Indictment fails to demonstrate that the Indictment did not

provide him with the requisite notice in this respect.

166. As to the second alleged discrepancy, the Appeals Chamber observes that Nzabonimana

points to whether he "stated" or "asked" about Tutsis at the gathering.as2 The Appeals Chamber

considers this difference to be minor and observes that Nzabonimana does not demonstrate how the

Indictment failed to provide him with the requisite notice in this respect.a83

161. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded that the Trial Chamber erred in assessing the

discrepancy between "soldiers" and"gendarmes" in the Indictment and the evidence.oto In finding

that "any divergence in the classification of the individuals as gendarmes or soldiers was minor",

the Trial Chamber considered that: (i) Prosecution and Defence witnesses agreed that Nzabonimana

had "uniformed escort", whether identified as gendarmes or soldiers; (ii) Prosecution witnesses

were "local residents, farmers and small business owners who would not necessarily be able to

identify the difference between a gendarme and a soldier"; and (iii) summaries of Prosecution

witness testimonies in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief indicated that Nzabonimana was

accompanied by gendar*rr.o" The Appeals Chamber detects no error in the Trial Chamber's

finding that the divergence was minor. Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber

erroneously treated Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH differently from Witness CNAF is also not

convincing.as6 With Witness CNAF, the Trial Chamber considered the discrepancy between

gendarme and soldier to be an inconsistency between the witness's testimony and his prior

statement.a8T

168. In any event, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate why this discrepancy is significant.

Regardless of whether Nzabonimana told "soldiers" or "gendarmeJ", in addition to the population,

to pursue the Tutsis, what is relevant is the fact that Nzabonimana instructed that the Tutsis be

pursued, which was properly pleaded in the Indictment.48s

482,!ee Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 166.
oot See supra pan. 164.
ae,See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 167.
oo' Trial Judgement. para.134, fn.94'l .
ooo See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 167, referring to Tial Judgement, pan. 541.
*o' Trial Judgement, para. 541. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found Witness CNAF's
e-xplanation, that he was a peasant, insufficient to justify the inconsistency between his testimony and prior statement.
ooo See Indictment, para. 40.
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169. The Appeals Chamber is finally not persuaded that the Prosecution's failure

nexus between Nzabonimana's conduct at the Butare trading centre and the Rutobwe

well as his instructions to take Tutsis' jobsae0 showed any defect in the Indictment.

some allegations arc ultimately not proven does not necessarily mean that the

def'ective.ael

to pr&{ il16/H
killingsase as

The fact that

Indictment is

170. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to notice under his Fourth Ground of Appeal.

2. Assessment of Evidence

nl. On the basis of Prosecution and Defence evidence, the Trial Chamber determined that

Nzabonimana went to the Butare trading centre in Rutobwe commune on or about 12 April1994,

bought banana beer, ancl spoke to an audience of approximately 20 people.ae2 The Trial Chamber

fbund that Nzabonimana told those gathered to kill Tutsis and to take their belongings, and asked

whether any Tutsis were in the crowd.ae3 It lurther determined that Prosecution Witness CNAZ and

another Tutsi fled, and that Nzabonimana told genclarmes and the population to pursue them.aea

172. Nzabonimana challenges the assessment of Prosecution and Defence evidence,ae5 and

alleges unequal treatment of witnesses.ooo Thc Appeals Chamber will address these challenges in

lurn.

(a) Alleged Errors in Assessing Prosecution Evidence

173. The Trial Chamber assessed the testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses CNAY, CNAZ, and

CNBH.4e7 It did not find Witness CNAY credible as to the events at the Butare trading centre,

accepted Witness CNAZ's evidence when corroborated by other credible evidence, and found

Witness CNBH credible.aes The Trial Chamber further lbund that Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH

provided consistent evidence that Nzabonimana made inf'lammatory cornments about Tutsis after he

a8e See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 168. The Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's determination that
there was no evidentiary link between the killings in Rutobwe and Nzabonimana's speech at the Butare trading centre
(see Trial Judgement, para. 738), and that Nzabonimana was found not guilty of genocide with respect to the event at
the Butare trading centre (.see Trial Judgement, para. 1707).
aeo See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 168.
oot C1. Bol4osora arul Nsengitumva Appeal Judgement, para. 121, re.f'errin14 to Munyakaz.i Appeal Judgement, para.37.
o" Trial Judgement, paras. 703-70'1 . See ulso ibit l . ,  para.734.
o" Trial Judgement, para.134. See also ibid.,para.708.
o'o Trial Judgement, para.134.
oe5. !eeNzabon imanaNot iceo f  Appea l ,paras .4 .  1 .1 -4 .  1 .4 ;  Nzabon imanaAppea l  Br ie f ,paras .  l17-143,149,151 .
oe6.See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.4. 1.5(1),(2),(7); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 144-148,150, 152.
oel See Trial Judgement, paras. 666-682,703-"7 18, '734.
ou'Trial Judgement, paras. 713, 

-t15, '1 
18.
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stopped at the trading cenfte, and that the overall consistency in their testimonies outweighed any

differences.aee Nzabonimana challenges the Trial Chamber's assessment of their evidence.

(i) AllegedContradictions

I74. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber failed to consider contradictions between the

testimonies of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH in relation to:s00 1i; his identification,50l (ii) the manner

in which the crowd assembled and the venue where the gathering took place;so2 (iii) the audience's

conduct after Nzabonimana's utterances;50' (iu) whether Nzabonimana asked about Tutsis before or

after Witness CNAZ's flight;5O4 and (v) the distribution of *.uponr.tot He argues that, taken

together, the contradictions cast doubt on thefu testimonies.s06

I75. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not fail to consider any significant

contradictions between the Prosecution witnesses.sOT

176. Regarding his identification, Nzabonimana submits that, according to Witness CNBH,

Nzabonimana did not need to introduce himself to his audience, while Witness CNAZ stated that he

recognised Nzabonimana because he introduced himself to the crowd.so8 The Appeals Chamber

recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that, based on testimonies of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH as

well as Defence Witnesses T109 and T110, the evidence reliably identified Nzabonimana as being

present at the Butare trading centre.50e The Appeals Chamber considers that whether or not

Nzabonimana introduced himself does not undermine the fact that he was indeed identified.

Nzabonimana also does not demonstrate how this minor variation casts doubt on the credibility of

Witnesses CNAZ's and CNBH's testimonies.

171. Regarding the venue and the manner in which the crowd assembled, Nzabonimana submits

that, according to Witness CNBH, Nzabonimana called the people and asked Joseph Ruhunga to

gather those on the veranda of a drinking place with gendarmes, whlIe, according to Witness

CNAZ, the people at the centre rushed towards the vehicles that stopped and the meeting was held

ae See TialJudgement, paras. 708, 7 12.
5m Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pua. 4.1.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 129-135.
sor Nzabonimana Appea.l Brief. para. 130.
sm Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. l3 I .
503NzabonimanaAppealBrief,para. l32.Seealsoibid.,puas. l23, 124;AT'29April 2014pp'21,49.
se Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 133. Nzabonimana argues that Witness CNAZ testified that the question was
asked when Karegeya pointed to the witness, while Witness CNBH stated that it was after Witness CNAZ fled. See
idem.
50s Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 134. See also AT.29 April 2014p'21'
5tr Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 135. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 48.
507 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 10'7 , 111. See ibid., paras. I 13- I 18 . See also AT . 29 April 2014 pp. 41, 42.

lI lq"P:tf.na Appeal Brief, para. 130.
'* Trial Judgement, para.101 .
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outside.5r0 The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber relied, inter alia, onWfiAF4/H

CNAZ and CNBH when it noted that people present at the trading centre assembled around

Nzabonimana upon his arrival.sll Further, a review of their testimonies reveals that neither witness

clescribed the venue of the meeting as being inside a building.sr2 Nzabonimana thus fails to

demonstrate any contradiction that required the Trial Chamber to provide explicit reasoning,

178. As for the audience's conduct after Nzabonimana's speech, he submits that, according to

Witness CNAZ, after being denounced by Karegeya, those in the crowd pursued the witness in

order to kill him.sr3 He argues that, on the other hand, Witness CNBH testified that the population

protected the Tutsis and did not denounce them, and those who pursued Witness CNAZ did not

intend to kill him.-5ra The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered

dilferences between the testimonies of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH on this point, The Trial

Chamber considered that Witness CNAZ "exaggerated" details of the incident, including how

Karegeya denounced him as a Tutsi, but it fbund that this did not undermine Witness CNAZ's

entire testimony.t'-t Nzabonimana lurther submits that Witness CNAZ did not mention the pursuit

of J6rdme Musabyimana by gendarmes in a vehicle, as described by Witness CNBH.sr6 The

Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly noted Witness CNBH's description

that the gendarmes chased Musabyimana and not Witness CNAZ.5lT The Trial Chamber assessed

this inconsistency, fbund it to be minor, and considered that it may be attributed to the significant

passage of time.sl8 The Trial Chamber also considered that Witness CNAZ was chased by

genclarmes,sre and that Witness CNBH corroborated Witness CNAZ's testimony that gendarmes

chasecl one of the men who flecl.s2(' The Appeals Chamber detects no enor in the Trial Chamber's

assessment, especially given that Witness CNAZ was pursued, and that, according to

Witness CNBH, Witness CNAZ and Musabyimana ran in opposite directions.s2r Nzabonimana's

argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider this alleged contradiction is dismissed.

5r0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 131.
'" See Trial Judgement, para. 104, re.f'errin14 t.r Witness CNAZ, T. l2 November 2009 p.4l (closed session); Witness
CNBH, T. 3 December 2009 pp. 22,32 (closed session). The Appeals Chamber notes that in the French version of the
transcripts, Witness CNAZ does not mention in his answer to Defence Counsel that people "rushed" (see Witness
CNAZ, T. l2 November 2009 pp. 47, 48 (French) (closed session)).
"t 5", Witness CNAZ, T. l2 November 2009 p. 4l (closed session), where Witness CNAZ mentions "open air";
Witness CNBH, T. 3 December 2009 pp. 22,32 (closed session).
srr  Nzabonimana Appeal  Br ief .  para.  132.
' ' 'o  Nzabonimana Appeal  Br ief .  para.  132.
5's Trial Judgement, paras. 7 | l, 7 12.
' 'n Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 132. See also AT.29 April 2014p.21.
l" Trial Judgement, para. 7 10.
t 't Trial Judgement, para. 7 10.
' ' '  Trial Judgement, para. 708.
"u Trial Judgement. para. 708.
"' ^See Witness CNBH, T. 3 December 2009 pp. 36, 37 (closed session).

o l
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I79. Regarding the moment when Nzabonimana asked about Tutsis in the crowd, the Appeals

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber noted the differences between the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH when summarising their evidence. Specifically, it noted that,

according to Witness CNAZ, Nzabonimana asked the question before the witness fled,522 and

according to Witness CNBH, it was after Witness CNAZ and Musabyimana fled.s23 The Appeals

Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber failed to consider this discrep un"y.t'o In any

event, the Appeals Chamber finds that this discrepancy does not undermine the Trial Chamber's

finding that both witnesses corroborated each other on key points that: (i) Nzabonimana asked

whether there were Tutsis in the crowd, (ii) Witness CNAZ fled the scene as a result of

Nzabonimana's speech, and (iii) Nzabonimana instructed others to pursue him.525

180. As for the weapons distribution, the Trial Chamber noted that, according to Witness CNAZ,

Nzabonimana told the population that if anyone needed weapons, he had a cargo that could be

distributed.5'u Th" Trial Chamber also noted that, according to Witness CNBH, Nzabonimana told

the crowd that they should use their traditional weapons to kill Tutsis.527 Accordingly, the Appeals

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered the varied accounts of Witnesses CNAZ and

CNBH regarding weapons. Further, the Appeals Chamber considers that this alleged discrepancy

does not undermine the overall credibility of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH, or undermine the Trial

Chamber's finding that both witnesses corroborated each other on key facts related to the events at

the Butare trading centre.528

181, ln light of the above, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the differences between Witnesses

CNAZ's and CNBH's accounts.

(ii) Corroboration

182. Nzabonimana submits that, despite numerous inconsistencies between the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH. the Trial Chamber nevertheless found that the two witnesses

corroborated each other.s'e He argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding corroboration on the

<)t ^' - '  SeeTial Judgement, pua.679.
s23 SeeTiral Judgement, para.670.
524 fhe Appeals Chamber recalls that there is a presumption that a trial chamber has evaluated all the evidence
presented to it, provided that there is no indication that the Trial Chamber completely disregarded any particular piece

of evidence. See supra, para. 105, fn. 315.
'2t Trial Judgement, paras. 708, '712,734.
ttu Trial Judgement, parz'.678.
ttt Trial Judgement, pua.669.
528 See TialJudgement, paras. 708, 734.
s2e Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pua. 4.1.2; Nzabonimana Appeal
Bief, paras. 15,49.

Brief, para. 128. See also Nzabonimana Reply
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lact that Witness CNAZ fled the trading centre as a result of Nzabonimana's speech uEfrFiZ/H.

Nzabonimana gave instructions to pursue Tutsis.s30 Nzabonimana maintains that both witnesses

described two diff'erent scenes of what occurred after Nzabonimana spoke at the Butare trading

centre.s3' According to Nzabonimana, while noting Witness CNAZ's testimony that he was pursued

by gendarmes and noting Witness CNBH's testimony that the gendarmes pursued Musabyimana

and not Witness CNAZ, the Trial Chamber still fbund conoboration between Witnesses CNBH and

CNAZ on the fact that the gendarmes chased one of the men who fled.532 Nzabonimana further

submits that any corroboration between Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH that they met in Kabgayi is

not relevant.533 Nzabonimana also contests the finding that Defence Witness Tl10 conoborated

Witness CNAZ to the eff'ect that the latter was one of the first to leave the gathering.s3a

183. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found corroboration between

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH.535

184. With respect to the corroboration between Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH, the Appeals

Chamber recalls that two prima facie credible testimonies need not be identical in all aspects in

order to be conoborative and that corroboration may exist even when some details differ.-536 The

Appeals Chamber further recalls the Trial Chamber's determination that the overall consistency in

the testimonies of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH outweighed the differences.-ttt In coming to this

conclusion, the Trial Chamber considered that both witnesses placed Nzabonimana at the Butare

trading centre on 12 April 1994.t'* The Trial Chamber fbund the corroborated facts to be:

(i) Nzabonimana was present at the Butare trading centre; (ii) approximately 20 people gathered;

(iii) both Prosecution witnesses were present; (iv) after stopping at the trading centre, Nzabonimana

made inflammatory cornments about Tutsis to those present; (v) Nzabonimana asked whether there

were any Tutsi in the crowd; (vi) Witness CNAZ fled the trading centre as a result of

Nzabonimana's speech and Nzabonimana instructed others to pursue him; and (vii) gendarmes

pursued one of the men who fled.s3e

s30 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 123, re.fZrring to Trial Judgement, pnra. 708.
s3r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 123,128, reJerring toTrial Judgement, paras. 670, 680.
s32 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 124, re,ferring toTial Judgement, pruas. 708, 710.
s33 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 126, re.ferring to Trial Judgement, para.109.
sra Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 125, refbrring toTrial Judgement, para.708. Nzabonimana argues that, contrary to
Witness CNAZ's test imony, Witness Tl10 stated that Witness CNAZ left  quiet ly without being bothered and did not
flee as a result of the threats. See ibid., re.fbruing toTrial Judgement, para.125. See uLso ibid.,para. 12.
5rs Prosecution Response Brief,  paras. 108-1 10.

"" See, e.g., Ntlahinwna Appeal Judgement, para. 93; Ntahakuz.e Appeal Judgement, para. 150; Ntuwukulilyuyo Appeal
Judgement, para. 24. See also Biz,imungu Appeal Judgement, para.321 .

"t  Trial Judgement, para.712.

" *  Tr ia f  Judgement .  paras .  703.  1o4.7o i .
" 'S,,e Trial Judgement. paras. 703. 705-708.
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185. The Triai Chamber further noted that Witness CNAZ exaggerated details, including the fact

that Karegeya denounced the witness as a Tutsi, which caused him to flee.saO The Appeals Chamber

recalls that, while the Trial Chamber did not find Witness CNAZ credible on the exaggerated

details, it nevertheless concluded that these details did not lead it to discount the witness's entire

testimony.5ar Furthermore, while there is a discrepancy as to whom the gendarmes pursued, the

Trial Chamber reasonably found that both witnesses corroborated the fact that the gendarmes

chased a fleeing Tutsi.5a2 The Appeals Chamber is not convinced by Nzabonimana's submission

that both witnesses described two different scenes of what occurred after his utterances at the

Butare trading centre. As discussed above, the Appeals Chamber did not detect any elror in the

Trial Chamber's assessment of the discrepancies between Witnesses CNAZ's and CNBH's

accounts.sa3 Given the above. Nzabonimana has not demonstrated that it was unreasonable for the

Trial Chamber to conclude that the overall consistency in their testimonies outweighed the

differences. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found

corroboration between Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH.

186. Contrary to Nzabonimana's argument,s44 at no point did the Trial Chamber determine that

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH met in Kabgayi. The Trial Chamber found that both witnesses

testified to seeking refuge at Kabgayi, and that Witness CNBH corroborated Witness CNAZ's

presence there.5a5 The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber made this finding when

it examined consistent aspects of their testimonies. In any event, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

how the Trial Chamber erred or how such an error would undermine findings that the two

Prosecution witnesses corroborated each other on key facts.

I87. Finally, the Trial Chamber found that Witness T110 corroborated Witness CNAZ's

testimony that the latter was one of the first to leave the gathering.tou The Appeals Chamber notes

that Witness T110 testified to Witness CNAZ being "the first to leave the place" when estimating

Witness CNAZ's departure in relation to Nzabonimana's departure.tot The Appeals Chamber is not

convinced that this was incompatible with Witness CNAZ describing himself leaving as a result of

the speech, while others were still present.to* Given the circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds

5 4 0 - .  .  .  ,*" Trial Judgement, pwas111,112.
5 4 1 -  , .  ,*' Trial Judgement, pwa.712.
502 Trial Judgement, paras. 708, 734.
to' Src supro,paras. 174-181.
5a Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 126.
505 Trial Judgement, para.709.
5'u Trial Judgement, para. 708. The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that Witness T110
corroborated not only Witness CNAZ but also Witness CNBH, as it indicated the Prosecution witnesses. See idem.
tot Witness T110, T. 13 October 2010 p. 11 (closed session).
tot Wirness CNAZ, T. 12 November 2009 pp.4,5; Witness CNAZ, T. 12 November 2009 p. 43 (closed session).

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014 f w 1i . )  v



that the Trial Chamber reasonably found corroboration

aspect of the evidence.

between Witnesses CNAZ and T1l0 QttVfl/H

188. Based on the fbregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of corroborating evidence.

(iii) Overall Assessment of Prosecution Witnesses

189. Nzabonimana submits that the testimonies of Witnesses CNAY, CNAZ, and CNBH were

irreconcilable and that the Trial Chamber should have considered all the evidence and

contradictions before deciding whether the allegations concerning the Butare trading centre were

established.5ae Nzabonimana maintains that the Trial Chamber, while rejecting Witness CNAY's

testimony because it differed too widely from the evidence of the other Prosecution witnesses,

failed to draw conclusions on the inconsistencies between the three witnesses.-5so He claims that the

Trial Chamber limited itself to the testimonies of Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH, and further erred by

stating that the overall consistency in their testimonies outweighed the differences.'-t'

190. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably did not accept

Witness CNAY's testimony, only accepted parts of Witness CNAZ's testimony when consistent

with other evidence, and reasonably disregarded other parts of Witness CNAZ's testimony because

of signilicant passage of time .552

191. Nzabonimana replies that the Trial Chamber did not fully take into account

Witness CNAY's testimony, and also that the Prosecution evades addressing the Trial Chamber's

failure to consider the witness's contradictory version of events.ss-'

192. The Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber erred in its overall

assessment of the Prosecution evidence. The Trial Chamber considered the testimonies of all three

Prosecution witnesses and it weighed Witness CNAY's account against the other evidence.ssa

Specilically, it noted that Witness CNAY's account "varie[d] widely fiom the other witnesses who

testifled, both in the time of the meeting, the words spoken by Nzabonimana and the actions of the

crowcl after the speech".555 The Trial Chamber concluded that Witness CNAY's testimony was not

ste Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, piua. 4. L | ; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 1l'7 -121.
ssO Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 117, 120, \21 . See a/,so Nzabonimana Reply Brief,
AT. 29 April 2014 pp. 21, 22.
55rNzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. l17-122, re.fbrring toTrial Judgement, para. 112. See also

9rief, para. 44; AT.29 April 2014 p.22.
"'Prosecution Response Brief, para. 107.
"' Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 39, 40.

i l i  I ' i r l  Judgement. para. ? 18.
" '  T r i a l  J u d g e m e n t .  p a r a .  7 I 8 .

paras. 39, 41, 42;

Nzabonimana Reply
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credible in relation to the Butare trading centre and noted that the Prosecution did not cite this

witness in its submissions.ss6 The Appeals Chamber considers that, in rejecting Witness CNAY's

evidence, the Trial Chamber was drawing conclusions on inconsistencies between Prosecution

witnesses. Recalling the Trial Chamber's discretion to evaluate any inconsistencies, to consider

whether the evidence taken as a whole is reliable and credible, and to accept or reject the

fundamental features of the evidence,557 the Appeals Chamber detects no error in the Trial

Chamber's assessment of the three Prosecution witnesses.

I93. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not err in the

overall assessment of Witnesses CNAY, CNAZ, and CNBH.

(iv) Conclusion

I94. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's reliance on Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH in respect of

the events at the Butare ftading centre on 12 April 1994.

(b) Alleged Enors in Assessing Defence Evidence

195. The Trial Chamber assessed the testimonies of Defence Witnesses T109, T110, and

Jean-Marie Vianney Mporanzi.s5s In relation to Witness Mporanzi, the Trial Chamber considered

his testimony on whether the meeting occurred to be of limited probative value.55e The Trial

Chamber recalled contradictions between his testimony and previous statements,s60 and found his

vague claim that Rwandan authorities pressured him to make his previous statements insufficient to

substantiate his assertion that his prior statements were fabricated.s6l Furthermore, it determined

that, even if fabricated, Witness Mporanzi's admission to providing false statements undermrned his

credibility.56' Th" Trial Chamber noted that Witnesses T109 and T110 acknowledged that

Nzabonimana came to the Butare trading centre, but denied that he made inflammatory remarks

about Tutsis or that anv Tutsis fled the tradine centre durine his address.563 Nzabonimana

5 5 6 - .  .  -  ,": Trial Judgement, para. 7 18.
"' See, e.g., Ndahimana Appeal. Judgement, para. 93; Hategekimana
Judsement. pua.'11.
s s r i  , .  , ^
"o Trial Judgement, paras. 683-708,719-734.

"t Trial Judgement, pwa.73l.
'uo Trial Judgement, para.732.
5 6 t  -  .  ,  .  ,'"' Trial Judgement, pan.733.
5 6 1 -  . -  ,'"' Trial Judgement, pua. 7 33.
'"' Trial Judgement, para.719.

Appeal Judgement, pwa. 82; Munyakazi Appeal
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challenges the Trial Chamber's assessment of

contradictions between Witnesses Tl09 and T110.s6s

Witness Mporanzi's credibility,soo nilffi/H

(i) Witness Mporanzi's Credibility

196. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously determined that

Witness Mporanzi's creclibility was undermined because he admitted to lying to the Prosecution.566

Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously stated that nothing suggested

Bourgmestre Charles Gahunde encouraged Witness Mporanzi to testify falsely.s6T He argues that no

trier of fact would have failed to note that the duress Witness Mporanzi faced "vitiated his liberty"

on whether to accuse Nzabonimana or not.'568 Nzabonimana adds that the Trial Chamber erred in

finding that the witness failed to adduce cvidence of duress.-56e He also maintains that the Trial

Chamber found that Witness Mporanzi was not arrested and suffbred no undue consequences as a

result of his decision to testify for the Defence, whereas Witness Mporanzi fled Rwanda in 2008 to

avoid suffering any undue consequences.sTO Nzabonimana further submits that, by only considering

Witness Mporanzi's admission to lying, the Trial Chamber failed to address evidence corroborating

the witness's testimony on a system of recruitment, and thus failed to provide a reasoned opinion.sTl

197. Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber simply examined contradictions between

Witness Mporanzi's testimony and the prior statements he refuted about events at the Butare trading

centre, and lailed to make findings based on the witness's freely stated facts during his trial

564 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras.4. 1.4(3),4. 1.5(6), 5.1 .2(2); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 136-143, 181,
184, 186, 187, 189, 190. Nzabonimana chal lenges the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness Mporanzi 's credibi l i ty in
relation to fabrication of evidence and the Butare trading centre under his Fourth and Fifth Grounds of Appeal. The
Appeals Chamber considers all contentions related to Witness Mporanzi together in this section.
'n'Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras.4. 1.5(2); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 149.
s6o Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 4. 1.4(3), 4. 1.5(6), 5.1 .2(2); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 137, 181
(French original).  See also AT.29 Apri l  2014 pp. 12, 13. Noting that none of Nzabonimana's al legations in relat ion to
his right to a fair trial, including the ones related to the assessment of fabrication of evidence, is developed in his
Appeal Brief, the Appeals Chamber considers that these have been withdrawn (.see Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal,
paras.4. l .4(5)-(8)).  The Appeals Chamber also observes that several arguments relat ing to fabrication ofevidence are
repeti t ive of those raised under Ground 3 (see Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 4.1.4(1),4.1.4(5),4.1.5(3)) and
h_ave been already assessed under Ground 3 of Nzabonimana's appeal (see supra, paras. 70, 

'71,72,78,79).

"" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 186.
568 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 186. Nzabonimana submits that Witness Mporanzi f'elt no "freedom" to refuse
Bourgmestre Charles Gahunde's request to testify against Nzabonimana, based on a prepared list of allegations, as a
refusal would be considered an act acainst the RPF. See ibid..  para. 185.
sn 'Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie f .  para . * l  84 .  re . le r r inN loTr ia l  Judgemenl ,  puas .  l l9 -135.  140.
" "  Nzabon imuna Appea l  Br ie f .  para .  187.
57r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 136-143. In particular, Nzabonimana submits that: (i) like Witness Mporanzi,
Witness CNBH confirmed that it was Bourgme.srre Gahunde who put them in touch with ICTR investigators, and that
refusing to make a statement against Nzabonimana was not possible; (ii) Prosecution Witness CNBA testified that it
was Witness CNBH who put him in touch with investigators from the Prosecution, thus confirming that Witness CNBH
participated in the recruitment of Prosecution witnesses and corroborating Witness Mporanzi's testimony regarding the
system of recruitment; and (iii) Witness T109 conoborated Witness Mporanzi in testifying that Witness CNBH
attempted to recruit him to give f'alse testimony against Nzabonimana. See ibid., paras. 140-142.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A

68

29 September 2014



testimony.572 Nzabonimana further submits that he was

and the Prosecution's obstruction as he was unable

confront Witness CNAZ.573

2167/H

prejudiced by the Trial Chamber's errors

to use Witness Mporanzi's testimony to

198. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana provides no argument as to why the Trial

Chamber was not entitled to disbelieve "a confessed liar".574It submits that Nzabonimana re-argues

the evidence and misstates Witness Mporanzi's testimony in relation to Bourgme.r/re Gahunde.sTs

While acknowledging Witness Mporanzi's flight from Rwanda, the Prosecution argues that

Nzabonimana ignores that several detained witnesses did not suffer consequences by testifying for

the Defence.ttu The Prosecution further responds that Nzabonimana's undeveloped claim, that it

prevented him from confronting Witness CNAZ, should be summarily dismissed as he fails to

address the Trial Chamber's central decision on this matter.577

199. Turning first to the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness Mporanzi's credibility in

relation to fabrication of evidence, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber exarnined

his testimony in detail when it considered allegations that Rwandan authorities were involved in

evidence fabrication.stt The Trial Chamber determined that Witness Mporanzi's vague claims did

not support the conclusion that Rwandan Government officials coerced him to make his 1998 and

2003 statements to Prosecution investigators.tte Th" Trial Chamber based. its determination on the

following considerations: (i) nothing in Witness Mporanzi's account of his interaction with

Gahunde suggested that Gahunde encouraged him to testify falsely;s80 (ii) Witness Mporanzi's

testimony that he could freely add and omit allegations against Nzabonimana undermined his

supposed belief that he was under threat to testify falsely;58r and (iii) the witness ultimately decided

not to testify for the Proseculion and instead testified for the Defence and, by his own admission, he

was not arrested and suffered no undue consequences as the result of his testimony.ss2 Given the

Trial Chamber's explicit consideration of the alleged duress and circumstances surrounding

5?2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 190.
"'Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 138. See also ibid., paras. 24, 189.
574 Prosecution Response Brief, para. I 19.
t'' Prosecution Response Brief, para. 167.
''o Prosecution Response Brief, para. 168, referring to Ti'al Judgement, paras. 1 89, 196,212,223.
577 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 120-124.
' 'o Trial Judgement, paras. 136-148.

"n Trial Judgement, para. 143.
5m Trial Judgement, para. 140. In this regard, the Trial Chamber considered Witness Mporanzi's testimony that he had
no choice but to testify against Nzabonimana, and yet admitted that Gahunde spoke to him gently. It considered that the
witness provided no evidence other than vague perceptions and fears that he would be imprisoned if he did not testify.
See idem.
t81 Trial Judgement, para. 141.
ttt Tria.l Judgement, pan. 142.
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Witness Mporanzi's false prior statements,s83 Lhe Appeals Chamber observes that frlffi/H

disagreeing with the Trial Chamber's assessment, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial

Chamber erred. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in this regard.

200. The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced that the Trial Chamber erred in stating that

Witness Mporanzi "provided no evidence" other than vague perceptions and fears that he would be

imprisoned if he dicl not testity.58a Read in context, the Trial Chamber was assessing Witness

Mporanzi's testimony on his fear of imprisonment should he not testily against Nzabonimana. As

for the witness's flight from Rwanda in 2008, thc Appeals Chamber is unable to see how this

argument undermines, or renders unreasonable, the Trial Chamber's finding that Witness Mporanzi,

by his own admission, was not arrested and suf'fered no undue consequences as a result of his

testimony lor Nzabonimana.5ss The Appeals Chamber therefore fin<is no error in the Trial Chamber

considering Witness Mporanzi's admission to providing false statements in its assessment of his

credibility.

201,. Considering the above, specifically the Trial Chamber's determination that the allegations of

coercion were unfounded, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber had no reason to

address whether other witnesses corroborated Witness Mporanzi's testimony on the system of

recruitment.ss6 Nzabonimana's argllments on the alleged failure to address evidence are accordingly

dismissed.

s83 Specifically, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered, inter ulia: (i) the list of
allegations against Nzabonimana; (ii) Gahunde questioning whether Witness Mporanzi supported the RPF, and the
witness's fear of answering "no"; (iii) Witness Mporanzi's fear of being imprisoned for not fabricating evidence against
Nzabonimana; (iv) Witness Mporanzi's interactions with Gahunde; (v) Witness Mporanzi's acknowledgement that in
2003 he fieely made additional allegations against Nzabonimana beyond those Gahunde told him (.see Witness
Mporanzi, T. 26 May 2010 pp. 35, 36); (vi) Witness Mporanzi received money for food and travel expenses, which did
not expect and received after his testimony; (vii) Witness Mporanzi made false accusations against Nzabonimana
because he thought it would be difficult for authorities to arrest Nzabonimana, who was hiding in the Congo (see
Witness Mporanzi, T.26 May 2010 p. 40); and (vi i i )  Witness Mporanzi left  Rwanda because his conscience troubled
him for imperilling Nzabonimana and wanted to make reparations fbr what he did (.see Witness Mporanzi,
T. 26 May 20 1 0 pp. 40, 41). See Trial Judgement, paras. 1 20- 1 35, 137 - 1 43, 1 46.
tt t  Trial Judgement, para. 140.
5'5 Trial Judgement, para. 142.
tt t ' In any event, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered Witness CNBH's test imony that
Bourgmestre Gahunde also contacted the Prosecution witness (Trial Judgement, paras. 108, 109, 136, fn. 209). The
Trial Chanrber determined that evidence of a witness's mere contact with Rwandan authorities does not lead to a
conclusion that the witness fabricated testimony against Nzabonimana (Trial Judgement, para. 136). The Appeals
Chamber detects no error in this determination. Additionally, the Appeals Chamber does not accept Nzabonimana's
argument that Witness CNBA's test imony that investigators sent Witness CNBH as a messenger (Witness CNBA,
T. 14 December 2009 pp. 49, 50 (closed session)) confirmed that Witness CNBH participated in recruitment or
corroborated Witness Mporanzi's testimony "regarding the system of recruitment" (Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,
para. l4l). Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber is unable to identify which specific aspect of Witness Mporanzi's
testimony is corroborated as Nzabonimana fails to provide any relevant transcript reference fiom Witness Mporanzi's
testimony on the recruitment system or on Witness CNBH's recruitment activities to falsely accuse Nzabonimana.
Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's argument that Witnesses CNBA and T109 corroborated
Witness Mporanzi in this regard.
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202. Tuming to the assessment of Witness Mporanzi's credibility in relation to the events at the

Butare trading centre, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber found that his testimony

in this respect was of limited probative value.587 The Trial Chamber considered that an impromptu

meeting could have occurred at the Butare trading centre without Witness Mporanzi's

knowledge.588 To reach this conclusion, the Trial Chamber noted Witness Mporanzi's testimony

that after 9 April 1994 he was concerned with refugees and other security matters.sse Therefore, the

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not simply consider his admission to lying, or

merely examined contradictions between prior statements he refuted and his testimony. The

Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Nzabonimana's contention that the Trial Chamber did not

enter findings on Witness Mporanzi's trial testimony.

203. As for the allegations of prejudice resulting. from his inability to cross-examine

Witness CNAZ with Witness Mporanzi's evidence, Nzabonimana merely mentions a Defence

objection prior to Witness CNAZ's cross-examination.5eo However, he fails to indicate any error in

the Trial Chamber rejecting the objection.5el Finally, Nzabonimana does not identify any error in

the decision nor does he indicate the Prosecution obstruction he is challenging. Also, it is entirely

unclear on what matter Nzabonimana wanted to confront Prosecution witnesses with Witness

Mporanzi's testimony. Given his unsubstantiated and vague claims, the Appeals Chamber dismisses

his argument.

204. In light of the above, the Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial

Chamber erred by failing to provide a reasoned opinion or in assessing Witness Mporanzi's

credibiliw in relation to fabrication of evidence and his testimonv on the Butare tradine centre.

(ii) Witnesses T109's and T110's Contradictions

205. Nzabonimana submits that, contrary to the Trial Chamber's finding, Witnesses T109 and

T110 did not contradict each other on why Nzabonimana's vehicle stopped at the Butare trading

t8t Trial Judgement, para.731.
ttt Trial Judgement, para.13I.
ttn Trial Judgement, para.137.
5e0 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 138, reJbrring to Witness CNM, T. 12 November 2009 pp. 8- 13.
sel The Appeals Chamber notes that on 12 Novemb er 2009, during Witness CNAZ' s testimony, the Defence brought an
oral motion seeking to postpone the cross-examination of this witness until it met with Witness Mporanzi. The Defence
argued that the Prosecution obstructed the meeting by failing to cooperate with the Defence and by maintaining the
witness on its list despite Witness Mporanzi's desire to not testify for the Prosecution. During these oral arguments, it
surfaced that the Defence, rather than the Prosecution, had knowledge of Witness Mporanzi's whereabouts. Having
heard the arguments, the Trial Chamber orally denied the Defence motion to postpone Witness CNAZ's testimony. ,See
Witness CNAZ, T. 12 November 2009 pp. 8-13. The Appeals Chamber detects no enor in the Trial Chamber's decision
as it considered that the Defence had sufficient information to cross-examine Witness CNAZ, and it left the option open
forNzabonimanatorecaTTWitnessCNAZ.SaeWitnessCNAZ,T. 12November2009p. 13.
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centre.se2 According to Nzabonimana, the fact that Witness T110 did not see NzaborfitfiM/H

relieving himself casts no doubt on the witness's testimony, and the Trial Chamber could not infer

that his testimony was contradictory.se3 Nzabonimana further claims that the Trial Chamber

erroneously found Witnesses Tl09's and Tl10's version of events suspect because of their

discrepancies and their attempt to present the meeting as an impromptu event.se4 Nzabonimana

argues that the Trial Chamber and the Prosecution agreed the meeting was impromptu and that

Witnesses Tl09 and Tl l0 should not have been "reproached".5es

206. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana ignores contradictions the Trial Chamber

identified in the evidence of Witnesses T109 and Tl l0.se6 Regarding the "impromptu" nature of the

meeting, the Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana ignores the real issue - namely that these

witnesses gave contradictory reasons why Nzabonimana stopped at the Butare trading centre in

order to avoid the conclusion that he stopped to give an inciting speech.5eT

207. In a statement of l3 January 2010, Witness Tl09 indicated that Nzabonimana exited and

stood beside his vehicle, and that his driver exited the vehicle to go to the toilet.ses Witness T109

made no modifications to these facts in his statement of 23 May 2010.-5ee During his testimony,

Witness T109 stated that Nzabonimana exited the vehicle to relieve himself in a banana plantation,

and that his driver went "to the gents".6t"'As for Witness T110, in a statement of 12 January 2010,

the witness said that Nzabonimana stopped at the Butare trading centre because Ruhunga had called

for him, "if not, he would perhaps have merely greeted us from his car and would have continued

on his way".ot" During his testimony, Witness T110 testified that Ruhunga went towards

Nzabonimana and spoke with him, and that Nzabonimana was always standing near his car.u"'

208. The Trial Chamber considered that both witnesses provided contradictory accounts as to

why Nzabonimana's vehicle stopped at the trading centre.603 The Appeals Chamber observes that

ser Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 149, re.f 'err ing toTrial Judgement, parrs.727,728.
'" '  Nzabonimana Appeal Brief.  para. 149.
sea Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 151, re.fbrring toTrial Judgement, para.129.
'" 'Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 151, ret ' 'err ing toTrtal Judgement, para.664. See also AT.29 Apri l  2014p.20.
se6 Prosecution Response Brief, pnra. 138.
5e7 Prosecution Response Brief', para. 140, relbrring toTrial Judgement, para.729.
se* Exhibit  P58 (Witness T109's Statement of l3 January 20lo),para. 12.
t" Exhibit  P59 (Witness Tl09's Starement of 23 May 2010).
o" "  Wi tne . .  T109,  T .2  June 2010 p .65  (c losed sess ion) ;  Wi tness  T109,  T .  3  June 2010 pp .26 ,21  (c losed sess ion) .
t"" Exhibit  P69 (Witness Tl l0's Statement of l2 January 2010), para. 14. See al.w AT.29 Apri l  2014 p. 19.
t" ' t  witness T110, l2 October 2010 p. 2l (closed session).
t"'t Trial Judgement, paras. 127,728. According to the Trial Judgement, Witness Tl09 stated that Nzabonimana went to
a banana plantation to relieve himself', while Witness T110 testified that Nzabonimana stood by his czr the whole time
he was at the trading centre. ,lee ibid., para. '727. 

The Trial Chamber further noted that in previous statements,
Witness Tl09 stated that Nzabonimana stood by his vehicle without mentioning the banana plantation, and the witness
explained that he intbrmed Defence investigators of this fact but it was not recorded. See ibid., para. 728. As for
Witness Tl10, the Trial Chamber noted that in a prior statement, he stated that Nzabonimana's vehicle stopped because
Ruhunga called for him. See ibid., para.728.
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the Trial Chamber found the discrepancies significant because the Prosecution presented evidence

that Nzabonimana deliberately drove to population centres, stopped his vehicle, and encouraged

Hutus to kill Tutsis.60a According to the Trial Chamber, "the Defence witnesses attempted to

portray Nzabonimana's stop at the Butare trading centre as impromptu and attempted to establish

that Nzabonimana stopped his vehicle at the trading centre for reasons other than to give an

inflammatory address".60s The Trial Chamber noted, however, that these witnesses provided

contradictory reasons for why he stopped, and considered that these contradictory accounts

"undermine the credibility of their counter-narrative regarding the reason Nzabonimana stopped at

the Butare trading centre".6o6

209. The Appeals Chamber finds it inconsequential whether the Trial Chamber erred in finding

that these witnesses provided contradictory reasons for why Nzabonimana stopped. What matters is

whether Nzabonimana made inflammatory statements about Tutsis. The Appeals Chamber further

recalls that, when faced with competing versions of the same event, it is the prerogative of the trier

of fact to decide which version it considers more credible.607 On this basis, the Trial Chamber had

reasonable basis to reject the Defence's version of events, which denied Nzabonimana making

inflammatory remarks about Tutsis, and accept the evidence of Prosecution Witnesses CNAZ and

CNBH, which it found consistent.

2I0. Finally, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber "agreed" that the

meeting at the Butare trading centre was "impromptu".608 The Appeals Chamber observes that, in

summarising the Prosecution's arguments, the Trial Chamber noted that "Nzabonimana held an

impromptu meeting".60e Hor"u"r, in the Trial Chamber's assessment, it considered that the

Prosecution presented evidence during trial that "Nzabonimana deliberately drove to population

centres in Gitarama prdfecture, stopped his vehicle and encouraged Hutus to kill Tutsis".610

6e Trial Judgement, pan.129
uot Trial Judgement, para.129.
o* Trial Judgement, para.129.
uo' See e.g., Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para. 46; Ntabakuze Appeal Judgement, fn. 523 RutaSanda Appeal
Judgement, pan. 29 ("Where testimonies are divergent, it is the duty of the [t]rial [c]hamber, which heard the
witnesses, to decide which evidence it deems to be more probative, and to choose which of the two divergent versions
of the same event it may admit".) (internal reference omitted).
608 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 151, referring toTial, Judgement, para.664.
uoe Trial Judgement, paru.664.
610 Trial Judgement, pua. 729. The Appeals Chamber also considers it inaccurate for Nzabonimana to say that the
Prosecution "agreed" the meeting was impromphr. .lee Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 151. The Appeals Chamber
considers that ttre Prosecution's use of "impromptu" in its Closing Brief was about how the meeting was held. See
Prosecution Closing Brief, para.212. However, the Trial Chamber's analysis at paragraph 729 of the Trial Judgement
relates to Prosecution evidence on the reasons for driving and stopping at different population centres in Gitarama to
encourage the killing ofTutsis.
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2II. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber linds that the Trial

contradictions between Witnesses T109 and T110 does not warrant

intervention.

(ii i) Conclusion

212. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed any eror in

would occasion a miscarriage of justice.

(c) Alleged Unequal Treatment of Testimonies

considers that Nzabonimana fails to

its assessment of Defence evidence that

Chamber' s assessrfrril ffi/H
the Appeals Chamber's

(i) Prosecution and Defence Witnesses

213. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber treated Prosecution and Defence witnesses

unequally by assessing contradictions, judicial rccords, the opinion of witnesses, and the plausibility

of testimonies in a radically different manner,ott Given the number and importance of

contradictions between Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH, Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber

should not have considered Witness T109 not credible because of a mistake in one aspect of his

testimony.6l2 According to Nzabonimana, the Trial Chamber also should not have found Witness

T1l0's testimony (stating that Witness CNAZ left at the same time or a little before Nzabonimana

made his statement) contradictory to his prior statement fiom January 2010 (indicating that

Witness CNAZ left some minutes befbre Nzabonimana).6r3 Nzabonimana also avers that the Trial

Chamber incorrectly reproached Witness T110 for his opinion on Witness CNAZ allegedly falling

into a ditch,6ra while it assessed dilferently the opinion of Prosecution witnesses.6rs

2I4. Nzabonimana I'urther submits that the Trial Chamber treated the issue of judicial records

differently between Det'ence Witnesses Tl09 and T110 and Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC.6r6 Nzabonimana submits that nothing in the judicial records of Witnesses Tl09 and Tl10

gave reasons to doubt their sincerity.ott He argues that the Trial Chamber erred by holding against

6rrNzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.4.1.5; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 145-148, 150, 152. See also
4T.29 Apr i l  2014 pp .  19-21 .

"rr Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 148, re.t'brring ro Trial Judgement, para.724.
613 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 146, re.t''errin11 to Trial Judgement, para.725. Nzabonimana notes the Trial
Chamber's f inding that Witness Tl l0's hesitat ion, in responding to why Witness CNAZ left  the scene, "may" indicate
that he was not credible in resoect of events to which he testitied. See idem.
t'rt Nzabonimana Appeal Brief. para. 147 (French original), re.t''erring to Trial Judgement, para. 726. See aLso
AT 29 Apr i l  2014 pp .  18 ,  19 .
n'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 147 (French original), re.fbrring to Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 220,221 .
616 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 145.
6r7 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 145.
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Witness T109 his false guilty plea,618 and against Witness T110 his admission to making a false

confession.6le Nzabonimana argues that there is overwhelrning evidence of pressure on prisoners to

plead guilty.620

2I5. Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber found the evidence of Witnesses T109

and T110 not plausible on the fact that Nzabonimana's escorts remained in the vehicle and left him

in the middle of the crowd.621 However, he argues that it accepted the testimony of Witnesses

CNAZ and CNBH that Nzabonimana ordered the same escorts to pursue Tutsis, leaving him amidst

people he threatened to kill.622 According to Nzabonimana, this Prosecution evidence, coupled with

the gendarmes' unlikely pursuit of Musabyimana in a vehicle, should have raised doubt or mistrust

in relation to accounts of Prosecution witnesses.u" He claims that the Trial Chamber described

discrepancies in Prosecution evidence as minor divergences and additional details,62a while it held

that differences between the testimonies of Witnesses T109 and T110 undermined their

credibility.62s

216. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably disbelieved Witnesses T109

and T110 for a "host of thoroughly explained reasons",u'u Th" Prosecution submits that:

(i) Nzabonimana fails to acknowledge the Trial Chamber's concern that Witnesses T109 and T110

changed their accounts to favour Nzabonimana;6'7 1ii; the Trial Chamber correctly considered that

Witness T110 asserted, without basis, that Witness CNAZ did not fall into a ditch;628

(iii)Nzabonimana ignores findings that Witnesses T109 and T110 did not suffer adverse

consequences for refusing to give certain testimony;62e and (iv) the Trial Chamber regarded

Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimonies with caution.630 Furthermore, the Prosecution

responds that, given Nzabonimana's position as a government minister, the Trial Chamber

reasonably found that the gendarmes would not have stayed in the car when Nzabonimana alighted

618 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 145, referring toTial Judgement, pan.120.
o'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 145, referring toTrial Judgement, para.72l. Nzabonimana notes that the Trial
Chamber acknowledged the absence of a nexus between the allegations related to Witness T110's confession and the
c^harges against Nzabonimana . See idem, refening to Trial Judgement, pan.722.
o'u Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 145.
o'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 150, referring toTial Judgement, pan.730. See also AT.29 Apnll 2014 p. 47 .
62: Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 150, referring to Tiral Judgement, para. 708. See also AT. 29 April 2014 p. 47 .
o" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 150, referring ro Trial Judgement, pan.67l
o'o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring toTriral Judgement, paras.7l0,7l1.
o" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 152, referring toTial Judgement, paras.724-729.
o'o Prosecution Response Brief, para. 729, referring toTial Judgement, paras. 719-730. See also AT.29 April 2014
pp.  42.43.
o" Prosecution Response Brief, para. 135, referring to T'"ial Judgement puas. 724,'725. See also AT. 29 Apil 2014
o .42 .
628 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 137 , referring to Tiral Judgement, pan.726.
o" Prosecutien Response Brief, para. 133.
o'"Prosecution Response Bnef,para.134, referring toTial Judgement, paras. 1142, 1210.
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and that they would have followed his orders to pursue fleeing Tutsis.63l The

the Trial Chamber treated Prosecution and Defence witnesses alike

contradictions between Witnesses T109 and T110 to be minor.632

Prosecution ud8 ftffillrl.
as it found certain

217 . With respect to the alleged unequal assessment of discrepancies, the Appeals Chamber notes

that, contrary to what Nzabonimana appears to submit,633 the Trial Chamber did not use a "mistake"

in one aspect of Witness T109's testimony to find his evidence incredible as a whole.63* The Trial

Chamber noted a "significant discrepancy" between Witness T109's testimony and prior statements

regarding Witness CNAZ,635 and considerecl this discrepancy to undermine Witness T109's

credibility "as to what happened to Witness CNAZ on the date of Nzabonimana's address at the

Butare trading centre".636 The Appeals Chamber detects no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment

of the discrepancy and observes that the Trial Chamber reached its conclusion on the credibility of

Witness T109's testimonv based on several thctors.637

218. As for Witness T110, the Trial Chamber observed that he provided contradictory accounts

of Witness CNAZ's actions after Nzabonimana's speech.638 The Trial Chamber noted that,

according to Witness T110's 12 January 2010 statement, Witness CNAZ left a few minutes before

Nzabonimana and was not pursued; however, in his testimony at trial, the witness stated that

Witness CNAZ left at the same time or very shortly befbre Nzabonimana.ote In the Appeals

Chamber's view, there is no contradiction between 'oa few minutes befbre" and "very shortly

befbre". Also, a review of his testimony at trial reveals that Witness T1l0 did not provide any

information that would contradict his prior statement that Witness CNAZ was not pursued as

Witness Tl10 stated that "when he left, he had no problem".640 The Appeals Chamber thus finds

that no reasonable trier of fact could conclude that a contradiction existed between Witness Tl10's

prior statement and testimony on when Witness CNAZ left the Butare trading centre. The Trial

63r Prosecution Response Brief ' .  oara. 139.
63r Prosecution Response Brief, para. l4l . re.ferring toTrialJudgement, para.123. See also AT.29 Aprrl 2014p.42.
633 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 148.
63a .See Trial Judgement, para.124.
n" Trial Judgement. para.724.
n'n Triaf judgement, para.724. Specif ical ly, the Trial Chamber observed that: ( i)  in Witness T109's test imony,
Witness CNAZ and other Tutsis remained at the centre throughout Nzabonimana's speech; ( i i )  in his l3 Januery 2010
statement, Witness CNAZ left the trading centre without explanation and that the departure did not provoke a reaction
or response fiom anyone; and (iii) in his 23 May 2010 statement, Witness CNAZ did not leave the trading centre before
Nzabonimana. See iclem, re.f 'err ing /o Witness T109, T.2 June 2010 p.7G72 (closed session); Exhibit  P58
(Witness T109's Statement of 13 January 2010), para. 17; Exhibit  P59 (Witness T109's Statement of 23 May 2010).
637 See Trial Judgement, paras. 720, 724,730.
t'tt Trial Judgement, para.725.
6re Trial Judgement, para.725, re.fbrr ing rr.r Exhibit  P69 (Witness T110's Statement of 12 January 2010), para. 16;
Witness T110, T. 13 October 2010 pp. 11, 14 (closed session). The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana
inaccurately states the finding of the Trial Chamber recalling Witness T110's testimony that Witness CNAZ left at the
same time or very shortly before Nzabonimana left, as opposed to at the same time or little before Nzabonimana made
his statement. See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 146.
o ' "  Wi tness  T110,  T .  13  October  2010 pp .  I  l ,  14  (c losed sess ion) .
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Chamber accordingly erred in finding a contradiction. However, the Appeals Chamber is not

convinced that this error occasioned a miscarriage of justice. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the

Trial Chamber rejected Witness T110's evidence on several bases, including his criminal history

and the retraction of his sworn confession.6al

219. Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness T110,

regarding what happened to Witness CNAZ after he left the meeting, warranted similar treatment to

Prosecution witnesses on other events.642 According to the Trial Chamber, Witness T110 admitted

that he did not know what happened to Witness CNAZ after the latter left the meeting, yet he later

denied that Witness CNAZ fell into a ditch.6a3 On this basis, the Trial Chamber doubted Witness

T110's testimony regarding what happened to Witness CNAZ after he fled the meeting.6a Contrary

to what Nzabonimana claims, the Trial Chamber did not reproach the witness for having expressed

an opinion but considered that his "willingness to deny material facts of which he admittedly had no

knowledge" undermined his credibility.6a5 Keeping in mind that trial chambers are best placed to

assess the evidence, including the demeanour of witnesses,646 the Appeals Chamber finds that

Nzabonimana has not demonstrated that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of

Witness T110's testimony compared to Prosecution witnesses.

220. As to the Trial Chamber's treatment of the judicial records, the Appeals Chamber is not

convinced that the Trial Chamber erred in applying caution to the testimonies of Witnesses T109

and T110 as a result of their convictions and Witness T110's retraction of his sworn confession.6aT

Furthermore, independent of the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, to

which the Trial Chamber applied caution,648 the Trial Chamber had enough information in the

*l friA Judgement, pans.121,722.
*' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 147 (French original), referring to Tnal Judgement, para. 726. The Appeals
Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's submission on Witness T110's hesitation as he does not substantiate any error
nor demonstrate why the Trial Chamber was not allowed to make an additional observation on Witness T110's
d.gmeanor. See ibid., para. 146; Trial Judgement, para.725.
oo' Trial Judgement, para. 726.
@ Trial Judsement. oara.'726.
*t Trial Judlement, para.726.
*u Sre, e.g., Kanyaruklga Appeal Judgement, para. 121; Simba Appea| Judgement, para.9; Ntagerura et al. Appeal
Judsement. paras. 12. 213.
*t iriut Judgement, puas. 120-722. In assessing the credibility of Witness T109 the Trial Chamber noted that the
witness was not directly implicated in any criminal activity with regard to the event at the Butare trading centre.
However, it treated his testimony with appropriate caution for his participation in crimes committed in Gitarama
prdfecture for which he was convicted in absentia. See ibid., para.120. The Trial Chamber considered Witness Tl l0's
admission to fabricating confession to secure release from prison, and observed that his retraction of a sworn confession
was a serious matter that raised questions regarding credibility. It also noted the witness's 1 1-year prison sentence in
Rwanda. According to the Trial Chamber, Witness T110 was not directly implicated in any criminal activity with
regard to the present allegation; however, due to his conviction and sentence, it treated his testimony with appropriate
caution. See ibil., paras. 721, 722.
e8 S ee Tna) Judgement, parus. 1 064, 1 1 42, 1210, 1 480.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A 29 September 2014
e:"^\.



judicial records of Witnesses T109 and T110 to apply caution to their testimonies.

Nzabonimana's argument of unequal treatment fails.

Accorfifi$$/lJ

221. Concerning the conduct of gendarmes, the Trial Chamber did not find it plausible, according

to the evidence of Witnesses T109 and T110, that Nzabonimana's escorts remained in the car while

he left the vehicle.6ae The Trial Chamber reasoned that, given the President's death less than a week

prior to the meeting, it did not believe that Nzabonimana's security would allow a government

minister to walk unescorted in a crowcl.6s0 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that this was an

assessment that no reasonable trier of fact could make. Furthermore, based on the evidence of

Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH, the Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana told gendarmes and the

population to pursue Witness CNAZ and another Tutsi.6sr The Appeals Chamber considers that

Nzabonimana merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's assessment and fails to demonstrate how

the Trial Chamber erred. The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments,

222. Finally, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber treated Defence and

Prosecution witnesses unequally in its assessment of contradictions. The Appeals Chamber recalls

that an enor, if any, made in the assessment of Defence evidence is distinguishable from the issue

of uncqual assessment of Prosecution and Defence evidence. In this regard, the Appeals Chamber

notes that the Trial Chamber considered the evidence of Prosecution Witness CNAZ incredible on

several details that he exaggerated,652 and it rejected Prosecution Witness CNAY's evidence on the

entire allegation since his account varied widely ftom other testimonies.6s3 Nzabonimana fails to

acknowledge that the Trial Chamber also found some inconsistencies in the accounts of Witnesses

Tl09 and T110 to be minor.65a Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial

Chamber did not treat Defence witnesses unequally compared to Prosecution witnesses.

(ii) Prosecution Witnesses

223. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber applied a different standard when it found the

silence of Prosecution Witnesses CNBA, CNBT, CNAK, and CNAQ during Gacaca proceedings to

undermine their credibility, while it was satisfied with Witness CNAZ's explanation of why he did

not testify against Nzabonimana in Gacaca proceedings.6ss

uoo Trial Judgement, para. 730. See ulso Trial Judgement, paras. 686,693.
6so Trial Judgement, para.730.
t"' Trial Judgement, paras. 708, 734.
utt Trial Judgement, paras. 1 1 1, 7 12.
utt Trial Judgement, para. 718.
o5' Trial Judgement, para. 7 23.
n" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 144, re.fbrring toTial Judgement, pruas.713, 1038, 1421, 1686.
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224. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber evaluated the totality of evidence,

considered many factors, and weighed individual reasons why witnesses did not mention

Nzabonimana.656 According to the Prosecution, Nzabonimana ignores that, in contrast to all other

witnesses he mentions, Witness CNAZ did not testify in Gacaca proceedings.65T

225. The Trial Chamber found that the fact that Witness CNAZ did not accuse Nzabonimana

prior to giving his statement in 2008 did not impact his credibility.658 The Trial Chamber accepted

the witness's explanation that he first spoke to Prosecution investigators in 2008 and that he was

never prosecuted for not appearing before a Gacaca court.65e In contrast, the Trial Chamber

considered that Witnesses CNBA, CNBT, CNAK, and CNAQ, who previously testified before

Gacaca proceedings, omitted to raise allegations related to Nzabonimana and that this undermined

their credibility.660 The Appeals Chamber therefore notes that the Trial Chamber had no

information before it that Witness CNAZ testified before Gacaca proceedings, while it had such

information for the other witnesses. Given the different circumstances between Witness CNAZ and

Witnesses CNBA, CNBT, CNAK, and CNAQ, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber erred in reaching different conclusions on their credibility.

(d) Conclusion

226. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber committed any error in its assessment of evidence under his

Fourth and Fifth, in part, Grounds of Appeal that would occasion a miscarriage of justice.

3. Direct and Public lncitement to Commit Genocide

227. In relation to the Butare trading centre, the Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana gave a

speech: (i) with explicit instructions to kill Tutsis, and thus constituted a direct call on those

assembled to commit genocide; (ii) in a public location to 20 members of the general population;

and (iii) with the requisite intent.661

228. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law and in fact in characterising the

incitement as direct and public.662 Nzabonimana submits that the facts as found by the Trial

Chamber do not constitute direct and public incitement, as defined by the Appeals Chamber's

utu Prosecution Response Brief. para. 128.
65t Prosecution Response Brief, para. 128. referring toTial,Judgement, para.113.
o'o Trial Judgement, para.713.
ute Trial Judgement, pua.713. See also Witness CNM, T. 12 November 2009 pp. 19-21 (closed session).
uuo Trial Judgement, paras. 1038, 1421,1686.
uu' Trial Judgement, paras. 1759-1?61.
oo' Nzabonimana Notice of Appea.l, para. 4,2: Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 153-162.
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jnrisprudence.663 Rather, the facts constituted an improvised meeting with a very limited nu@ffi/H

persons.ooo In particular, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in characterising the

incitement as public because he was found to address a limited group of about 20 people, who were

gathered to share a drink, and therefbre tantamount to a private conversation.66s Nzabonimana

argues that the persons were gathered in an "ambiguous manner" and that the veranda of a drinking

place necessarily limited the number of individuals who could meet there.666 Nzabonimana further

argues that the Trial Chamber fails to specify the nature and the size of the audience, and that the

number of persons present is an indispensable factor that should be considered when assessing the

public character of the incitement.66T

229. Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously found the incitement to be

direct because it failed to specify whether it relied on Witness CNAZ's or Witness CNBH's account

of Nzabonimana's words, rendering the evaluation of the direct effect of the words impossible.66s In

addition, Nzabonimana concedes that incitement does not require proof of a causal relationship

between the acts of the accused and the genocide.66' Howeve., pointing to the Nahimana et al. Trial

Judgement, he argues that it must be established that the accused's actions "were likely to cause the

commission of the crime of senocide" and that this was not done in the present case.ott'

230. The Prosecution responds that the incitement was public because it happened at the Butare

trading centre, a public space with drinking establishments and shops.67r It submits that, while the

size of the audience can be relevant to determine the public character of the incitement, the public

nature of Nzabonimana's incitement was already proven by the public space where he spoke.672 The

Prosecution further responds that the incitement was direct because, as the Trial Chamber found,

evidence demonstrated that Nzabonimana told the audience to kill Tutsis and two Tutsis fled as a

663 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 153, re.f'erring to Kulimanz,ira Appeat Judgement, paras. l5t-165.
664 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 162. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in law by assessing the
public and direct nature of the incitement on the basis of unrel iable evidence. See ibid.,  para. 155. Nzabonimana's
challenges to the assessment of evidence have been examined in the previous section.
n"' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 157.
666 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 157. Nzabonimana also points to the fact that he was able to offer alcohol to the
whole crowd and to the absence of strangers during his speech. See idem.
on7 

Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie t ' .  paras .  155.  156.
'-'-^ Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 158, 159. Nzabonimana recalls that, according to the jurisprudence, it has to be
more than "a mere vague or indirect suggestion", and that the culture and context need to be taken into account. ,See
ibid., pras.84, 159, fn. 2'/2, re.f'erring tu Nahimuna et ul. Appeal Judgement, paras. 686, 692, 694-'702.
r"'e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 160.
67') Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 160, re.ferring to Nahimana et al. Trial Judgement, para. 1015. Nzabonimana
points to several facts, namely that he shared drinks with all the Tutsis who were present, that they came from the same
locality, that no one in the audience denounced any Tutsi, that the audience did not agree with what Nzabonimana was
saying and that the persons who were al legedly pursuing Witness CNAZ had no intention of ki l l ing him, and that there
were no attacks fol lowing Nzabonimana's visi t .  See ibid.,  para. l6l .
o" Prosecution Response Brief, para. 143. The Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana made his speech "to a number of
individuals in a public space", as required under the law. See ibid., para. 77, referring to Akayesu Trial Judgement,
prrras. 556. 6'74 and Akutesu Appeal Judgement, p. 143.
o'- Prosecution Resoonse Brief,  para. 143.
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result.673 Finally, the Prosecution argues that the Nahimana et al. Tt'ral Chamber explained that

direct incitement had the potential to result in genocide but did not stipulate this as an additional

element of this crime.6ta

231. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a person may be found guilty of direct and public

incitement to commit genocide, pursuant to Article 2(3Xc) of the Statute, if he or she directly and

publicly incited the commission of genocide (actus reus) and had the intent to directly and publicly

incite others to commit genocide (mens rea).67s The Appeals Chamber recalls that when assessing

the "public" element of the incitement, factors such as the place where the incitement occurred and

whether the attendance was selected or limited can be taken into account.676 It also recalls that the

number of persons present is not an essential factor in this assessment.6tt The Appeals Chamber

considers that, though not required, the number of persons and the medium through which the

message is conveyed may be relevant in assessing whether the attendance was selected or limited,

thereby determining whether or not the recipient of the message was the general public.678

232. The Appeals Chamber observes the Trial Chamber's consideration that: (i) the audience

consisted of approximately 20 members of the general population, including Tutsis, who happened

to be present in the area at the time; and (ii) the incitement occurred in an undeniably public

location.6Te Therefore, the Appeals Chamber is satisfied that the Trial Chamber, in assessing the

public character of the incitement, properly considered the public location of the utterances and

whether the audience was selected or limited. The Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's

argument that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to specify the size of the audience. While not

determining the exact number of the persons present in the crowd, the Trial Chamber nevertheless

determined the approximate number.680 ln this regard, the Appeals Chamber considers that it is not

required for a trial chamber to determine the exact number of people present. Given the foregoing,

the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to demonstrate an error in the Trial

Chamber's finding of the public element of the incitement and therefore dismisses his argument that

the incriminatins messase was tantamount to a private conversation.

673 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 144.
674 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 145.
u.'-t src supro, para. 121.
o'o See supra, pua. 121 .
u" sr, ,rpro, para.126.
u" C7. Muvunyi /Trial Judgement, para. 503; Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 556.
67e Tial Judgement, para. 1160. See also Trial Judgement, paras.703,705. Withrespect to Nzabonimana's argument
that that the veranda of a drinking place would necessarily limit the number of individuals who could meet there, the
Appeals Chamber is of the view that he does not demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of the
oublic element.
680 Trial Judgement, paras. 703, 705,1760.
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233. Turning to Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber erred in finding the inci@.ffi/H

to be direct, the Appeals Chamber recalls that direct and public incitement implies that the speech is

a direct appeal to commit any act ref'erred to in Article 2(2) of the Statute and requires more than a

vague or indirect suggestion.6'' The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that

Nzabonimana's speech "included explicit instructions to kill Tutsis" and thus constituted "an

incontestably direct call on those assembled to commit genocide".682 In coming to this conclusion,

the Trial Chamber noted that Witnesses CNAZ and CNBH provided different versions of

Nzabonimana's words.683 It considerecl the differences to be minor and attributed them to the

passage of time.68a The Appeals Chamber frnds this assessment reasonable. The Appeals Chamber

is also not persuaded that these minor inconsistencies impact the Trial Chamber's finding that,

according to both witnesses, Nzabonimana made inflammatory statements about the Tutsis and

asked whether there were any Tutsis in the crowd.68s Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber is not

persuaded that the Trial Chamber erred in finding the incitement to be direct.

234. As for Nzabonimana's contention regarding the likelihood of his actions causing the crime

of genocide,686 the Appeals Chamber recalls that direct and public incitement is an inchoate crime

and that it is punishable even if no act of genocicle has resulted therefrom.6*t In light of this, the

actus reus of direct and public incitement is satisfied when a person directly and publicly incites the

commission of genocide, irrespective of whether his or her acts were likely to cause the crime of

genocide.688 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's contention that, to establish

direct and public incitement to commit genocide, it must be proven that the accused's actions were

Iikely to cause the commission of the crime of genocide.

235. Based on the fbregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in characterising the incitement as "direct and public" and

68t See Nuhimarut et al. Appeal Judgement, pua. 692, ref'erring to, inter alia, Kajelijeli Trial Judgement, para. 852;
Akayesu Trial Judgement, para. 557.
utt Triol Judgement, para. 1759.

"" Trial Judgement, pzra. ?10, fn.910. Witness CNBH, T.3 December 2009 p.22 (closed session) ("[Nzabonimana]

told us that the fighting was intense at the front [...] that the way to bring an end to the war with the Tutsis was by

el iminating al l  the Tutsis [ . . . ]");  Witness CNAZ, T. l2 November 20()9 p. 4 ("[Nzabonimana] told us at the t ime that he

had just launched the ki l l ings, the work in Nyabikenke comntltne, [ . . . ]  since, the ki l l ings have already begun in

Nyabikenke, they should also begin in Rutobwe commune" [. . . ]) .  See alsoTrial Judgement, fn.9l0.
o'o Trial Judgement, para.7l0.
o*' Trial Juclgement, para. 708. The Trial Chamber found that "Witnesses CNBH and CNAZ provided consistent
evidence that Nzabonimana made inflammatory comments about Tutsis after he stopped at the trading centre",
"Nzabonimana asked whether there were any Tutsis in the crowd", they "corroborated each other's testimony that
Witness CNAZ fled the trading centre as a result of Nzabonimana's speech and that Nzabonimana instructed others to
oursue him". See idem.
686 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 160, re.f'erring to Nahinwna et al.Trial Judgement, para. 1015.
on Nohi*oro Appeal Judgement, para.678.
688 See Nuhimuna Appeal Judgement, para.678.
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accordingly dismisses his arguments in relation to direct and public incitement to commit genocide

under his Fourth Ground of Appeal.

1. Conclusion

236. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's Fourth and Fifth, in part,

Grounds of Appeal.
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E. Alleged Errors Relating to Murambi (Ground 5, in part) 2152/H

231. Thc Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of direct and public incitement to commit

genocide based, in part, on his speech at the Murambi training centre on l8 April 1994 (Count 3).0*'

The Trial Chamber found that, on 18 April 1994, the Prime Minister of Rwanda Jean Kambanda

and other members of the Interim Government, including Nzabonimana held a meeting for the

bourgmestres of Gitarama prdfecturr.oe" Il found that during the meeting Nzabonimana ordered the

kill ings of bourgmestres andother local otficials opposed to the massacre of Tutsis.6er

238. The Trial Chamber also convicted Nzabonimana of conspiracy to commit genocide in

relation to, inter alia, an agreement with the Prime Minister and other Ministers of the Interim

Government to encourage the destruction of the Tutsi population, as such, in Gitarama prdfecture

(Count 21Ie2\tfound that the agreement materialised on l8 April 1994 atthe Murambi meeting.6e3

239. The Trial Chamber did not find Nzabonimana guilty of genocide with respect to his conduct

at the meeting but lbund that it provided circumstantial evidence of his intent to destroy, in whole

or in substantial part, the Tutsi ethnic group, as such.oeo

240. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in convicting him of

direct and public incitement and of conspiracy to commit genocide in connection with the event at

Murambi on 18 April 1994 and in considering this event as circumstantial evidence of his genocidal

intent.6es In this section, the Appeals Chamber considers Nzabonimana's arguments in relation to:

(i) notice; (ii) the assessment of evidence; (ii i) direct and public incitement; and (iv) conspiracy.

l .  Not ice

241. Nzabonimana submits that he lacked notice of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide

and that he was convicted beyond the scope of the Indictment for the crime of direct and public

incitement to commit senocide.6e6

o" Trial Judgement, paras. 1773, 1775, 1800.
t 'et 'Trial Judgement, para. I  158. See ulso ibid.,para. 1769.
oe' Trial Judgement, para. 1179. See also ihid., para. 1769.
u" Trial Judgement, paras. 1147,1749, 1800. The Trial Chamber also entered a conviction for conspiracy to commit
genocide in relation to an agreement with Jean-Damascene Ukirikyeyezu in May 1994 to encourage the killing of
members of the Tutsi population in Tambwe commLtne. See ibid., paras. 1148, 1149.
h q l -  , ,  ," " 'Tr ia l  Judgement,  para.  1147.
oeo Triaf Judgement, pua. 1726.
6es Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pnras. 5.1-5.6; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 170-180, 182, 183, 185, 188, l9l-
301  .
6eo Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras.5.3.l,5.5.l; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 242-252,258-212. See also
Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 57-64; AT. 29 April 2014 pp. 14-11 . Nzabonimana also argues that the Prosecution
dropped six out of l8 paragraphs on the charge of conspiracy a few days before filing its Closing Brief and that the
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(a) Crime of Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

242. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding him guilty of entering into an

agreement with the Ministers of the Interim Government to destroy Rwanda's Tutsi population

because he had not been given notice of this allegation, he did not present a related defence, and the

defect was not cured.6e7 In particular, Nzabonimana submits that paragraph 59 of the Indictment is

vague and imprecise as it did not inform him of the charges of participating in a conspiracy.unt H"

claims that paragraph 59 of the Indictment fails to state specifically the circumstances under which

the conspiracy materialised, refers to an extremely broad time period, and contains not iess than

nine categories of people or entities with whom he allegedly entered into an agreement.6ee

Nzabonimana maintains that the Trial Chamber could not have satisfied itself that paragraphs

pleaded in support of paragraph 59 of the Indictment contained the names of individuals with whom

he allegedly conspired, and it could not find that he was provided with specific, comprehensive, and

detailed information on the conspiracy described in paragraph 59 of the Indictment.To0

Nzabonimana further contends that the circumstances of the conspiracy were only pleaded in the

Prosecution Closing Brief and that the Trial Chamber reconstructed a posteriori the material

circumstances of a conspiracy that began with the Murambi meeting, and continued with the

Musambira and Nyakabanda events.7ol

243. Nzabonimana submits that paragraph 26 of the Indictment, concerning the Murambi

meeting, provided him with neither clear and consistent notice of the actus reus of conspiracy nor

the circumstantial evidence from which the conspiracy was to be inferre d.702 He argues that notice

of a meeting is insufficient to give notice of the charge of the crime of conspiracy if the material

fact underpinning the crime is not pleaded.7O3 Furthermore, he submits that paragraph 26 of the

Indictment, considered separately or together with paragraphs 48, 54,59, and 60 of the Indicftnent,

describes individual conduct of issuing an order, not a concerted agreement between several

Trial Chamber erred in failing to acknowledge the prejudice from the inflation of the Indictrnent. See Notice of Appeal,
para.5.5.1(10),(11). Since the arguments are not developed in his Appeal Briel the Appeals Chamber considers that
Nzabonimana has withdrawn them.
6e7 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 5.5. 1(4); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 258-267 .
6e8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 259. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 62, 63.
6ee Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 259.
7m Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 260.
70r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 262-264. Nzabonimana notes that the only submissions to which the Trial
Judgement refers in this regard are the Prosecution Closing Brief and "three lines of rhetoric from the Prosecution
Opening Statement". See ibid., para. 261. Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber "did not hesitate to revive
conspiracies alleged under paragraph 59 to make up for the Prosecution's inarticulate and non-existent case". See ibid.,
paru. 260 where Nzabonimana refers in a footnote to the "conspiracy with government ministers in Murambi" and the
"conspiracy with tlkirikyeyezu in Tambwe".
to' Nzubonimana Appeai nti.f, p".u. 265. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 64.
703 Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , pan.265.
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persons to commit genocide.Toa Nzabonimana contends that the Trial Chamber "r"*to?@/H

Prosecution's case when it found that he issued threats with the ministers present.Tt's He submits

that, even if the Appeals Chamber were to find that the conduct alleged under paragraph 26 of the

Indictment could include threats, he was nevertheless not provided with specific notice that such

threats were part of the actus reus of paragraph 59 of the Indictment.To6

244. Nzabonimana further submits that he was not provided notice of the Musambira and

Nyakabancla "meetingstt.ToT 11" argues that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that paragraph 48 of

the Indictment had provided clear and consistent notice of the allegations concerning Musambira.708

Regarding Nyakabanda, Nzabonimana submits that paragraph 54 of the Indictment did not provide

notice as to the nature of his alleged conduct in respect of the crime of conspiracy to commit

genocide.Toe

245. Nzabonimana also submits that he sulfered prejudice, which the Trial Chamber did not

mention in its assessment of paragraph 59 of the Indictment.Tl(' He further argues that the Trial

Chamber convicted him of conspiracy to commit genocide, which it inferred from "piecing

togcther" circumstantial evidence that was not pleaded by the Prosecution, and that he was not able

to def'end himself.TrrHe concludes that the identified erors, combined with the multitude of

charges brought under the count of conspiracy, impaired his reading of the Indictment with respect

to the count of conspiracy and his ability to effcctively prepare his defence.7l2

246. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber found exactly what the Prosecution

pleaded.Tr3 It submits that: (i) paragraph 59 of the Indictment pleaded that Nzabonimana and others

conspired to kill Tutsis and that members of the conspiracy included Interim Government Ministers

and others;7to 1ii; paragraphs 60 and26 of the Indictment pleaded that the conspiracy occurred at

Murambi on or about 18 April 1994;1ts and (iii) the Trial Chamber found that an agreement with the

intent to destroy Rwanda's Tutsi population in whole or in part materialised on 18 April 1994

7'* Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 244,245,266. See a/so Nzabonimana Reply Brief,  paras.57,64.
705 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para.267 .
?(b Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para. 267 .
707 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 268. See a/sr.r NzabonimanaReply Brief, para.64.
708 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 269,2'70. Nzabonimana submits that paragraph 48 of the lndictment fails to plead

any actus reus for conspiracy and that, in any event, the Trial Chamber should have set aside this paragraph with

Iglpect to the count of conspiracy in view of its vagueness. See itlem.
"o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para.211. See a/.so NzabonimanaReply Brief,  para.64.
7r0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para.264.
7rr Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 264.
"' Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para. 272.
?r3 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 156. See ulxt AT.29 Apri l  2014 p. 41.
7ra Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 155.

" 'Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 155.
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between Nzabonimana, the Prime Minister, and other Interim Government Ministers.ttu Th"

Prosecution also submits that Nzabonimana's words in Musambira, pleaded in paragraphs 60 and

48 of the Indictment, and his presence at Kambanda's weapons distribution in Nyakabanda, pleaded

in paragraphs 60 and 54 of the Indictment, further proved the agreement and Nzabonimana's

adherence to it.717

247. The Prosecution further responds that, regarding the date pleaded in paragraph 48 of the

Indictment, Nzabonimana merely repeats arguments rejected at tria1.7l8 Finally, the Prosecution

submits that it is irrelevant whether the removal of certain local authorities was sufficiently pleaded

because Nzabonimana was not convicted on this basis.71e

248. Nzabonimana replies that if the concise statement of facts does not specify the agreement on

which the conspiracy is based, the Prosecutor cannot invoke the general allegations of the

"chapeau" paragraph on the count of conspiracy to submit that the said agreement was p1eaded.720

He argues that paragraphs 26, 48, or 54 of the Indictment, regarding Murambi, Musambira, or

Nyakabanda, respectively, did not provide notice of any agreement.T" Given that paragraph 59 of

the Indictment, even in conjunction with paragraphs 26, 48, and 54 of the Indictment, was

insufficient to notify him of material facts of the conspiracy, Nzabonimana submits that he was not

provided notice of the actus reus ofthe crime a1leged.722

249. Paragraphs 59 and 60 of the Indictment read:

CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT GENOCIDE as set out in articles 2(3)(b) and 2(2)(a) and (b) of

the Statute of the Tribunal in that during the period between I January 1994 and 31 July 1994'

Callixte NZABONIMANA with other persons, including but not limited to Ministers, including
those of the Interim Government of 9 April 1994, the leadership of Rwandan Armed Forces
(FAR), Gendarmerie, Presidential Guard, the political leaders of the MRND, the MRD-Hutu
Power faction, the PL-Hutu Power faction, other Hutu-Power factions of opposition parties, and

various local administration officials, conspired to kill or cause serious bodily and mental harm to
members of the Tutsi population, with the intent to destroy in whole or in part, a racial or ethnical

$oup.

The Prosecutor hereby reiterates and incorporates by reference to PARAGRAPHS 17' 21,25, 26,

2gr 43-45, 48, 49r 51-58 as concise statements of facts to support the charges under this specific
count.

250. Paragraph 26 of the Indictment reads:

716 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 156.
717 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 156.
718 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 157.
71e Prosecution Response Brief, para. 157.
720 Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 63.
721 Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 64.
722 Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 64.
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On or about l8 April 1994, at Muramhi Truding Centre, Callixte NZABONIMANA togethe, 2748/H
with the Prime Minister, and other members of the Interim Government, including Prosper

MUGIRANEZA, T82, T83, held a meeting with the Bourgmestres of the communes in Gituranu
prefecture. Callixte NZABONIMANA ordered the killing of Bourgmestres and other local

officials opposed to the killings. Soon after the meeting, the Brrurg,mestre of Mugina commune,
Callixte NDAGIJIMANA, and lwo conseiller,s from Nyamabuye commune namely Bernard

TWAGIRAMIJKIZA, conseiller of Ruli and Martin GASIGWA, conseiller of Musiba, were killed

by persons including Hutu civilians and Interuhamwe.

25I. Paragraph 48 of the Indictment reads:

In May 1994, Callixte NZABONIMANA was present at the reinstatement ceremony of the

Bourgmestre [slc] of Musamhira in Musambira Commune, Gitarama prefecture. During the

ceremony, Callixte NZABONIMANA accused the Bourgmestres fsicf of not being supportive of

the killings of Tutsi, and warned them that they could be replaced by Interahamwe.The Accused

refused to denounce the killings of Tutsi. Soon afterwards, the hourgmestre of Masango, the pre.fbt

and other local authorities were removed.

252. Paragraph 54 of the Indictment reads:

In May 1994, Catlixte NZABONIMANA and Prime Minister Jean KAMBANDA launched the
Ndiz,a battalion at Kibangu secteur, Nyakubanrla Commune, where they distributed weapons and

told the gathering that the purpose of the weapons were [slc] to fight the enemy who was the Tutsi.

253. The Trial Chamber found Nzabonimana guilty of conspiracy to commit genocide in relation

to an agreement that materialised on 18 April 1994.723 The Trial Chamber also considered that the

conduct of Nzabonimana and Kambanda, after the 18 April 1994 meeting, reinforced the conclusion

that Nzabonimana, other ministers, and the Prime Minister entered into an agreement to encourage

the destruction of the Tutsi population.T2o This conduct consisted of Nzabonimana's presence when

Kambanda distributed weapons in Nyakabanda commune and Nzabonimana's words at a

reinstatement ceremony in Musambi ta commune.l25

254. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Prosecution is required to state the charges and the

material facts underpinning those charges in the indictment with sufficient precision, but not the

evidence by which such facts are to be proven.T2o An indictment which fails to set forth material

facts in suflcient detail is defective.727 In determining whether an accused was adequately put on

notice of the nature and cause of the charges against him, the indictment must be considered as a

whole.728 The Appeals Chamber recalls that a clear distinction has to be drawn between vagueness

in an indictment and an indictment omitting certain charges altogether.T" While it is possible to

ttt Trial Juclgement, paras. 17 47 , 1749, 1 8(n.
tto Triaf Judgement, para. 1747.
t2t Trial Judgement, para. 1146.
'^20 5"" sultrtt, para.29.
' ' '  See supra, para.29.

"t Biz.i.un14u Appeal Judgement, para. 99; Mugenz.i arul
Appeal Judgement, para. 65. See ulso Gacumbitsi Appeal
"" Sec, e.g., Bi:imuryl Appeal Judgement, para. 46.
Ntabukuz.e Appeal Judgement, para. 30.
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remedy the vagueness of an indictment, omitted charges can be incorporated into the indictment

only by a formal amendment pursuant to Rule 50 of the Rules.730

255. Conspiracy to commit genocide under Article 2(3Xb) of the Statute has been defined as "an

agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of genocide".73l This agreement

constitutes the actus ,rr.ts."'The actus reus canbe proven by establishing the existence of planning

meetings for the genocide, but it can also be infened, based on other evidence.t" For instance, the

concerted or coordinated action of a group of individuals can constitute evidence of an

agreement.T'o The Appeals Chamber recalls that when an accused is charged with conspiracy to

commit genocide pursuant to Article 2(3Xb) of the Statute, the indictment must plead the following

material facts: (i) an agreement between individuals aimed at the commission of genocide; and

(ii) the fact that the individuals taking part in the agreement possessed the intent to destroy in whole

or in part, a national, ethnical, racial or religious group, as such.73s

256. The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 59 of the Indictment pleads that Nzabonimana

conspired with other persons to kill or cause serious bodily and mental harm to members of the

Tutsi population, with the intent to destroy in whole or in part, a racial or ethnic group. Therefore,

both actus reus and mens rea of the crime were pleaded in paragraph 59 of the Indictment. The

Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's allegation that he was not provided notice of the crime

charged. Considering that the Indictment alleges that Nzabonimana conspired with others, including

Ministers of the Interim Government,T36 and that paragraph 60 of the Indictment referred to the

Murambi meeting to support the charge of conspiracy to commit genocide,737 the Appeals Chamber

finds that Nzabonimana was advised that the Murambi meeting would form part of the

Prosecution's allegation of conspiracy.

257. Turning to the material facts underpinning Nzabonimana's conviction for conspiracy to

commit genocide, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's atgument that the Trial Chamber

could not have satisfied itself that the paragraphs pleaded in support of the count of conspiracy to

commit genocide contained the names of his alleged co-conspirators. The Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber noted, as a prelirninary matter, that paragraph 59 of the Indictment

"0 See, e.g., Bizimungr Appeal Judgement, pua. 46; Mugenli and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, pan. ll7;

Ntabakuze Appeal Judgement, para. 30.
731 Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 218; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 894, citing Ntagerura et al.

Appeal Judgement, para. 92.

"2'S"ro^bi Appealiudgement, para. 218; Nahinana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 894.
733 Seromba Appeal Judgement, pua.221;Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para.896.
'30 Nahi.ana et al. AppealJudgement, para. 897.

"t Nahi^oro et al. Appeal Judgement; para.344. See also Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement, para.92.
736 See Indictment. para. 59.
137 Se e lndictment, para. 60.
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sets out the basic elements of conspiracy, but does not in and of itself specify the individuu8l,46/l!

whom Nzabonimana allegedly conspired.T3n The Trial Chamber concluded, however, that the

Indictment read as a whole adequately informs the Defence of the identity of his alleged co-

conspirators.tto The Appeals Chamber agrees that, reading paragraph 59 of the Indictment in

conjunction with other paragraphs pleaded in support of the count of conspiracy, Nzabonimana

received adequate notice as to the identity of his alleged co-conspirators,

258. Similarly, the time frame for the agreement indicated in paragraph 59 of the Indictment -

between 1 January 1994 and 3l July 1994 - is very broad. However, the Appeals Chamber finds

that when reading paragraph 59 of the Indictment in conjunction with paragraphs 60 and 26 of the

Indictment, specifying the date of 18 April1994, Nzabonimana was provided with sufficiently

precise notice of the date of the facts underpinning the charge of conspiracy.

259. With respect to Nzabonimana's argument on the circumstances of the conspiracy, the

Appeals Chamber recalls that the agreement to commit genocide can be inferred from a concerted

or coordinated action. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber considered the

concerted and coordinated actions of Nzabonimana and the Ministers of the Interim Government to

inf-er that an agreement with the specific intent to destroy Rwanda's Tutsi population in whole or in

part materialised on 18 April Igg4.t40 The Appeals Chamber will examine whether paragraph 59 of

the Indictment, read in conjunction with paragraph 26 of the Indictment, clearly allege concerted or

coordinated action as a basis fbr infening conspiracy between Nzabonimana and his co-

conspirators.

260. Paragraph 26 of the Indictment alleges that Nzabonimana and the other conspirators held a

meeting at Murambi, where Nzabonimana ordered the killing of bourgmestres and other local

officials opposed to the killings of Tutsis. However, the Indictment fails to plead a concerted or

coordinated action of Nzabonimana and his co-conspirators. While paragraph 26 of the Indictment

clearly states Nzabonimana's conduct, it merely alleges the presence of his co-conspirators without

setting out their conduct. The lact that paragraph 59 of the Indictment pleads a general agreement

and that paragraph 60 of the Indictment ref'ers to paragraph 26 of the Indictment to underpin the

charge does not resolve this lack of precision in pleading the conduct of his co-conspirators. The

tt* Trial Judgement, para. 1143.
tto Trial Judgement. para. 1143.
to" 

Triol Judgement. pdra. 1141 .
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Appeals Chamber therefore concludes that the Indictment is defective as it fails to plead a material

fact underpinning the charge of conspiracy with the required precision.Tal

26I. The Appeals Chamber recalls that defects may be cured if the Prosecution provides the

accused with timely, clear, and consistent information detailing the factual basis underpinning the

charges.Taz In determining whether a defective indictment was cured, the Appeals Chamber has

previously looked at information provided in the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, its opening statement,

as well as the witness charts annexed to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief.7a3

262. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief provided Nzabonimana

with further information on his alleged conduct at the Murambi meeting and the alleged conduct of

his co-conspirators. Under the subheading "Activities of the Accused in the Context of the

Prevailing Situation in Rwanda", the Prosecution referred specifically to the Murambi meeting.Taa

The Prosecution alleged that "between 9 April and 17 luly 1994, the Accused was a member of the

Interim Government sworn in on 9 April 1994. This Government constituted, planned, orchestrated,

pursued and/or implemented a scheme or strategy of killing Tutsi", and that "[t]he Accused

voluntarily joined the Interim Government and knowingly participated in and directly and

substantially contributed to the realization of the conspiracy to eliminate Tutsi".Tat Th" Pros"cution

also declared that it:

t. . .] will adduce evidence to show that not only did the Accused remain a member of the Interim
Government but he participated in various meetings with other members of the Interim
Government in Gitarama prefecture and whose main purpose was to encourage the killing of Tutsi
thereby showing his support of the Interim Government's complicity in the massacres.'-"

It then went on to describe the course of events chronologically and argued that "on or about the

18 April 1994, during a meeting of the Interim Government at Murambi, Gitarama, with local

authorities, Ministers including the Accused Mr. Callixte Nzabonimana, incited the killings of

Tutsis" and "[t]hey issued threats to all local authorities who were not cooperating with the

Interahamwe".747 The Prosecution also announced that:

t't However, the Appeals Chamber considers that this failure to plead a material fact with the required precision neither
led to a radical hansformation of the Prosecution's case against Nzabonimana nor did it support, on its own, a separate
charge, as Nzabonimana seems to suggest with his mention of "reviving conspiracies" (see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,
pwa.260. See also NzabonimanaNotice of Appeal, para.5.5.1(3)).
1o' See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, pua. 46; Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, para. 117;

Ntabakuze Appeal Judgement, para. 30'
'ot Si^bo Appeal Judgement, pan. 64. See also Simii Appeal Judgement, para. 24; Muhimana Appeal Judgement,
paras. 82.201.
?a Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, paras. 31, 32.
7" Prosecution he-Trial Bief ,pua.27.
tou Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 30.
7a7 Prosecution he-Trial Brief, para. 3 l.
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Specifically, the Prosecutor will adcluce evidence to prove that during a meeting at Murambi, 2144/H
Gitarama, which took place on 18 April 1994 the Accused supported the massacres committed by -

Interahamwe in Gitarama and demanded that" prf€lfbts and bou[r]gme.slres opposed to the killing

of Tutsi be sacked. He publicly denounced those who were opposed to the massacres and

threatened them with unspicified action.Ta8

The Appeals Chamber finds that this inforrnation specified concerted and coordinated action

between Nzabonimana and his alleged co-conspirators, namely that he and other ministers jointly

incited the killings of Tutsis and threatened local authorities opposed to the killings.Tae

263. The chart of witnesses annexed to the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief also provide clear and

consistent inlormation of Nzabonimana's conduct and the conduct of other ministers at the

Murambi meeting.Ts0 In particular, the summaries of Witnesses CNAA's and CNAO's expected

testimonies, both linkecl to "Conspiracy" for the "offence charged" and paragraph 26 of the

Indictment, clearly set fbrth a concerted action of threatening the bourgmestr"t.tt' Witness CNAA

was expected to testify about "a security meeting of 18 April 1994 which took place at Murambi

centre, chaired by Prime Minister Jean Kambanda and attended by members of the [Interim

Government], Bourgmestres" and other authorities.Ts2 The summary further specifies: "Among the

speakers were the [Prime Minister], Justin Mugenzi and [the] Accused. The latter two made some

threats to the local authorities who were accused of supporting the RPF".75' The summary of

Witness CNAO's expected testimony specifies that there were two meetings at Murambi on

18 April 1994, "[t]he first meeting was attended by the [Prime Minister], [the] Accused,

J. Mugenzi, Pauline (Nyiramasuhuko), other ministers" and others.T-54 It then explicitly provicles:

"[The] Accused, Pauline ancl other speakers criticized the bourgmestres who were not assisting

killers. They said that they should assist the killers and if they are unable to do so they should not

obstruct the killers".T-5-5

264. Furthermore, in its Opening Statement, the Prosecution set out the allegation of an

Agreement in general terms,7s6 and specifically alleged that "Nzabonimana conducted many public

tat Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, para. 32 (internal references omitted).
toe The Appeals Chamber notes that all those specifications were contained in the first version of the Prosecution's Pre-

Trial Brief dated 12 February 2009, nine months befbre the beginning of the Trial. See

The Prosecutort,.Callixte Nzabonimaner, Case No. ICTR-98-44-1, Prosecutor's Pre-Trial Brief, l2 February 2009
(confidential), paras. 26, 30, 33, 34, 54, 62. The Prosecution made its opening statement on 9 November 2009. The

Appeals Chamber therefore considers that the relevant information detailing the factual basis underpinning the charges
was provided timely.
7s" Piosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A (Summary of the Facts on which Witness Will Testify), pp. l , 8, 9, I 3, 14.
7sr Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A, Witness CNAA' p. l, Witness CNAO' pp. 8' 9.
752 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A, Witness CNAA' p. 1.
7s3 Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A, Witness CNAA, p. l.
7sa Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A,Witness CNAO' pp. 8, 9'
t5t Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, Annexure A, Witness CNAO' p' 9'
t" 'Opening Statement, T.9 November 2009 p. l1: "The interim government, which was comprised of ethnic Hutus,

passionately joined in the conspiracy to kill Tutsis an<J moderate Hutus"; Opening Statement, T. 9 November 2009
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meetings in which he instructed official bourgmestres, gendarmes, Hutu civilians, Interahamwe,

communalpolicemen to kill Tutsi civilians seeking places of tefuge"TsT and that "on 18h of April

1994 atMurambi trading centre, Callixte Nzabonimana, together with other members of the interim

government, ordered the killing of bourgmestres andother local officials opposed to the killings".tt*

The latter statement clearly alleged a concerted action with other members of the Interim

Government to order the killing of officials opposed to the killings of Tutsi population.

265. Although the Indictment was defective by not pleading with sufficient precision the conduct

of the alleged co-conspirators at the Murambi meeting, its defect was subsequently cured by the

provision of timely, clear, and consistent information.

266. In view of the Trial Chamber's finding that the conspiracy "materialised on 18 April 1994"

and that the conduct of Nzabonimana and Kambanda after the 18 April 1994 meeting reinforced

this conclusion,T5e the Appeals Chamber considers that any defect in paragraphs 48 and 54 of the

Indictment would not invalidate the Trial Chamber's decision to convict Nzabonimana for the crime

of conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting and therefore does not

consider it necessary to address the arguments in relation to those paragraphs.

267. The Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana was made aware that he could be held liable

for conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting, and that he was afforded the

opporrunity to defend himself in this respect. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber rejects

Nzabonimana's argument that he lacked notice of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide.

(b) Crime of Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

268. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in convicting him

beyond the scope of the Indictment when it found simultaneously that he issued an order at the

Murambi meeting and a threat, jointly with the ministers present.760 Nzabonimana argues that,

while it is clear from paragraph 26 of the Indictment that he was charged with issuing an order, the

Trial Chamber ruled ulta petitain finding that he issued threats jointly with the ministers.761

269. The Prosecution responds that there is no discrepancy between the conduct charged and

conduct found, pointing that the Trial Chamber found exactly what was pleaded: "Nzabonimana

p. 14: "Instead of preventing genocide, the Accused conspired with others to kill Tutsis", "Now let's turn to the
conspiracy to commit genocide. In this trial, Your Honours, you will hear evidence of a conspiracy to kill Tutsis in
which the Accused agreed with his supporters to destroy Tutsi population [...]".
7tt Opening Statement, T. 9 November 2009 pp. 14, 15.
758 Opening Statement, T. 9 November 2009 pp. 15, 16 (emphasis added).
'" Trial Judgement, para. 1741 .
7m Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 244-252. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 57-61.
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ordered the killing of bourgmestres and other local officials opposed to the

The Prosecution further considers that since the order was meant to threaten

Chamber also referred to the order as a threat.763

massacres of TutfrK{H/H

bourgmestres, the Trial

270. Paragraph 26 of the Indictment alleges that during a meeting with the bourgmestres of the

communes in Gitarama prdfecture Nzabonimana "ordered the killing of Bourgmeslres and other

local otficials opposed to the killings". The Appeals Chamber notes that paragraph 26 of the

Indictment does not contain the word "threat". However, Nzabonimana's alleged criminal conduct

underpinning his conviction of direct and public incitement was clearly set out. Whether his

conduct constituted merely an order or also a threat is a question of evidence and the Trial

Chamber's findings in this regard do not render the Indictment defective.T6a Nzabonimana was

notified of his criminal conduct comprised of his utterances.

271. The Appeals Chamber therefbre rejects Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber

convicted him beyond the scopc of the Indictment when it found simultaneously that he issued an

order and a threat at the Murambi meeting.

(c) Conclusion

212. For the tbregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to notice under his Fifth Ground of Appeal.

2. Assessment of Evidence

273. Under his Fifth Ground of Appeal, Nzabonimana makes various challenges to the Trial

Chamber's assessment of the Prosecution evidence with respect to fabrication of evidence, and to

events at Rutobwe, Murambi, and Musambira.765 In particular, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial

Chamber erred in assessins the credibility of Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and CNAC and in

76r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 244,245.
762 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 154. See also AT.29 Apri l  2014p.40.
763 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 154.
tt'o In its factual findings, the Trial Chamber concludes that during the meeting held at Murambi on l8 April 1994,

Nzabonimana "ordered the killing of bourgmestre.r and other local officials opposed to the massacres of Tutsis" (see

Trial Judgement, para. 1179). It further found that "it has been proven that the Ministers present at the meeting,

including Nzabonimana, used this meeting to threaten the bourgmestres" (see Trial Judgement, para. 1179). In its legal

findings on the crime of direct and public incitement to commit genocide, the Trial Chamber holds that "Nzabonimana

ordered the killings of bourgmestres and other local officials opposed to the massacres of Tutsis during the meeting"
(see Trial Judgement, para. 1169) and concludes that "Nzabonimana's speech, which consisted of an explicit threat to

kill persons opposing the massacre of Tutsis, constituted a direct call to commit genocide" (see Trial Judgement,
para. l11l). Nzabonimana's argument on the alleged error of the Trial Chamber in finding that he ordered the killings
(see Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 24'7) will be examined in another section. See infra, paras. 339, 345.
?6s  Nzabon imana Not ice  o f  Appea l ,  paras .  5 .1 .1 ,5 .2 .1  .1 ,5 .2 .1 .2 ,5 .2 .2 ;  Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie f ,  paras .  170-180,
196-24t .24 '7  .
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finding corroboration between them.766 Nzabonimana further challenges the assessment of the

Defence evidence with respect to fabrication of evidence and to events at Rutobwe and Murambi.767

274. The Appeals Chamber will examine in turn Nzabonimana's atguments on: (i) fabrication of

evidence; (ii) the Trial Chamber's alleged piecemeal approach to the assessment of evidence; and

(iii) the Trial Chamber's assessment of specific events.768

(a) Fabrication of Evidence

(i) Alleged Enors in Assessing Prosecution Evidence

275. The Trial Chamber observed that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC were imprisoned at the time

of their testimonies, that both held positions of authority in the prison system, and that both

acknowledged their influence within the prison structure and over fellow inmates.T6e The Trial

Chamber found that "the Defence claim that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC received their leadership

positions in exchange for their testimony to be mere speculation" ,770 and found that the evidence

did not "substantiate the claim that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC fabricated their testimony against

Nzabonimana".77l

276. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber failed to exercise the extreme caution required

to assess Witnesses CNAA and CNAC as both were detained accomplice witnesses with interests to

lie because of direct benefits they gained from their testimonies.'72 He contends that no reasonable

trier of fact could have failed to question whether there was a link between the circumstances of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC and the content of their testimonies against Nzabonimana.TT3 In this

regard, Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber dismissed the impact of their circumstances on

their testimonies solely because the Defence presented no direct evidence that Witness CNAA, in

TtrNzabonimanaAppealBrief,paras. lT0-180,196-241,247.\ee a/soNzabonimanaReplyBrief,para. 14.
767 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 5.1.2, 5.2.1.1,5.2.1.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 181-195, 202,205,
206,225-230. Under this section, the Appeals Chamber will only address Nzabonimana's challenges related to Defence
Witness T24's credibility and the alleged corroborative evidence of duress as it has already examined all challenges
made to the credibility assessment of Defence Witness Mporanzi. See supra, paras. 196-204.
768 The Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's argument from the preliminary issue section of his Appeal Brief, in
relation to the Trial Chamber's alleged inconsistent admission of the testimonies of Prosecution witnesses (see
Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. l'7, 19). Nzabonimana fails to develop his argument and fails to explain how the
situations warranted similar treatment by the Trial Chamber.
tun Trial Judgement, parw. 224, 225 , 228. The Trial Chamber noted that Witness CNAA testified that at different times
of his incarceration he was capita gdndral, coordinator of the prisoners, and executive secretary of the prison. It further
observed that Witness CNAC affirmed that he was in charge of equipment in Gitarama prison. See ibid., para.228.
tto Trial Judgement, pua. 229.
"' Trial Judgement, pua. 231.
772 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para.5.1.1; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 170-180. See also Nzabonimana
Notice of Appeal, para.6.1(3).
773 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 173,l'75, l'79.
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particular, became capita gdndral in exchange for his testimony before the Tribtnaflfl&/H

Nzabonimana's view, the Trial Chamber possessed evidence from the Defence and from

Witness CNAA that this witness and Witness CNAC received exorbitant and abnormal powers

from the Rwandan judicial authorities.TTs

217. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber made a fundamental factual error

when stating that Witness CNAA became capita g€ndral in 2003, before his 2005 testimony, while

he testified in 199'7 in the Akayesu trial.776 He also submits that the Trial Chamber failed to note that

Witness CNAA lied when stating that he was capita gdndral for less than a year, while evidence

shows he held the post for a longer period.777

278. The Prosecution responds that there is no contention that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC held

positions of authority in the prison system and that the Trial Chamber reasonably found the claim,

that they received their positions in exchangc fbr testimony, to bc mere speculation.tt* The

Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana simply repeats his unsuccessful trial arguments and ignores

the Trial Chamber's findings.77e In any event, the Prosecution submits that encouraging someone to

testify is entirely different from bribing or forcing someone to make f'alse accusations.Tso

279. The Prosecution further responds that nothing indicates that the positions of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC were abnormal, or that thcse witnesses abused their authority.Tsl

According to the Prosecution, there is also no indication that Witness CNAA provided incorrect

information about the duration of his position as capitct gdndral and that any conf'usion between

Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimonies could be explained by the fact that the title, capita

gdndral, was changed to "executive secretary"."'

280. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber examined at length each allegation on

fabrication of evidence that the Defence had raised.783 Recalling that detained or accomplice

witnesses may be motivated to testify falsely lbr a number reasons, the Trial Chamber considered

that, as detained witnesses, Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimonies would be treated with

774 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 171, re.ferring toTrial Judgement, para.229.
"5  Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie l ' .  para .  172.
" ' '  Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 174.
77? Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 176.
778 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 159.
77u Prosecution Response Brief.  paras. 158, 159.
''" Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 158, 159. The Prosecution refers to the availability of incentives to provide
evidence such as in Rule 101(B)(i i )  of the Rules. See idem.
TsrProsecution Resoonse Brief.  oara. 159.
782 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 163, re.ferring toTi.al Judgement, para.228.
t" In its section on fabrication of evidence, the Trial Chamber examined allegations that: (i) Rwandan Authorities and
Witness CNAI recruited witnesses to testify falsely against Nzabonimana; (ii) prisoners fabricated evidence against
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appropriate caution.784 The Trial Chamber also examined specific allegations that

and CNAC fabricated their evidence in order to receive leniency and benefits in

extensive evidence on the role of the capita g,6ndral and the resultant authority

prison.786 It then found that:

2139/H

Witnesses CNAA

prison.785 It heard

of that position in

Having considered the totality of the evidence, however, the Chamber finds that the evidence does

not substantiate the claim that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC fabricated their testimony against

Nzabonimana. Nevertheless, the Chamber will consider their testimony with appropriate caution

based on individual factors relevant to each witness which are considered in other sections of this

Judgement.787

281. In rejecting as speculative the Defence claim that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC received

their leadership positions in exchange for their testimonies, the Trial Chamber considered the

following evidence: (i) Witness CNAA testified for the Prosecution in the Bizimungu et al., and

Karemera et al., trials in 2005 and 2007 respectively, after he became capita gdndral in 2003;

(ii) the hearsay and vague nature of testimonies from Defence witnesses; and (iii) Witness CNAA

denied that he received special treatment in prison as a result of his testimony.788 Nzabonimana

therefore fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber rejected the Defence claim solely for the lack

of direct evidence.

282. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber found it unquestionably established

that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC held positions of authority in the prison system and that both

acknowledged their influence in the prison structue and over fellow inmates.Tse Therefore, the Trial

Chamber duly considered the positions of authority and the influence of both witnesses in prison.

The Appeals Chamber also notes that, on appeal, Nzabonimana points to Defence evidence that the

Trial Chamber already considered.Teo As to Nzabonimana's atgument that Witness CNAA's written

evidence showed an exchange and benefits scheme for his testimony,Tel the Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber duly considered the evidence in its summary of Witness CNAA's

testimony.Te2 The Ttiul Chamber also noted that, in his testimony, Witness CNAA denied that the

Rwandan Government forced him to testify and stated that the govemment merely authorised him

Nzabonimana; and (iii) there was systematic "activism
oaras.93-257 .
?* Trial Judgement, pans.226,231. See also ibid., paras.
ttt Trial Judgement, paras. 224-231.
'oo Trial Judgement, para.23l.
ttt Trial Judgement, pua.23l.
788 Trial Judgement, para.229.
tte Trial Judgement, pan.228.
7e0 ,See Trial Judgement, paras. 193-200 (Witness fil),
(Witness Batard), para. 231, fn. 328.
7er See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 177.
'e'Tial Judgement, puas. 162, 163.
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to leave the country and testify.Te3 Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers that Nzaboqfif,ffi/H

withoul showing any error, repeats the same allegations of fabrication liom trial, and merely

disagrees with the Trial Chamber's finding that claims of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC receiving

leadership positions in exchange for testimonies were speculative.

283. Finally, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber

made a "fundamental factual error" on when Witness CNAA became capita gdndral.Tea Considering

the confusing and vague nature of Nzabonimana's argument, and that the Trial Chamber was aware

of Witness CNAA's testimony \n 1997 in the Akayesu trial.Tes the Appeals Chamber summarily

dismisses Nzabonimana's argument in this regard.Te6 The Appeals Chamber also finds that the exact

duration of Witness CNAA's position of authority in prison, and any inconsistencies in his evidence

on this matter, are not determinative of the Trial Chamber's assessment of his credibility. As

already discussed, the Trial Chamber considered that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC held positions

of authority in the prison system,TeT and, despite these positions, it reasonably found the allegation

of fabrication against these two witnesses insufficiently substantiated. On this basis, the Appeals

Chamber considers that the exact duration of their position of authority is immaterial to the Trial

Chamber' s deterrnination on evidence fabrication.

284. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber linds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the Trial Chamber did, that "the Defence

claim that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC received their leadership positions in exchange for their

testimony to be mere speculation".Tes The Appeals Chamber further finds that the Trial Chamber

reasonably determined that the evidence did not substantiate the claim that Witnesses CNAA and

bNnC fabricated their tcstimony against Nzabonimana.'ee Nzabonimana's arguments in this

respect are accordingly dismissed.

(ii) Def'ence Evidence

285. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the credibility of Defence

Witness T24 was undermincd because he admitted to lying to the Prosecution.'uu In particular,

Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber: (i) could not consider Witness T24's admission to

7 q t -  , .  .- 'Tr ia l  Judsement ,  para.  163.'oo 
S"e Nzab-onimana Appeal Briei. para. 174.

7es See Trial Judgement, para. 1483. See ulso ibid.,fn.243.
7e6 The Appeals Chamber recalls that it cannot be expected to consider a party's submissions in detail if they are
obscure, contradictory, vague, or suft-er from other fbrmal and obvious insufficiencies. See supra, para. 12.
to7 Trial Judgement, para.228.
t" Trial Judgement, para.229.
t" Ttial Judgement, para. 231.
800 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 181 (French original).
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2137/H

undermine his credibility because Prosecution investigators used unacceptable methods to obtain

his testimony against Nzabonimana and that he feared repercussions;8oi 1ii; distorted Witness T24's

testimony to find that the witness provided contradictory accounts on whether he gave his 2008

statement under pr"rsure;tot and (iii) erred in determining that Witness T24 was free to testify and

suffered no adverse consequences as a Defence witness.8O3 Nzabonimana additionally submits that

the Trial Chamber restricted its assessment of duress to the testimonies of Defence Witness

Mporanzi and Witness T24 andfailed to consider evidence corroborating their claims of duress.80a

286, The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana simply re-argues and misstates the evidence.805

It submits that: (i) Nzabonimana ignores that several witnesses detained in Rwanda, including

Witness T24, testified that they suffered no consequences by testifying for the Defence;806 and

(ii) Nzabonimana's argument that Witness T24 was forced to testify for the Prosecution fails

because the witness ultimately testified for the Defence and admitted that he suffered no

repercussions.s0T Finally, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber considered other evidence

of duress, to which Nzabonimana refers, but it either disbelieved or found the evidence irrelevant.sO8

287 . The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered Witness T24's

testimony that: (i) Prosecution investigators, especially Djibo Moumouni, approached him several

times and also approached the director of the Gitarama prison, who asked Witness T24 whether he

refused to testify against Nzabonimanu;80e 1ii; the witness felt pressured and spoke to Investigator

Moumouni to avoid being labelled a "revisionist" and suffering negative consequences from prison

authorities;8to (iii) he obtained information regarding Nzabonimana's activities in 1994 from a

fellow inmate, and not knowing if the information was true, conveyed the information to

Prosecution investigators;*tt 1iv; he signed a statement in October 2008, which summarised

discussions between Witness T24 and Investigator Moumouni;tt' (u) he acknowledged making the

statement of his own free will and did not act under the duress from anyone whatsoever;8l3 and

801 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 191, 192. See also Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 1.1(3),(4);
Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 22,23; AT. 29 April 2014 p. 50.
8@ Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 193,194.
803 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 195.
8s Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 182, 183. See also Notice of Appeal, para. 4. 1.5(6).
80s Prosecution Response Brief, para. 164.
sffi Prosecution Response Brief, para. 168.
807 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 171.
808 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 165, 166.
80e SeeTialJudgement, paras. 181, 182,233.
tlo Trial Judgement, paras. 183, 233.
tttT.ial Judgement, para. 184.
8lt Trial Judgement, para. 184.
813 Trial Judgement, paras. 184,235.
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(vi) the witness confirmed that since his acceptance

no constraint, duress, or pressure in prison.sla

to cooperate with the Defence, he has sfr{rffi/H

288. Given the above, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered

the activities of Prosecution investigators leading up to Witness T24's October 2008 statement. It is

unclear, from Nzabonimana's argument, how the Trial Chamber erred, how the activities of

Prosecution investigators, or how the witness's f'ears would undermine the Trial Chamber's finding

that Witness T24 explicitly admitted to providing false infbrmation to the Prosecution, and that this

admission seriously undermined the witness's credibility.*t-t Beyond clisagreeing with the Trial

Chamber's assessment, Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred.

289. With respect to Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber distorted Witness T24's

testimony, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's reference to Witness T24's statement

that: "[a]s far as the declaration - the statement is concerned, I did it of my own free will. I did not

act under any cluress from anyone whatsoever".sl6 Having reviewed Witness T24's testimony, the

Appeals Chamber notes that the witness seemed to be responding to a question regarding a discrete

portion of his October 2008 statement, rather than characterising the entire statement as made of his

own fiee will.8r7 The Appeals Chamber finds that no reasonable trier of fact could have relied on

this part of Witness T24's testimony to determine that the entire October 2008 statement was not

made under pressure. However, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that this error affects the

Trial Chamber's assessment that Witness T24's credibility was seriously undermined by his

admission to making false statements,tts and that appropriate caution would be applied to detained

witnesses, such as Witness T24.81e

290. In support of the argument that the Trial Chamber failed to consider other evidence of

duress, Nzabonimana points to numerous paragraphs from the Trial Judgement that summarise

witness testimonies.s2O The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered this

evidence.szr Although Witness T24's fears might have been a possibility, Nzabonimana fails to

t 'o Trial Judgement, paras. I 89, 238.
*'t Trial Judgement, para. 234. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber did not find Witness T24 generally
not credible but exercised caution in its assessment of his evidence. See inlra, paras. 358-362.
*'o Triul Judgement, para. 235, relbrring to Witness '124, T . 21 April 2010 pp. 50, 61 (closed session).
" "  Wi tness T24,T.27 Apr i l  2010 p.  50 (c losed session) .
t rn Tr ia l  Judgement.  poru, .234.
''u Trial Judgement, para.239.
8:0 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 182, 183.
t:r See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 182, 183. Nzabonimana points to the following as evidence corroborating
duress that Witnesses Mporanzi and T24 confronted and that the Trial Chamber did not consider: (i) the evidence
presentedonNyabikenkecorroboratedfearsof bothwitnesses(seeibid., para. 183, re.f 'erringtoTrialJudgement,paras.
120-135, l8l-187); (i i) i ts own findings that detainees who did not confess became victims of discrimination, or that
some witnesses fabricated confessions in order to be released (see ibid., para. 183, re.fbrring toTrial Judgement, paras.
236,231); (i i i) Witness CNAC testif ied to having been unlawfully detained and to having disappeared (see ibid.,para.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A

100

29 September 2014



2135/H

explain how this undermines the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness T24's credibility.

Nzabonimana merely offers a different interpretation without showing how the Trial Chamber erred

in its assessment.

291. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witness T24's credibility was undermined

because he admitted to lying to the Prosecution. He also fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber

committed an error in assessing Witness T24's credibility that would occasion a miscarriage of

justice.

(b) Piecemeal Approach

292. Nzabonimana submits that instead of considering the accumulated inconsistencies between

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, the Trial Chamber erred by assessing evidence relating to paragraphs

24,26, and 48 of the Indictment separately.s22 He contends that, by splitting up the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC into the events of Rutobwe, Murambi, and Musambira, the Trial

Chamber failed to draw inferences from their inconsistencies which should have led it to exclude

their testimonies.823 In particular, he argues that the allegations set forth in paragraph 24 of the

lndictment cannot be assessed separately from those in paragraph 26 of the Indictment, which relate

to 18 April 1994.824 He argues that a holistic assessment of the evidence would have demonstrated

that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, who both testified on events in Rutobwe and Murambi, were

mutually inconsistent, notably on what Witness Mporanzi told them on 18 April 1994 with respect

to the situation of the prisoners in Rutobwe ,o**rnr.8"

293. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC was not piecemeal as the Trial Chamber considered all aspects of their testimony and was

correct in finding that they corroborated each other in key respects.826

294. The Appeals Chamber fails to see how the Trial Chamber erred by separating its evaluation

of the allegations and of the evidence adduced in relation to Indictment paragraphs. The Appeals

183, referring ro Trial Judgement, para. 169); (iv) Witness T24recalled that he was beaten when in detention (see ibid.,
para. 183, referring toTl;iral Judgement, para. 192); (v) Witness T133 was told by Witness CNAC that a case was
fabricated against Witness CNAC (see ibid., para. 183, referring to Tt''al Judgement, pua. 202); and (vi) witnesses
spent years years in prison without trial, some were later acquitted, or after serving their sentences, faced new charges
(see ibid., para. 183, referuing to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, paras. 183,233' 185' 190).
822 Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , pua.232.
823 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 191 , 198.
824 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 198.
825 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 198. Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber overlooked the

contradictions between Witnesses CNAA and CNAC on the issue of the prisoners is examined below. See infra, pans.

296-311.
826 Prosecution Response Bief , pua. 174.
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Chamber notes that having determined that the allegations of eviclence fabrication flC134/H

undermine the credibility of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC,827 the Trial Chamber considered their

evidence in relation to the events they testified to, recalling each time that as detained witnesses, it

has treated theh testimony with appropriate caution.828 The Appeals Chamber finds no error in this

approach. The Appeals Chamber further finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber did not assess cumulatively the inconsistencies between Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.

The Appeals Chamber will examine below Nzabonimana's arguments on the assessment of the

credibility of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC in relation to the events at Rutobwe, Murambi, and

Musambira.

295. The Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate an error in the Trial

Chamber's approach to considering the evidence of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.

(c) Rutobwe

296. The Trial Chamber found that in the days leading up to 18 April 1994, Nzabonimana

encouraged the killing of Tutsis by causing the release of killers of Tutsis, who had been

imprisoned by Bourgmestre Jean-Marie Vianney Mporanzi, in Rutobwe commun".*" The Trial

Chamber mainly relied on Witnesses CNAA and CNAC who provided evidence that Nzabonimana

caused the release of killers and threaten ed Bourgme.r/re Mporanzi for having arrested them.830 It

found however, that based on the lack of specific evidence of the crime s committed by the prisoners

it could not conclude that Nzabonimana's fbrcible release of the Rutobwe commune prisoners

substantially contributed to any of the ensuing killings or other crimes.t3t Accordingly, the Trial

Chamber did not convict Nzabonimana of genocide based on this event.832 The Appeals Chamber

has upheld Nzabonimana's acquittal in respect of this charge.833

297. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber declines to consider Nzabonimana's submissions related

to the Rutobwe event,834 except for challcnges related to the assessment of the credibility of

827 See Trial Judgement, paras. 1065, 1143, 1211, 1448, 148 l .  The Appeals Chamber recal ls that the Trial Chamber
conducted an overall credibility assessment in response to Nzabonimana's contention that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC
fabricated their evidence . See Tt''al Judgement, paras. 224-231 .
828SeeTrial Judgement,paras. 1045-1057,1064-107l forthereleaseof Rutobwe commune prisoners; Trial Judgement,
paras .  1080-1105,  1142-1152,  l l59-1169,  l l82- l l8T for theMurambi  meet ing ;Tr ia l  Judgement ,paras .  1196-1223for

the reinstatement ceremony of the Bourg,mestre of Musambira Commune. See aLso ibid., para.226.

" 'Trial Judgement, para. 1076.
tt t 'Trial Judgement, para. 1075.
* ' '  Trial Judgement, para. 1123.

"t Trial Judgement, para. 1723.
8t3 See infra, paras.486-495.
8ra Specifically, the Appeals Chamber declines to consider Nzabonimana's submissions regarding Defence Witnesses

Mporanzi and T24.,See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 202, 206 (Defence Witness Mporanzi), para. 205 (Defence

Witness T24).
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Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.83t Th" Appeals Chamber will examine such challenges for their

potential impact on the overall credibility and reliability of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC,836 whom

the Trial Chamber relied upon for Nzabonimana's convictions in relalion to the events at Murambi.

(D Witness CNAA's Credibility

298. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber failed to properly assess Witness CNAA's

credibility arguing that the witness adjusted his account in each trial in which he testified.837

Nzabonimana contends that in the Karemera et al. tial Witness CNAA testified that during the first

Murambi meeting on 18 April 1994, Bourgmestre Mporanzi complained to the Prime Minister, in

the presence of Government officials and other authorities, that Nzabonimana had released

prisoners in Rutobwe commune and slapped him, an incident which Witness CNAA only confirmed

during cross-examination in the present trial.838 Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber erred

by excluding this major omission and by finding that it was "inconsequential" as these facts were

both crucial and unforgettable.83e

299. Nzabonimana further argues that the Trial Chamber failed to properly assess

Witness CNAA's testimony that Bourgmestre Mporanzi complained on two occasions: during a

meeting at the Gitarama prdfecture offrce prior to 18 April 1994, and during the first meeting at

Murambi on 18 April 1994.*oo He submits that the Trial Chamber overlooked the fact that this

testimony contradicts Witness CNAC's testimony on this point and that there was no corroboration

on the localion where the witnesses heard Bourgmestre Mporanzi's statements.84l

300. Finally, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber overlooked the implausible character

of Witness CNAA's testimony, and argues that in a "bid to embellish" his testimony the witness

8" The Appeals Chamber recalls that, as a general rule, it declines to discuss alleged errors which have no impact on the
conviction or sentence. See Kanyaruklga Appeal Judgement para. 62; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, paras. 251, 384;
Krajiinik Appeal Judgement, pwa.20. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber relied on this event, among
others, as .lt.u*.t-tiut evidence of Nzabonimana's genocidal intent. See Trial Judgement, paras. 1?07 (Butare
Trading Centre Meeting), 1724 (Release of Killers in Rutobwe Commune), 1726 (Murambi Meeting), 1728
(Reinstatement Ceremony of the Bourgmesfre of Musambira Commune), 1'732 (Destruction of houses in Nyamabuye
Commune), 1734 (Weapons Distribution in Tambwe Commune), 1736 (Tambwe Commune Crisis Committee). The
Appeals Chamber further notes that Nzabonimana has not challenged the Trial Chamber's finding on his genocidal
intent for his conviction related to the Murambi event (for Nzabonimana's conviction for the crime of conspiracy to
commit genocide in relation to the Murambi event, see -fial Judgement, pua. 1747; regarding Nzabonimana's
conviction for direct and public incitement in relation to the Murambi event, as examined in the following section, the
Appeals Chamber has overturned this conviction).
836 See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 208.
837 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief. para. 200.
838 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 199.
83e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 200.
&0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 201.
841 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 201. Nzabonimana argued that Witness CNAC testified that Bourgmestre
Mporanzi complained during the meeting of bourgmestres at Gitarama prdfecture office on the morning of
18 April 1994. See idem.
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mentioned attacks on his commune, while subsequent Prosecution disclosures led the Trial CWW2/H

to believe that Witness CNAA may have been seeking to distance himself fiom any

responsibility.8a2

301. The Prosecution responds that details about Nzabonimana's interaction with Bourgmestre

Mporanzi only arose during cross-examination, when Witness CNAA was confronted with his

testimony in Karemera et al. trial, and f-urther argues that it was not a major omission that Witness

CNAA did not mention during his examination-in-chief, that Bourgmestre Mporanzi was

slapped.sa3 As to the alleged contradiction with Witness CNAC's testimony, the Prosecution

submits that Nzabonimana fails to explain why Bourgmestre Mporanzi could not have raised

Nzabonimana's orders on more than one occasion.*aa The Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana's

argllments on disclosure are based on material not on the record.sa5

302. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered each of the alleged

discrepancies that Nzabonimana raises. Specifically, it examined alleged contradictions between

Witness CNAA's testimony in this case and in the Karemera et al. case, and accepted

Witness CNAA's explanation that there was no contradiction between his testimonies as

Bourgmestre Mporanzi told him of the prisoner release both at the Murambi meeting and at a

meeting at the prdfecture office.*ou When examining the Def-ence's challenge to Witness CNAA's

credibility, the Trial Chamber f'urther noted that the witness testified that Bourgmestre Mporanzi

spoke of the prisoner release on cliff'erent occasions.*ot When examining the consistency of

Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimonies concerning a meeting at the Gitarama prdJbcture

office prior to the Murambi meeting, where Bourgmestre Mporanzi addressed the prisoner release

situation, the Trial Chamber recalled that Witness CNAC testified that the meeting occurred on the

morning of l8 April 1994 and that Witness CNAA could not recall the date or time of the meeting

but testified that it occured on a different day.t'8 The Trial Chamber considered however that

Witness CNAA's inability to give a precise date for the meeting had "minimal impact upon his

842 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 207, re.f'erring ro Callixte Nzabonimana's New Motion for Appropriate Remedies

on Account of Further Violations of Rule 66(AXii) and Rule 68 of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence, 12 luly 2013

(original French version f i led on 25 June 2013).
tar Prosecution Response Brief, para. 182.
8ao Prosecution ResDonse Brief,  para. 178.
*as Prosecution Response Briei.  para. I  8 l .
*oo Trial Judgement, para. 1069. The Trial Chamber also considered the Det-ence's challenge to Witness CNAA's

credibility for having mentioned thal Bourg,mestre Mporanzi had told him that he was struck by Nzabonimana, while in

his 2007 testimony in the Karemera et al. trial Witness CNAA acknowledged that this was a rumour. The Trial

Chamber noted that Prosecution did not elicit evidence of Nzabonimana striking Mporanzi during its direct examination

of Witness CNAA but that only the Defence raised the issue in its cross-examination of Witness CNAA. See ibid.,

p a r a . 1 0 7 0 .
'o 'T r ia l  

Judgement .  para .  l ( )69 .
*on Trial Judgement, para. 1066.
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credibility, given the considerable passage of time since the events".84e Nzabonimana fails to

demonstrate any error in the Trial Chamber's assessment.

303. The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's submission on the implausible

character of Witness CNAA's testimony as unfounded. The Appeals Chamber notes that, in support

of his vague claim, Nzabonimana refers only to his own motion on appeal, which the Appeals

Chamber denied.Sso

304. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber was clearly seised of

all of Nzabonimana's challenges, which on appeal amount to mere disagreement with the Trial

Chamber's conclusions. Moreover, Nzabonimana fails to show how the alleged inconsistencies cast

the overall credibility of Witness CNAA into such doubt that no reasonable trial chamber could

have relied on parts of his testimony to sustain convictions.ssl

305. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Nzabonimana's challenges to the Trial

Chamber's assessment of Witness CNAA's credibility in relation to the release of prisoners in

Rutobwe commune.

(ii) Witness CNAC's Credibility

306. Nzabonimana submits that a reasonable trier of fact would have questioned Witness

CNAC's testimony that he heard Bourgmestre Mporanzi's accusations against Nzabonimana at a

bourgmestre.s' meeting on 18 April 1994 atthe Gitarama prdfecture office.852 Nzabonimana argues

that the manner in which Witness CNAC made these revelations were: (i) "abrupt", considering that

the Prosecution took advantage of a question in examination-in-chief to elicit information from

Witness CNAC regarding the release of the Rutobwe commune prisoners;853 and

(ii) "opportunistic", considering the "links" between Witnesses CNAC and CNAA who were

housed together at the United Nations Detention Facility ("UNDF') in Arusha.854 Furthermore,

Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber should not have accepted Witness CNAC's evasive

explanation that a previous statement from 2008 failed to mention the complaint made by Mporanzi

*n Trial Judgement, para. 1066.
8t0 See Deciiion on iulli^tr Nzabonimana's New Motion for Remedies, 16 October 2013.
E t See Ntakirutimana Appeal Judgement, pua. 252. The Appeals Chamber recalls that the findings concerning the
events at Murambi on 18 April 1994 are based, in pa-rt, on the testimony of Witness CNAA.
852 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 203.
853 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 203.In support of his argument, Nzabonimana argues that neither the Prosecution
Pre-Trial Brief or any will-say statements indicated that Witness CNAC was going to testify on the release of the
Rutobwe coftimune prisoners that the Trial Chamber at the time argued that in asking this question the Prosecution was
"stepping out of line". He submits that the Trial Chamber violated his right to fair trial by relying on Witness CNAC's
testimony as it was obtained under unfair circumstances. See idem.
E5a Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.203.
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atthe bourgmestres'meeting at the Gitarama prifecture offrce because he was answering qufr{EOJH

put to him by investigators.s55

307. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's claim, regarding the manner in which the

witness made the revelations, is incorrect and that, in any event, the Trial Chamber remedied any

possible prejudice by postponing Witness CNAC's cross-examination for three months.ss6 The

Prosecution also responds that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC did not discuss their testimony in the

case and, in any event, a mere risk of collusion is insufficient to render testimony inadmissible.8sT

As to Witness CNAC's explanation on his 2008 statement, the Prosecution responds that

Nzabonimana simply disagrees with the Trial Chamber's assessment without demonstrating any

earor.*5'

308. The Appeals Chamber understands Nzabonimana's main argument to be that he lacked

notice that Witness CNAC was going to testify on the release of prisoners in Rutobwe. The Appeals

Chamber finds however that this issue has no impact on the Trial Chamber's assessment of

Witness CNAC's credibility and, therefore, has no impact on Nzabonimana's convictions.sse

309. As to the alleged links between Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, the Appeals Chamber recalls

the Trial Chamber's finding that Defence evidence relating to the alleged fabrication of evidence

did not undermine the creclibility of their testimonies.s60 The Appeals Chamber has found that

Nzabonimana failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in this respect,86l and considers

that Nzabonimana's submission, regarding the witnesses staying together at the UNDF at the time

of their testimonies, demonstrates no error in the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness CNAC's

credibility.

8ss Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 204. See a/sr.r Exhibit  Dl00 (Witness CNAC's Statement of 11 November 2008).
8s6 Prosecution Response Brief, para. I 80.
8s7 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 187.
*st 

Prosecution Response Brief.  para. |  83.
t'e In any event, the Appeals Chamber notes that during Witness CNAC's examination-in-chief, the Trial Chamber
ruled on a Defence's objection to a question, that the Prosecution posed and that the witness had not yet answered, on

whether Bourgmestre Mporanzi told the witness when he had been confronted by Nzabonimana. The Trial Chamber did
not, as argued by Nzabonimana, observe that the Prosecution was stepping out of line. Rather, the Trial Chamber noted

that the Prosecution conceded that it was stepping out of line with regard to the question and agreed to withdraw it - or

not proceed. On that basis, the Trial Chamber decided to sustain the objection with regard to that question, the third one,
while it noted the observations made by the Defence to the two first questions, asked by the Prosecution and answered

by the witness without an objection raised by the Defence. See Witness CNAC, T. 16 December 2009 pp. 59, 65 (closed

session). The Appeals Chamber further observes that Nzabonimana elected to cross-examine Witness CNAC on the
release of the Rutobwe commune prisoners. See Witness CNAC, T. 12 April 2010 pp. 21, 22 (closed session). The

Appeals Chamber also f inds that Nzabonimana's undeveloped submission that " in-court test imony obtained under

untair circumstances is inadmissible" is insufficient to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber violated his fair trial right.
to" Trial Judgement, paras. 224-239.

"" See rupro, paras. 21 5 -284.
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310. Regarding Witness CNAC's 2008 statement, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial

Chamber's observation that Witness CNAC did not mention either the release of prisoners or the

assertion that Nzabonimana struck Bourgmesffe Mporanzi in his 2003 or 2008 statements.e2 The

Trial Chamber further noted that Witness CNAC's 2008 statement indicated that it was the first

time he was being interviewed about Nzabonimana and found the explanation that, during the

interview, he simply answered the general questions posed to him by investigators to be

reasonable.8u3 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that no reasonable trier of fact could have accepted

this explanation.

311. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Nzabonimana's challenges to the Trial

Chamber's assessment of Witness CNAC's credibility in relation to the release of prisoners in

Rutobwe commune.

(d) Murambi

312. The Trial Chamber found that the Defence evidence corroborated the Prosecution evidence

with regard to a meeting at Murambi on 18 April 1994.864 Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC as well as Defence Witnesses Mporanzi and T24 all attested to the meeting with the

bourgmestres and to Nzabonimana's p."r"n.".tu' Based on the totality of evidence, the Trial

Chamber found that on 18 April 1994 the Prime Minister of Rwanda and other members of the

Interim Government, including Nzabonimana, held a meeting at Murambi for the bourgmestres of

Gitarama prdfecture.suu Witnesses CNAA, CNAC, Mporanzi, andT24, as well as a journalist from

Radio Rwanda were among the attendees at the meeting.867

3i3. The Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana ordered the killing of bourgmeslres and other

local officials opposed to the massacre of Tutsis during a meeting held at Murambi on

18 April 1994, and the ministers present, including Nzabonimana, used the meeting to th"reaton the

bourgmestre.s.s6s Based on this event, the Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of direct and

public incitement to commit genocide and conspiracy to commit genocide.s6e

(i) Alleged Errors in Assessing Prosecution Evidence

862 Trial Judgement, para.
tu' Trial Judgement, para.
8e Trial Judgement, para.
86s Trial Judgement, para.
8* Trial Judgement, para.

lll :lq Judgement, para.
""" lnal Juclgement, para.
R 6 0 -  . .  .--- lnai Juogement, paras

07 t .
071.
158 .
158 .
158 .
158 .
179.
t7 47, t',| 49, l'1'7 3, 171 5, 1800.
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314. The Trial Chamber considered that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC corroborated eachfr#Z8/H

accounts regarding what occurred during the second Murambi meeting with the Gitarama

bourgmestres, and found that Nzabonimana and other Government officials threatened the

bourgmestres as a means of ensuring their participation in the genocide.870

315. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC corroborated each other.87r Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial

Chamber erred in its assessment of their credibility when it accepted their explanations for

omissions and inconsistencies with previous statements.sT2

316. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber's assessment of the mutually corroborative

testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC was reasonable.sT3 It further submits that Nzabonimana

fails to show that it was wholly unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to consider inconsistencies with

previous statements and find that diffbrences did not detract from the overall reliability of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.87a

' a. Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's Alleeed Contradictions

3l'7. Nzabonimana submits that based solely on the first meeting at Murambi, the Trial Chamber

could not find that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC corroborated each other.87s Nzabonimana points to

diff'erences between their testimonies on Prime Minister Jean Kambanda's reaction to Prdfet Fiddle

Uwizeye's conccrns on the insecurity in Gitarama.876 He insists that the discrepancies in their

testimonies cannot reasonably appear to be minor,*tt In Nzabonimana's view, their discrepant

testimonies demonstrate strikingly different attitudes that Kambanda had towards the Tutsi

population in Gitarama prdfectur,:.*7* Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber

enoneously found no signillcant diff'erence between the account of Witness CNAC, that Kambanda

t tu Trial Judgement. para. I  l6 t  .
n" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief.  para. 196.
172 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 196.
873 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 173.
t 'o Prosecution Response Brief,  para. I  89.
n ' '  Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie f .  pz ra .2 l3 .
t7o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief para.2l0. Nzabonimana submits that the dif f 'erence is not minor as according to
Witness CNAA, the Prime Minister summari ly dismissed Uwizeye's the concern, while Witness CNAC testi f ied that
the Prime Minister reacted positively to a proposal to assist Tutsi refugees. See idem.
877 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 21 1.
8t' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 2l l. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber contradicted itself by
first acknowledging "substantial differences" between the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and CNAA, and then
finding the differences to be minor. See ibid., pua.209.
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was present at the second meeting on 18 April 1994, and the account of Witness CNAA, who

refuted Kambanda's presence during the second meeting.sTe

318. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber correctly found that Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC corroborated each other in key respects.880 It submits that Nzabonimana fails to show how

the Trial Chamber unreasonably found inconsistencies in the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC to be minor.881

319. The Appeals Chamber recalls that every witness presents what he has seen from his own

point of view at the time of the events, or according to how he understood the events recounted by

others.882 It follows that conoboration may exist even when some details differ between

testimonies, provided that no credible testimony describes the facts in question in a way which is

not compatible with the description given in another credible testimony.sS' It is ultimately within

the discretion of the trial chamber to evaluate inconsistencies that may arise amongst witnesses'

testimonies, to consider whether the evidence taken as a whole is reliable and credible, and to

accept or reject the fundamental features of the evidence.tso

320. The Trial Chamber expressly noted consistencies and differences between the accounts of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.*tt It found that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC provided largely

consistent and corroborating accounts of the events of 18 April 1994, leading up to a meeting held

for the bourgmestres at Murambi.886

321. In particular, the Trial Chamber noted that "there were few substantial differences" between

the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, the most significant being the response Prdfet

IJwizeye received to his plea for assistance during the first meeiting.887 According to the Trial

Chamber, Witness CNAA testified that Kambanda summarily dismissed Uwizeye's concerns and

then promptly left the meeting, while Witness CNAC testified that the Prime Minister reacted

warmly to the Bishop of Kabgayi's offer to provide refuge for Tutsis at his diocese.t*t The Trial

87e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 214. Nzabonimana submits that, also according to Witness Mporanzi, Kambanda
w?s present at the second meeting on 18 April 7994. See idem, referring toTial Judgement, paras. 1117-l l19.
oou Prosecution Response Brief, para. 174.
E8r Prosecution Response Brief, paras. l'75, l'76,184.
t8' See, e.g., Gatete Appeal Judgement, para. 205; Ntawukulilyayo Appeal Judgement, pua.24, referring to Munyakazi
Appeal Judgement, para. 103; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, pua.428.

"" See, e.g., Bizimungu Appeal Judgement, pwa. 327; Gatete Appeal Judgement, pua. 205; Hategekimana Appeal
Judgement, para.82.
t* Sr", e.g., Ndahimana
Judgement, para.207.
8t' Trial Judgement, paras.
t R 6 - .  .  -  .""' I nal Judgement, pa-ra.
I t 7 - .  , .  ,--' lnal Judgement, pzua.

"t Trial Judgement, para.

Appeal Judgement, pua. 93; Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, pua.7l; Rukundo Appeal

t146, ll4'7.
t46.
t4'7.
147.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A

i09

29 Seotember 2014
o-\



Chamber considered these differences

between the two testimonies.8se

to be minor and outweighed by the overall consfl{ffi/lJ

322. Having reviewed the relevant parts of the record8e0 and the Trial Chamber's assessment of

the evidence of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has

not dcmonstrated that no reasonable trier of fact could have concluded, as the Trial Chamber did,

that this discrepancy on Kambanda's reaction was minor and outweighed by the overall consistency

between the two testimonies. By focusing only on this discrepancy in the first meeting at

Murambi,8el Nzabonimana ignores that the Trial Chamber expressly noted substantial and

numerolls consistencies between Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.8e2

323. With respect to Kambanda's presence during the second meeting, the Trial Chamber

acknowledged the following discrepancy between Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's accounts:

"Witness CNAC indicated that during the first pafl of the meeting with the bourgmestres, Prime

Minister Kambanda was present and listened to their problems and dispensed advice. However,

Witness CNAA made no mention of this occurrence".8e3 The Trial Chamber did not find this

discrepancy to signilicantly diminish the credibility of the Prosecution evidenc".tno In reaching this

conclusion, the Trial Chamber observed that Witness CNAC's evidence was clear that only after

Kambanda left did the remaining government officials, including Nzabonimana, begin describing

the Tutsis as the "enemy" while threatening the assembled bourgmestres to collaborate with the

nt'Trial Judgement, para. 1141 . The Appeals Chamber is of the view that the Trial Chamber's finding on the "most

significant difference" reflects the comparison of all discrepancies among themselves in order to identify which one

deserves particular consideration. The Appeals Chamber finds no contradiction with the Trial Chamber's finding that

this difference is rather minor when assessed in the context of the overall consistency between the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAA. See idem.
to" Witness CNAA testified that: "After the prime minister spoke, the former pr€tet of Citarama, Fiddle Uwizeye, also

took the f-loor. He said that we were facing important problems connected to the massacre and that [solutions] had to be

found fbr those problems. He also talked about the numerous refugees who had just come to Kabgayi in Gitarama.

When the prime minister heard those things, he said that he was very busy. He left the meeting" (see Witness CNAA,

T. l5 December 2009 p.9 (closed session) (us conected in p. 10)). Witness CNAC testi f ied that: "[Fidd]e Uwizeyel

askecl the meeting to take a decision concerning these refugees who were living in a situation of insecurity and who did

not have any food to survive, and who simply were not receiving any assistance", and Father Nsengiyumva responded

promising that "the retugees could be received in homes - in the houses in the diocese, and that the government had to

ensure the safety of those refugees, and that for his part, the diocese was going to provide fbod to those refugees. Prime

Minister Jean Kambanda accepted that proposition - that proposal and asked that it be adopted as such" (see Witness

CNAC, T. 16 December 2009 p. 68 (closed session)).
8e) See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 209-213.
8e2 According to the Trial Chamber, these consistencies include: "[T]he series of events beginning at the prdlbcture

office and culminating in a meeting convened by the Prime Minister at the seat of the Interim Government in Murambi;

their depiction of the Prime Minister's speech during the first meeting at Murambi as providing a broad overview of the

Government's military approach to fighting the RPF; their description of the composition of the invitees to the first

rneeting; the presence of Ministers, including Nzabonimana and Witness T82, and other high-ranking national

Government officials; the fact that no Minister took the floor during the meeting; Prlfbt Uwizeye's impassioned plea

for assistance on behalf of his prlt'ecture: and the fact that the bourgmestres were not informed of a second meeting

convened specifically fbr them until after the first meeting at Murambi" (see Trial Judgement, para. I 146).
tot Trial Judgement, para. 1162.
n'o Trial Judgement, para. 1162.
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Interahamw".8es From these findings, the Appeals Chamber understands that the Trial Chamber

considered the threats to have been made in the Prime Minister's absence. On this basis, the

Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber did not en in finding that Witnesses CNAA's and

CNAC's accounts corroborated each other, while still acknowledging a discrepancy between both

testimonies.se6 The Trial Chamber was therefore reasonable in frnding that the difference did not

diminish the credibilitv of the Prosecution evidence. Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate any error in

this regard.8eT

324. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that, based solely on the

first meeting at Murambi, the Trial Chamber erred in finding that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC

corroborated each other. Nzabonimana's arguments on the alleged contradictions between

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC are therefore dismissed.

b. Witness CNAA's Credibility

325. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously accepted Witness CNAA's

interpretation that the word "enemy" was synonymous with "Tutsis",8e8 thus allowing the alteration

of the words that the witness attributed to Nzabonimana.tee Nzabonimana argues that in a prior

statement, Witness CNAA claimed that Nzabonimana referred to "enemy", rather than "Tutsis" as

he mentioned in his testimony at trial.eo0 He also points to a 1996 statement, where Witness CNAA

did not mention Nzabonimana, nor threats against the bourgmestres, in the context of the Murambi

meeting.eol Nzabonimana claims that the Trial Chamber overlooked the gradual transformation of

Witness CNAA's successive statements on the content of the Murambi meeting.e02 Nzabonimana

further submits that Witness CNAA cannot be considered credible because, given the small number

8e5 Trial Judgement, para. 1162.
8% The Appeals Chamber notes that, according to Witness CNAA's testimony, Kambanda was not present at the second
meeting because he left during the first meeting. ,See Witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 p. 9 (closed session).
Witness CNAC testified that the Prime Minister was still present during the second meeting. See Witness CNAC,
T. 16 December 2009 p. 69 (closed session).
8et The Trial Chamber did not make any determination on when the Prime Minister left or whether he left during the
first or second meeting. The Appeals Chamber finds that it would have been clearer for the Trial Chamber to explicitly
state that it found it unnecessary to determine the exact time when the Prime Minister left or whether he left during the

first or second meeting. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's finding that "[a]mong those
who attended the meeting included Prime Minister Kambanda, bourgmestres, national heads of political parties and
Interim Govemment Ministers". While this finding does not specify which part of the meeting is concerned, the Trial
Chamber consistently held that it further found that "the Ministers present at the meeting, including Nzabonimana, used
this meeting to threaten the bourgmestres", without any reference to the Prime Ministet. See Trial Judgement,
para. 1179, Despite the lack of clarity, the Appeals Chamber finds that whether the Prime Minister was still present
during the second meeting held at Murambi is not material to the Trial Chamber's finding on the threats made by the
Ministers present. See infra, pan.399.
6e6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 220, 221.
8ee Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 219, refeting to Tial Judgement, para. I 163.
em Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.220,
eor Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 219. See also Exhibit D87A (Witness CNAA's Statement of 22 May 1996).
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of participants and radio reports admitted

presence during the second meeting.e03

into evidence, it was impossible to miss Kambfril.&l/H

326. The Prosecution responds that the words 'oenemy" and "accomplices" were used

interchangeably to refer to Tutsis.e0a It adds that Witness CNAA was responding to questions about

Bourgmestre Jean-Paul Akayesu in his 1996 statement.e0s According to the Prosecution, the fact

that a witness incriminates an accused person, even if increasingly over time or through successive

testimonies, does not in itself provide a basis for rejecting the witness's testimony.eOo The

Prosecution further responds that, by simply asserting that it was impossible for a witness to err

about when Kambanda left. Nzabonimana does not show how the Trial Chamber was

unreasonable.eoT

32'/. With respect to Nzabonimana's words, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber

explicitly considered the different words that Witness CNAA attributed to Nzabonimana - "Tutsis",

in his testimony at trial, and "enemy" and "accomplices" in a prior statement.e0* The Trial Chamber

recalled Witness CNAA's explanation during trial that: (i) the common goal of the ministers was to

carry out the genocide; (ii) he could not recount what was said word for word, given the time

elapsed; (iii) the enemy was the Tutsis during the genocide; and (iv) the idea behind the words was

the same.eOe The Trial Chamber considered the witness's explanations to be satisfactory, especially

given the context of the targeted killings at the time and the fact that Tutsis were described as the

enemy.e'n The Appeals Chamber flncls the Trial Chamber's assessment to be reasonable.

328. With respect to Witness CNAA's 1996 statement, the Trial Chamber expressly considered

that the witness did not mention Nzabonimana in relation to the Murambi meeting.ellThe Trial

Chamber recalled the witness's explanations that the statement referred to the moming meeting,

whereas Nzabonimana only spoke in the afternoon, and that the statement related specifically to

Bourgmestre Akayesu.et2 The Trial Chamber found the witness's explanations reasonable.el3 The

eor Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 215.
et" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 214.
e0'1 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 191,
T .  l5  December  2009 pp .57 .58 .  The Prosecut ion
it  was the Tutsis (Witness CNAA T. l5 December
Statement of 14 August 2(X)3) who should not

Statement of l4 August 2003).
eos Prosecution Response Brief, para. 192.
e6 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 197.
et'7 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 184.
n"* Trial Judgement. para. I  163.
u'' Trial Judgement, para. I 163.
ero Trial Judgement, para. I 163.
'" Trial Judgement, para. 1 149.
e' ' Trial Judgement, para. I 149
''t Trial Judgement, para. 1 149

See also Exhibit D87A (Witness CNAA's Statement of 22May 1996).

re.fbrrinS4 to Trial Judgement, para. ll63; Witness CNAA,
therefore argues that it did not matter whether Nzabonimana said that
2009 pp. 57, 58) or the enemy or the accomplices (Witness CNAA's
be supported. See idem. See also Exhibit D89 (Witness CNAA's

112
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Appeals Chamber does not detect any error in this regard. The Appeals Chamber also does not find

that the Trial Chamber overlooked the gradual transformation of Witness CNAA's statements,

especially in light of the fact that the 1996 statement already mentions that none of the speeches of

the members of the government was aimed at pacifying the situation or stopping the killings.era

329. In the Appeals Chamber's view, Nzabonimana also fails to demonstrate that the Trial

Chamber erroneously assessed Witness CNAA's credibility in relation to Kambanda's presence. As

already discussed, the Trial Chamber considered that, compared to Witness CNAC's testimony,

Witness CNAA made no mention of Kambanda's ptesence during the second meeting with the

bourgmestrrr.ntt Th" Trial Chamber determined that this discrepancy did not significantly diminish

the credibility of Prosecution evidence.el6 Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how Witness CNAA's

testimony that Kambanda left during the first meeting, compared to Witness CNAC's testimony,

that he left during the second meeting, impacts Witness CNAA's credibility as a whole. Contrary to

what Nzabonimana submits, the question is not whether it was possible for Witness CNAA to miss

Kambanda's presence, but rather when the Prime Minister left and when the threats were made.

Recalling that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that both witnesses consistently testified that the

threats were made after Kambanda's departure,elT the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in

Nzabonimana' s arguments.

330. Nzabonimana's arguments on Witness CNAA's credibility are accordingly dismissed.

c. Witness CNAC's Credibility

33I. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously considered it immaterial that

Witness CNAC, in his 2001 confession, omitted to mention the threats during the Murambi

meeting.el8 He argues that it also erred in accepting Witness CNAC's explanation on the absence of

Nzabonimana's name in the Prosecution's interview notes.ele According to Nzabonimana, the Trial

Chamber erroneously found the interview notes to be hearsay, even though the witness confirmed

that their content reflected statements he gave in the Karemera et al. tial.e2o Nzabonimana further

claims that the Trial Chamber failed to consider that the words Witness CNAC attributed to

Nzabonimana in this trial were the same as those the witness attributed to Karemera in the

eto Exhibit D87A (Witness CNAA's Statement of 22May 1996), p. 4 ("n'alLaient pas dans le sens de pacifier ou
d' arr|ter les tueries").

l't trial Judgement, para. 1162.
''o Trial Judgement, para. 1162.
o l ?  -" Jee supra, pila. JlJ.
e18 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 216. Nzabonimana argues that even if Witness CNAC did not name the speakers
in his 2001 confession, the witness also made no mention of the threats. See idem.
ere Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 217, referring to, inter alia, Trial Judgement, para. I 168.
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Karemera et al. proceedings.e2l Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber overlooW$

gradual transformation of Witness CNAC's successive statements with respect to the content of the

Murambi meeting,ez? and consistently accepted Witness CNAC's evasive explanations for his

omissions.e23

332. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found it unproblematic that

Witness CNAC did not mention Nzabonimana in his 2001 conf'ession because the witness did not

name any other participants of the meeting.e2a As for the interview notes, the Prosecution responds

that: (i) there was no contradiction between Witness CNAC's testimony at trial and interviews he

gave in Karemera et al.;ezs (ii) Nzabonimana fails to acknowledge the Trial Chamber's finding that

all the ministers made similar statements supporting the genocide;e26 and (iii) Nzabonimana shows

no error in the Trial Chamber's finding that Witness CNAC's testimony could not be impeached by

the interview notes, which the witness neither prepared nor signed.e2T

333. The Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's observation that Witness CNAC's 2001

confession did not mention Nzabonimana in relation to the Murambi meeting.e2s According to the

Trial Chamber, this omission was not material since in the confession he did not name any

attendees.e2e The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber did not expressly

consider the witness's omission of the threats in the 2001 confession.e3o However, the Appeals

Chamber notes that in the 2001 confession, a Pro Justicic document, Witness CNAC was

answering questions regarding his role in killings, not about the conduct of the accused before this

Tribunal.e3l

334. As for the interview notes, the Trial Chamber considered the document to be hearsay and

thus unreliable to impeach Witness CNAC's testimony.e32 In this regard, the Trial Chamber

observed that the witness did not. sign the document, which was an interview summary that the

Prosecution prepared.e3t The Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably

e2" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 218.
err Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 218.
er2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 215.
e2r Nzabonimana Appeal Brief ,  para.2l1 .
e?a Prosecution Response Brief, para. 198.
e2s Prosecution Response Brief, para. 200.
e26 Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 201.
e27 Prosecution Response Bief, para.202.
':* Trial Judgement, para. I 152.
ete Trial Judgement, para. I  152.
ero See Trial Judgement, para. 1152.

" '  Exhibit  D97 (Witness CNAC's Pro Justiciu of 29 November 2001),
ot 'Triaf Judgement, para. 1167.

"t Trial Judgement, para. 1167.

t t4
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characterised the interview notes as hearsay, and that, in any event, any elror in this regard would

have no impact on its assessment of Witness CNAC's credibility.

335. The Appeals Chamber further observes that the Trial Chamber specifically addressed the

Defence assertion that Witness CNAC attributed the same words to Nzabonimana and Karemera.e3a

The Trial Chamber noted Witness CNAC's testimony that several ministers spoke at the meeting,e35

and that, according to Witness CNAA, the ministers reiterated the same message encouraging

genocide.e36 According to the Trial Chamber, that similar words were attributed to Nzabonimana

and Karemera did not undermine the consistent and conoborated testimony that important

personalities delivered essentially the same message to the bourgmestres.e3T The Appeals Chamber

considers the Trial Chamber's assessment to be reasonable. The Appeals Chamber further observes

that Nzabonimana simply repeats arguments that the Trial Chamber already addressed, without

demonstrating any enors.

336. The Appeals Chamber also observes that the Trial Chamber additionally did not find

discrepancies between Witness CNAC's testimony and the interview notes to be significant.e3s The

Trial Chamber accepted the witness's explanation that Nzabonimana was not mentioned because

the interviews were conducted in the context of Karemera's conduct, and that he had no reason to

mention Nzabonimana's presence or utterances at this meeting.e3e The Trial Chamber also observed

that the interview notes specifically stated that the list of Government Ministers present was not

exhaustive.eoo Gi,ren the above, the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that the Trial Chamber erred

in accepting the witness's explanation. Nzabonimana also fails to demonstrate any "transformation"

of Witness CNAC's evidence in successive statements about the Murambi meeting.

337. Nzabonimana's arguments on Witness CNAC's credibility are therefore dismissed.

d. Reliance on Witnesses CNAA and CNAC for findings on Nzabonimana's

order to kill bourgmestres

338. Nzabonimana submits that, given Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's varying accounts over

time on who spoke at the Murambi meeting and what Nzabonimana allegedly said, the Trial

n'o Trial Judgement, para. 1169.
e35 Trial Judgement, para. 1169.

lll:lq Judgement, para. I l6e.
"' Trial Judgement, para. I169.
n" Trial Judgement, para. 1168.
n'n Trial Judgement. para. 1168.
noo Trial Judgement, para. I 168.
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Chamber adopted a "holistic approach" to "circumvent the quest" for his exact wfififlP/lJ

Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber merely repeated Witness CNAA's interpretation of

Nzabonimana's alleged utterances, but ignored that the utterances were made in a different context

than those to which Witness CNAC testifiecl.ea2 According to Nzabonimana, the Trial Chamber

simply concluded that the "ministers present at the meeting", including Nzabonimana, used this

meeting to threaten the bourgmestres, but did not identily the ministers present, or what they

said.ea3 Nzabonimana adds that the Trial Chamber prejudiced him when it refused to admit

transcripts of Prdfet Uwizeye's testimony in the Bizimungu et al. trial.eaa

339. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously convicted him of ordering

the killing of bourgmeslres without determining his exact words, his alleged order, or the intended

audience.eas Finally, he submits that the Trial Chamber erred by accepting the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC with respect to the order to kill, but not for the killings that allegedly

resulted from the Murambi meetins.ea6

340. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana fails to show that the Trial Chamber's

assessment of evidence and findings on the Murambi meeting were unreasonable.eaT The

Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana's claim, that the Trial Chamber should have admitted Prdfet

Uwizeye's transcript from Bizimungu et al., is undeveloped.e48 With regard to the subsequent

killings, the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber had the discretion to rely on some but not all

of Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimony.eae

341. The Trial Chamber considered that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC corroborated each other's

accounts on circumstances during the second meeting at Murambi with the Gitarama

bourgmestrrr.etu Acco.ding to the Trial Chamber:

Both witnesses described a scenario where the bourgmestres were intimidated by various high-
ranking Government officials, including Nzabonimana, who took turns making various threats
toward the bourgmestre^s, including death or removal from office, if they did not participate in the
Government agenda to eliminate the "enemy," which was understood to be the Tutsis. Both
attributed similar menacing quotes to Nzabonimana, namely that if they did not collaborate with
the Interuhamwe, they would be deemed accomplices of the Inkotanyl, or Tutsis. As a result, there
woufd be no security in their communes and they would suffer the consequences. The Trial
Chamber considered that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC have provided internally credible and

ear Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para. 222.
ea2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para.223.
ear Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.223.
eaa Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para. 224.
eas Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 222,223,241 ,248.
ea6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 23 l.
ea7 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 234.
ea8 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 177.
eae Prosecution Response Brief, para. 185.

"t 'Trial Judgement, para. I l6l.
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consistent accounts of a meeting in which Nzabonimana and other Government officials

threatened the bourgmestres as ameans ofensuring their participation in the genocide.esl

342. The Appeals Chamber observes that Witness CNAA testified that :

[...] Callixte Nzabonimana, like other ministers who were plesent- well, they imposed
tlemselves on us who were at the meeting. And he told us - or, rather, he imposed himself on us
and told us that anyone who was working for the administration who would show any support to

the Tutsi would be seen as an enemy. "t [...]

[...] Callixte Nzabonimana said that some bourgmestres no longer enjoyed the confidence of their
people because those bourgmestres were supportingthe Inkotanyls and the Tutsis, and that those

bourgmestres had to be removed from their post. [...] In a nutshell, all the ministers said almost
the same thing, saying that we had to stop supporting the Tutsis. This was actually the first
meeting in Gitarama during which high-level officials in the country were making such

statements.e53 [...]

343. Witness CNAC testified that:

344.

[Nzabonimana] also took the floor and he gave some explanations on the problems which we had
raised and which concerned the Interahamwe grorrp which was armed and which was using those
weapons to kill people. He said that the people who were claiming that the Interahamwes wete
worsening the security situation were people who were against the Interahamwes. He said that the
Interahamwes had shown their authority in Kigali town because, as he said, if they had not been
there, Kigali town would have fallen into the hands of the enemy. He asked the bourgmestre to
collaborate with the Interahamwes if they wanted security to reign in their communes. And he also
warned us by saying, "If you do not collaborate with the Interahamwe, therc will be no security in
your communes and you will suffer the consequences." That is what he told us during that
meetins.g5a

The Appeals Chamber notes that both witnesses do not attribute the same words to

Nzabonimana. Specifically, the utterances the Trial Chamber referenced appear to stem largely

from Witness CNAC's testimony.e5t However, this does not mean that the Trial Chamber erred in

observing that both witnesses "attributed similar menacing quotes to Nzabonimana".e56 Both

Prosecution witnesses provided consistent accounts of the meeting at Murambi, where

Nzabonimana and other government officials threatened the bourgmestres to ensure their

participation in the genocide.esT Also, the Trial Chamber reasonably found that both witnesses

described a scenario where high-ranking government officials, including Nzabonimana, took turns

threatening bourgmestres and where the bourgmestres feltintimidated.e58 In the Appeals Chamber's

view, it was not necessary for the Trial Chamber to determine Nzabonimana's exact words, the

identity of all the ministers present, or precisely what they said. The Appeals Chamber also recalls

ntt Trial Judgement, para. 1161 (internal reference omitted).
e52 Witness CNAA, T. 14 December 2009 p.64 (as corrected by p.64,lines 28, 31'32).
et3 witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 p. 10 (closed session).
eto Witness CNAC, T. 16 December 2009 p. 71 (closed session).
e5s See Trial Judgement, para. 1161, referring to Witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 pp. 10, 1l (closed session);
Witness CNAC, T. 16 December2009 pp.10,71(closed session).
e56 See Trial Judgement, para. 1161.

lll {r" I{"1 Judgement. para. I 161.
"o .See Trial Judgement, para. I 161 .
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that two prima facie credible testimonies need not be

corroborative and that corroboration may exist even when

identical in all aspects

some details differ.e5q

in ordefrd rS/H

345. Turning to Nzabonimana's alleged "orders", the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial

Chamber's finding that "Nzabonimana ordered the killing of bourgmestres and other local officials

opposed to the massacres" during the Murambi meeting.e6t' The Appeals Chamber is unable to see

how this finding was supported by the evidence of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC. Indeed, Witness

CNAC only referenced the killing of bourgmestres when explaining how he understood

Nzabonimana's threat and the possible consequences.'ot As noted earlier, Witness CNAA only

stated that "Callixte Nzabonimana said that some bourgmestres no longer enjoyed the confidence of

their people because those bourgmestres were supporting the Inkotanyi and the Tutsis, and that

those bourgmestres had to be removed from thcir post".e62 At no point do the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC reveal that Nzabonimana instructed a person under his authority to

commit an off'ence. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber erroneously

determined that Nzabonimana ordered the killing of bourgmestres and other local officials.

However, since Nzabonimana was not convicted of ordering genocide but of conspiracy to commit

genocide and direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi

meeting,e63 the Appeals Chamber considers that this error has no impact on the verdict.

346. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana's argument regarding Prdfet Uwizeye's

transcript from the Bizimungu et al. case is undeveloped as he fails to indicate any request he made

to admit the transcript.eba Furtherrnore, Nzabonimana points to a decision that does not relate to

Prdfet Uwizeye's transcript from the Bizimungu et al. proceedings.e6s The Appeals Chamber thus

summarily dismisses his argument in this regard.

347. The Appeals Chamber now turns to arguments that the Trial Chamber ened by accepting

Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's testimonies on the orderto kill, while rejecting theirevidence on

the deaths fbllowing the Murambi meeting.e66 Recalling that it is not unreasonable for a trier of fact

"tu See rupro, para. 184.
'uu Trial Judgement, para. 1179.
uu' Witness CNAC, 16 December 2009 p.71 (closed session) ("Q. Now, Witness, what did you understand him to mean
by the words,'you would suffer the consequences'? What was he referring to? A. For us, the consequences he was
referring to was the fact that we ran the risk of being removed fiom our positions or that we could even be killed"). Sae
alsoTial Judgement, para. 1160.
'o' Witness CNAA, T, 15 December 2(X)9 p. 10 (closed session).
e63 See Trial Judgement, paras. 1147, 1749, 1773, 11'75.
et'o See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para. 224.
eos See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 224, referring to 30 April 2012 Decision'
et"' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 23 l.

u8
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to accept some, but reject other parts of a witness's testimony,e6t the App"uls Chamber notes the

Trial Chamber's obseryation that the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC on the killing of

local officials after the Murambi meeting were inconsistent, vague, and based entirely on

hearsay.e68 Specifically, it considered that the witnesses merely asserted, in a conclusory manner,

that the deaths resulted from the meetings, and that only Witness CNAA testified to the killings of

Conseillers Bernard Twagiramukiza and Wallace Gasigwa.e6e As a result, the Trial Chamber held

that the Prosecution demonstrated no evidentiary nexus between the Murambi meeting and the

deaths and did not establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Nzabonimana's utterances at the

Murambi meeting substantially contributed to the deaths of local officials.e7O The Appeals Chamber

sees no enor in this assessment. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to

demonstrate how the Trial Chamber erred in accepting the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC as corroborated and consistent on the Murambi meeting, while rejecting their evidence on

the killings as inconsistent, vague, and hearsay.

348. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber considers that Nzabonimana fails to

demonstrate the Trial Chamber committed any error warranting the Appeals Chamber's

intervention.

e. Conclusion

349. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Trial Chamber did not err in finding that the

testimonies of Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and CNAC corroborated each other. The Appeals

Chamber also considers that the Trial Chamber did not err in the assessment of Witnesses CNAA's

and CNAC's credibility. Nzabonimana's arguments challenging the Prosecution's evidence with

respect to the event at Murambi on 18 April 1994 are dismissed.

(ii) Defence Evidence

350. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber excluded, without providing valid reasons,

Defence evidence showing that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC could not be believed beyond

reasonable doubt.eTl In particular, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred, to his

prejudice, by excluding Defence Witness T24's testimony on the incorrect basis that the witness

"did not hear much of what was said", while, Nzabonimana argues, the witness testified that he "did

eu' S"r, e.g., Ndnhimana Appeal Judgement, para. 183; Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement, para. 243;
y^!,a! ik:tli2ayo Appeal Judgemenl para. I 55.
'oo Trial Judgement, para. I 187.
eue Trial Judgement, para. 1187.
nto Trial Judgement, para. 1187.
e71 Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , paru.221 .
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not expect much from that meeting"."'In Nzabonimana's view, without this error

Chamber would not have found Witness T24's testimony to have little probative

overlooked that Witness 724 corroborated Witness Mporanzi on the absence of threats

Nzabonimana and on the general dissatisfaction from the bourgmestres regarding

problems.eT3

th€vil6/H
value or

made by

security

351. Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber erred by failing to devote the requisite

attention to Exhibit D86.e74 He claims that Exhibit D86 reveals the "lies" of Witnesses CNAA and

CNAC and corroborates Witnesses T24's and Mporanzi's evidence that the Murambi meeting was

intended to find solutions to reinstate peace, that Prime Minister Kambanda announced measures to

maintain security, that the bourgmestres expressed concerns during the second meeting, and that the

government promised to help them.eTs

352. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber erred by dismissing the evidence of

Defence Witness T133, which it erroneously categorised as hearsay evidence, while admitting

Witness CNAC's hearsay evidence.eT6 Nzabonimana submits that, by erroneously dismissing

Witness T133's evidence, Nzabonimana was deprived of evidence corroborating Witnesses

Mporanzi and T24, which would have in turn led the Trial Chamber to further question the

credibility of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC.e77

353. The Prosecution responds that Witness T24 admitted to lying,e78 and that his recollection of

the Murambi meeting was vague.'7e It therefore argues that the Trial Chamber's possibly erroneous

reliance on the English transcripts does not affect its overall conclusion that Witness T24's

testimony had "little probative value".e80 The Prosecution further submits that Nzabonimana fails to

show how it was unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to reject the "second-hand account" contained

in Exhibit D86.eur Finally, the Prosecution argues that contrary to Nzabonimana's claim, Witness

e72 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 226, re.ferr ing toTrial Judgement, para. 1176 anrlWitness T24,T.21 Apri l  2( ' t10

p.,s.
' ' '  Nzabonimana Appeal Briel ' .  prua. 226.
e7a Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para.228.
e75 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 228.
e?6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief , para.229.
e77 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 229. Nzabonimana contends that Witness T133 conoborated Witnesses Mporanzi
and T24 on the fact that the main purpose of the Murambi meeting was the issue of refugees, that no one was
threatened, and that Nzabonimana did not speak. See idem. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber did not
proceed to look fbr corroboration between Defence witnesses when their testimonies were assessed in light of the
Defence evidence. See ibid., para. 230. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana's submissions relating to

corroboration of Def'ence evidence are dealt with in the following section. See inlra, paras. 358-362.
e78 Prosecution Resoonse Brief. para. 205.

" 'Prosecul ion Resoonse Brief.  para. 205.
u*" Prorecution Response Brief.  para. 206.
'*r 

Prosecution Response Brief.  para. 232.
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T133's testimony about the meeting was hearsay,e82 and that in any event his evidence that Witness

Mporanzi did not mention the threats Nzabonimana made at the meeting is undermined by Witness

T133's concession that Witness Mporanzi did not tell him what every speaker said during the

meeting.es3

354. The Appeals Chamber notes that according to the English version of the transcript, Witness

T24 stated that "[...] I did not hear much at that meeting",e84 while in the French version of the

transcript Witness T24 stated that "[. ..f je n'attendais pas grand-chose de cette rdunion".ess The

Appeals Chamber observes a difference between the transcripts - the witness stating that he did not

hear much or he was not expecting much from the meeting. However, the Appeals Chamber is not

persuaded that the Trial Chamber's assessment of Witness T24's testimony would have been

different on the basis of the French version of the transcript. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber

notes that the Trial Chamber found Witness T24's evidence to have little probative value because

Witness T24 was unable to: (i) provide many details of the meeting, including the identities of the

ministers in attendance apafi from Nzabonimana;e86 (ii) provide details of what was said during the

meeting;e87 and (iii) recall whether Nzabonimana or any other bourgmestre took to the floor,ett Th"

Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial Chamber's finding of the limited probative value was

in addition to its determination that the witness's credibility was seriously undermined by his

admission to providing a false statement.e8e Given the Trial Chamber's findings on Witness T24,

the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in

not considering corroboration between Witnesses Mporanzi's and T24's testimony.

355. As to Exhibit D86, the Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber considered the

exhibit and its contents.ee0 The Trial Chamber accepted Witness CNAA's explanation that the radio

report mentioned only part of what was said at the meeting and it noted that the report contained a

second-hand account of the proceedings.eer Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how it was

unreasonable for the Trial Chamber to prefer and rely on the first-hand testimony of Prosecution

witnesses.

e8t Prosecution Response Bief , para. 201 .
e83 Prosecution Response Bief , pwa.207 .
e*Witness T24,T.27 April 2010p.5 (closed session.l.
e85 Witness T24,T.27 Apil2010 p. 6 (French) (closed session).
etu Trial Judgement, para. 1116.

lllllq Judgement, para. 1l?6.
'oo Trial Judgement, para. 1176.
ttt Trial Judgement, para. I175.
nno Trial Judgement, para. 1164.
eet Trial Judgement, pan. 1164. See also Exhibit D86 (Transcript of Radio Rwanda Broadcast, 19 April 1994).
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356. Finally, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found Witness T133's tes8frM/H

of limited probative value because it was entirely hearsay and the witness acknowledged that his

bourgmestre did not inforrn him of everything that occurred during the meeting.o" kt this regard,

the Trial Chamber considered that Witness Tl33 did not attend the Murambi meeting and conceded

that his bourgmestre was his sole source of information.ee3 The Appeals Chamber finds no error in

the Trial Chamber classifying Witness T133's evidence as hearsay. Nzabonimana therefore fails to

demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in preferring the first-hand testimony of the Prosecution

witnesses over the hearsay testimony of Witness T133, and in not using Tl33's testimony to

corroborate Witnesses Mporanzi and T24.

357. Nzabonimana's arguments are accordingly dismissed.

(iii) Use of Corroboration

358. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erroneously used corroboration to favour the

Prosecution.eea Nzabonimana argues that, on one hand, the Trial Chamber consistently reliecl on

Witnesses T24 and Mporanzi, whom it found generally not credible, to corroborate Prosecution

witnesses - an approach the Tribunal has deemed unreasonable.ees Nzabonimana submits that, on

the other hand, the Trial Chamber consistently disregarded the testimonies of Witnesses T24 and

Mporanzi, on the pretext that they were not generally credible, when they contradicted Prosecution

evidence.ee6

359. Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial Chamber erred by relying on Defence witnesses

to corroborate Prosecution witnesses on disputed facts.eeT He submits that based on the witnesses

acknowledgment of facts not in dispute, the Trial Chamber erroneously concluded that Prosecution

and Defence witnesses corroborated each other in all aspects of their testimonies, including

contentious issues such as Nzabonimana's presence at the Murambi meeting.ees Specifically, he

argues that Witnesses T24 and Mporanzi rebutted the accounts given by Witnesses CNAA and

eer Trial Judgement, para. 1171 .
e" Trial Judgement, paras. 1 128- l  l3 l .
eea Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para.6. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana's arguments are made under the
"preliminary issue" section of his Appeal Brief and it has decided to examine them as they are linked to his challenges
made under his Fifth Ground of Appeal.
ee5 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 1,9, re.t'erring to Muvunyi / Appeal Judgement, para. 131; Rutaganda Appeal

Judgement paras. 496-506; Nsengimanzl Trial Judgement, para. 443. Nzabonimana submits that this approach enabled
the Trial Chamber to establish and enhance the credibility of Prosecution witnesses. See ibid., para.7 .
eet' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 8.
ee7 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 10.
ee8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 10.
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CNAC regarding, inter alia, the Murambi meeting on 18 April 1994, and yet the Trial Chamber

found that they corroborated each other.eee

360. The Prosecution responds that contrary to Nzabonimana's argument, trial chambers can

consider witnesses to partially corroborate each other, and argues that the jurisprudence

Nzabonimana refers to is not on point.l0o0 The Prosecution further submits that Nzabonimana

inconectly claims that the Trial Chamber found corroboration where witnesses in fact contradicted

each other.toot It argues that the Trial Chamber did not find that Witnesses Mporanzi and T24

corroborated all allegations on the Murambi meeting, it simply found that they corroborated certain

elements of Prosecution evidence. 1002

36I. The Appeals Chamber notes that, contrary to Nzabonimana's submission, the Trial Chamber

did not find Witnesses T24 and Mporanzi "generally not credible" but that their credibility was

"seriously undermine[d]" due to their admission of having provided false statements to Prosecution

investigators.too' Thus, in the Appeals Chamber's view, the Trial Chamber's finding on their

credibiiity did not amount to a conclusion that the witnesses could not be relied upon at all, but

reflected a cautious approach in its assessment of their evidence. This did not bar the Trial Chamber

from considering some aspects of Witnesses T24's and Mporanzi's testimonies to corroborate

Prosecution evidence. Recalling again that it is not unreasonable for a trial chamber to accept some

parts of a witness's testimony while rejecting others,1OOa the Appeals Chamber finds no error in the

Trial Chamber's reliance on Witnesses T24's and Mporanzi's evidence to corroborate Prosecution

evidence while rejecting it elsewh".".toot Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber

used corroboration to favour the Prosecution.

362. In addition, the Appeals Chamber observes that, contrary to Nzabonimana's claim, the

witnesses did not dispute his presence at the Murambi meeting.loou All four witnesses testified to

the existence of the Murambi meeting on 18 Aprit 1994 and Nzabonimana's attendance.l007 The

Trial Judgement accurately reflected the testimony of the four witnesses, from which the Trial

eee Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. ll, referring, inter alia, to Tial Judgement, para. I 158.
'* Prosecution Response Brief, para. 10.
'* Prosecution Response Brief, para. I l.
'*'Prosecution Response Brief, para. 1 l.
'*' Trial Judgement, puas. 143,234.
t*,Srr, ,.g.1 Ndohi*ona Appeal Judgement, para. 183; Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement, pua.243;
NtawukuLilyayo Appeal Judgement, para. 155.
t*t Cf.Sainovii et al. Appeal Judgement, pwa.632, where the Appeals Chamber found that the Trial Chamber was
entitled to partly rely on a witness's testimony as corroboration on one part of his evidence, while placing little weight
on other parts of his evidence.
'* Sr" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. ll, referring to, inter alia,TialJudgement para. 1158.
'mt Trial Judgement, paras. 1082- 1089 (Witness CNAA), 1091- 1103 (Witness CNAC), 1108- I 121 (Witness Mporanzi),
| 124- | 125 (Witness T24).
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Chamber found that they corroborated each other on this fact.l(n8 Accordingly, the

Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments on the use of corroboration in their entirety.

(e) Musambira

,\art49/H

363. The Trial Chamber found that in May 1994 Nzabonimana was present at the reinstatement

ceremony of the bourgmestre of Musambta commurze during which Nzabonimana accused the

attending bourgmestres of not being supportive of the killings of Tutsis, warned them that they

could be replaced by Interahamwe, and refused to denounce the killings of Tutsis.""'' The T.ial

Chamber relied on the eyewitness evidence of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC whose testimony it

found credible.r0r('However, the Trial Chamber found that there was insufficient evidence that

Nzabonimana's words at the meeting substantially contributed to any subsequent crime, and,

accordingly, it did not convict him of genocide basecl on this event.l0tt The Trial Chamber found,

nevertheless, that the evidence provided circumstantial evidence of Nzabonimana's genocidal

in ten t . lo l2

364. Nzabonimana challenges the Trial Chambcr's assessment of the discrepancies between

Witness CNAA's testimony and previous statements and makes various other challenges with

respect to this event.lol3

(i) Witness CNAA's Credibility

365. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber tailed to consider a substantial modification

between Witness CNAA's testimony, where he added the fact thatbourgmestres would be replaced

by members of Nzabonimana's party, and a previous statement from 2008, which was the only time

Witness CNAA mentioned the Musambira meeting.l0la Nzabonimana further submits that the Trial

Chamber ered in assessing differences between Witness CNAA's testimonies in the

Karemeraetal. and Nzabonimana trials.l0l5 In particular, he contends that, at trial, he was alleged

to have accused the bourgmestres of not supporting the killings, threatened to replace them with

"t '*  Trir l  Judgement. para. |  158.
'o'Trir l  Judgement, para. 1224. See also ibid.,para.1727.
r"r" Trial Judgement, para. 1223. See ibid.,  paras. 1213, 1214, 1221.
r0" Trial Judgement, para. 1728. See also ibid., para. 1225.
'n'2 Trial Judgement, para. 1728.ln the Trial Judgement's legal finding section on conspiracy to commit genocide, the
Trial Chamber found that the words spoken by Nzabonimana in the Musambira meeting established the intent to
encourage the bourgmestres and the population to kill Tutsis. See ihid., para. 1746.
r"rt Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 233-241. Contrary to what Nzabonimana submits in paragraph 232 of his Appeal
Brief, he does not develop any argument on the alleged inconsistencies between Witnesses CNAA and CNAC with

resDect to thls event.
r0r4 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 233, 23'7. Nzabonimana asserts
Musambira meeting in his earl ier statements in 1996 and 2003 and that in

the bourgmestres of being useless and inefficient. See idem.
r ')rs Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 234.

that Witness CNAA did not mention the
the 2008 statement, the witness only accused
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Interahamwe, and refused to denounce the massacres on the radio.1016 Nzabonimana argues that

Witness CNAA's evidence in the Karemera et al. tialwas that Nzabonimana denied responsibility

for blaming the bourgmestres for not doing anything to address the security situation, and that he

challenged the fact that he had to denounce the situation for which he did not consider himself

responsible.lol7 In Nzabonimana's view, Witness CNAA attributed different words to him and

provided "radically different" testimonies in the Karemera et al. trial and in this case when

describing the same meeting.lol8

366. The Prosecution responds that the omission in mentioning the Musambira meeting in

Witness CNAA's earlier statements was not significant since they did not focus on

Nzabonimana.l0le The Prosecution further submits that the Trial Chamber reasonably found that the

substance of Witness CNAA's recollection was the same between his testimony at trial and his

2008 statement.lO2o The Prosecution responds that Witness CNAA's testimony in the

Karemera et al. lrrtal was consistent with his testimony in this case where the witness simply

provided additional information.to" It argues that Nzabonimana has not shown that the Trial

Chamber erred in accepting the wiLness's explanation that he gave the additional information

regarding Nzabonimana's threat to replace the bourgmeslres since Nzabonimana was the accused in

this case.lo22

361. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered the alleged

omissions and contradictions raised by Nzabonimana. In particular, with respect to Witness

CNAA's 2008 statement, the Trial Chamber noted that the witness indicated that he testified in

three previous cases and that he was "willing this time around to.talk in more detail about [...]

Nzaboniman u*.1023 The Trial Chamber considered that this reasonably accounted for the previous

omissions on the Musambira meeting, as the 2008 statement was Witness CNAA's first to

specifically address Nzabonimana.l02a Nzabonimana merely repeats on appeal the same arguments

raised at trial without demonstrating how the Trial Chamber erred.1025 In the same vein, the Appeals

Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber explicitly considered that the witness did not mention

that Nzabonimana wanted to replace the bourgmestres in Witness CNAA's 2008 statement.l026

10'6 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 236.
l0lt Nzabonimana nppeal Briel para. 236.
ror8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 234-236.
'u'' Prosecution Response Brief, para. 193.
Ito Prosecution Response Brief. para. 195.
1021 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 194.
Io22 Prosecution Resoonse Brief. para. l9a.
r@3 Trial Judgement, pan. 1218,'referring to Exhibit D94A (Witness CNAA's Statement of 2 October 2008).
l'o Trial Judgement, para. 1218.
'*t Sr" Trial Judgement, para. 12l8; Nzabonimana Closing Brief, paras. 542,543,
'tu Trial Judgement, para. 1219, referring ro Nzabonimana Closing Brief, para. 543.
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Nzabonimana

alleged eror.

merely disagrees with the Trial Chamber's conclusions without sttbstant\atiftftlfl/lJ

368. The Trial Chamber also addressed the alleged contradiction between Witness CNAA's

testimony in the Karemera et al. and Nzabonimana trials regarding the Musambira event. In the

Appeals Chamber's view, the Trial Chamber reasonably accepted Witness CNAA's explanation

that he was not providing comprehensive information about Nzabonimana in the Karemera et al.

case since Nzabonimana was not on trial in that case.l02t The Appeals Chamber considers that the

fact that Witness CNAA did not testify that Nzabonimana threatened to replace the bourgmestres

with Interahamwe, in a separate proceeding involving difl'erent accused, does not undermine the

witness's credibility. Furthermore, a review of the trial record shows that Witness CNAA only

mentioned the threat to replace bourgmestres in response to follow-up questions on who, according

to Nzabonimana, would be in a position to perform the work of the bourgmestr"r.'n'* The Appeals

Chamber further finds that the Trial Chamber reasonably lbund that the two testimonies were not

materially inconsistent,lt 'te and that "[i]n both instances, Witness CNAA recounted that the

bourgmestres accused Nzabonimana of being responsible for violence in Gitarama, and

Nzabonimana dismissed their calls to denounce the violence".l030 Nzabonimana has not

demonstrated how the Trial Chamber ered in its assessment of the differences between Witness

CNAA's testimony inthe Karemera et al. and Nzabonimana trials.

(ii) Other Alleged Errors

369. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Nzabonimana was

not necessarily against the killings despite finding that: (i) the reinstatement of the bourgmestre of

Musambira commune was requested by the bourgmestres; (ii) his presence was welcomed by the

population; and (iii) he did not support the illegal activities of the Interahamwe against the

legitimate authority of the bourgmestre.r.""' He further submits that the Trial Chamber erred in

"blaming" him lbr refusing to denounce the killings on the radio since he denied any responsibility

during the meeting and Witnesses CNAA and CNAC doubted whether he spoke on the radio.1032

Nzabonimana also submits that the Trial Chamber erred in "disassociating the testimonies of

Witnesses CNAA and CNAC" on the words attributed to Nzabonimana and ignoring the fact that he

t"tt Trial Judgement, para. 1211 .
'ut' .See Witness CNAA, T. l5 December 2009 pp. 6,'7 (closed session).

"'" Trial Judgement, para. 1217.
"'tt'Trial Juclgement, para. 1211 .
'0rr Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 239. Nzabonimana submits that
arguments made up of inferences". See it lem.
""- Nzabonimana Appeal Brief. para. 240.

the Trial Judgement is based on "speculative
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could not be held responsible for the subsequent replacement of officials.to33 According to

Nzabonimana, the Trial Chamber erred in concluding that Witness CNAC's testimony established

that Nzabonimana accused the bourgmestres ofnot supporting the killing of Tutsis.l03a

370. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana presents no analysis to support his claim that

the Trial Chamber erred in finding that he was not necessarily against the killings.lo" Th"

Prosecution responds that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC were not doubtful about whether

Nzabonimana gave a radio address denouncing the killings but rather testified that Nzabonimana

refused to denounce the violence.1036 According to the Prosecution, the fact that the Trial Chamber

simply found the evidence was too general to establish a causal link between Nzabonimana's words

and any subsequent dismissal of officers, did not preclude the Trial Chamber from crediting other

aspects of Witnesses CNAA's and CNAC's evidence.l03t

37I. The Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana's support for the reinstatement of the

bourgmestre of Musambira commune did not necessarily establish that Nzabonimana was against

the killings,lo'8 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber considered Witness CNAC's

testimony, which it found consistent with Witness CNAA's testimony, that the bourgmestres

confronted Nzabonimana about the violence committed by the Interahamwe and asked him to

publicly denounce the violence on Radio Rwanda.r03e The Trial Chamber also considered Witness

CNAC's testimony that Nzabonimana: (i) told the bourgmestres that they were "not fully assuming

their responsibilities"; (ii) accused them of collaborating with the enemy; (iii) told them that if they

were tired, they should resign and allow the Interahamwe to take over; and (iv) refused to denounce

the violence.t*o The Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that no

reasonable trier of fact could have made the impugned finding or that the Trial Chamber speculated

in making it.

372. With respect to Nzabonimana's argument that he was "blamed" for refusing to denounce the

killings on the radio, the Appeals Chamber understands that he is challenging the Trial Chamber's

finding that he refused to denounce killings. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial

Chamber's finding that Witnesses CNAA and CNAC provided consistent evidence that the

bourgmestres voiced their concerns to Nzabonimana about the killings and requested Nzabonimana

1033 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 241.
l03a Nzabonimana ,Lppeal Brief, para. 238.
'0" Prosecution Response Bief , pan.226.
1036 Prosecution Response Bief , pan. 229.

,i._ lr9r.":",1"n 
Response Brief, para. 186.

'"" Trial Judgement. para. 1222.
'"" Trial Judgement, para. 1221.
'*o Trial Judgement. para. 1221.
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to publicly denounce the killers, but Nzabonimana refused.'uo' In the Appeals Chamber'9ffi8/H

irrespective of whether the witnesses knew if Nzabonimana spoke on the radio, there is no error in

the Trial Chamber findins that Nzabonimana refused to denounce the killings of Tutsis.

313. Nzabonimana provides no references and fails to articulate his argument that the Trial

Chamber erred by "disassociating the testimonies of Witnesses CNAA and CNAC" on the words

attributed to Nzabonimana.'oot The Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's contention that the

Trial Chamber overlooked the fact that the subsequent replaccment of officials could not be

attributed to him. Indeed, the Trial Chamber fbund that, given the general nature of the Prosecution

evidence and the time elapsed after the reinstatement ceremony, a causal link between

Nzabonimana's involvement in the Musambira event and the subsequent dismissals of officials was

not established.l"tt The Appeals Chamber also dismisses Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial

Chamber erred in considering Witness CNAC's testimony to find that Nzabonimana accused the

bourgmestres of not supporting the killing of Tutsis.lOaa Nzabonimana fails to provide references

and equally fails to substantiate his allegation oferror.

374. Nzabonimana's arguments are therefore summarily dismissed.

(iii) Conclusion

375. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses in their entirety Nzabonimana's arguments on the

asse ssment of evidence in relation to the Musambira event.

(f) Conclusion

376. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to the assessment of evidence under his Fifth Ground of Appeal.

"'r Trial Judgement, para. 1214, re.ferring to, inter clla, Witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 pp.5-'7 (closed session);
Witness CNAA, T. 16 December 2009 p.20 (closed session); Witness CNAC, T. 17 December2009 pp.3,4 (closed
session); Witness CNAC, T. l3 April 2010 pp. 6,27,29 (closed session). The Appeals Chamber notes that Witness
CNAA testified that Nzabonimana was asked to address the population over Radio Rwanda in order to condemn the
massacres, and never did. See Witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 p. 5 (closed session). Witness CNAC testified that
Nzabonimana refused when asked to denounce the acts of violence, and that he was asked to publicly condemn them on
Radio Rwanda. See Witness CNAC, T. l7 December 2009 p. 3 (closed session).
t*t Src Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 241.

"" Triol Judgement, paia.1225.
t'*o See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 238.
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3. Direct and Public Incitement to Commit Genocide

377. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana for direct and public incitement to commit

genocide, based, in part, on his conduct at the Murambi meeting, in Gitarama prdfecture.loot In

particular, the Trial Chamber found that, on 18 April 1994, the Prime Minister of Rwanda and other

members of the Interim Government, including Nzabonimana, held a meeting for the bourgmestres

of Gitarama prdfecture.loou The Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana's speech, which consisted

of an explicit threat to kill persons opposing the massacre of Tutsis, constituted a direct call to

commit genocide, and also concluded that Nzabonimana had the requisite mens rea to incite the

genocide publicly. 1oa7

378. Nzabonimana submits that the elements of direct and public incitement were not established

and that the Trial Chamber ened by characterising as public the alleged incitement of

18 April lgg4.1o48In particular, Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber erred in confusing the

mens rea and the actus reus of the crime when it determined that the incriminating message was

"intended to be broadcast to the public", in lieu of assessing whether it was made public.lOae

Nzabonimana contends that, despite the presence of a joumalist, the incriminating message had not

been made public by the media and was only addressed to a limited group of local and national

authorities gathered in Murambi.1050 Nzabonimana further contends that the Trial Chamber erred in

law and in fact by finding that the incriminating message directly incited the commission of

genocide because it was ambiguous and distorted.l0sl

379. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not confuse the public element of the

actus reus of the incitement with the mens rea but rather identified both of them in its discussion of

the law and assessed each element separately, albeit in the same paragraph.l0t' The Prosecution

submits that an inciting speech, dealing with public matters,1053 delivered to a gathering of public

1045 Trial Judgement, paras.1713,1775, 1800.
t*u Trial Judgement, para. 1158. See also ibid.,para. 1769.The Trial Chamber further found that during the meeting
Nzabonimana ordered the killing of bourgmes,tes and other local officials opposed to the masiacre of Tutsis. See ibid.,
para. 1179. See also ibid., para. 1769. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it found that the Trial Chamber erred in
entering this finding. See supra, paras.339,345.
1047 Trial Judgement, paras. 1711,1772.
1s8 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 5.4; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 253-257.
lse Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 253-255.
1050 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 256; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. '7 5. See also AT . 29 Apnl ?014 pp. 52, 53.
Nzabonimana submib that the Trial Chamber relied on Exhibit D86 (Transcript of Radio Rwanda Broadcast,
19 April 1994) to establish the intent to broadcast and that despite indicating that the document in question did not
mention threats issued by the Government, it still convicted Nzabonimana of direct and public incitement to commit
g^enocide. See Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , pan.254.
'u'' Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.257.
1052 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 248.
ros3 AT. 29 Apmzoiapp.26,36-38.
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offlcials, addressed in their function as public officials, is public.l0sa Therefore, it argues ts:{M/H

incitement was public as Nzabonimana's threat was made in a public setting when he spoke during

a large meeting of public officials.loss The Prosecution adds that the public nature of the incitement

was further demonstrated by the presence of a journalist, who subsequently broadcast a report of the

meeting to the public at large.1056 It finally contends that it is clear from the Trial Judgement that

Nzabonimana's incitement consisted of ordering that persons opposing the massacres should be

killed, thus directly inciting genocide.r057

380. Nzabonimana replies that the fact that public officials were convened in their function as

public officials excludes the characterisation of the meeting as public.r0s8 Nzabonimana contends

that these officials were selected and convened in their official capacity and that the meeting was

purely private.rose He turther replies that the meeting was held in a closed room devoid of any

public character.l060

381. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a pcrson may be found guilty of direct and public

incitement to commit genocide, pursllant to Article 2(3Xc) of the Statute, if he or she directly and

publicly incited the commission of genocide (actus reus) and had the intent to directly and publicly

incite others to commit genocide (mens ,ro)."tot

382. In the legal findings slrpporting Nzabonimana's conviction for direct and public incitement

to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting, the Trial Chamber found that

Nzabonimana's speech constituted a direct call to commit genocide and that "Nzabonimana

possessed the requisite mens rea to satisfy the 'public' element of the crime of direct and public

incitement to commit genocide".lt'6' With respect to the "public" element, the Trial Chamber stated

the followine:

The Chamber recalls that present during this meeting were the Prime Minister, other members of
the Interim Government, bourgmestres of Gitarama prdfecture and other local political officials. In
addition, a journalist from Radio Rwanda was present during the meeting with the bourgmestres.
The journalist subsequently broadcast a report regarding the meeting. Given these circumstances,
the Chamber considers that the evidence established that the messaqe of the meetinc was intended

r05a Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 239. See also AT.29 Apri l  2014pp.26,36-40.
r"5t Prosecution Response Brief,  paras. 238,239. See also AT.29 Apri l  2014 pp.26,36-40.
ros" Prosecution Response Brief, para. 243. See also AT.29 April 2014 pp. 26, 40. In the Prosecution's view, the fact
that the subsequent media coverage did not include Nzabonimana's threats does not detract from the public nature of
the meeting. See Prosecution Response Brief, para. 243. According to the Prosecution during oral submissions,
bourgmestres attending the Murambi meeting later spread the genocidal message to the general public. See
AT.29 Apr i l  2014 pp .  38 .  39 .
r0s7 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 235.
Io58 Nzabonimana Reply, para.77.
r"te Nzabonimana Reply, para. 17. See uLso AT.29 Apri l  2014 p.52.
'*" Nzabonimana Reply, para. 78. See also AT. 29 April 2014 p. 52.

" 'n'  S"e .sr/pr. i .  paras. l2l  ,231.
'uo t  Tr io l  Judgement .  puras .  177 l .  l ' 712 .
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to be broadcast to the public at large and evinces that Nzabonimana had the requisite mens rea to
incite genocide publicly. rft 3

383. The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial Chamber did not make an express finding that

the alleged incitement was public. The Trial Chamber only analysed whether Nzabonimana had the

requisite mens rea to publicly incite genocide.l06a Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber considers that

the Trial Chamber failed to assess whether the incitement was actually public and enter a finding on

this element of the crime. The Trial Chamber therefore erred in law by failing to provide a reasoned

opinion on this aspect of the actus reus of the crime of direct and public incitement to commit

genocide.

384. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber has reviewed the Trial Chamber's factual

findings and the relevant evidence on the record to determine whether a reasonable trier of fact

could have found beyond reasonable doubt that the incitement was public.r065 The Appeals

Chamber recalls that when assessing the "public" element of incitement, it can take into account the

place where the incitement occurred and whether the attendance was selected or limited.l066

Additionally, the Appeals Chamber recalls that the number of persons and the medium through

which the message is conveyed may be considered in assessing whether the attendance was selected

or limited, thereby determining whether or not the recipient of tho message was the general

public.1067

385. The Appeals Chamber notes that the attendance at the Murambi meeting appeared to be

limited and selected as it only involved a group of public officials,1068 and did not involve the public

at large.106e The Appeals Chamber observes that the meeting was first convened by the pr€fet of

Gitarama prdfecturelo10 and that the group of public officials was then reconvened by the Prime

Minister.r0Tr In addition, there is no evidence on the record showing that members of the public

were invited or attended the meeting.tot'The Appeals Chamber is therefore satisfied that the public

at large could not attend this meeting. The Appeals Chamber considers that the mere presence of a

'*' Trial Judgement, para. 71 7 2 (internal reference omitted).
'* Trial Judiement, para. 1772.
'*t C7. BiTiiungu Appeal Judgement, para.23; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para.293i Bagosora and
N^sengiyumva Appeal Judgement. para. 683.
'* ,See supra, Daras. 12'1 ,231.
'ou' Src su.pra, pan.231.
'*t Trial iuOgement, para. 1158. The Appeals Chamber notes that a journalist, Witness Mporanzi and Witness T24
were also Dresent. See idem.
t*e Witness CNAA, T. 14 December 2009 p. 64; Witness CNAA, T. 15 December 2009 pp. 7-9 (closed session);
Witness CNAA, T. 16 December 2009 p. 2 (closed session); Witness CNAC, T. 16 December 2009 pp. 57,59,66
(c losedsession) ;WitnessT24,T.26Apr i l2010pp.57,59(c losedsession) ;  Wi tnessT24,T.27 ApnI2010pp.2,3;
Witness Mooranzi. T.25 Mav 2010p.'70.
t070 Trial Judg"m"rrq paras. tb82, f i igt, l,osz, 1106, 1123,1138, I 144, 1145, 1153, I 154, 1155.
' i]] rriai Judgement, paras. 1082, 1083, 1092, 1093, I l0?, 1123, 1124,1144, 1145, I 153, I 154, I 155, 1 158.
'" ' '  Trizl Judgement, paras. 1080-l141.
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journalistrOtt do"r not automatically render the meeting public, rather it is the broadcasfrlfu4/H

incriminating message which would render the incitement public. In this respect, the Appeals

Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's acknowledgement that the incriminating message was not

disseminated by the media.lt'70 Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that the evidence

does not support a finding that the meeting occurred in a public place.")7s

386. The Appeals Chamber is also not persuaded by the Prosecution's submission that an inciting

speech, which discussed public matters, delivered to a gathering of public ofticials, addressed in

their function as public oflcials, is necessarily public. In support of this argument the Prosecution

underlines that, in light of the purpose and object of the crime of incitement, inciting public officials

rather than "a gathering of random members of the population" creates a greater risk that genocide

will actually occur because public offlcials "have the authority and the means to trigger

massacres"."'to While this may be the case, the Appeals Chamber fails to see how this supports the

public nature of the incitement at the Murambi meeting.

387. In light of the fbregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that the attendance at

meeting was selected and limited, that the location was not a public place,

incriminating message was not broadcasted. The Appeals Chamber therefore

reasonable trier of fact could have found that the incitement was public.

388. The Appeals Chamber accordingly finds that the Trial Chamber ened

Nzabonimana for direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to

meeting and that it need not address the remainder of Nzabonimana's arguments.

the Murambi

and that the

finds that no

in convicting

the Murambi

4. Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

389. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to,

inter alia, the agreement beginning on 18 April 1994 at the Murambi meeting.'ntt Having

considered the concerted and coordinated actions of Nzabonimana and the Ministers of the Interim

Government, the Trial Chamber fbund the only reasonable inference to be that an agreement with

the specific intent to destroy Rwanda's Tutsi population in whole or in part materialised on

18 April Ig94.ttt78It further considered that the conduct of Nzabonimana and Prime Minister Jean

'013 See Trial Judgement, para. I 1 80.
"'to Trial Juilgement, fn. 2195 where the Trial Chamber noted that the broadcast "did not include a summation of the
threats issuedbytheGovernment" .seeai . roExhib i tD86(Transcr iptof  RadioRwandaBroadcast ,  l9Apr i l  1994).

"'t '  Witners CNAA, T. 15 December 2(X)9 pp. 7, 8 (closed session); Witness Mporanzi, T. 25 May 2010 p.'70;
Witness T24,T.26 Apr i l  2010 p.  57 (c losed session) .
r{)76 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 239,240. See alsct AT.29 April 2014 p. 39.
'ntt Trial Judgement, paras. 1741 , 1749, l8(X). See also ibid., para. 1811 .

""* Trial Judgement, para. 1141.
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Kambanda after the 18 April 1994 meeting reinforced its conclusion that Nzabonimana, other

ministers, and the Prime Minister of the Interim Government entered into an agreement to

encourage the destruction of the Tutsi population, as such, in Gitarama prdfecture.rjle

390. Nzabonimana submits that the elements of the conspiracy were not established and that,

assuming they were established, the inference drawn by the Trial Chamber from the circumstantial

evidence was not the only reasonable one.lo*o

39I. The Appeals Chamber recalls that conspiracy to commit genocide, under Article 2(3Xb) of

the Statute, requires "an agreement between two or more persons to commit the crime of

genocide"lo8l and the individuals involved must have the intent to destroy in whole or in part a

national, ethnical, racial or religious group as such.1082 The agreement constitutes the actus reus.t083

This actus reus can be proven by establishing the existence of planning meetings for the genocide,

but it can also be inferred, based on other evidence.topo In particular, a concerted agreement to

commit genocide may be inferred from the conduct of the conspirators.los5 Further, the agreement

need not be formal and a tacit agreement may be sufficient as evidence of conspiracy to commit

genocide.1o86

392. The Appeals Chamber also recalls that where the Prosecution intends to rely on

circumstantial evidence to prove a particular fact upon which the guilt of the accused depends, the

finding of the existence of a conspiracy to commit genocide must be the only reasonable inference

based on the totality of the evidence.tott

(a) Murambi

393. The Trial Chamber determined that beginning on 18 April 1994 at" the Murambi meeting,

Nzabonimana agreed with other members of the Interim Government, specifically Prime Minister

r07e Trial Judgement, pan. 1147. See also ibid., par:a. 1746.
ro80 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 5.5.2, 5.5.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 273-300. Nzabonimana's
challenge that the Murambi meeting was not established has been examined in another section. ,See Nzabonimana
Notice of Appeal, para. 5.5.2(5). See supra, pwas. 312-362. The Appeals Chamber considers that Nzabonimana's
a.rguments on Witness CNAL have been withdrawn since they are not developed in his Appeal Brief (see Nzabonimana
Notice of Appeal, pwa. 5.5.2(7),(8)). It also notes that Nzabonimana fails to develop in his Appeal Brief his argument
that the Trial Chamber erred in finding the events in Nyakabanda established (see Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal,
para. 5.5.2(6).
l o R r  ^'-"' Jee supra, pafa. Z)).
'ot' Nahimanait at. AppealJudgement, para. 894.
1083 Sero^ba Appeal Judgement, paras. 218, 22li Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 894. See also Gatete

App.ul Judgement, pua. 260.

"n Seromba Appeal Judgement, para.22l; Nahimanaet al. Appeal Judgement, para. 896.
'08s Nahimana et al. AppealJudgement, para. 896.
'o* Nohi^oro et al. AppealJudgement, para. 898.
'0" Sero*ba Appeal Judgement, para. 221; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 896. See also Mugenzi and
Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement, para. 88.
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Kambanda, Prosper Mugiraneza as well as Defence Witnesses T82 and T83 to encourage th8fiAle/H

of members of the Tutsi population.ross The Trial Chamber recalled that at the Murambi meeting,

the ministers directed their threats at the assembled bourgmestrer.tut'According to the Trial

Chamber, the evidence established that in the days prior to the Murambi meeting some of the

bourgmestres in Gitarama prdfecture wert- actively protecting Tutsis.l0e0 The Trial Chamber then

held that "members of the Interim Government therefore assembled the bourgmestres at the

Murambi meeting, where they threatened to remove Lhe bourgmestres from their posts if they did

not stop supporting the Tutsi population".l0el

(i) Elements of Conspiracy

394. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber convicted him for events at the Murambi

meeting absent evidence of an agreement. l0e2 Nzabonimana contends that the Trial Chamber made

no finding on whether, by virtue of a pre-existing agreement to kill Tutsis, bourgmestre.t were

brought together in Murambi with the premeditated purpose of issuing threats to stop them from

protecting Tutsis.r0e3 Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber clisregarded evidence that the

meeting was organised on an impromptu basis, without prior consultation between the Prime

Minister and the other ministers.lt 'e4 He also claims that the Trial Chamber overlooked evidence

contradicting the e xecution of a prior agree ment.l0e5 Nzabonimana avers that, if conspiracy requires

premeditation, no evidence was adduced that other ministers, aside from the Prime Minister, were

informed about the first or second meeting at Murambi before they took place.tt'eo

395. Nzabonimana further contends that no evidence was adduced to support an agreement being

reached during the Murambi meeting, and that the Trial Chamber failed to characterise the factual

circumstances of the agreement.loeT In this regard, he argues that the Trial Chamber could not base

the conspiracy conviction on section 3.5.7.3.2 of the Trial Judgement, where it neither determined

" '** Trial Judgement. para. 1744.

" ' t 'Trial Judgement, para. 1744, ret 'brr ing to section 3.5.7.3.2, "Murambi Meeting - Nzabonimana Ordered the Ki l l ing
of Bourgntestres and Other Local Off icials" (see ibid.,  paras. 1 159-l 181). See also ibid.,para.1145.
rt)et 'TrialJudgement, para. 1145. TheTrial Chamberrecal ledthatthe bourgme.stre of Nyabikenkecommune stavedotf
attacks upon the refugees at the commune office on 13 April 1994 (see idem, re.f'erring to section 3.5.2.3.2, "Cyayi
Centre and Nyabikenke Commune Office Attacks - Attempted Attack on 13 April 1994", paras. 862-866). It further

considered that Witness Mporanzi, bourgmeste of Rutobwe commune, placed killers in prison prior to 18 April 1994
(see ident, re.ferr ing /o section 3.5.6.3, "Release of Ki l lers in Rutobwe Commune". paras. 1063-1076).
'oo' Triol Judgement. para. 1145.

"'" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 273-283; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para.66.
r ')er Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 2'75,2'76.
r(Da Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 278.
tuot See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, ptua. 279, where Nzabonimana submits that Kambanda's attitude of reacting
"warmly" to the offer by the bishop of Kabgayi to provide refuge to Tutsis, as testified to by Witness CNAC, ruled out
a.prior agreement. ,tde a1.ir.r Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 67.
" ' ' "  Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  para. 277 (French original).
r ' )et Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 280-283.
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the ministers present nor what they said.10e8 Nzabonimana avers that the Trial Chamber limited

itself to the vague and imprecise standard of "the ministers present",lOee but then proceeded to infer

ex-nihilo that an agreement existed between him, Kambanda, Mugiraneza, Witness T82, and

Witness T83.1100 Nzabonimana argues that, given Kambanda's absence during the second meeting

at Murambi, the Trial Chamber could not find the second meeting to be an expression of a

conspiracy that included Kambanda. 1 101

396. The Prosecution responds that the conspiracy was proved through the concerted and

coordinated actions of Nzabonimana and other ministers, who threatened bourgmestres opposed to

the genocide.l1o' It argues that: (i) a premeditated plan is not required for conspiracy, and even if

the meeting was "impromptu" an agreement existed to present a unified force to threaten the

bourgmestres;1r03 (ii) the Trial Chamberwas notrequired to identify every co-conspiratorby name

and it makes no difference exactly what each minister said because their speeches all struck the

same general theme;lloa and (iii) even if Kambanda was not present during the threats at Murambi,

Kambanda was a co-conspirator and showed his agreement during the weapons distribution at

Nyakabanda.ll05

397. Nzabonimana replies that the Prosecution does not contradict his arguments but instead

follows the contradictory reasoning of the Trial Chamber regarding Kambanda,ll06

398. The Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that premeditation or the existence of a pre-existing

agreement is an element of the crime of conspiracy to commit genocide and Nzabonimana fails to

provide any supporting reference to the Tribunal's jurisprudence.ttot On this basis, the Appeals

Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments related to a prior agreement or to the "impromptu"

nal"ure of the meetine.

1@8 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 282, referring toTdral Judgement, para. 1744. See also Nzabonimana Reply
Brief. para. 66.
l@e Niabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 283, referring toTiral Judgement, para. 1l'79. See also Nzabonimana Reply
Brief, para. 66.
Itm Niabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 283, refening to Trial Judgement, para. 1744. See also Nzabonimana Reply
Brief. oara. 66.
ttot Nzaborrimana Appeal Brief, para. 280, referring toTial Judgement, paras. 1144, ll'79; Nzabonimana Reply Brief,
nua.6'7.
11@ Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 172,173,209.
t103 hosecution Response Brief, para.218.
r18 Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 213,221.
r105 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 221, referring to Tial Judgement, puas. 1292, 11 46.
11tr Nzabonimana Reply Brief, paras. 68, 69.
r1o7 The Appeals Chu*U". obierves that, in support of this contention, Nzabonimana merely cites an article. .!ee
Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 2'7'7 , fn. 466, refening to "lz procds de Nuremberg devant les principes modernes du
droit pdnal internationaf', The Hague Academy of International Law, Donnedieu de Vabres, p. 529.
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399. The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced that the Trial Chamber convicted Nzaboflilt0f,/H

of conspiracy to cornmit genocide without factual basis.rrOs The Trial Chamber determined that an

agreement materialised at the Murambi meeting on 18 April l994.ttn'The Appeals Chamber notes

the Trial Chamber's determination that Interim Govemment Ministers, including Nzabonimana,

used the Murambi meeting to threaten to remove bourgmestres fiom their posts if they did not stop

supporting the Tutsi population.rrrt'According to the Trial Chamber, the purpose of the agreement

was to encourage the kill ing of Tutsis.ltt 'The Appeals Chamber observes that these conclusions

were based on the Trial Chamber's factual determinations fiom section 3.5.7.3.2 of the Trial

Judgement.rrr2 In this regard, the Trial Chamber considered and found that: (i) Kambanda and other

members of the Interim Government, including Nzabonimana, "held a meeting for the

bourgmestres of Gitarama prdfecture";"'t (ii) Nzabonimana and other Interim Government

officials took turns making various threats at the assembled bourgmestres as a means to ensure their

participation in the genocide;rrra and (iii) the bourgmestres were intimidated.rrr5

400. As for Nzabonimana's argument on the presence of other ministers, the Appeals Chamber is

not convinced that the Trial Chamber's reference to "the ministers present" is too vague.ttto

Recalling that a conspiracy requires an agreement between "two or more persons".tttT the Appeals

Chamber considers that finding that Nzabonimana agreed with "other members of the Interim

Government"lll8 
's 

a sufficient basis for the finding of conspiracy to commit genocide. Thus, any

possible error with respect to the identification by name of the members of the Interim Government

wonld not result in a miscarriage of justice nor impact the Trial Chamber's finding of a conspiracy.

401. The Appeals Chamber is equally not convinced that the Trial Chamber was required to

determine the exact utterances of the ministers present.rrre In the Appeals Chamber's view, the

ministers' specific words were not material to the Trial Chamber's finding of a conspiracy. In this

rr('' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 280-283.

" 'Trial Judgement, para. 1147.

" 'u.See Trial Judgement, paras. 1179,1745.
r r r rTr ia l  Judgement ,  para .  1744,
" ' '  Trial Judgement. para. 1144.

" ' t  T r ia l  Judgement ,  para .  l158 .

" 'oTr ia l  Judgement ,paras .  1161,1162,  1 l '79 .Seea lso ib id . ,paras .  1144,  1745.
'  t ' '  Trial Judgement, para. I  I  6l  .

"to Sr" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 283, re.f'ercing toTrial Judgement, para. 1179.
t"1 Seromba Appeal Judgement, paras. 218, 221 Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 894.

" ' '  Trial Judgement, para. 1144.

"'o Sre Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 281. Nzabonimana additionally submits that it was paradoxical that two of
Nzabonimana's co-conspirators, Mugiraneza and T82 were acquitted in separate judgements. See idem. The Appeals
Chamber recalls that two reasonable triers of fact may reach different but equally reasonable conclusions when

assessing the reliability of a witness and determining the probative value of the evidence presented at trial and an error
cannot be established by simply demonstrating that other trial chambers have exercised their discretion in a different
way. See Lukii and Luki( Appeal Judgement, para.396, re.t''ering to Krnojelac Appeal Judgement, paras. Il, 12. See

ulso Rutagunda Appeal Judgement, para. 188. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Trial Chamber was

entitled to reach a dift'erent conclusion than cases involving Mugiraneza and Witness T82.

29 September 2014 
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regard, the Trial Chamber considered consistent evidence, from Witnesses CNAA and CNAC, that

the ministers present at the second meeting took turns threatening bourgmestres to ensure their

participation in the genocide, and all "reiterated the common theme" that bourgmestres who

supported Tutsis would be removed from their posts.l i20

402. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

any error occasioning a miscarriage of justice and thus dismisses his submissions on the absence of

evidence of an agreement.

(ii) Inferences from Circumstantial Evidence

403. Nzabonimana submits that the agreement to destroy Rwanda's Tutsi population was not the

only reasonable inference that could be drawn from the evidence.ll2l He argues that the Trial

Chamber failed to consider other equally reasonable inferences,l122 specifically that: (i) the

objective of the meeting was to deal with the war and security issues, without a pre-conceived plan

to eliminate Tutsis;1123 and (ii) since the second meeting was "impromptu", the ministers'

statements reflected "conscious parallelism" rather than "concerted" actions.l124

404. The Prosecution responds that the ministers' conduct allowed no other reasonable inference

than a conspiracy to commit genocide.ll2s The Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana ignores

direct evidence of tr-is own and other ministers' explicit calls for genocide.1126

405. The Appeals Chamber recalls that Nzabonimana failed to demonstrate that the Tribunal's

jurisprudence requires premeditation or the existence of a pre-existing agreement to establish

conspiracy to commit genocide.1l2t Thus, the question of a pre-conceived plan is irrelevant to the

finding of conspiracy and Nzabonimana's arguments could be dismissed on this basis only.

Regarding the meeting's objective, the Appeals Chamber notes the Trial Chamber's explicit

consideration that during the frst meeting Kambanda provided an overview of the Interim

Government's military approach to fighting the RPF.1r28 The Appeals Chamber finds that the fact

that the state of war was also discussed is insufficient to demonstrate an error from the Trial

r r20T r ia . l Judgemen t ,pa ras .1086 ,1087 ,1100 ,1101 ,1103 ,1159 -1161 ,  l l ' l 9 .Seea l so ib id . , pa ras .1744 ,1745 .
"'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 290-294.
"" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 290, refening to Trial Judgement, paras. l7 44-17 41 .
"" Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , pua.292.
"'" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 293, reJerring to Nahimana et al. Apped, Judgement, para. 897.
Itb Prosecution Response Brief, para. 173.
1126 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 237. See also ibid.,para.220.
,rn Src sUpra,pua.'39g.
"'8 See Trial Judgement, para. 1146. The Appeals Chamber also notes that the Trial Chamber considered Kambanda's
conduct. See, e.9., ibid., pwas. 1096, 1 144-1147. The Appeals Chamber considers that his conduct does not undermine
that a conspiracy to commit genocide was the only reasonable inference drawn from the concerted and coordinated
actions of Nzabonimana and the Ministers of the Interim Government.
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Chamber in linding that the only reasonable

l8 April 1994 to encourage the kill ing of Tutsis.

inference was that an agreement materialiffi9u/IJ

406. The Appeals Chamber is equally not convinced by Nzabonimana's argument that, since the

meeting was "impromptu", the conduct of ministers was more consistent with "conscious

parallelism" rather than "concerted" actions.t't 'Itrespective of the impromptu or planned nature of

the meeting, the Trial Chamber found that the agreement materialised on l8 April 1994. As already

discussed, the Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's considerations that: (i) the Interim

Government helci a meeting for the bourgmestres;1130 and (ii) ministers, including Nzabonimana,

"imposed themselves" on the bourgmestres, supported the killings, took turns making various

threats, and "uscd" the meeting to threaten the bourgmestres to stop protecting the Tutsis.ll't This

<letermination, along with the assembling of bourgmeslres, lbrmed the basis of the Trial Chamber's

finding of a conspiracy.t't 'The Appeals Chamber finds no error in the Trial Chamber's finding that

the only reasonable inference that could be drawn liom the concerted and coordinated actions of

Nzabonimana and other members of the Interim Government was that an agreement to commit

senocide materialised at the meetins on 18 April 1994.

407. Given the above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments that the Trial

Chamber failed to consider other reasonable inferences in relation to the Murambi meeting of

l8 Apri l  1994.

(iii) Conclusion

408. Based on the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana does not demonstrate

an error in the Trial Chamber's determination of conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the

Murambi meeting to warrant the Appeals Chamber's intervention.

(b) Musambira and Nyakabanda

409. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred by relying on events at Musambira and

Nyakabanda as circumstantial evidence of an agreement at Murambi.ll33 Nzabonimana argues that

the reinstatement ceremony at Musambira commune could not be used as circumstantial evidence of

the conspiracy because the ceremony was antithetical to the ministers' encouragement, at the

1r?e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 293.

"t" Trial Judgement, para. I 158 (emphasis added). See also ibid.,paras.1144-1146.

"t ' ,See Trial Judgement, paras. 1159-1162, \l '79,l '744, 1145.
r'tt Trial Judgement, paras. 1744, 1'745, l '74'7 .
rrtt Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 5.5.3(6)-(8); Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 284,286.

1 3 8
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Murambi meeting, to kill Tutsis.1l3a According to Nzabonimana, while ministers allegedly

threatened bourgmestres at Murambi for not supporting massacres committed by the Interahamwe,

they nevertheless granted the reinstatement of a bourgmestre in Musambira who had been driven

away by the Interaho^.r.tt3t Nzabonimana also submits, as alternate inferences, that: (i) the

political opposition explained the controversy between him and the MDR bourgmestres;1136 and

(ii) the Interahamwe, rather than Interim Government orders, were to blame for insecurity concerns

that b our gmeslres raised at Musambi ru.l t"

410. As to the weapons distribution at Nyakabanda, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial

Chamber could not infer a concerted or coordinated action from his mere presence, a neutral fact

and passive conduct.r138 Refening to paragraph 1729 of the Trial Judgement, Nzabonimana avers

that the Trial Chamber found that he could not be held liable for his mere presence at Nyakabanda,

yet used the same facts to find an expression of conspira"y.tttt According to Nzabonimana,

assuming that the Trial Chamber was justified to rely on his mere passive presence, this fact alone

was insufficient to infer the crime of conspira"y.ttoo He also argues that words attributed to

Kambanda at Nyakabanda could not be linked to incriminating utterances from the second meeting

at Murambi because Kambanda was not present at that meeting.llal

4II. Finally, according to Nzabonimana, the fact that no criminal consequence followed the

Murambi and Musambira events is a strong indication that another equally reasonable inference,

consistent with the absence of a conspiracv. could be drawn.lla2

412. The Prosecution responds that, after the Murambi meeting, members of the conspiracy,

including Nzabonimana and Kambanda, continued to act in accordance with their agreement.ll43

The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's complicated arguments of another reasonable

inference at Musambira ignore his explicit refusai to publicly denounce the killings, even when the

bourgmestres requested him to do so.1l4 It maintains that Nzabonimana repeated essentially the

rrv Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 286,295; Nzabonimana Reply Brief, pua.73.
rrr5 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 295. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 73.
"'o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 296,297, referring toTi'al Judgement, paras. 1198, 1205, 1207,l2l'7.
"'' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 298, 300.
"'o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 284. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 73.
1r3e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 284.
rrao Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 285. See also Nzabonimana Reply Brief, para. 73.
rrar Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 284.
I ra2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 294, referring to Til;al Judgement, paras. I 1 82- 1 I 87 , 1225 .
rra3 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 276, referring to Ti.al Judgement, para. l7 46.
rr* Prosecution Response Brief, para. 221, referring toTialJudgement, paras. 1198, 1205,1224.
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same threats against the bourgmestres at Musambira commune,ll4s and

entitled to rely on these threats as further eviclence of the conspiracy.tta6

that the Trial Cham&086/frf

413. The Prosecution lurther responds that Nzabonimana's presence at Nyakabanda signalled his

sllpport fbr Kambanda's message and was consistent with Nzabonimana's conduct at the Murambi

meeting.llaT Finally, the Prosecution responds that the lack of "established consequences" following

the Murambi and Musambira events is irrelevant since conspiracy to commit genocide is an

inchoate ofl'ence. I I a8

414. The Appeals Chamber recalls the Trial Chamber's finding that the conspiracy to destroy

Rwanda's Tutsi population in whole or in part materialised on 18 April 1994 based, inter alia, on

the conduct of members of the Interim Government at the Murambi meeting.lto' As fbr the concluct

of Nzabonimana and Kambanda after 18 April 1994 at Musambira and Nyakabanda, the Trial

Chamber explicitly stated that these events "reinforced the message of the Murambi meeting"ll50

and "reinfbrce[d] the conclusion that Nzabonimana, other Ministers and the Prime Minister of the

Interim Government entered into an agreement to encourage the destruction of the Tutsi population,

as such in Gitarama pr,lfeclure".tts\

4I5. With respect to events at Musambira commune, the Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana

was present at the reinstatement ceremony of the bourgmestre of Musambira, he accused

bourgmestres of not supporting the killings of Tutsis, he warned bourgmestres that they could be

replacecl by Interahamwe, and he refused to denounce the killings.tttt On this basis, the Appeals

Chamber finds it reasonable for the Trial Chamber to conclude that the reinstatement ceremony at

Musambira reinforced the message from the Murambi meeting to encourage the killing of

Tutsis.rts3 The Appeals Chamber is thus not persuaded by Nzabonimana's argument that the

reinstatement ceremony was antithetical to the conspiracy that materialised at the Murambi

rra5 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 216, re.f'erring toTrial Judgement, puas. 1224, 1146.

"06 Prosecution Response Brief, pua. 225, relbrring toTrial Judgement, para. 1746.
l loT Prorecution Resoonse Brief.  para. 222.

"on Pr.rsecution Resoonse Brief.  para. 23().
' ro 'T r ia l  Judgement ,  paras .  1744 ' .  1745.  1747.

"to Trial Judgement, para. 1746.
rtt 'Trial Judgement, para. 1141 . Considering Nzabonimana's presence during Kambanda's weapons distr ibution and
speech at Nyakabanda as well as Nzabonimana's conduct at the reinstatement ceremony at Musambira, the Trial
Chamber determined that the words spoken at these events "establish that these activities were undertaken with the
intent to encourage the bourgmestres and the population to kill Tutsis" . See ibid., para. 17 46.

"tt Trial Judgement, para. 1224. The Trial Chamber explicitly considered that Nzabonimana's support for the
reinstatement did not necessarily establish that he was against the killings since the public reinstatement served as an

assertion of the legitimate public tbrce by the Government in Musambira commune and that "[i]n his capacity as
Minister, Nzabonimana thus served as a representative of the Government at the ceremony. Nzabonimana could both
support the supremacy of the national Government and support the ki l l ings". See ibid.,  paras. 1220-1222.The Appeals
Chamber recal ls that i t  dismissed Nzabonimana's arguments on the assessment of evidence in relat ion to the Musambira
event. See infra, paras. 363-3'/ 5.
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meeting.1lsa The Appeals Chamber is also not convinced by either of Nzabonimana's alternative

inferences relating to the political opposition in Gitarama and the Interahamwe as the source of the

bourgmestres' insecurity concerns. The Appeals Chamber considers that these alternatives fail to

negate the Trial Chamber's finding that Nzabonimana's above-mentioned conduct at Musambira

reinforced the conclusion that he and his co-conspirators entered into an agreement to commit

genocide, which materialised at Murambi. 1 1 -55

416. Turning to events at Nyakabanda, the Appeals Chamber is not persuaded that the Trial

Chamber erroneously found Nzabonimana's mere presence at the weapons distribution to reinforce

the conclusion that he and his co-conspirators entered into an agreement at Murambi to commit

genocide. The Appeals Chamber observes the Trial Chamber's determination that Nzabonimana

was present at Nyakabanda when Kambanda distributed weapons to the Ndiza Battalion for the

purpose of fighting the Tutsi "enemy".l1su Th" App.als Chamber finds it reasonable for the Trial

Chamber to rely on and conclude that this event reinforced the finding on the existence of an

agreement between Ministers of the Interim Government to encourage the killing of Tutsis.ll57 In

addition, the Appeals Chamber finds Nzabonimana's reference to paragraph 1129 of the Trial

Judgement to be misguided.rr58 At paragraph ll2g, the Trial Chamber found Nzabonimana not

guilty of genocide for merely attending the meeting because the Indictment alleged an active

conduct. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber finds Nzabonimana's submission, that the Trial

Chamber relied only on his mere presence to infer the crime of conspiracy, devoid of merit. As

stated earlier, the Trial Chamber inferred the agreement based on events at the Murambi

meeting.llse The Appeals Chamber thus dismisses Nzabonimana's argument in relation to

Nyakabanda.

417 . Finally, recalling that conspiracy to commit genocide is an inchoate offence,l160 the Appeals

Chamber does not see how, in itself, the lack of criminal consequences following events at

Murambi and Musambira supports another reasonable inference.

418. For the reasons above, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's arguments in

relation to events at Musambira and Nyakabanda communes.

11s3 Trial Judgement, pan. 1146.

"to 5", Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 295.
1155 Tdal Judgement, paras. 17 46, l7 47 .
1156 Trial Judgement, paras. 1285, 1292. With respect to Nzabonimana's arguments on Kambanda's words, the Appeals
Chamber recalls that the group of other members of the Interim Government was sufficient to find that Nzabonimana
conspired with one or more persons to commit genocide. See supra, para.400. Accordingly, Nzabonimana's argument
is moot.
I r57 Trial Judgement, pans. l7 46, l7 47 .

"tt Src Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para.284.
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(c) Conclusion

419. Based on the fbregoing, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate

any error warranting the Appeals Chamber's intervention and therefore dismisses his arguments in

relation to his conviction fbr conspiracy to commit genocide under his Fifth Ground of Appeal.

5. Conclusion

420. For the fbregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's submissions

concerning his conviction for conspiracy to commit genocide under his Fifth Ground of Appeal and

grants the Fifth Ground of Appeal, in part, as it relates to his conviction for direct and public

incitement to commit genocide in relation to Murambi. The Appeals Chamber therefore reverses

Nzabonimana's conviction for direct and public incitement to commit genocide based on his

conduct at the Murambi meeting. The impact of this finding, if any, on sentencing will be

considered in the relevant section below.

"to See supra, parus.394-402.
tt6o See Gotete Appeal Judgement, para.
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F. Alleeed Errors Relatine to Nyamabuye (Ground 6)

421. The Trial Chamber found that, in April 1994, Nzabonimana visited the Nyamabuye

commune office and told the Hutu civilians present to destroy the house of a deceased Tutsi,

Jean de Dieu Mpambara, and to cover it up so that in the event of an enquiry his death would not be

known.rr6l The Trial Chamber did not flnd Nzabonimana guilty of genocide with respect to his

statement at the Nyamabuye commune office but found that it provided circumstantial evidence of

his intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part the Tutsi ethnic group, as such.ll62 It further

found that the fact that Nzabonimana's statement was ultimately obeyed provided further evidence

of Nzabonimana's influence at that time.l163

422. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in making

unfavourable factual findings with respect to the Nyamabuye event.1164 In particular, Nzabonimana

submits that he did not receive clear and consistent notice of the alleged acts.l16s Nzabonimana also

submits that the Trial Chamber erred in its assessment of Prosecution Witness CNAA's credibility

and erroneously found that Defence Witness T71 conoborated Witness CNAA's testimony.ri66

Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber failed to consider contradictions within

Witness CNAA's testimony, as well as between his testimony at trial and earlier statements that he

had made in the Bilimungu et al. and Karemera et al. tials.ttut He argues that Witness T71's

testimony contradicts Witness CNAA's testimony in every respect.l168

423. The Prosecution responds that Nzabonimana's claim that the Indictment was defective is

moot because Nzabonimana was not convicted for the Nyamabuye event.ll6e It further responds that

Nzabonimana ignores and fails to explain why the Trial Chamber's acceptance of Witness CNAA's

explanation was unreasonable.llT0 The Prosecution submits that Witness T71 corroborated Witness

CNAA on key aspects, even though he disagreed about Nzabonimana's implication in the event.rrTr

"u' Trial Judgement, para. 1730. See also ibid.,para.1491.
r162 Trial Judgement, pan. 1132.
1163 Trial Judgement, para. 1132.
rle Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 6.1-6.[4]; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 302-315.
1165 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, para. 6.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 310-314.
116 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 302-309,312,313. See also ibid.,pwas 14, 15. Nzabonimana also submits that
the Trial Chamber ened by distorting and setting aside the testimony of Witness T'11. See Notice of Appeal,
para.6.2(2). The Appeals Chamber considers that Nzabonimana has withdrawn the argument, since it is not developed
ilhis Appeal Brief.
"o' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 302.
"oo Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 306-309.
l'6e hosecution Response Brief, para. 253.
lr?0 Prosecution Response Brief. para. 250.
"7r Prosecution Response Bnef , para, 25 l.
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424. The Appeals Chamber recalls that, as a general rule, it declines to discuss alleged elrors

which have no impact on the conviction or sentence.t't 'The Trial Chamber did not convict

Nzabonimana fbr his statement at the Nyamabuye comml ne office, but relied on his statement as

circumstantial evidence of his genocidal intent and as turther evidence of his influence at the

time.lr73 As the Trial Chamber relied on several other events as circumstantial evidence of

Nzabonimana's intent to destroy, in whole or in substantial part, the Tutsi ethnic group, as such,ll74

the Appeals Chamber finds that the Nyamabuye event does not underpin Nzabonimana's

convictions. Similarly, the Trial Chamber's reference to this event as further evidence of

Nzabonimana's influence has no impact on his convictions or his sentence.l'tt The Appeals

Chamber therefore declines to consider Nzabonimana's challenges in relation to the Nyamabuye

event.

425. As to the assessment of the credibility of Witness CNAA, the Appeals Chamber finds that

Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate how the alleged contradictions within his testimony and with

prior statements made in other proceedings undermine the overall credibility of Witness CNAA.T r76

In any event, the Trial Chamber did consider that Witness CNAA's omission to provide all the

information about Nzabonimana in previous trials did not impact his credibility regarding this event

because those cases concerned different defendants.1177 The Appeals Chamber does not detect any

enor in the Trial Chamber's assessment.

426. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's Sixth Ground of

Appeal.

"72 Kunyurukiga Appeal Judgement para. 62; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, paras. 251, 384; Krajiinik Appeal

Judgement, para. 20. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes Nzabonimana's contradictory submissions claiming on

the one hand that the Trial Chamber did not convict him, and on the other hand, that he be acquitted in respect of the

event at Nyamabuye. See Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 6.1(2), 6.[4].

"tt Trial Judgement, para. 1732.

"to Trial Judgement, paras. 1707 (Butare Trading Centre Meeting), 1724 (Release of Killers in Rutobwe Commune),

1726 (Murambi Meeting), 1728 (Reinstatement Ceremony of lhe Bourgmestre of Musambira Commune), 1734
(Weapons Distribution in Tambwe Commune), 1736 (Tambwe Commune Crisis Committee).
Lr75 Tie Appeals Chamber recalls that the Trial Chamber relied on Nzabonimana's influence among other factors to

establish his substantial contribution to the attacks in relation to the Cyayi and Nyabikenke events (see Trial Judgement,

paras .  1712,  11  13 ,  l ' 714) .Seesupru ,  paras .  136,  l3 ' / ,140-144.  Fur ther , in f luence isnotarequ i rede lement fb rgenoc ide

or any other crime of which Nzabonimana was convicted. It also recalls that the Trial Chamber considered the abuse of

influence, not influence alone, as an aggravating factor in sentencing. See inl\a, para.464.

"tu The Appeals Chamber recalls that the findings concerning the events at Murambi on 18 April 1994 are based, in

par t .  on  the  tes t imony o f  Wi tness  CNAA.
"  "  T r ia l  Judgement .  para .  1483.
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G. Alleeed Errors Relating to Tambwe (Ground 7)

427. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of conspiracy to commit genocide (Count 2)

based, in part, on its conclusion that, in May 1994, he entered into an agreement with

Jean-Damascene Ukirikyeyezu to encourage the killing of members of the Tutsi population in

Tambwe ,o**un".tttt The Trial Chamber reached this conclusion having found that Nzabonimana

and Ukirikyeyezv entered into an agreement to form a Crisis Committee with the purpose of

disguising the killings from the international community and on another occasion distributed

weapons and encouraged their use for the killing of Tutsis.lrTe

428. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting him of conspiracy to

commit genocide based on the events in Tambwe ,o**urr."8o In this section, the Appeals

Chamber considers whether the Trial Chamber erred in assessing: (i) the notice provided to

Nzabonimana for this crime; and (ii) the legal elements of the crime'

l .  Not ice

429. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that paragraphs 49 and 58 of

the Indictment provided him with notice that he entered into a conspiracy with Ukirikyeyezu to kill

Tutsis.ll8l In particular, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that the

Indictment reasonably identified his alleged co-conspirators.1l82 He argues that the Prosecution's

Opening Statement merely refers to the Interim Government's role in the conspiracy.lts3

430. Moreover, Nzabonimana contends that the Indictment failed to notify him of the

circumstances of the agreement with Ukirikyeyezu and instead merely described two isolated

events, the formation of a Crisis Committee and the distribution of weapons, in which Ukirikyeyezu

allegedly participated.ll8a Nzabonimana contends that the Indictment does not allege any nexus

between these two events.ll85 According to Nzabonimana, it is impossible to tell from the

lndictment whether these incidents are part of the same conspiracy or two separate conspiracies.l ls6

Furthermore, Nzabonimana argues that the Prosecution failed to present any evidence concerning

1r78 Trial Judgement, paras. 1148, 1149.
1r7e Trial Judgement, pan. 1748. See also ibid.,puas. 1538, 1583, 1591, 1599.
1r80 Nzabonimana No[ice of Appeal, pwas.7.l-7.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 316-384.
1r81 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, paras. 7.1, 7.2; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 316-328.
1r82 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 320.
1183 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 320, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 1743, fn. 2182, cirlng Prosecution
Opening Statement, T. l9 November 2009 p. I 1.
"* Nzabonimana Appeal Briei para. 317.
1r85 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 319.
1186 Nzabonimana Appeal Bief , para.319.
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what transpired prior to the Crisis Committee meeting and the distribution of weapons in Tambwe

commune which might indicate a conspiracy.tttt

431. Nzabonimana contends that the allegations in the Indictment "radically" differed from the

evidence presented.lr8s In particular, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber lacked an

evidentiary basis fbr finding that the Interim Government had a policy to disguise the killings from

the international community and the role that Nzabonimana or Ukirikyeyezu played in the design or

adoption of that policy.rrse Nzabonimana furthor argues that the meeting did not take place in

Ruhango cellule as the Trial Chamber fbund.rre0 Finally, Nzabonimana submits that the Prosecution

failed to prove any of the criminal consequences of the incidents alleged in paragraphs 49 and 58 of

the Indictment. l  le l

432. The Prosecution responds that the Indictment sufficiently pleads Nzabonimana's conspiracy

with Ukirikyeyez\ at Tambwe ,o**urr.tto'

433. Count 2 of the Indictment charges Nzabonimana with conspiracy to commit genocide.rre3

Specifically, paragraph 59 of the Indictment alleges that:

[ . . . ]  between l  January and 3l July 1994, Call ixte NZABONIMANA with other persons,
including but not limited to Ministers, including those of the Interim Government of 9 April 1994,
the leadership of Rwandan Armed Forces (FAR), Gendarmerie, Presidential Guard, the political
leaders of the MRND, the MRD-Hutu Power faction, the PL-Hutu Power faction, other Hutu-
Power factions of opposition parties, and various local administration officials, conspired to kill or
cause senous bodily and mental harm to members of the Tutsi population, with the intent to
destroy in whole or in part, a racial or ethnic group.

434. In the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber observed that paragraph 59 of the Indictment

referred only to the categories of people with whom Nzabonimana allegedly conspired.rrea The

Trial Chamber noted, however, that the Indictment identified the specific individuals with whom

Nzabonimana allegedly conspired in other paragraphs pleaded in support of the count of conspiracy

and that, thns, the Indictment when read as a whole adequately infbrmed Nzabonimana of the

identity of his alleged co-conspirators.rre5

435. In particular, paragraphs 49 and 58 of the Indictment pertain to events in Tambwe commune.

Paragraph 49 of the Indictment states:

r r*? Nzabonimana Appeal  Br ief ,
r r* t  Nzabonimana Appeal  Br ief .
rr8e Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,
Ire" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,
rrer Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,
rre2 Prosecution Response Brief,
"" Indictment, paras. 59, 60.
""  Tr i r l  Judgemen(.  paru.  1743.
"" Triaf Judgement. para. 1743.
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On or about 15 May 1994, in collaboration with the Interim Government's policy of forming
Crisis Committees throughout the country as a way of disguising the killings from the
international community, Callixte NZABONIMANA, in the company of Major Jean Damascene
UKIzuKYEYEZU, a member of the Civil Defence in Gitarama, presided over a meeting in
Ruhango cellule, Nyamagana secteur, Tambwe commune, Gitarama prefecture, where the Crisis
Committee of that commune was selected. The meeting was also convened to address the issue of
Huru's [slc] fighting over t}re property of Tutsi. Many Tutsi caught on roadblocks were killed on
the orders of this committee and they included NYABUGAJU, RUHEZAMBIGO AND
LANGUIDA.

Paragraph 58 of the Indictment states:

In May 1994, Callixte NZABONIMANA, acting in concert with T92 and Jean Damascene
UKIRIKYEYEZU brought a lony full of weapons to the Tambwe communal office. The Accused
ordered that the weapons be distributed to the population. The weapons were distributed and were
used to kill Tutsi in various attacks in Tambwe commune.

436. The Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu entered into an agreement to

establish a Crisis Committee to disguise the killings from the international community.ttnu In

addition, the Trial Chamber found that, in late April or early May 1994, Nzabonimana and

Ukirikyeyezu distributed weapons and encouraged their use against Tutsis.rtet Th" Trial Chamber

considered the concerted and coordinated nature of these actions and inferred, based on the totality

of the evidence, that an agreement with the specific intent to destroy the Tutsi population in whole

or in part materialised between Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu in May Igg4.tte8

437. The Appeals Chamber recalls that charges against an accused and the material facts

supporting those charges must be pleaded with sufficient precision in an indictment so as to provide

notice to the accused.llee The Appeals Chamber further recalls that in determining whether an

accused was adequately put on notice of the nature and cause of the charges against him, the

indictment must be considered as a whole.1200

438. The Appeals Chamber observes that paragraph 59 of the Indictment alleges that between

l January 1994 and 31 July 1994 Nzabonimana conspired with, inter alias, Ministers, including

those of the Interim Government of 9 April 1994, mihtary, and political party officials, to kill or

cause serious bodily and mental harm to members of the Tutsi population with the intent to destroy

in whole or in part a racial or ethnic group. Paragraphs 49, 58, and 60 of the Indictment provide

greater specificity as to the material facts underpinning Nzabonimana's conviction for conspiracy to

commit genocide, namely his participation with Ukirikyeyezu in a Crisis Committee meeting and

I re6 Trial Judgement, pan. 1148.
"'' Trial Judeement. oua. l'148.
"et Trial Judiement. para. 1748.
"nn Srr, 

".i., 
niriiurgn Appeal Judgement, para. 46i Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, pan. l7l;

$ginovii et al. Appea) Judgement, para.262.
"* See supra, para.254.
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their role in the distribution of weapons in Tambwe commune for the purpose of killing Tutsi

civilians.

439. Specifically, for the purposes of notice, these allegations provide a basis for infening that

Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu conspired to commit genocide. Consequently, there is no merit in

Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber erred in finding that paragraphs 49 and 58 of the

Indictment provided greater specificity as to the identity of the specific individuals with whom

Nzabonimana conspired. Indeed, Ukirikyeyezu is clearly identified in paragraph 49 of the

Indictment as a member of the Rwandan army, which is among the categories specified in

paragraph 59 of the Indictment, and he is again mentioned in paragraph 58 of the Indictment.

Moreover, paragraph 60 of the Indictment clearly states that the acts alleged in paragraphs 49 and

58 of the Indictment are intended to support the charge of conspiracy. For the purposes of notice,

the Appeals Chamber is not convinced that any greater specificity was required.

440. In addition, the Appeals Chamber finds no merit in Nzabonimana's submission that the

Indictment did not clearly indicate whether these two incidents formed a single conspiracy or two

conspiracies. As mentioned above, it follows from paragraph 60 of the Indictment that both events

were pleaded in support of the count of conspiracy. In addition, paragraphs 48 and 59 refer to both

Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu and relate to events in the same locality. In these circumstances,

the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that any greater specificity was required to connect the two

events to the allegation of Nzabonimana's participation in a conspiracy to commit genocide. The

Appeals Chamber also summarily dismisses Nzabonimana's argument relating to the alleged

insufficiency of evidence to establish that the events in Tambwe commune demonstrate the

existence of a conspiracy. Submissions relating to the insufficiency of evidence have no bearing on

determining whether a trial chamber ered in finding that the requisite notice was provided.

441. Finally, the Appeals Chamber is not satisfied that Nzabonimana has demonstrated any

dif-ference between the Trial Chamber's findings and the allegations pleaded in the Indictment. The

Trial Chamber clearly found that the purpose of the Crisis Committee was to conceal the killings

from the international community and that the meeting occurred in Ruhango cellule, as alleged in

paragraph 49 of the Indictment.l2t'l Nzabonimana's mere assertion that the evidence did not support

these findings or provide greater context for his role in formulating the policy does not impugn the

notice he received in the Indictment of the material lacts underpinning his conviction. Furthermore,

the fact that the evidence did not establish that Tutsis were in fact killed as a result of these

' r " 'Tr ia l  Judgement,  paras.  1578,  1591,  1599,  1748.

Case No.: ICTR-98-44D-A

148

29 September 2014



2087tH

incidents does not have any bearing on the sufficiency of notice for the inchoate crime of

conspiracy, which requires only the act of entering into an agreement to commit genocide.1202

442. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that Nzabonimana has failed to demonstrate that

he lacked notice of the material facts underpinning his conviction for conspiracy to commit

senocide.

2. Conspiracy to Commit Genocide

443. Having considered the concerted and coordinated actions of Nzaboni4ana and

Ukirikyeyezu, the Trial Chamber found the only reasonable inference to be that an agreement

materialised between them in May 1994 with the specific intent to destroy the Tutsi population in

whole or in part, as such.1203 In reaching this finding the Trial Chamber considered that:

(i) Ukirikyeyezu and Nzabonimana entered into an agreement to establish the Crisis Committee, the

purpose of which was to disguise the killings from the international community;r2]4 and (ii) in late

April to early May 1994, Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyeza distributed weapons and encouraged that

the weapons be used against the Tutsis.r20s On this basis, the Trial Chamber convicted

Nzabonimana of conspiracy to commit genocide.l206

444. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber accepted evidence on events in Tambwe

commune that do not support the inference that he and llkirikyeyezu entered into an agreement to

destroy the Rwandan Tutsi population.1207 Nzabonimana maintains that the Trial Chamber

erroneously found Ukirikyeyezu a co-conspirator because llkirikyeyezu was not reliably

identified.1208 Nzabonimana contends that Prosecution Witness CNAK was unable to identify the

military officer present during the weapons distribution or the establishment of the Crisis

Committee.r2oe Nzabonimana argues that the Trial Chamber ened by considering that Defence

Witness T92's evidence on Ukirikyeyezu's identity corroborated Witness CNAK's evidence.12l0 ln

this respect, Nzabonimana submits that Witness T92 denied the occurrence of the "meetings",

including his presence, as Witness CNAK alleged.r2rl Nzabonimana adds that Witness T92 was

'.'* See Gatete AppealJudgement, para. 260.
''"'Trial Judsement, para. 1148.
'j! See Trial Judgemint, para. 7'748. See also ibid.,paras. 1583, 1591, 1599.
"ut See Trial Judgement, para. 1748. See also ibid., para. 1538.
tt* Trial Judgement, paras. 1148, 1749.
''u' Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pan.1.l.3; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 329.
1208 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 343.
r2@ Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 343. Nzabonimana submits that, while it is alleged in paragraphs 49 and 58 of the
Indictment that Nzabonimana's co-conspirator regarding Tambwe charges was Llkirikyeyezu, Witness CNAK testified
that he did not remember the name of the military officer who accompanied Nzabonimana in Tambwe. See idem,
referring lo Witness CNAK, T. 25 November 2009 p. 5 l.
r2r0 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 343, referring to Trial Judgement, para. 1527.
''" Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 343, referring toTiaJ Judgement, para. 1527.
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found not to be credible.'212 Nzabonimana further contends that the Prosecution did not produce any

evidence relating to Ukirikyeyezll's conduct, and that the finding that Ukirikyeyezt distributed

weapons is erroneous since Witness CNAK testified that Nzabonimana alone spoke and distributed
t 2 l 3weapons.

445. With respect to the establishment of the Crisis Committee, Nzabonimana submits that the

Trial Chamber erroneously found evidence to justify the inference that he and Ukirikyeyezu had

entered into an agreement to kill the Rwandan Tutsi population.l2la Regarding the weapons

distribution at Tambwe commltne, Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred by:

(i) relying on Witness CNAK's testimony to determine that Nzabonimana brought weapons to

allow the people to ensure the security of the country and themselves from the "enemy", meaning

Tutsis;r2r5 and (ii) concluding without evidentiary basis that, after the weapons distribution, he and

Ukirikyeyezu "encouraged the population" to use the weapons against Tutsis.12r6

446. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber reasonably found an agreement to destroy

the Tutsi population based on the cooperation between Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu at

Tambwe.l2lT The Prosecution responds that Witness T92 corroborated Witness CNAK's evidence

that an ottlcer responsible for the Civil Defence was present in Gitarama at the time.r2r8 It submits

that WitnessT92 simply supplemented the name, Ukirikyeyezu, fbr the officer in charge of the

Civil Defence, about whom Witness CNAK testified.r2re The Prosecution adds that the Trial

Chamber correctly fbund that Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu were involved in the weapons

distribution,l220 and that Nzabonimana fails to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber was

unreasonable in accepting Witness CNAK's testimony that it was public knowledge that the enemy

was the Tutsis. l22l

44'7. Nzabonimana replies that the Trial Chamber merely refers to the totality of evidence, while

the evidence does not reveal coordination."" He submits that the Trial Chamber's conclusion on

r:r2 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 343, rel?rring toTrial Judgement, para. 1535.
r2r3 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 344, rel'erring /o Witness CNAK, T. 25 November 2009 p. 52.
'r 'o Nzabonimana Appeal Brief.  paras. 337-342.
' - ' '  Nzabon imana Appea l  Br ie f .  para .  331.
r216 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 333, referring /o Trial Judgement, para. 1748.
rrrT Prosecution Response Brief,  para. 254.
rrrt  Prosecution Resoonse Brief.  oara.267 .
r : lu  Prosecut ion  ResDonse Br ie l ' ,  para .267.
l l :"  Prosecution Response Briel ' ,  para. 268.
I2rr Prosecution Response Brief.  para. 262, re.ferr ing /o Witness CNAK, T.25 November2009 p. 52 (closed session).
rt t t  Nzabonimana Renlv Brief.  nara.81.
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the existence of a plan is not sufficiently reasoned, and further that the Trial Chamber was drawing

inference upon inferen 
"".""

448. The Appeals Chamber recalls again that conspiracy to commit genocide, under Article

2(3Xb) of the Statute, requires "an agreement between two or more persons to conmit the crime of

genocide".l"o The Appeals Chamber further recalls that where the Prosecution intends to rely on

circumstantial evidence to prove a particular fact upon which the guilt of the accused depends, the

finding of the existence of a conspiracy to commit genocide must be the only reasonable inference

based on the totality of the evidence.1225

449. As recalled above, the Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of conspiracy to commit

genocide on the basis of an agreement between Nzabonimana and Lkirikyeyezu to encourage the

killing of Tutsis, which it inferred from Nzabonimana's and Ukirikyeyezu's agreement to establish

the Crisis Committee and from their distribution of weapons. The Appeals Chamber will consider

whether the Trial Chamber erred in finding that llkirikyeyezu was Nzabonimana's co-conspirator.

450. With respect to both events which form the basis of Nzabonimana's conviction for

conspiracy concerning Tambwe commune, the Trial Chamber considered Witness CNAK's

testimony that a military officer who was responsible for Civil Defence accompanied Nzabonimana

and concluded that that officer was Ukiriky 
"y"zu.\"u 

Specifically, with respect to the distribution of

weapons, the Trial Chamber observed that Witness CNAK did not know the name of the individual

who accompanied Nzabonimana, but that he described him as "a military officer who was

responsible for Civil Defence".12" The Trial Chamber then stated that "Witness T92 gave

corroborating evidence that Jean-Damascene Ukirikyeyezu was a Major and was President of Civil

Defence in Gitarama".1228 With respect to the Crisis Committee, the Trial Chamber determined that

"fa]lthough Witness CNAK did not provide the name of the officer, [it] noto[d] that Witness T92

testified that Jean-Damascene Ukirikyeyezu was a major and was President of Civil Defence in

Gitarama".1"' The Trial Chamber then found that Nzabonimana came to establish the Crisis

Committee with Ukiriky"y"t .t"o The Appeals Chamber therefore considers that, for both events,

the Trial Chamber relied on Witness T92's evidence regarding Ukirikyeyezu's positions in the

1223 Nzabonimana Repty Brief, para. 81.

'2=t Sero^ba Appeal Judgement, para. 221; Nahimana et

!(l4giraneza Appeal Judgement, para. 88.
'"o Trial Judgement, pans. 1495, 1544.
"'' Tnal Judsement, pua. 152'7.

"" Src Trii Judgement, para. 1527 (intemal reference
Chamber did not mention llkirikyeyezu's presence or
distribution. See ibid.. oara. 1538.
t"e Se Trial Judgement, para. 1570.

al. Appeal Judgement, para. 896. See also Mugenzi and

omitted). The Appeals Chamber observes that the Trial
involvement in its factual conclusions on the weaDons
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military and Civil Defence as corroborative and supplementary of Witness CNAK's evidence that

Nzabonimana was accompanied by an officer responsible for Civil Defence.r23r

451. The Appeals Chamber observes that, in relation to both events, the Trial Chamber had

befbre it no evidence that Ukirikyeyezu was present. The Trial Chamber concluded that

Ukirikyeyezu was present on the basis of Witness CNAK's testimony that a military officer who

was responsible for Civil Def'ence accompanied Nzabonimana and WitnessT92, and Witness T92's

evidence concerning Ukirikyeyezu's positions in the military and Civil Defence.r232 The Appeals

Chamber notes that while Witness T92 testified that he knew Ukirikyeyezu and his positions,1233

Witness T92 denied seeing Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu during the 1994 events, denied

attending the meeting during which the Crisis Committee was established, and denied distributing

arms with Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu.t"t The Appeals Chamber further notes that the Trial

Chamber lbund Witness 792 notcredible with respect to both events.r235

452. In these circumstances, the Appeals Chamber flnds that no reasonable trier of fact could

have considered Witness T92's evidence as corroborative of Witness CNAK's evidence. As

Witness CNAK did not identify Ukirikyeyezu, and as the Trial Chamber had before it no other

evidence that it was Ukirikyeyezu who accompanied Nzabonimana, the Appeals Chamber finds that

the Trial Chamber erred in determining that Ukirikyeyezu was present during the establishment of

the Crisis Committee and the weapons distribution and that he was, therefore, Nzabonimana's

co-conspirator.

453. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the evidence before the Trial Chamber in

respect of Tambwe commune could not lead a reasonable trier of fact to conclude that the only

reasonable inf'erence was that Nzabonimana and Ukirikyeyezu entered into an agreement to destroy

the Rwandan Tutsi population. The Appeals Chamber therefore dismisses Nzabonimana's

remaining arguments as moot. 1236

rr3t'Trial Judgement, para. 1583.
' t t 'Tr ia l  Judgement,  paras.  1527,  1570.
r2rr Trial Judgement, paras. 1495, 1503, 1544, 15?0.
'rrr When asked if he knew Ukirikyeyezu, Witness T92 answered that he knew the name and that "[h]e was a major, a
member of parliament, Jean-Damascdne Ukulikiyeyezu. I know that he was also appointed prdfet of Gitarama and that
he was also appointed a member - or, the president of civil defence in Gitarama". See Witness T92,T.19 May 2010
o . 1 6 .
r t t 'Wi tne. ,  Tg2,T. l9  May 2010 pp.  18,  19;  Wi tness T92,  T.  19 May 2010 pp.  53,  71 (c losed session) .  See a lsoTira l
Judgement, paras. 1503, 1534, 1564, 1579.
'ttt See Trial Judsement. paras. 1535. 1580.
tt'u 5"" Nzaboniiana Noiice of Appeal. para.7.2: Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 345-384.
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3. Conclusion

454. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber grants Nzabonimana's Seventh Ground of

Appeal. The Appeals Chamber reverses Nzabonimana's conviction for conspiracy to commit

genocide in relation to Tambwe commune. The impact of this finding, if any, on sentencing will be

considered below.
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H. Alleged Errors Relating to Sentencing (Ground 8)

455. The Trial Chamber sentenced Nzabonimana to a single term of life imprisonment fbr his

convictions for genocide (Count 1), conspiracy to commit genocide (Count 2), direct and public

incitement to commit genocide (Count 3), and extermination as a crime against humanity

(Count 4). t" '

456. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact and in law in imposing a patently

disproportionate sentence.'"t In the alternative to quashing his convictions, Nzabonimana submits

that a reduction of sentence is warranted as the Trial Chamber engaged in double-counting

aggravating circumstances and failed to properly exercise its discretion when considering mitigating

circumstances.l23e Nzabonimana submits that, although the Trial Chamber was not obliged to

consider mitigating circumstances given his refusal to address them, the Trial Chamber erred in the

exercise of its discretion by failing to consider other mitigating circumstances that were available in

the evidence, the alleged prejudice suffered, and the conduct of the Prosecution.l2a0

457. The Prosecution responds that, by failing to make any submission on mitigating

circumstances at trial, Nzabonimana waived his arguments on appeal.tto' Similarly, the Prosecution

argues that Nzabonimana waived on appeal his arguments on the Trial Chamber's assessment of

aggravating circumstances as he failed to identify the substance of the Trial Chamber's alleged

errors in his Notice of Appeal .1242 In any event, the Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber did

not engage in double-counting and Nzabonimana does not present any argument showing any abuse

of discretion.l2al

458. In addressing this ground of appeal, the Appeals Chamber bears in mind that trial chambers

are vested with broad discretion in determining an appropriate sentence due to their obligation to

individualise penalties to fit the circumstances of the convicted person and the gravity of the

crime.'2aa As a rule, the Appeals Chamber will not substitute its own sentence for that imposed by

'23t Trial Judgement, paras. 1800, 1822.
r238 Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, p. 59; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 385-395.
'23e Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, pp. 59-61; Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 29,385-395.
'200 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 385, 390-395. Nzabonimana argues that in choosing to exercise its discretion to
consider mitigating circumstances, the Trial Chamber was obliged to do this according to the law. He further argues that
having been acquitted of the majority of the charges, there was no way he could have anticipated being convicted on
"the basis of a t-ew paragraphs in the Indictment". See ibid., para.390.
rzor Prosecution Response Brief,  paras. 305,306.
l :ol Prosecution Response Brief,  para.3()7.
'rot Prorecution Response Brief l .  paras. 308-3 | 2.

"^^ Srr, e.g., Biz,imungu Appeal Judgement, para.372; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 418; Ntlahimana
Appeal Judgement, para. 2l 8.
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the trial chamber unless it has been shown that the trial chamber committed a discernible error in

exercising its discretion, or failed to follow the applicable law.l2as

1. Preliminary Matters

459. The Appeals Chamber recalls that under Rule 86(C) of the Rules, the parties shall address

matters of sentencing in their closing arguments. It is thus the accused's prerogative to identify any

mitigating circumstances before the trial chamber and he cannot raise them for the first time on

appeal.l2a6 As Nzabonimana made no submissions on sentencing in his closing brief and arguments

at tt'ral,t2a1 the Appeals Chamber will not consider his contention that the Trial Chamber should

have considered the Prosecution's alleged poor conduct, alleged prejudice suffered in presenting his

case, and the fact that he welcomed Tutsis into his house during the events.12a8

460. The Appeals Chamber notes that Nzabonimana refers to aggravating circumstances only in

the subheading of Ground 8 of his Notice of Appeal but that he does not allege any error in this

respect.l24e The Appeals Chamber finds that this cursory reference to aggravating circumstances is

insufficient to provide the requisite nolice within the meaning of Rule 108 of the Rules.r250

Consequently, Nzabonimana's submissions in his Appeal Brief on alleged enors pertaining to

aggravating circumstances impermissibly exceed the scope of his Notice of Appeal.l"l The

Appeals Chamber nevertheless considers that it is in the interests of justice to examine these

arguments. As the Prosecution responded to these contentions despite its implicit objection to their

consideration, the Appeals Chamber considers that there is no unfairness to the Prosecution in this

respect.1252

"ot Srr, e.g., Bizimungz Appeal Judgement, para.372; Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 418; Ndahimana
Appeal Judgement, para. 218.

"6 Srr, 
".{., 

Koryirukiga AppealJudgement, pan.214; Bikindi Appeal Judgement, para. 165; Kupreikii et al. Appeal
Judsement, para.474.

"o'\"" Triai Judgement, para. 1816. See also Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 385. Despite Nzabonimana not making
sentencing submissions, the Trial Chamber did address mitigating circumstances and considered his contribution
towards the development of Gitarama prtfecnre and lack of expression of negative sentiments against Tutsis prior to
the events of April 1994 to be of limited weight. See Trial Judgement, paras. I 81 2, 1 8 16, I 820.

"o' See Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, paras. 392-394.In addition, the Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber
did not en in the exercise of its discretion in choosing to consider mitigating circumstances when it was under no
obligation to do so, or because it did not consider the circumstances that Nzabonimana raises for the first time on
appeal See ibid., puas. 390, 391 .
'209 Src Nzabonimana Notice of Appeal, p. 59.
ttto Rule 1 08 of the Rules requires , inter alia, that the appellant "indicate the substance of the alleged errors".
l25l In this respect, the Appeals Chamber observes that the issue is about the scope of the appeal rather than waiver, as
mentioned by the Prosecution. .See Prosecution Response Brief, paras. 305, 307.
tu' C7. Gotrt" Appeal Judgement, para.20 Ntabakuze Appeal Judgement, fn. 255; Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal
Judgement, para. 381.
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2. Alleged Double-Counting Between Aggravating Circumstances and Elements of the Crime

461. In determining the appropriate sentence, the Trial Chamber considered as aggravating

circumstances Nzabonimana's abuse of influence, the large number of victims at the Nyabikenke

commune office in excess of the threshold for extermination as a crime asainst humanitv. and the

fact that thc victims were particularly vulnerable.l2s3

462. Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber erred by finding that the release of prisoners

fiom Rutobwe commune and the order to destroy a Tutsi house in Nyamabuye commune constituted

aggravating circumstances while also considering these events in inferring his genocidal intent, one

of the clements of the crime of genocide, of which he was convicted.l25a Nzabonimana adds that the

Trial Chamber could not consider influence as an aggravating circumstance while considering it in

relation to the commission of certain crimes.r2ss He argues that the Trial Chamber also ened by

considering the number of victims at the Nyabikenke commune office as an aggravating

circumstance while also relying upon this fact in satisfaction of one of the elements of the crime of

extermination as a crime against humanity.l2s6

463. The Prosecution responds that the Trial Chamber did not rely on the Rutobwe and

Nyamabuye incidents to double-count any element of an off'ence, but cited these events alongside

other findings to infer Nzabonimana's genocidal intent and to illustrate Nzabonimana's abuse of his

position of influence.l2's7 The Prosecution submits that the abuse of his position was not relied upon

by the Trial Chamber to establish Nzabonimana's genocidal intent or any other element of his

convictions,'2tt The Prosecution also submits that the Trial Chamber did not engage in double-

counting regarding the number of victims at the Nyabikenke commune office incident and properly

considered it as an aggravating circumstance as the Trial Chamber only considered the number of

victims beyond those required to establish extermination as a crime against humanity.r2se

464. The Appeals Chamber recalls that a factor considered by a trial chamber as an element of a

crime cannot also be considered as an aggravating circumstance.'tou The Appeals Chamber also

recalls that the Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of instigating genocide for the killings of

r r5 r  Tr ia l  Judgement ,  paras .  1818,  1819.
r2so Nzabonimana Appeal Brief,  paras. 386, 387.
'tt' Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 388.
r256 Nzabonimana Appeal Brief, para. 389.
r257 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 309.
r2s8 Prosecution Response Brief, para. 309.
r2se Prosecution Response Brief, para. 310, re.ferring to
t26o DorrJevi( Appeal Judgement, para. 936. See also
Judgement, para. 137; Bluiki( Appeal Judgement, para.

Ca.se No. ; ICTR-98-44D-A

Ndindabahiz.i Appeal Judgement, pua. 135.
Biz.imungu Appeal Judgement, ptua. 380; Ndindabahiz.i Appeal
693, re.f'erring to Vasiljevi( Appeal Judgement, paras. 172, 173.
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Tutsis at the Nyabikenke commune office on 15 April 1994.t'6t The Trial Chamber noted "the

extensive circumstantial evidence of Nzabonimana's genocidal intent" which included, inter alia,

Nzabonimana's forcible release of prisoners in Rutobwe commune and his statement at the

Nyamabuye commune office to destroy the house of a dead Tutsi.r262 The Appeals Chamber

observes that the Trial Chamber considered Nzabonimana's abuse of influence, not his mere

influence, as an aggravating circumstance, and specifically, Nzabonimana's encouragement for the

intensification of the massacres instead of using his position of authority and his influence to protect

Tutsis.1263 Furthermore, contrary to Nzabonimana's submission, the release of the Rutobwe

commune prisoners and his order of destruction of a house in Nyamablye commune served as

examples of Nzabonimana's abuse of his position of influence and were not aggravating

circumstances in themselves.l26a Thus, the Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's contention that

the Trial Chamber engaged in double-counting in relation to his influence and the events in

Rutobwe and Nyamabuye communes.

465. Turning to Nzabonimana's submission regarding double-counting the number of victims at

the Nyabikenke commune office as both an element of extermination as a crime against humanity

and an aggravating circumstance, the Appeals Chamber recalls that, with respect to extermination

as a crime against humanity, "a particularly large number of victims can be an aggravating

circumstance in relation to the sentence for this crime if the extent of the killings exceeds that

required for extermination".1265 As the Trial Chamber considered that the large number of victims at

the Nyabikenke commune offrce exceeded the threshold for extermination as a crime against

humanity, the Appeals Chamber finds that it did not err in taking the number of victims into

consideration as an aggravating circumstance. The Appeals Chamber therefore rejects

Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial Chamber engaged in impermissible double-counting in

considering the number of victims at the Nyabikenke commune office as an aggravating

circumstance.

466. In light of the foregoing, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Nzabonimana's Eighth Ground of

Appeal.

126r Trial Judgement, paras. 1718, 1737.
1262 Trial Judgement, paras. 1717, l'724, 1732.
ttu'Trial Judgement, para. 1818.
tt* Trial Judgement, para. 1818.
1265 Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, pan. 231; Ndindabahizi Appeal Judgement, para. 135. The Appeals Chamber
recalls that while extermination as a crime against humanity has been found in relation to the killing of thousands of
persons, it has also been found in relation to fewer killings, such as the killings of approximately 60 individuals and
less. See Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, para.231, referring to Lukii and Lukii Appeal Judgement, puas.531 ,544,
fns.1564-1567.
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IV. APPEAL OF THE PROSECUTION

A. Alleged Error Relating to Nzabonimana's Conviction for Instigating Genocide and

Extermination in Nyabikenke Conznane Office (Ground 1)

467. The Trial Chamber convicted Nzabonimana of instigating genocide and extermination as a

crime against humanity under Article 6(l) of the Statute based on his role in the killing of Tutsis at

the Nyabikenke commune office, Gitarama prdfecture, on l5 April 1994.1266 As recalled earlier, the

Trial Chamber found that on l3 April 1994, assailants attempted an unsuccessful attack against

Tutsis who sought refuge at the Nyabikenke commune office.1267 It further found that in the

afternoon of 14 April 1994, Nzabonimana held a meeting at the Cyayi centre, where approximately

30 people were present,r268 during which he told thom to prioritise the massacre of Tutsis before

taking their propertyt26e and threatened Evariste Munyagatare.t2tt'The Trial Chamber also found

that the night and day following Nzabonimana's remarks, Hutu civilians, Interahamwe, and

commune policemen attacked the Nyabikenke commune offrce,l27l resulting in the deaths of

between l5 and 60 Tutsi refugees, including Munyagatare.r2T2

468. The Trial Chamber observed that, following Nzabonimana's remarks, the attacks against the

Tutsis in the commune office "escalated in their intensity and character".1273 Recalling, inter alia,

that Nzabonimana was an influential figure in Gitarama prdfecture and based on the totality of

evidence, the Trial Chamber concluded that the only reasonable inference from the evidence was

that Nzabonimana's remarks substantially contributed to thc "continuance and ultimate success" of

the attack.r"o The Trial Chamber lurther found that by saying that Tutsis should be massacred,

together with issuing a threat against a Tutsi, Nzabonimana prompted others to carry out and

continue the genocidal attack upon the commune offlce, and that he intended to do so.r275

469. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in convicting Nzabonimana only for

instigating rather than for committing or, alternatively, ordering, genocide and extermination as a

' t t" '  Trial Judgement, paras. 1718, 1'73'7, l '186, 1787, 1790, 1'795,
'26t Trial Judgement, paras. 866, 938. See also ibid.,  para. 1709.
' t t ' t  Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938. See also ibid.,  ptuas. 1710,
to'Trial Judgement, paras. 887, 938. See also ibid.,  para. 1710.
'-" 'Trial Judgement, paras. 938. See also ibid.,  para. 11 10.

1 8(X).

1 7 1 1 .

'tt '  Trial Judgement, paras. 902, 910,913, 92'7,936,939. See also ibid., para. l7l l. The Trial Chamber found that the
attack occurred between 3.00 and 4.00 a.m. and at approximately 10.00 a.m. until the afternoon on 15 April 1994. See
ibid., pwas 9 13, 936, 17 1 1.

"" Tiial Judgement, paras. 936, 939. See utso ibicl., paras. 171l, 1785, 1195. See a/.so Rule 115 Decision.
'"t Trial Judgement, para. 17 14.

l;] i  It:r l 
Judgement, paras. 1712-1115. See also ibid., para.92.

' -  '  Tr ia l  Judgement.  para.  11 11 .
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crime against humanity in relation to the killings at the Nyabikenke commune offtce.tzT6It argues

that the Trial Chamber failed to provide an explanation as to why it rejected these modes of

liability,l277 and requesis the Appeals Chamber to enter a conviction on this basis for genocide

(Count 1) and extermination (Count 4), or alternatively murder, as a crime against humanity

(Count 5), in order to fully reflect the criminality of Nzabonimana's conduct.1278

470. Nzabonimana responds that the Prosecution's appeal should be dismissed.t2'e He further

requests that the Appeals Chamber refrain from entering a new conviction based on a more severe

legal characterisation at this stage, as it would deny him the right to appeal the new conviction.r2s0

471. As a preliminary matter, in so far as the Prosecution argues that the Trial Chamber failed to

provide an explanation for rejecting the modes of liability of committing and ordering, a review of

the Trial Judgement reflects that the Trial Chamber explained in detail the legal elements of each

mode of liability underArticle 6(1) of the Statute relevant to the crimes, including committing and

ordering.r2st Since the Trial Chamber stated that it would discuss these modes of liability in its legal

findings "where applicable",t"' th" Appeals Chamber considers that the Trial Chamber implicitly

considered the applicability of these modes of liability to the alleged crimes. The Appeals Chamber

finds no error in the Trial Chamber's decision to only explicitly discuss the form of responsibility it

concluded was most appropriate. Accordingly, the Prosecution has not shown that the Trial

Chamber erred in this respect.

472. The Appeals Chamber now considers, in turn, whether the Trial Chamber erred in not

convicting Nzabonimana on the basis of the modes of responsibility of committing or ordering in

relation to the events at the Cvavi centre and the Nyabikenke commune office.

1. Committins

473. The Prosecution submits that Nzabonimana should have been convicted under the mode of

liability of committing since his role in the attack at the Nyabikenke commune office was "integral

to its commission" and that his actions went far beyond mere instigation.1283 The Prosecution

contends that "[a] person providing a contribution that is equally important as - or more important

1276 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para. 2; Prosecution

#I.29 April 2014 p. 56.
'-" Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 24, 25.
r2t8 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, pan.2; Prosecution Appeal
127e Nzabonimana Response Brief, paras. 12, 17, 93,
1280 Nzabonimana Response Brief, para. 15.
r28r Trial Judgement. paras. 1692-1700.
t c e t * .  - -  . -""'Trid Judgement, para. 1700.
1283 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 4, 11, 24, 26, 49,
AT. 29 Aprn 2014 pp. 56, 63.

Appeal Brief, paras. 2, 4, ll, 23-57, 69. See also

Brief, paras. 23, 25, 50, 56, 57, 69.

50. See a/so Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 31, 32:
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than - the carrying out of the aclus reus, cannot be assessed as a mere accessory".l"o The

Prosecution further submits that the accused's presence is not required for "integral part

commission:rl2tt5 un6 that, with the exception of Nzabonimana's absence during the attack,

Nzabonimana's conduct meets all of the indicators considered by the Appeals Chamber in previous

cases,r2u6 namely that: (i) he fully exercised his influence over the physical perpetrators;r2u7 (ii) he

fully embraced the decision to commit the crime as his own;r288 and (iii) his conduct enabled the

cr imes. l2n9

474. The Prosecution argues that Nzabonimana's power and influence were established from,

inter alia, the fact that he was highly respected in his hometown, Nyabikenke commune, and

throughout Gitarama prdfecture as he was "one of the highest ranking officials in Rwanda".l2e0 The

Prosecution further argues that Nzabonimana fully embraced the decision to commit the crimes as

his own considering "[h]is leadership role, his personal order to massacre the Tutsis and his threat

thal. the Tutsis'time would come soon".l2elThe Prosecution contends that the fact that, following

his remarks, Nyabikenke authorities turned "fiom defending the Tutsis [at the Nyabikenke

commune office] to massacring them" demonstrates that Nzabonimana's exercise of influence was

as compelling as that inthe Seromba, Gacumbllsi, and Munyakazi caser.tt" The Prosecution asserts

that Nzabonimana enabled the killings as much as or more than Gacumbitsi or Munyakazi who had

simply led assailants on the ground.l2e3 The Prosecution contends that Nzabonimana's conduct is

part of "his wider campaign of genocide".r2ea

415. Nzabonimana responds that the Prosecution's theory in relation to his influence and

authority as well as "campaign of genocide" is new and distorted.l2es Nzabonimana contends that

the Trial Chamber only made vague isolated findings on his influence and never found that he

exercised "compelling authority" over anyone.t'e6 According to Nzabonimana, his conduct is not

r:*o Prosecution Appeal Brief, pnra. 26. See ai.sr.r Prosecution Reply Brief, ptra.32.
r:*s Prosecution Appeal Briei.  pnras.44-48.
'- '"  Prosecution Appeal Brief.  paras. 27,49.
'-"' Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 28-38, re.t'brring to, inter alia, Seromba Appeal Judgement, pzras. 170, 171,
Gut'unhitsi  Appeal Judgement, paras.2,6O; Munyukaz.i  Appeal Judgement, paras. 2, 136.
''*t Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 39-41 , ref'erring to, inter alia, Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 171. The
Prosecution contends that although the relevant indicator was not specifically considered by the Appeals Chamber in
Gacumbitsi or Munyakaz,i, the leadership roles of the accused showed that they embraced the decision to commit the
cr imes.  See ib id . .  para .39 .
't*e Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras, 42,43, re.f|rring to, inter alia, Gacumbirsi Appeal Judgement, para. 60; Munyakazi

App.ol Judgement, para. 135. See also 1.T. 29 Apri l  2014 p. 63.
'- '"  Prosecution Appeal Brief,  paras. 29-31. See a/so Prosecution Reply Brief,  paras. l7-27.
r}r Prosecution Appeal Briel ' .  piua. 4().
'"-  Prosecution Appeul Brief,  ptras. 29,35. See also ibid.,  paras. 32-38.
r2e3 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 43.
rrea Prosecution Appeal Brief,  ptras. l5-22.
r2es Nzabonimana Response Brief,  paras. 13, l8-20, 22,24-29, 41.
rt"t 'Nzabonimana Response Brief,  paras. 19,25. See also AT.29 Apri |  2014pp.68,69.
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comparable to that found to constitute committing in the Seromba, Gacumbitsi, and Munyakafi

cases, where the accused were either present, led, or supervised the attack.l2et Comparing other

cases whete "exhortations to kill [...] prior to a criminal attack" were characterised as instigating,

Nzabonimana contends that the elevation of the legal characterisation of his conduct to committing

is unwarranted.l2e8 He stresses that liability for committing should be limited to cases involving the

active participation at the time of the crime and that adopting a broader interpretation would blur

the distinction between this mode of criminal resoonsibilitv and others.r2ee

416. The Prosecution replies that Nzabonimana's submissions are unfounded and without

merit.1300 It further asserts that the Prosecution's case regarding Nzabonimana's power and

authority was not new as it was alleged in the Indictment, the Prosecution Pre-Trial Brief, and the

Prosecution Opening Statement. l30l

471. As correctly recalled by the Trial Chamber, acts other than physical perpetration can

constitute direct participation inthe actus reus of a crime.1302 The question is whether an accused's

conduct "was as much an integral part of the genocide as were the killings which it enabled".1303 kr

the cases where the Appeals Chamber has concluded that an accused's role constituted an integral

part of the crimes, the accused were present at the scene of the crime and participated, supervised,

directed, played a leading role, or otherwise fully exercised influence over the perpetrators.l304

However, in this case, the Trial Chamber did not find that Nzabonimana was present during the

attack and, further, did not find that he supervised, played a leading role, or fully exercised

influence over the perpetrators.

478. Consequently, the Prosecution has failed to demonstrate that the Trial Chamber erred in not

concluding that Nzabonimana committed genocide and extermination, or alternatively murder, as a

crime against humanity at the Nyabikenke commune office.

l2e7 Nzabonimana Response Brief, paras. 44-66.
r2e8 Nzabonimana Response Briei, paras. 67, 68, refening to Ndindabahizi Tial Judgement, paras. 458, 464;
Nchamihigo Trial Judgement, paras. 369-3'71,3'73-3781' Karera Trial Judgement, paras. 543,546,548; KajelijeliTial
Jg$gement, paras. 829, 832, 833, 836.
"" Nzabonimana Response Brief, paras. 13,44,69.
''* Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 11-16,28-30,44-49.
"- Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 4,6-10,20.

Judgement, para. 1696. See Munyakazl Appeal Judgement, para. 135; Seromba Appeal Judgement, para. 161;
G-acumbitsi Appeal Judgement, para- 60.
""' Gacumbitsl Appeal Judgement, para. 60. See also Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 135; Seromba

App.ut Judgement, para. l6l.
"n See Seromba Trial Judgement, paras. 239,269; Seromba Appeal Judgement, pan. 111; Cacumbitsi Appeal
Judgement, para. 60. See also Munyakazi Appeal Judgement, para. 136.
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2. Ordering

419. The Prosecution submits that, in the alternative, Nzabonimana should have been convicted

fbr ordering the attack.l3nt The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber lbund that Nzabonimana

ordered the massacre.ttu6 It also contends that Nzabonimana occupied a position of authority which

would have compelled the physical perpetrators to carry out the crimes, meeting the actus reus ot

ordering.l30t The Prosecution argues that Nzabonimana possessed the required mens rea for this

mode of liabiliry.r3orr

480. Nzabonimana responds that the Trial Chamber did not establish that the perpetrators of the

attack were those present at the Cyayi centre when Nzabonimana gave his remarks.t3t'e He submits

that the required causal link was absent as the offence should be committed by the person who

received the order.l3lo Nzabonimana also submits that there was no direct evidence that an order

was issued to the bourgmestre or to policemen,l3lland that the circumstantial evidence does not

lead to the only reasonable conclusion that Nzabonimana gave an order to attack the commune

otr lce. l3l2

481. The Prosecution replies that there was direct evidence that he gave an order at the Cyayi

centre meetingr3r3 and that it was the only reasonable conclusion fiom the factual findings.l3ra

482. The Appeals Chamber recalls that ordering requires that a person in a position of authority

instruct another person to commit an offence.rttt The authority envisaged by ordering requires no

fbrmal superior-subordinate relationship between the accused and the perpetratorl316 and may be

informal or of a purely temporary nature.l3lT It is sufficient that there is proof of a position of

authority on the part of the accused that would compel another person to commit a crime.l3ls A

person in a position of authority may incur responsibility fbr ordering if the order has a direct and

rr05 Prosecution Notice of Appeal, para.2; Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 2, 4,25,51, 56, 5"7. See
AT. 29 April 2014 pp. 56, 63, 64, 66.
rr(b Prosecution Appeal Brief', para. 52, rejbrring to Trial Judgement, paras. 1785, 1195. See also AT.29 April

also

20t4

pp.  63 ,66 .
' " "  Prosecut ion  Appea l  Br ie f .  paras .  5  1 ,  53 .  54 .
r3t)t Prosecution Appeal Brief, pnra. 55.
r30e Nzabonimana Response Brief,  paras. 73, 75.
lr l"  Nzabonimana Response Brief,  paras. ?5, 76.
' ' "  Nzabon imana Response Br ie l .  paras .77-79.
'3'2 Nzabonimana Response Brief,  paras. 80-92.
rrrr Prosecution Reply Brief,  para. 59.
r3ra Prosecution Reply Brief,  para. 61.
t"t Bug,,roru and iViengiyumva Appeal Judgement, para.217; Setuko Appeal Judgement, para.240; Kordii and Cerkez.

Appea l  Judqement ,  para .  28 .

"l( Srtuk,," Appeal Judgement, para. 240; Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement, fn. 1162; KorrJii antl aerkez,

Appeal Judgement. para. 28.
t" '  Setukr, Appeal Judgement, para.240; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 363.
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substantial effect on the commission of the illegal act.l3le Responsibility is also incurred when an

individual in a position of authority orders an act or omission with the awareness of the substantial

likelihood that a crime will be committed in the execution of that order, and if that crime is

effectively committed subsequently by the person who received the order.1320

483. The Appeals Chamber notes that the Trial Chamber found that Nzabonimana was an

influential political personality in Gitarama pr€fecture during the events of April to July lgg4.t321

However, the Trial Chamber made no findings on his position of authority, informal or tsmporary,

over the recipients of the alleged order or the direct perpetrators of the attack sufficient to establish

Nzabonimana's responsibility for ordering under Article 6(1) of the Statute.ttt'The Appeals

Chamber notes that in paragraphs 1785 and 1795 of the Trial Judgement, the Trial Chamber indeed

referred to Nzabonimana's remarks as "orders".1323 However, nowhere in the Trial Judgement did it

find that the attack at the Nyabikenke commune office was subsequently committed by the persons

who received the alleged order.l32a In fact, the Trial Chamber made no findings that the persons

who were present at the Cyayi centre, where Nzabonimana made the remarks, were the same as

those who committed the killings at the Nyabikenke commune office.

484. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Prosecution has failed to demonstrate that

the Trial Chamber erred in not concluding that Nzabonimana ordered the killings at the Nyabikenke

commune office.

3. Conclusion

485. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the Prosecution's First Ground of Appeal.

tt" Setako Appeal Judgement, para. 240; Semanza Appeal Judgement, para. 361. See also Gacumbitsi
Appeal Judgement, para. 182.
'''" Ndindiliyintnna et al. Appeal Judgement, paras. 291, 365:, Setako Appeal Judgement, pan.240:' Renzaho Appeal
Judgement, para. 315.

"'o-Bogoroio and Nsengiyumva AppeaI Judgement, fn. 642; Renzaho Appeal Judgement, para. 315; Nahimarn et al.
Appeal Judgement, para. 48 l.
'j, Tdal Judgement, para.92. See also ibid.,pan. 1712.
t322 C7. Renzaho Appeal Judgement, pwa.320; Boikoski andTariulovs&l Appeal Judgement, para. 75.
1323 Tdal Judgement, paras. 1785, 1795.

"'o C7. Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal Judgement, para. 368.
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B. Alleged Errors Relating to the Release of Prisoners in Rutobwe Comnrzne (Ground 2)

486. The Trial Chamber found that, in the days leading up to l8 Aprill994, Nzabonimana

encouraged the killing of Tutsis by causing "the release of killers of Tutsis", who had been

imprisoned by bourgmestre Jean-Marie Vianney Mporanzi, in Rutobwe communr.t"t It further

found that killings in Rutobwe commune intensified after the release of the prisoners.l3'o However,

the Trial Chamber found that there was insufticient evidence to conclude that the release of the

prisoners substantially contributed to the commission of a speciflc crime.l327 Accordingly, it did not

convict Nzabonimana of senocide based on this event. I32tt

481. The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in failing to convict Nzabonimana of

aiding and abetting the killing of Tutsis in Rutobwe commune through the forcible release of

prisoners.rs2e According to the Prosecution, all of the elements of aiding and abetting genocide were

found by the Trial Chamber: (i) the killings fbr the actus reus of genocide; (ii) Nzabonimana's

substantial contribution by releasing the killers for the actus reus of aiding and abetting; and (iii) his

knowledge of the killers' genocidal intent for the mens ,ro.t"" The Prosecution submits that the

Trial Chamber accepted the evidence that the prisoners, once set free, committed genocidal killings

when it found that the kill ings in Rutobwe commune intensified after the release of the prisoners.l33l

The Prosecution I'urther submits that the Trial Chamber erred when concluding that it could not find

that Nzabonimana's conduct had substantially contributed to any of the ensuing crimes since he

released the very criminals who later killed Tutsis in the same commune where they had been

imprisoned.'"t The Prosecution submits that the Trial Chamber erred in fact when finding that no

detail was provided as to the victims, dates or locations,l333 and erred in law in requiring such

details in addition to the elements of the crime that were proven.ttto In this respect, the Prosecution

argues that the Trial Chamber's error is further compounded by its reliance on the Kalimanzira

' t t5 Trial Judgement, para. 1076. See ulst.t ibid.,para. 1719.
rt2o Trial Judgement, para. 1076. See also ibid.,para. 1719. The Trial Chamber further found that Nzabonimana must

l,qy._k"9yn.rhe 
genocidal intent of the released prisoners. See ibid., para. 1720.

'  ' - '  
Tr ia l  Judgement.  para.  1723.

rs2t Trial Judgement, para. 1723.
'32e Prosecution Notice ofAppeal, para.3; Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras.5, 14,58-69. See also Prosecution Reply
Brief, paras. 90, 91; AT. 29 April 2014 pp. 56, 66.
rr30 Prosecution Appeal Brief', ptras.5,59-61. See also Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 82,83.
r33r Prosecution Appeal Brief, pira. 59.
r332 Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 60, 63. See a/sr.r Prosecution Reply Brief, paras. 83, 86-88.
r3r3 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 62, reJeting tr.r Trial Judgement, paras. 1067, 10'76, 1'719,7722. See also
Prosecution Reply Brief, para. 83.
r3ra Prosecution Appeal Brief, paras. 5, 64-66, re.fbrring to Kareru Appeal Judgement, para. 3 | 8; Ntakirutimana Appeal
Judgement, para.517. See ul.ro Prosecution Reply Brief, para.83.

ber 2014
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Appeal Judgement since the Appeals Chamber in that case did not require additional details, but

instead found the evidence insufficient in relation to the existence of killings.r335

488. Nzabonimana responds that the Trial Chamber correctly acquitted him due to insufficient

evidence of killings.1336 Nzabonimana submits that the Prosecution erroneously contends that the

Trial Chamber implicitly acknowledged the existence of crimes committed by the released

prisoners and that the evidence of these crimes was sufficient.1337 Nzabonimana further submits that

the Prosecution confuses the Trial Chamber's finding that killings intensified following the release

of the prisoners with proof beyond reasonable doubt of "crimes specifically connected" to the

reprehensible conduct.1338 Nzabonimana contends that the evidence of Prosecution Witness CNAA

was vague hearsay and that Defence Witness Mporanzi's testimony mentioned no particular crime

and provided no specific elements, rendering it impossible to establish a nexus between the murders

and the release of prisoners.l"e Nzabonimana submits that the Trial Chamber simply required

specific and sufficient evidence that murders were committed.l3a0 Nzabonimana finally argues that

the Trial Chamber correctly relied on the Kalimanzira AppealJudgement.l3al

489. The Appeals Chamber recalls that in determining substantial contribution for aiding and

abetting, it has assessed whether a "link" or "connection" between the conduct of the aider and

abettor and the crime has been demonstrated.l3a2 Such conduct must have a substantial effect upon

the perpetration of the crime.l3a3 Whether a particular contribution qualifies as "substantial" is a

"fact-based inquiry", and need not "serve as condition precedent for the commission of the
.  . .  t ' 144

cnme".- -  '

490. The Trial Chamber recalled that it had heard evidence that the released prisoners:

(i) organised themselves after their release and then carried out various crimes against Tutsis in

Rutobwe commune between 2I and 30 April 1994, including demolishing houses and killings; and

1335 Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 61 , refeming to Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, paras. 77 -79. See also Prosecution
Reply Brief, para. 89.
"'o Nzabonimana Response Brief, paras. ll4, 128.
1337 Nzabonimana Response Brief, para. I 18.
1338 Nzabonimana Response Brief. para. 119.
r33eNzabonimanaResponseBrief,paras. l2l,125,126.SeealsoAT.29Apnl2014p.73.
110 Nzabonimana Response Bief , para. 127.
lsr Nzabonimana Response Brief, paras. 123, 124, 126. Nzabonimana iugues that the Prosecution's reference to the
Ntakirutimonn and Karera Appeal Judgements is irrelevant and further points to the Muvunyi 1 Appeal Judgement
where he submits the Appeals Chamber reversed a conviction for genocide due to the imprecise nature of the hearsay
evidenceinrelationtorelevantmurders. Seeibid.,paras. l23,124,126,12'7.
t*t See, e.g., Ndindabahizi Appeal Judgement, paras. I 16-117; Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement, parus. 68,72.
tx3 See, e.g., Ndahimana Appeal Judgement, pua. 141; Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, paras. 74, 86; Rukundo Appeal
Judgement, pua.52.
lw Ntawukulilyayo Appeal Judgement, pata. 214;
Judgement, pua.52.
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(ii) carried out attacks in Nyamabuye commun .' 'ot Th" Trial

Prosecution failed to provide specific evidence of the crimes

committed after their release.l3*o The Trial Chamber noted

concerning the alleged victims, dates, or locations.l3aT
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Chamber nonetheless lbund that the

the released prisoners had allegedly

that no detail had been provided

491. Contrary to the Prosecution's submission, the Trial Chamber did not accept the evidence

that the criminals, once set free, committed genocidal killings nor did it find that details were

providcd.r3at The Appeals Chamber finds that it is clear that the Trial Chamber considered the

evidence to be insufficient to connect Nzabonimana's conduct in releasing the prisoners in Rutobwe

commune to the commission of any specilic crime.l3ae Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber is of the

view that the Trial Chamber did not require "additional details" as a matter of law, but rather noted

examples of evidence that were not befbre it.1350 Nowhere in its findings did the Trial Chamber

require the Prosecution to "specifically identify the perpetrators" or provide "certain named or

described" victims, as asserted by the Prosecution. Thus, the Appeals Chamber considers that

Nzabonimana's acquittal was not based on any additional legal requirements, but rather on the

insufficiency of evidence.

492. In this respect, the Appeals Chamber notes that the Prosecution points to the evidence of

Witness CNAA and Witness Mporanzi to support its submission that the Trial Chamber accepted

evidence that the released criminals committed genocidal killings.r35l The Trial Chamber stated that

it heard evidence that between 21 and 30 April 1994 the prisoners carried out various crimes

inclnding demolishing houses and killings in Rutobwe com*unr."tt The Trial Chamber found that

Witness Mporanzi corroborated Witness CNAA's testimony that prisoners committed crimes after

their release, and that after about 20 April 1994, the "perpetrators were doing whatever they

wanted", including kill ing Tutsis.l3s3 The Appeals Chamber observes, however, that neither

Witness CNAA nor Witness Mporanzi referred to a particular incident or provided details of the

kill ings. Moreover, Witness CNAA testifred to attacks in Nyamabuye communr,t"^ and not

' to 'Trial Judgement, para. 1122.
'rot 'Trial Judgement, para. 1123.
'tot Trial Judgement, para. 1123.
'to* ,S"e Prosecution Appeal Brief, para. 62, where the Prosecution submits that the victims were Tutsis, the location was
Rutobwe commune, and the dates were between 2l and the end of April 1994. See ai.so Prosecution Reply Brief,
o a r a . 8 3 .
1to' See Trial Judgement, paras. 1723, 1'724.
'ttt',See Trial Judgement, para. 1723.

"t' See Prosecution Appeal Brief, piua. 59.
' t"  Trial Judgement, para. 1722.
l l rT r ia l  Judgement ,para .  1067,  re . fb r r ing toWi tnessMporanz i ,T .26May20 l0pp.  l0 ,  l l .Seeatso ib id . ,para .  1062.
' t t t  witnesr CNAA, T. l5 December 2009 p. 2 (closed session).
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Rutobwe commune as alleged in the Indictment,l355 and he provided no description of the

attacks.1356 His testimony that he learned from the released prisoners that they were given

authorisation by the governor and "one of the ministers" to kill Tutsis,1357 is similarly vague. While

Witness Mporanzi testified that after the release, the prisoners organised themselves to attack Tutsis

and started killing cows, demolishing houses, cutting down banana trees, and "killing people that

they could fi.nd",1358 his testimony is vague and devoid of detail. Furthermore, it is unclear from

Witness Mporanzi's testimony whether he was referring to the released prisoners when describing

the events between 21 April 1994 and towards the end of April 1994 where "perpetrators" were

"killing if they wanted".135e The Appeals Chamber finds, therefore, that the Trial Chamber

reasonably concluded that there was insufficient evidence to find that the release of prisoners

substantially contributed to the commission of a specific crime.l'on

493. Finally, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the Prosecution's argument concerning the

Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement.r36i Like in Kalimanzira, the Trial Chamber in the present case

found insufficient evidence of the underlying crimes which precluded a finding of substantial

contribution.l362

494. The Appeals Chamber therefore finds that the Prosecution has failed to demonstrate that the

Trial Chamber erred in not finding Nzabonimana guilty of aiding and abetting genocide for the

release of prisoners in Rutobwe commune.

495. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber dismisses the Prosecution's Second Ground of Appeal.

'3tt See Indictment, para. 24. Witness CNAA testified that Nyamabuye commune borders Rutobwe commune. See
Witness CNAA, T. l5 December 2009 p. 2 (closed session).
t3s6 5", Witness CNAA, T. 15 December2009pp.2,3 (closed session).
13tt Witness CNAA, T. 15 December2009 p.2 (closed session)'
r r58 wi tness Mporanzi ,  T.26May 2010 pp.  10,  11.
'" ' Witness Mooranzi. T.26 Mav 2010 p. 10.
1360 The nppeals Chamber notes that, in his Response, Nzabonimana challenges the Trial Chamber's credibility
assessment of Prosecution Witnesses CNAA and CNAC and Defence Witness Mporanzi whose evidence underpins the
Trial Chamber's finding that Nzabonimana released the Rutobwe commune prisoners. .lee Nzabonimana Response
Brief, paras. 96-113. The Appeals Chamber understands that Nzabonimana is seeking to provide additional arguments
to support his acquittal in respect of this event, without having used the provision foreseen in Article 5 of the kactice
Direction on Formal Requirements for Appeals from Judgement, 5 July 2005. As the Appeals Chamber found no error
under this ground of appeal, there is no need to examine further Nzabonimana's arguments challenging the factual
findings. Further, any challenge to the assessment of evidence on this event has been examined in Nzabonimana's
appeal, to the extent that such error could have an impact on Nzabonimana's conviction or sentence. See infra,
paras. 296-3 I 1.
1361 See TrialJudgement, para. 1723,fn.2168.
ttu' See Kalimanzira Appeal Judgement, paras. 76-78.
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V. IMPACT OF THE APPBALS CHAMBER'S FINDINGS ON

NZABONIMANA' S SENTENCE

496. The Appeals Chamber recalls that it has reversed Nzabonimana's conviction for direct and

public incitement to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting on 18 April 1994,t303 and

for conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the establishment of a Crisis Committee and

weapons distribution at Tambwe ,o**urr.ttoo Ho*"u"r, the Appeals Chamber has affirmed

Nzabonimana's convictions for genocide and extermination as a crime against humanity in relation

to the events at the Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994 and at the Nyabikenke commune offrce on

15 April lgg4.I36s The Appeals Chamber has also affirmed his convictions fbr direct and public

incitement in relation to events at the Butare trading centre and the Cyayi centre,1366 as well as his

convictions lbr conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting on

l8 April lgg4.t36t In the circumstances of this case, the Appeals Chamber, affirms Nzabonimana's

sentence of life imprisonment.

'tt" .tee supra, paras. 388, 420.
t'oo se supra, para.454.

"ot Src supra, paras. 149, 156,157.

"uu Src supra, paras. 133, 235.
t 'u' Src supra, pa't 's.419,420.
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VI. DISPOSITION

497 . For the foregoing reasons, THE APPEALS CHAMBER,

PURSUANT to Article 24 of the Statute and Rule 118 of the Rules;

NOTING the written submissions of the parties and their oral arguments presented at the appeal

hearing on29 Apil20l4

SITTING in open session;

GRANTS Nzabonimana's Fifth Ground of Appeal, in part, and REVERSES his conviction for

direct and public incitement to commit genocide in relation to the Murambi meeting on

18 April 1994in Gitarama prdfecture;

GRANTS Nzabonimana's Seventh Ground of Appeal and REVERSES his conviction for

conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to events at the Tambwe commune;

DISMISSES Nzabonimana's appeal in all other respects;

DISMISSES the Prosecution's appeal in its entirety;

AFFIRMS Nzabonimana's convictions for instigating genocide and extermination as a crime

against humanity at the Cyayi centre on 14 April 1994 resulting in the killings of Tutsis at the

Nyabikenke commune office on 15 April 1994;

AFFIRMS Nzabonimana's convictions of direct and public incitement to commit genocide in

relation to events at the Butare trading centre on 12 April 1994, and at the Cyayi centre on

14 April 1994;

AFFIRMS Nzabonimana's conviction of conspiracy to commit genocide in relation to the

Murambi meeting on 18 April 1994;

AFFIRMS the sentence of life imprisonment imposed on Nzabonimana by the Trial Chamber,

subject to credit being given under Rules 101(C) and 107 of the Rules for the period he has already

spent in detention since his anest on 18 February 2008;

RULES that this Judgement shall be enforced immediately pursuant to Rule 119 of the Rules; and

ORDERS that, in accordance with Rules 103(8) and 107 of the Rules, Nzabonimana is to remain
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for his transfer to the Statein the custody of the Tribunal pending the finalisation of arrangements

where his sentence will be served.

Judge Afande appends a separate opinion.

Done in English and French, the

o*f\

Judge Khalida Rachid Khan

Done this 29th day of September 2014

English text heins authoritative.

l i i' ,. i-... - i*- l 'tr l. I,
i,.,'';: ii i 'ri-':"' L\'t';;j';

Judge Mehmet Gi.iney, Presiding Judse William H. Sekule Judee Arlette Ramaroson

rylry@
Judge Koffi Kumelio A. Afande

at Arusha, Tanzania.

[Seal of the Tribunal]

lru
. \.r
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VII. SEPARATE OPINION OF JUDGE KOFFI KUMELIOA. AFANDE

1. In this Judgement, the Appeals Chamber rejects Nzabonimana's submission that the Trial

Chamber engaged in impermissible double-counting between aggravating circumstances and

elements of the crime in relation to his influence and the events in Rutobwe and Nyamabuye

,o**unes.' While I agree with this conclusion, I have a degree of unease with the reasoning in

paragraph 464 of this Appeal Judgement, which, in my view, does not necessarily support the

outcome but rather suggests that there was, indeed, double-counting. I wish to clarify very briefly

my own position as to why the Trial Chamber did not commit any error in this regard.

2. The Trial Chamber found that, in the days prior to 18 April 1994, Nzabonimana encouraged

the killing of Tutsis by causing the release of killers of Tutsis in Rutobwe commune, who had been

imprisoned.2 It further found that, in April 1994, Nzabonimana visited the Nyamabvye commune

office and told the Hutu civilians present to destroy the house of a dead Tutsi.3 The Trial Chamber

considered that Nzabonimana's actions in relation to the release of the prisoners and his order for

the destruction of the Tutsi house provided circumstantial evidence of his genocidal intent.4 In its

sentencing considerations, the Trial Chamber found that the two incidents "further display

Nzabonimana's abuse of his position of influence to stoke the genocide in Gitarama prefecture."s

The Trial Chamber considered Nzabonimana's abuse of influence as an aggravating factor in

determining his sentence.6

3. While Nzabonimana's actions in relation to the release of the prisoners and his order for the

destruction of the Tutsi house constituted circumstantial evidence relevant to the Triai Chamber's

determination that he possessed genocidal intent, they are not, per se, an element required to

establish criminal iiability for genocide. The Trial Chamber further considered that these events

constituted evidence supporting the conclusion that Nzabonimana abused his influence, which

abuse, in turn, was, considered by the Trial Chamber to be an aggravating factor. Accordingly, while

the Trial Chamber relied on these events as circumstantial evidence showing that Nzabonimana

possessed genocidal intent and abused his position, in themselves they were neither elements of the

crime of genocide nor aggravating circumstances. By attributing to Nzabonimana's actions the

evidentiary value it deemed relevant in the overall circumstances of this case, the Trial Chamber

acted within the scope of its discretion.

t Appeal Judgement, palla'.464.
' Trial Judgement, paras. 10'7 6, I7 19 .
' Trial Judgement, paras. 1488-1491, 1730.
o Trial Judgement, paras. 1724, 1732.

,(.x .A *4.
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4. For the reasons set out above, I believe that Nzabonimana's argument that the Trial Chamber

engaged in impermissible double-counting between aggravating circumstances and elements of the

crime is unsubstantiated.

Done in English and French, the English version being authoritative.

Done this 29th day of September 201
At Arusha,
Tanzania

Brtw
Judee Koffi Kumelio A. Afande

[Seal of the Tribunal]

t Trial Judgement, para. 1818. The Trial Chamber explicitly held that Nzabonimana could not be held criminally

responsible for his actions in relation to the two incidents. See Trial Judgement, para. 1818.
o Trial Judgement, para. I 818.
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VIII. ANNEX A - PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. The main aspects of the appeal proceedings are summarised below.

A. Notices of Appeal and Briefs

2. Trial Chamber III of the Tribunal rendered the judgement in this case on 31 May 2012 and

issued its written Trial Judgement in English on 25 lune 2012. Both parties appealed.

1. Nzabonimana's Appeal

3. Nzabonimana frled his notice of appeal on 24 llly 20I2.t On 7 September 2012, the Pre-

Appeal Judge granted, in part, a motion filed by Nzabonimana for an extension of time to file his

briefs, and ordered him to file his appeal brief no later than 40 days from the date on which he was

served with the French translation of the Trial Judgement, and to file his response brief no later than

15 days from the date on which he was served with the French translation of the Trial Judgement or

the French translation of the Prosecution appeal brief.2 The French versions of the Trial Judgement

and of the Prosecution appeal brief were served on Nzabonimana on 18 and 26June20l3,

respectively.3

4. On 22 July 2013, the Pre-Appeal Judge denied Nzabonimana's motion for an extension of the

word limit for his appeal brief.a On23 July 2013, Nzabonimana filed a motion seeking to amend his

notice of appeal.s On29 July 2013, Nzabonimana filed his appeal brief.6

5. On 30 August 2013, the Appeals Chamber granted in part Nzabonimana's Motion to Amend

Notice of Appeal, where it: (i) instructed Nzabonimana to file a revised notice of appeal no later

than 4 September 2013; (ii) granted the Prosecution's motion to strike Nzabonimana's appeal brief;

(iii) ordered Nzabonimana to file a revised appeal brief not exceeding 30,000 words no later than

I Acte d'appel,24 |uly 2012.
' Decision on Extension of Time Limits, 7 September 2012. See also RequAte en extension de ddlai pour Ie ddp)t du
Mdmoire d'appelant et du memoire d'intimd,26 Jlly 2012; Prosecutor's Response to Callixte Nzabonimana's RequAte
en extension de dllai pour le ddp6t du mdmoire d'appelant et du mlmoire d'intim6, 30 July 2012 Rdplique d la
Prosecutor's Response to Callixte Nzabonimana's RequAte en extension de ddlai pour le ddpdt du mimoire d'appelant
et du memoire d'intimi, 1 Aueust 2012.
3 The French version of thelrial Judgement was filed on 17 June 2013 and the French version of the Prosecution
appeal brief was filed on 3 April 2013.
o Decision on Callixte Nzabonimana's Motion for an Extension of the Word Limit for his Appellant's Brief,
22 July 2013.
5 See Callixte Nzabonimana's Urgent Motion for Leave to Amend Notice of Appeal, 7 August 2013 (original French
version filed on 23 July 2013) ("Motion to Amend Notice of Appeal").
o Mdmoire d'appelant,29 July 2013, as corrected by Mdmoire d'appelant,9 August 2013. See also Corrigendumau
Mdmoire d'appelant, 1 August 2013; Corrigendum au Mimoire d'appelant,5 August 2013.
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4 September 2013; (iv) and instructed the Prosecution to file its response brief to the amended

appeal brief no later than 13 September 2013.1

6. On 4 September 2013, Nzabonimana filed his amended notice of appeal and amended appeal

brief.s On 13 September 2013, the Prosecution frled its response brief.e On 30 September 2013,

Nzabonimana filed his reply brief.r0 On 7 October 2013, the Pre-Appeal Judge ordered

Nzabonimana to file a confidential version of the amended appeal brief filed on 10 September 2013

no later than 14 October 2013 and the Prosecution to file a public redacted version of its response

briel  no later than l4 October 2013.I  I

2. Prosecution's Appeal

7. The Prosecution filed its notice of appeal on 29 June 2Ol2.t' On 12 September 2012, the

Prosecution filed its appeal brief.rr On 9 July 2013, Nzabonimana filed his confidential response

brief.ra On24 July 2013 the Prosecution filed its reply brief.rs

3. Other issues

8. On 16 October 2013, the Appeals Chamber denied in its entirety Nzabonimana's motion for

remedies in relation to the Prosecution's alleged violations of Rules 66(AXii) and 68 of the Rules.r6

7 Decision on Callixte Nzabonimana's Motion to Amend his Notice of Appeal and the Prosecution's Motion to Strike
Nzabonimana's Appeal Brief,30 August 2013.
E Amended Notice of Appeal,3 December 2013 (original French version filed on 4 September 2013); Mdmoire
tl'Appelunt Amend(, 4 September 2013, us corrected by Amended Appellant's Brief Public Corrigendum,
3 December 2013 (original French version filed on l0 September 2013). See also Corrigendum au Mlmoire d'appelant
amenrld,l0 September 2013; Corrigendum bis au mlmoire tl 'appelant amendy',l3 September 2013.
' Prosecution Response Brief, I 3 September 201 3 (confidential).

" ' Brief in Reply, l9 December 2013 (original French version fi led on 30 September 2013).

" Order on the Status of Briefs, T October 2013 ("Order on the Status of Briefs"). The Prosecution filed its public
redacted response brief on 8 October 2013 (see Prosecution Response Brief, 8 October 2013), and Nzabonimana filed a
confidential version of his amended appeal brief on 10 October 2013 (see Mdmoire d'appelant amendd conJidentiel
crtrrigendum, l0 October 2013).
12 Prosecutor's Notice of Appeal, 29 June2012 Corrigendum to Prosecutor's Notice of Appeal, 23 August 2012.
r3 Prosecution Appeal Brief, 12 September 2012.
'o Nzabonimana's Response Brief,5 September 2013 (confidential) (original French version fi led on 9 July 2013).
Pursuant to the Order on the Status of Briefs, Nzabonimana filed a public redacted version of his response brief on
l0 October 2013.
rs Prosecution Reply Brief, 24 July 2013.
rt 'Decision on Call ixte Nzabonimana's New Motion for Remedies, l6 October 2013; Call ixte Nzabonimana's New
Motion for Appropriate Remedies on Account of Further Violations of Rules 66(AXii) and 68 of the Rules of Procedure
and Evidence, l2 July 2013 (original French version fi led on 25 June 2013) (public with confidential and public
annexes). On l7 June 2013, the Pre-Appeal Judge dismissed without prejudice previous motions for violation of
practice directions. ,See Decision on Prosecution's Motions to Strike and fbr Extension of Time, and on Nzabonimana's
Motions tor Extension of Words and for Remedies, 17 June 2013; Requ?te de CulLixte Nz,abonimana u.fin d'obtenir les
rdparutktns appnrytriles compte tenu de nouvelles violatbns tles articles 66(A)ii et 68 du Rdglement de prrtctdure et de
preuve, 1l June 2013 (public with confidential and public annexes); Requ€te abrlgde de CaLLixte Nz,abonimana afin
d'obtenir les rlparations appropriles compte tenu de nouvelles vktlations des articles 66(A)ii et 68 du Rdglement de
procttlure et de preuve, l3 June 2013.
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On22 April 20i4, the Appeals Chamber denied Nzabonimana's motion seeking to admit additional

evidence on appeal.17

B. Assisnment of .Iudges

9. On 3 July 20L2, the Presiding Judge of the Appeals Chamber assigned the following Judges to

the appeal: Judge Mehmet Giiney (Presiding), Judge Fausto Pocar, Judge Arlette Ramaroson, Judge

Andr6sia Vaz, and Judge Khalida Rachid Khan.rs On 7 September 2012, the Presiding Judge, Judge

Mehmet Gi.iney, designated himself as the Pre-Appeal Judge.le

10. On 19 March 2013, the Presiding Judge of the Appeals Chamber replaced Judge Andrdsia

Vaz with Judge William H. Sekule.2o On 29 January 2014, the Presiding Judge of the Appeals

Chamber replaced Judge Fausto Pocar with Judge Koffi Kumelio A. Afande.2r

C. Appeal Hearing

11. On29 April 2014, the parties presented their oral arguments at a hearing held in Arusha,

Tanzania, in accordance with the Scheduling Order of 31 March 2014.22

' ' Decision on Callixte Nzabonimana's Motion for Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal Pursuant to Rule 1 I 5
of the Rules, 22 Aprtl2014.
t* Order Assigning Judges to a Case Before the Appeals Chamber, 3 IuIy 2012.
le Order Assigning a Pre-Appeal Judge, 7 September 2012.
'o Ord"r Replacing a Judge in a Case Before the Appeals Chamber, 19 March 2013.

" Order Replacing a Judge in a Case Before the Appeals Chamber, 29 January 2014.
" Scheduling Order, 31 March 2014.
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IX. ANNEX B - CITBD MATERIALS AND DBFINBD TERMS

A. .Iurisprudence

l. Tribunal

AKAYBSU Jean-Paul

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-A, Judgement, I June 2007 ("Akayesu
Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, Judgement, 2 September 1998
(" Akaye s u Trial Judgement").

BAGILISHEMA Ignace

The Prosecutor v. Ignace Bagilishema, Case No. ICTR-95-1A-A, Judgement (Reasons),

3 July 2002 ("Bagilishema Appeal Judgement").

BAGOSORA Th6oneste et al.

Th4oneste Bagosora and Anatole Nsengiyumva v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-41-A,
Judgement, l4 December 20Il ("Bagosora and Nsengiyumva Appeal Judgement").

BIKINDI Simon

Simon Bikindi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-72-A, Judgement, 18 March 2010
(" B ikindi Appeal Judgement").

BIZIMUNGU Augustin

Augustin Bizimungu v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-56B-A, Judgement, 30 ltne 2014
(" B izimunga Appeal Judgement").

BIZIMUNGU Casimir e/aL

The Prosecutor v. Casimir Bizimungu, Justin MugenTi, Jdr6me-Cl6ment Bicamumpaka, and Proper
Mugiraneza, Case No. ICTR-99-50-T, Judgement and Sentence, pronounced on 30 September
2011, filed on 19 October 2011 ("Bizimungu et al. Trial Judgement").

GACUMBITSI Sylvestre

Sylvestre Gacumbitsi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-64-A, Judgement, 7 July 2006
(" Gacumbitsi Appeal Judgement").

HATEGEKIMANA Ildephonse

Ildephonse Hategekimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-55B-A, Judgement, 8 May 2012
(" H ate g ekimana Appeal Judgement").

KAJELUBLI Juv6nal

The Prosecutor v. Juvinal Kajelijeli, Case No. ICTR-98-44A-T, Judgement and Sentence,
1 December 2003 (" Kai e lii e li T rial Judgement").
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KALIMANZIRA Callixte

Callixte Kalimanzira v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-05-88-A, Judgement,20 October 2010
(" Kali mnnlira Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Kalimanzira, Case No. ICTR-05-88-T, Judgement, 22 June 2009
(" K alimnn zi r a T ial Judgement").

KAMUHANDA Jean de Dieu

The Prosecutor v. Jean de Dieu Kamuhanda, Case No. ICTR-99-54A-A, Judgement,
19 September 2005 ("Kamuhanda Appeal Judgement").

KANYARUKIGA Gaspard

Gaspard Kanyarukiga v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-02-78-A, Judgement, 8 i|/{.ay 2012
(" Kanyarukiga Appeal Judgement").

KARBRA Franqois

Frangois Karera v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-74-A, Judgement, 2 February 2009
(" Kar e r a Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Frangois Karera, Case No. ICTR-01-74-T, Judgement and Sentence,
7 December 2007 ("KareraTial Judgement").

MUGENZI Justin and MUGIRANEZA Prosper

Justin Mugenzi and Prosper Mugiraneza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-99-50-A, Judgement,
4 February 2013 ("Mugenzi and Mugiraneza Appeal Judgement").

MUHIMANA Mikaeli

Mikaeli Muhimnna v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-95-18-A, Judgement, 2l May 2001
(" Muhimana Appeal Judgement").

MUNYAKAZI Yussuf

The Prosecutor v. Yussuf Munyakali, Case No. ICTR-97-36A-A, Judgement, 28 September 2011
(" Munyakaqi Appeal Judgement").

MUVUNYI Tharcisse

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-A, Judgement, 1 April 2011
(" M uv unyi 11 Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Tharcisse Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-T, Judgement, 11 February 2010
(" M uv uny i 11 Trial Judgement").

Tharcisse Muvunyi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-A, Judgement, 29 August 2008
(" Muvuny i 1 Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Tharcisse Muvunyi, Case No. ICTR-00-55A-T, Judgement and Sentence,
i2 September 2006 ("Muvunyi lTriat Judgement").
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NAHIMANA Ferdinand et aI.

Ferdinand Nahimana, Jean-Bosco BarayagwiT,a, and Hassan Ngeze v. The Prosecutor,
Case No. ICTR-99-52-A, Judgement,2S November 2007 ("Nahimana et al. Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Ferdinand Nahimana et al., Case No. ICTR-99-52-T, Judgement and Sentence,
3 December 2003, filed on 5 December 2003 ("Nahimana et ctl.Trial Judgement").

NCHAMIHIGO Sim6on

Simdon Nchamihigo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-63-4, Judgement, l8 March 2010
(" N c hamihigo Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Simdon Nchamihigo, Case No. ICTR-01-63-T, Judgement and Sentence,
1 2 November 2008 (" N c hami hi g o T rial Judgement").

NDAHIMANA Gr6goire

Grigoire Ndahimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-68-A, Judgement, 16 December 2013
(" N dahimana Appeal Judgement").

NDINDABL}IIZI Emmanuel

Emmanuel Ndindabahizi v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-71-A, Judgement, 16 January 2007
(" N dindab ahizi Appeal Judgement").

The Prosecutor v. Emmanuel Ndindabahizi, Case No. ICTR-O1-71-T, Judgement and Sentence,
15 July 2004 ("Ndindabahizi Trial Judgement").

NDINDILIYIMANA Augustin el a/.

Auguslin Ndindiliyimana, Frangois-Xavier Nluwonemeye, and Innocent Sagahutu v. The
Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-00-56-A, Judgement, 1l February 2014 ("Ndindiliyimana et al. Appeal
Judgement").

NIYITEGEKA Eli6zer

The Prosecutor v. Elidzer Niyitegeka, Case No. ICTR-96-14-T, Judgement, 16 May 2003
(" N iyite geka Trial Judgement").

NSENGIMANA Hormisdas

The Prosecutor v. Hormisdas Nsengimana, Case No. ICTR-O1-69-T, Judgement,
I 7 November 2009 (" N s e n g i mana T r\al Judgement").

NTABAKUZE Aloys

Aloys Ntabakuze v. The Prosecrzlor, Case No. ICTR-98-41A-A, Judgement, 8 May 2012
(" N tabakuze Appeal Judgement").

NTAGERURA Andr6 e/a/.

The Prosecutor v. Andrd Ntagerura, Emmanuel Bagambiki, and Samuel Imanishimwe,
Case No. ICTR-99-46-A, Judgement, 7 July 2006 ("Ntagerura et al. Appeal Judgement").
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NTAKIRUTIMANA Elizaphan and Gdrard

The Prosecutor v. Elizaphan Ntakirutimana and Gdrard Ntakirutimana, Cases Nos. ICTR-96-10-A
& ICTR-96-I7-A, Judgement, 13 December 2004 ("Ntakirutimnna Appeal Judgement").

NTAWUKULILYAYO Dominique

Dominique Ntawukulilyayo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-05-82-A, Judgement,
14 December 20lI ("Ntawukulilyayo Appeal Judgement").

NZABONIMANA Callixte

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A,
Nzabonimana's Motion for Admission of Additional Evidence on Appeal
the Rules, 22 Apnl2014 ("Rule 115 Decision").

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A,
Nzabonimana's New Motion for Remedies. 16 October 2013.

Sidibe, sous-prdfet Ms.
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Immaculde Mukamasabo", 7 April 2011.
179

Decision on Callixte
Pursuant to Rule 115 of

Decision on Callixte

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion
for Appropriate Relief in Light of Exculpatory Material Disclosed by the Prosecution on
23 February 2012 Relating to Witness T77, 30 April2012.

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No.ICTR-98-44D-T, Consolidated Decision on
Defence Motion for Appropriate Relief in Light of Prosecution's Delayed Disclosure to the
Accused of Exculpatory Evidence, Defence Motion in Light of The Trial Chamber's Proprio Motu
Order of 15 March2012, and Defence Motion Pursuant to the Trial Chamber's Order of 4 April
2012,30 Apil2012 ("30 April2012 Decision").

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion
for Appropriate Relief in Light of Exculpatory Material Disclosed by the Prosecution on
15 November 2011, 30 April 2012.

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-AR91, Decision on Callixte
Nzabonimana's Appeal Against the Trial Chamber's Decision on Motion for Rule 91 Proceedings
Against Pro secution Investi gator s, 27 Apil 20 12.

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion
for Proceedings against OTP Investigators, 25 November 20II.

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision Following Amicus
Curiae Report Pertaining to Allegations of Co[n]tempt of the Tribunal by Prosecution Witness
CNAI and/or a Member of the Prosecution Office.21 October 20Il ("2I October 2011 Decision
Accepting Amicus Report").

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion
for Admission of Documents. 21 October 20Il ("21 October 2011 Decision on Admission of
Documents").

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Order for the Prosecution to
Review Indictment and to File Public Version, 8 April 2011 ("Order of 8 April 2011").

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on "Callixte
Nzabonimana's Motion for Summon of OTP Investigators Adamou Allasouma and Almahamoud
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The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Nzabonimana's
Renewed and Confidential Motion for Appointment of Anicus Curiae to Investigate Allegations of
Contempt of the Tribunal Against Prosecution Witness CNAI, 8 December 2010.

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Decision on Defence Motion
to Recall Witness CNAL. 17 December 20O9.

RENZAHO Tharcisse

Tharcisse Renzaho v. The Proseulor, Case No. ICTR-97-31-A, Judgement, l April 2011
(" Re nzaho Appeal J udgement").

RUGGIU Georges

The Prosecutor v. Georges Ruggiu, Case No. ICTR-97-32-I, Judgement and Sentence, 1 June 2000
(" Ru g gi u Judgement and Sentence").

RUKUNDO Emmanuel

Emmanuel Rukundo v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-2001-70-A, Judgement, 20 October 2010
(" Rukundo Appeal Judgement").

RUTAGANDA Georges Anderson Nderubumwe

Georges Anderson Nderubumwe Rutaganda v. The Proseculor, Case No. ICTR-96-3-A, Judgement,
26May 2003 ("Rutcrganda Appeal Judgement").

RWAMAKUBA Andr6

The Prosecutor v. Andrd Rwamakuba, Case No. ICTR-98-44C-T, Judgement, 20 September 2006
(" Rw amakub a T rial Judgement").

SEMANZA Laurent

Laurent Semanza v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-97-20-A, Judgement,20 May 2005 ("Semanza
Appeal Judgement").

SEROMBA Athanase

The Prosecutor v. Athanose Seromba, Case No. ICTR-01-66-A, Judgement, 12 March 2008
(" S e r o mba Appeal Judgement").

The Proseculor v. Athanase Seromba, Case No. ICTR-2001-66-I, 13 December 2006, original
French version filed on l9 December 2006 ("Seromba Trial Judgement").

SETAKO Ephrem

Ephrem Setako v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-04-81-A, Judgement, 28 September 2011
(" S etako Appeal Judgement").

SIMBA Aloys

Aloys Simba v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-01-16-A, Judgement, 27 November 2007 ("Simba
Appeal Judgement").
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2. International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yueoslavia (ICTY)

BLASKId Tihomir

Prosecutor v. Tihomir Blaikii, Case No. IT-95-14-A, Judgement,29 July 2004 ("Blaikii Appeal
Judgement").

BOSKOSKI Ljube and TARdULOVSKI Johan

Prosecutor v. Ljube Boikoski and Johan Tariulovski, Case No. IT-04-82-A, Judgement,
19 May 2010 ("Boikoski and Tariulovski Appeal Judgement").

DORDEVIi Vlastimir

Prosecutor v. Vlastimir Dordevii, Case No. IT-05-87/1-A, Judgement,2T Jantary 2014 ("Dordevii
Appeal Judgement").

KoRDIi Dario ana dERKtrZ Mario

Prosecutor v. Dario Kordii and Mario aerkez, Case No. IT-95-I412-A, Judgement,
17 December 2004 ("Kordii and Cerkez Appeal Judgement").

KRAJISNIK Momiilo

Prosecutor v. Momiilo Krajiinik, Case No. IT-00-39-A, Judgement, 17 March 2009 (*Krajiinik
Appeal Judgement").

KRNOJELAC Milorad

Prosecutor v. Milorad Krnojelac, Case No. IT-97-25-A, Judgement, 17 September 2003
(" K rnoj e I ac Appeal Judgement").

KRSTId Radislav

Prosecutor v. Radislav Krstii, Case No. IT-98-33-A, Judgement, 19 April 2004 ("Krstii Appeal
Judgement").

KUNARAC Dragoljub el a/.

Prosecutor v. Dragoljub Kunarac, Radomir Kovai, and hran Vukovii, Cases Nos. IT-96-23 &
IT-96-2311-4., Judgement, 12 June 2002 ("Kunarac et al. Appeal Judgement").

KIIPRESKICZoTan et al.

Prosecutor v. Tnran Kupreikii, Mirjan Kupreikii, Vlatko Kupreikii, Drago Josipovii, and
Vladimir Santii, Case No. IT-95-16-A, Appeal Judgement, 23 October 200I ("Kupreikii et aL
Appeal Judgement").

LUKId Milan and Sredoje

Prosecutor v. Milan Lukii and Sredoje Lukii, Case No. n-g8-321I-A, Judgement,
4 December2}l2 ("Lukii and Lukii Appeal Judgement").
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MRKSIC Mile and SulvnN{dANIN veselin

Prosecutor v. Mite Mrkiii and Veselin Sljivanianin, Case No. IT-95-13/1-A, Judgement,
5 May 2009 ("Mrk{ii and Sljivanianin Appeal Judgement").

Sa.INovti Nikola e/a/.

Prosecutor v. Nikota Sainovii, Nebojia Pavkovii, Vladimir Lazarevii, and Sreten Lukii,
Case No. IT-05-87-A, Judgement, 23 January 2014 (Sainovii et a/. Appeal Judgement").

SIMIC Blagoje

Prosecutor v. Blagoje Simii, Case No, IT-95-9-A, Judgement, 28 November 2006 ("Simii Appeal
Judgement").

STRUGAR Pavle

Prosecutor v. Pavle Strugar, Case No. IT-01-42-A, Judgement, 17 July 2008 ("Strugar Appeal
Judgement").

vASILJBvti tuitar

Prosecutor v. Mitar Vasiljevi(, Case No. IT-98-32-A, Judgement, 25 February 2004 ("Vasiljevi(
Appeal Judgement").

3. Other Judgements and Documents

Draft Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind with commentaries, 1996, Report
of the lnternational Law Commission on the delibcrations of its forty eighth meeting, 5l U.N.
ORGA Supp. (No. 10), reproduced in the Yearbook of International Law Commission, 1996, vol. II
(Part Two) ("Dra1l Code of Crimes against the Peace and Security of Mankind").

Mugesera v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), [2005] 2 SCR 100.

Hirad Abtahi & Philippa Webb, The Genocide Convention: The Travaux Prdparatoires (Leiden-
Boston: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 2008).
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B. Defined Terms and Abbreviations

AT.
Iranscript from hearings on appeal in the present case. All references are to the
cfficial English transcript, unless otherwise indicated.

Senocide
lonvention

lonvention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide,
) December 1948, entered into force on 12 January 1951

tCTY
lnternational Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for Serious
Violations of International Humanitarian Law Committed in the Territory of the
Former Yueoslavia since 1991

!,lzabonimana
A,ppeal Brief

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A, Amended
Appellant's Brief Public Corrigendum, 3 December 2013 (original French
rersion filed on 10 September 2013). All references are to the English version,
rnless otherwise indicated.

\zabonimana
Closing Brief

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T,
\zabonimana's Abridged Final Brief, confidential, 13 July 2011

lndictment
fhe Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-PT,
lndictment, 24 luly 2009

\zabonimana
\otice of Appeal

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A, Amended
\{otice of Appeal, 3 December 2013 (original French version filed on
l September 2013). All references are to the English version, unless otherwise
.ndicated.

\lzabonimana
Pre-Defence
Brief

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Revised
and Amended Pre-Defence Brief, 8 April2010 (original French version filed on
12 March 2010)

\zabonimana
Reply Brief

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A, Brief in
R.eply, public and confidential, 19 December 2013 (original French version filed
rn 30 September 2013)

\zabonimana
Response Brief

Nzabonimana's Response Brief, confidential, 5 September 2013 (original French
version filed on 9 July 2013) (10 October 2013 public redacted version)
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lrrnxo

Mouvement rdvolutionnaire national pour la ddmocralie et le ddveloppement
[befbre 5 July 1991]

Mouvement rdpublicain national pour la ddmocratie et le ddveloppement lafter
5  Ju ly  19911

ffice of the Prosecutor

Callixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A,
Prosecution Appeal Brief', l2 September 2012

The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana,Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T,
Prosecutor's Closing Brief, 5 July 2011

i

iCallixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A,
lProsecutor's Notice of Appeal, 29 June 2012; Corrigendum to Prosecutor's
Notice of Appeal, 23 August 2012

e Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-9S-44D-PT,
Prosecutor's Revised Pre-Trial Brief, confidential, I October 2009

allixte Nzabonimana v. The Prosecutor, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-A,
Prosecution Reply Brief,24 July 2013

i

iRwandan (also Rwandese) Patriotic Front

tatute of the Tribunal established by Security Council Resolution 955 (1994)

ranscript from hearings at trial in the present case. All
ficial English transcript, unless otherwise indicated.

rial Chamber III of the Tribunal

lProsecution
iReply Brief

lProsecution
,Response Brief

l*u
l.*'

tatute

Prosecution

Prosecution
Brief

tion
Brief

n
rppeal

Pre-ution
irief

rsecutior
tice of A

rsecutior
ial Brief

Appeal

i---
lProsecu
Closing

i*.or""u
Notice o

Prosecu
'frial Br

ules of Procedure and Evidence of the Tr ibunal

references are to the
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Trial Judgement
The Prosecutor v. Callixte Nzabonimana, Case No. ICTR-98-44D-T, Judgement
md Sentence, pronounced on 31 May 2012, issued in writing on25 June2Ol2

fribunal or
ICTR

lnternational Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons Responsible for
3enocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law
lommitted in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens responsible for
genocide and other such violations committed in the territory of neighbouring
States, between I January 1994 and 31 December 1994

UNDF United Nations Detention Facilitv
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